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AMERICAN INTERNATIONAL GROUP’S
IMPACT ON THE GLOBAL ECONOMY:
BEFORE, DURING, AND AFTER
FEDERAL INTERVENTION

Wednesday, March 18, 2009

U.S. HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES,
SUBCOMMITTEE ON CAPITAL MARKETS,
INSURANCE, AND GOVERNMENT
SPONSORED ENTERPRISES,
COMMITTEE ON FINANCIAL SERVICES,
Washington, D.C.

The subcommittee met, pursuant to notice, at 10:04 a.m., in room
2128, Rayburn House Office Building, Hon. Paul E. Kanjorski
[chairman of the subcommittee] presiding.

Members present: Representatives Kanjorski, Ackerman, Sher-
man, Capuano, Baca, Lynch, Miller of North Carolina, Scott, Malo-
ney, Moore of Wisconsin, Hodes, Klein, Perlmutter, Donnelly, Car-
son, Speier, Childers, Wilson, Foster, Minnick, Adler, Kilroy, Kos-
mas, Grayson, Himes, Peters; Garrett, Price, Castle, King, Man-
zullo, Royce, Biggert, Capito, Hensarling, Putnam, Barrett, Ger-
lach, Campbell, Bachmann, McCotter, Neugebauer, McCarthy of
California, Posey, and Jenkins.

Ex officio present: Representatives Frank and Bachus.

Also present: Representatives Waters, Watt, Moore of Kansas,
Clay, Green, Ellison, Maffei, Lee, Crowley, Cummings, and Kaptur.

The CHAIRMAN. [presiding] To start the hearing, I want to make
an announcement. I do appreciate the restraint shown and that no-
body tried to blockade Mr. Ackerman this time. But this hearing,
while it’s going to be conducted by Mr. Kanjorski, will be conducted
in an orderly fashion. There will be no disruptions. There will be
no heckling.

If there is, I will ask the police officers to escort any disrupter
out of here. And if it is unfortunately required, I will ask them to
press charges if that is justified by the degree of disruption. We
have an important subject. We are going to deal with it in a rea-
sonable way, and I do want to instruct everyone that we will not
accept interference with the process. The process will work best in
the public interest if it is allowed to proceed in that manner. As
I said, Mr. Kanjorski will be presiding. But as the chairman of the
full committee, I just wanted to make that very clear.

On the other hand, this is not homeroom, and talking is per-
mitted now among yourselves until the hearing is started.

[pause]

D
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Chairman KANJORSKI. This hearing of the Subcommittee on Cap-
ital Markets, Insurance, and Government Sponsored Enterprises
will come to order. I ask unanimous consent that the following
members have permission to participate in today’s hearing: Mr.
Crowley, Mr. Cummings, and Ms. Kaptur. Pursuant to an agree-
ment with the ranking member, opening statements today will be
limited to 20 minutes on each side. Without objection, all members’
opening statements will be made a part of the record.

We meet today to scrutinize American International Group, a
company that has so far gained access to more than $182 billion
in taxpayer assistance. At this hearing, we will learn more about
why we needed to save AIG. We will also examine how AIG is
using the money it has received. Additionally, we will explore when
AIG expects to repay the American taxpayer in full, and with inter-
est.

Our committee has previously held hearings on the banks that
have received assistance from the Troubled Assets Relief Program
(TARP), but I wanted to address AIG’s situation separately. AIG is
unique from other TARP recipients in at least two respects. First,
it is not a bank. Second, the Treasury Department and the Federal
Reserve have provided AIG with extraordinary assistance, above
and beyond any other financial institution participating in TARP.

Without question, today we will engage in a lively and energetic
debate with our witnesses. Because of the scheduling concerns,
however, the Treasury Department and the Federal Reserve could
not accommodate our request to join us today. They are now the
?Vfrseers of AIG, and we need to hear from them directly and pub-
icly.

As a result, I have worked with Chairman Frank to convene a
full committee hearing on March 24th. I am pleased that Treasury
Secretary Geithner and Federal Reserve Chairman Bernanke will
join us at that time to discuss AIG. They have much to explain not
only to us but also to the American people. I look forward to their
appearances.

During our first panel, we will hear from the Office of Thrift Su-
pervision, AIG’s holding company regulator. We will also hear from
the Pennsylvania Insurance Commissioner on the regulation of
AIG’s insurance subsidiaries. I expect both of them to speak frank-
ly about the failures of the current regulatory system in monitoring
AIG’s regulated and unregulated operations. Now is the time for
them to accept responsibility, not to provide excuses.

Additionally, the Government Accountability Office is here to dis-
cuss its study, which Member Bachus and I requested, into how
AlG is spending the government funds it has received, and whether
the company might be using this money to undercut competition.
Standard & Poor’s will also discuss how it rates AIG and the need
for providing ongoing Federal assistance to AIG. I look forward to
hearing from both of them about these important matters.

Most significantly, we will hear from Mr. Edward Liddy, AIG’s
CEO. Immediately after the government intervened for the first
time 6 months ago, Mr. Liddy took over the company’s helm. He
assumed a treacherous job, and he has traveled down a rocky road
since then. This road became considerably more difficult to navi-
gate this past weekend when the public learned the identity of
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AIG’s counterparties receiving billions of dollars of the taxpayers’
money.

Even more troubling, the taxpayers also learned that their
money helped to cover the million dollar plus retention bonuses of
executives at the very unit that caused AIG to teeter on the brink
of collapse. A million dollars is a sizable sum to the typical Amer-
ican family earning just $60,000 a year, and a million dollars is a
lottery prize for anyone who has just lost a job.

Something is seriously out of whack, and AIG needs to fix it now.
We face the most challenging economy since the Great Depression.
Many have made personal sacrifices to survive these difficult times.
AIG and its employees should do the same.

Moreover, it is regrettable that we have even reached this point.
When the press first reported about the AIG Financial Products re-
tention bonuses in late January, I called Mr. Liddy to express my
concerns that paying out such sums to the very division that en-
gaged in the risky behavior that warranted the government’s bail-
out would rightly incite a public outcry.

My colleague, Joe Crowley, and I had previously worked coopera-
tively with Mr. Liddy to withhold $93.3 million in planned deferred
compensation distributions. I had hoped that AIG might take simi-
lar actions again. Unfortunately, my sound advice went unheeded,
the company hid behind legal technicalities, and the public outcry
that I predicted happened: AIG has become the subject of consider-
able public scorn, and the public’s interest in providing ongoing,
sustainable support to repair our struggling financial system has
plummeted.

We will undoubtedly spend much time today discussing these re-
tention bonuses and counterparty payments, but I must urge my
colleagues to focus on the bigger picture, too. We need to ask what
happened, why it happened, what is happening now, and what we
can do going forward to prevent similar situations. To protect the
taxpayers, we must also ensure that AIG acts prudently and pays
back its borrowed funds promptly. I am committing to doing just
that.

We will now hear from the gentleman from New Jersey, Ranking
Member Garrett.

Mr. GARRETT. And as I say, without my glasses, so. Thank you,
Mr. Chairman. There has been much outrage expressed this week,
and rightfully so, from almost all quarters regarding the bonuses
for employees in AIG’s Financial Products Unit.

But where was the outrage, at least from some quarters, 6
months ago, when AIG’s bailout was hastily crafted and the Amer-
ican taxpayer became 80 percent owners of the company? And
where was the outrage when $40 billion in TARP money was
pumped into AIG for the benefit of its counterparties last Novem-
ber? But we didn’t find out about the identities of those counterpar-
ties until this past weekend.

And why didn’t the Fed, which I understand has known about
these bonuses for at least a couple of months, raised this issue with
us earlier? Did it raise this issue with Secretary Geithner, who has
been called the architect of the AIG bailout, and from whom the
Fed has been working so closely with the ongoing management of
AlG’s affairs? And why didn’t Secretary Geithner raise this issue
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just last week with the President when we knew that he was
briefed in detail about the bonuses from the CEO of AIG? What
about. the fact that the Fed and the Administration still have not
outlined an exit strategy from this whole situation?

You know, some of us were expressing concern from the original
bailout of Bear Stearns which was conducted by the Fed over a
year ago, when I and 16 of my colleagues even sent a letter to
Chairman Frank demanding a hearing on how the Fed was putting
American taxpayers at risk in such financial institutions. But it
took him over 3 months to schedule one. I also sent a letter to the
Fed in early December expressing concern about the Fed’s lack of
transparency and asking who it was had specific counterparties of
AIG and who directly benefits from AIG’s government assistance.
Part of me wants to say some to some of the loudest critics, what
did you expect? And why weren’t you asking more questions before?
I would argue that the real outrage now is the $170 billion of tax-
pfg}yer monies that has been pumped into this company and to what
effect.

So I realize that recent events have now, to some extent, over-
taken this hearing, but there are some other issues to explore as
well. We have heard repeatedly, for example, from a number of
voices that AIG’s Financial Products Division wasn’t even regu-
lated. But my understanding, and we have the OTS here to testify,
is that the OTS was in fact looking at the activities in this unit.
So I would like to explore that a little further.

Also, I wish that the Fed could have joined us here today, but
they have an FMOC meeting here today, so they couldn’t be with
us, and so they have asked to be excused. But I think this basically
highlights the tension, I think, between the Fed’s duties relating to
monetary policies and their regulatory policies.

Furthermore, we have a representative from S&P here today.
And I hope they can shed some light on issues relating to credit
downgrades, and what role they may have played with regard to
AIG to come up with additional funds at the current time, and
which led to the government interference in the first place, and
most recently, to the restructuring. And secondly, on this point,
should Congress and the American taxpayers be bracing for further
downgrades, and will that affect our responsibilities or liabilities
going forward?

Well, I'm sure we will spend a lot of time this morning talking
about the bonus issues. As important as that is, I also hope—as 1
assume the chairman does—that we can get into the weeds a little
bit more and talk about the current state of the company, efforts
to wind down the company, and the counterparty obligations, and
the progress that has been made in selling off the company’s assets
and divisions as well.

And with that, I yield back.

Chairman KaNJORSKI. Thank you very much, Mr. Garrett. And
we will now hear from our full committee chairman, Mr. Frank of
Massachusetts, for 5 minutes.

The CHAIRMAN. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I had hoped we could
focus on the subject at hand, but I do have to respond to Mr. Gar-
rett’s complaint that he didn’t get a hearing quickly enough. Yes,
Mr. Garrett did ask for a hearing on the role of the Fed. We had
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a number of other things going on legislatively at the time. We did
have the hearing in July of 2008. And because I was concerned
about the gentleman from New Jersey’s views here, I did check. At
that hearing, he asked no questions about this program. He did ask
a question about covered bonds. So the gentleman was asking could
we have the hearing. We had the hearing on specifically this gen-
eral subject, and he declined to ask any questions about it. I sup-
pose—I understand he’s disturbed that we didn’t give him a chance
not to ask any questions a month earlier, but I am unconvinced
that would have made any difference. We did have a hearing about
the role of the Federal Reserve well in advance of the decision by
the Federal Reserve to—

Mr. GARRETT. Will the gentleman yield?

The CHAIRMAN. I will yield.

Mr. GARRETT. My understanding is that I began on the issue of
covered bonds but then went into other issues as well.

The CHAIRMAN. Well, that wasn’t my reading of the transcript,
which I thought might come up. But the fact is that we did have
the hearing, and in 5 minutes I would have to say maybe at the
end the gentleman touched on it. I didn’t recall that. But covered
bonds hardly seem to me to be the major topic that the gentleman
insisted on having the hearing about, and we did have the hearing,
and I would have thought he would have used all of his time on
this topic. Five minutes is, as we know, often too little for us to
deal with it.

But the point is that the committee did have a hearing on this
well before the decision to go into the AIG. The Federal Reserve
came to us in September and told us they were doing AIG. We
have had subsequent hearings, and I do believe it is important for
us to amend that statute under which the Federal Reserve oper-
ates, although I think doing it in the midst of this current financial
uncertainty would be a mistake. But the point is, we did have a
hearing well in advance of the AIG situation, and I guess we will
just release the whole transcript and people can decide how vigor-
ously these questions were pursued. It is not my recollection. I
think a number of people left their fight in the gym when it came
to the actual confrontation with Mr. Bernanke.

Now as to AIG, and the subject of the hearing, I do believe that
it is time for us to assert our ownership rights under this arrange-
ment. The bonuses are wholly unjustified, and they are an example
of the problem with the financial incentives that the compensation
gives in general. This is an issue that many of us raised in 2006
when we were in the Minority. We brought it up again in 2007 in
the Majority. We brought to the Floor a bill on executive compensa-
tion. It was just the beginning. It was very strongly opposed by
most on the other side.

The problem is not the dollar amount but the incentive structure.
It’s a head they win, tails they break even. I look at the contract
that is being invoked as unassailable, and here’s what it says: “The
bonus pool for any compensation year, beginning with the 2008
compensation year, will be affected by the incurrence of any real-
ized losses arising from any source subject to the limitations set
forth in Section 3.07.” And Section 3.07 says, “Not withstanding
any other provision of the plan, for any compensation year begin-
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ning with 2008, there shall be a $67.5 million limit per year on the
extent to which the pool can be reduced.”

So that it means that if in fact they have a net loss for the year,
they still get the bonuses. This is the problem. This is the problem
with those contracts, and I think whoever signed these contracts
ought to be called to account on the part of the company. It’s a
problem with compensation structure going forward. What it says
is here, given the 70/30 split of distribution income, if the losses
in the year exceed $225 million, then that loss above $225 million
is irrelevant to reducing the bonus pool; $225 million turned out to
be a rounding error in their losses.

So they give themselves contracts which effectively insulate them
from losses. That’s one of the things we have to look at, this situa-
tion in which you get a bonus when it goes up. So what they do
is they count any gain, and that goes into the bonus pool. If those
gains are offset by huge losses, there’s a very limited effect to
which they go into the bonus pool.

What I think we should be doing is exercising our rights as the
owners of this company and bring lawsuits. It is one thing for the
Federal Government to say because the Federal Reserve lent the
money and then Treasury followed up, we are going to invalidate
these contracts where both parties to the contract say they want
to go forward. That causes some problems in people’s minds. The
question of the Federal Government abrogating a contract is not
something we should do statutorily. But we're the effective owners
of this company.

What we ought to be doing is exercising our rights as the owners
to bring lawsuits to say these people performed so badly, the mag-
nitude of the losses was so great, that we are justified in rescinding
the bonuses. That may be a controversial lawsuit, but it is a better
one than trying to interfere under our regulatory authority. And I
think it is worth trying, and I think that there could be a good case
made that the bonuses granted by people who in fact incurred
great net losses by their work, ought not to be granted.

We will also be asking Mr. Liddy to give us the names of the re-
cipients. They have sent us some information under the confiden-
tiality rules. I have spoken to Chairman Kanjorski about this. We
will be asking for the names. If Mr. Liddy declines to give us the
names, then 1 will convene the committee to vote a subpoena for
the names. So we do intend to use our power to get the names of
the people here.

Let me say that if you read this contract, it appears to me to
have been signed in contemplation of serious losses, because it has
this limitation on the amount to which—again, it’s an incentive
bonus. The final—what it says is, if you make money, you get
money. But if you make money which is outweighed by losing
money, you still get the bonus. As I said, I think those are bad in-
centives.

And as to retention, no, I do not think these are the people you
want to retain. The argument is, you need to have the people who
made the mistakes so they know how to undo them. Human nature
being what it is, I think there’s a lot to be said about having people
who were not the ones who made the mistakes undo them. The
natural tendency to protect your own mistakes comes into play. So,
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as I said, I will be urging the Secretary of the Treasury—I have
written him a letter—that we exercise our ownership rights, and
let’s bring a lawsuit as the owners against people who in fact did
damage to the company.

Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman KaANJORSKI. Thank you very much, Mr. Frank. And
now we will hear from Mr. Bachus for 2 minutes.

Mr. BacHus. Thank you, Chairman Kanjorski. As Chairman
Kanjorski said, he and I requested the GAO to do an investigation
on the motivations behind the government intervention and bailout
of AIG and who it was actually intended to help. And I'll be very
interested to find out the results of that study.

For several weeks now, and even today, we continue to play kind
of a game that children used to play, pin the tail on the donkey.
Trying to put the blame somewhere else. And in truth, there’s plen-
ty of blame to go around. AIG, their company engaged in very reck-
less, risky behavior, and I think we all have a right to be angered
that such a fine company at one time is in the mess that it is in
and the effect that it has had on our economy. That’s justified
anger, so we could certainly pin the donkey on AIG and those with-
in that company, most all of them long gone, who caused that.
Washington, the regulators, they failed to do their job. We ought
to blame them. That’s justified. This Congress, some of our policies
have contributed to some of that behavior, the failure to regulate,
the failure of oversight by this Congress. We're to blame.

The one faction who probably aren’t to blame but seem to be pay-
ing the tab is the American people. They're paying for it. All this
bad behavior by the company, all this bad behavior by our failure
to regulate, all the failure of us to take action in numerous dif-
ferent areas, we all should bear the blame. But I think at this
point. that anger shouldn’t distract us from really the true issue
and our goal today, and that’s to try to recover as much of the tax-
payers’ money as we possibly can. That ought to be our motive.
bAlnd the blame game needs to be secondary, because we're all to

ame,

Now the only possible successful outcome to this is to manage
our way out of the current problems. Now how do we do that? Do
you think Congress can manage AIG? I don’t think so. Take a walk
through the Capitol Visitor's Center—3 times over budget, 5 years
late. We can’t manage AIG. How about the regulators? There are
a lot of empty desks at Treasury. I don’t think that the Fed or the
Treasury has done a very good job. How about a poll on TV?
Should we just take some poll results and act from there? I don’t
think so.

As unpopular as it may be, I think the best opportunity that we
have is to let that new team at AIG—we’re all upset over the bo-
nuses. The bonuses were awarded and signed as contracts in 2007,
long before Mr. Liddy and the new team was in place. And we're
justifiably angry at him for maybe not doing a better job of getting
out of it. But he came in after the collapse of AIG with a $1 salary
and you can vilify this new management team if it makes you feel
better, but resolving a company as large and as complex as AIG is
no easy task. It was in a mess, and it will require a lot of good for-
tune. It will require an economic recovery, and that’s what they're
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doing now. They're unraveling the deals. They're shutting down
this Financial Products Division that has caused all of us heart-
break and harm, and that’s going to take time. The people who set
the policies that brought AIG to the brink of total collapse are
gone. We need to give this new management team the time it
needs to get the job done. They were assigned that job in Sep-
tember, and when we did it, and when the Fed did it, they said
it would take 2 years or 3 years to do it. The government trying
to get more involved than it is, is just going to be a sad experience.
We need to let, as I say, we need to—and I'll close by again saying
it. The solution here is not the government running this company.
It’s a private team. And they're going to need all the help they can
get.

Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman KaNJORSKI. Thank you, Mr. Bachus. And now we will
hear from the gentleman from New York, Mr. Ackerman, for 1
minute.

Mr. ACKERMAN. I'll try to observe the time. Mr. Chairman,
there’s a tidal wave of rage throughout America right now, and it’s
building up, and it's expressing itself at this latest outrage, which
is really just the tip of the iceberg. And that rage is because the
taxpayer knows that they are the ultimate sucker on the list of
who pays for all of the greed that has been going on in the market-
place for years and years.

And the real question that we're going to have to face here is not
just these bonuses, which are minuscule compared to the out-
rageous sums that we really have to be talking about, but how a
previously venerable company that was an icon in the industry sell-
ing legitimate insurance products on the financial market suc-
cumbed to this greed and figured out how to package smoke and
sell it on the marketplace for billions of dollars without any bit of
supervision by any agency, regulation, and without the watchful
eye of the Congress.

Chairman KANJORSKI. And now the gentleman from Georgia, Mr.
Price, for 2 minutes.

Mr. Price. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I was remarkably dis-
appointed to learn that Secretary Geithner declined to testify at to-
day’s hearing, considering the primary role that he played in the
governmental intervention into AIG. Make no mistake, everyone is
up in arms over the bonuses provided to AIG executives. It seems
to me, however, that the outrage should more appropriately be di-
rected at the fact the taxpayers were put in this position in the
first place.

This is exactly why the Federal Government should not be in the
business of bailing out private companies. This is what a political
economy looks like. And it’s a very dangerous place to be. Mis-
guided past governmental intervention has put us in precisely this
position. The bonus money distributed by AIG is indefensible, but
the taxpayer bailout afforded to AIG by the government is remark-
ably more egregious. The government has already poured over $170
billion taxpayer dollars into AIG, over 1,000 times the amount paid
out in bonuses.

President Obama has said he’s going to “pursue every legal ave-
nue to block these bonuses and make the American taxpayer
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whole.” Well, I wish the President demonstrated the same level of
outrage over the repeated taxpayer-funded bailouts that we have
seen in recent months. I wish he demonstrated the same commit-
ment. to making sure that the taxpayers were made completely
whole. I wish he demonstrated the same commitment to funda-
mental American principles.

What we desperately need is an exit strategy that will get back
the $170 billion that the taxpayers have already sacrificed to keep
AIG running. To that end, we need a comprehensive strategy that
is going to recoup all taxpayer subsidies, get the government out
of the business of running private companies, picking winners and
losers, and taking us further into a political economy.

AIG should be held accountable for every bad decision it has
made. We simply must, however, restore accountability and the
market discipline in the system so that our economy will be able
to grow again. We need to make it recognize that to those who still
believe it ought to be the most vibrant and robust economy in the
world, and the best way to accomplish that is to embrace and re-
store fundamental American principles that made this country
great.

Chairman KaANJORSKI. Thank you very much, Mr. Price. As a
matter of fact, it was excellent. It was exactly 2 minutes. Now we
will recognize the gentleman from California, Mr. Sherman, for 1
minute.

Mr. SHERMAN. Mr. Chairman, at the appropriate time, I'll ask
that Mr. Liddy be sworn. We should impose a high surtax on those
executives who choose to retain excessive compensation, and that
should apply to all the big bailed-out firms. Securities laws require
timely disclosure of material information to shareholders and im-
pose criminal penalties on those who conspire to withhold that in-
formation. If the 300 million shareholders of AIG, namely the
American people, had been fully informed on a timely basis about
these bonuses, we would not have invested $170 billion. We cer-
tainly would not have invested the additional $30 billion that was
put in just 2 weeks ago. We would have insisted on receivership.
This would have saved us tens of billions of dollars, prevented bil-
lions of dollars from being disbursed to foreign banks, prevented
the bonuses from being paid, and voided the bonus contracts.

I have urged receivership. Some can argue against receivership.
But no one can argue in favor of a criminal conspiracy to withhold
information from the American people so as to deprive them of the
right to decide whether we should have receivership.

I yield back.

Chairman KaNJORSKI. Thank you, Mr. Sherman. And now we
will hear from the gentleman from Delaware, Mr. Castle, for 1%2
minutes.

Mr. CastLE. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. While we seem to all
agree that AIG employee bonuses are a poor use of taxpayer dollars
at this critical point in time, I am concerned we aren’t getting the
full story here. The Fed and the Treasury are stewards of the
American taxpayer investment in AIG, an amount approaching an
80 percent. ownership share of that company since September of
2008.
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It is my understanding that the Treasury, the Fed, and AIG ex-
ecutives have been discussing these bonus payments amongst
themselves for the last 3 months. I would like to know what was
said between these agencies, what options were weighed, and how
the bonus decisions were ultimately made. Any details on this mat-
ter that can be provided are of utmost concern to me and the Amer-
ican public. I realize Mr. Liddy is relatively new to his position. I'm
sure he can describe AIG’s role in these decisions. However, I am
disappointed, Mr. Chairman, that we will not be hearing today
from the Fed and Treasury to discuss their role during today’s
hearing. And I heard you state earlier we will hear from them in
a week or so, but I think they should have been here today.

The American taxpayer is being asked to trust government now
more than ever. The Treasury and the Fed are overseeing the ex-
penditure of billions, if not trillions of dollars to stabilize our finan-
cial infrastructure and get. our economy on solid ground. We under-
stand that this role is difficult, but transparency and honesty is
paramount as we work to regain fiscal stability. I look forward to
hearing from our witnesses today, and I look forward to hearing
from Treasury and the Fed when they arrive here.

I yield back the balance of my time, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman KaNJORSKI. Thank you very much, Mr. Castle. Now,
we will hear from Mr. Capuano of Massachusetts for 1 minute.

Mr. CapuanNo. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. Mr. Chairman, this
first panel is made up of thrift regulators, insurance regulators,
and credit rating agencies. I want to know where were you or your
agency, or more importantly some of your sister agencies at a dif-
ferent level? Where were they when AIG was getting ready to do
this? Not today. I want to know how we got where we are. I want
to know, do you believe that what we have done so far, the path
we have taken, is it better or worse than simply declaring bank-
ruptey for this company and getting it over with? I want to know
whether you believe that AIG, whether they will ever return to
profitability, whether the taxpayers will ever see their money back,
and if so, when?

Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I return my time.

Chairman KaNJORSKI. Thank you, Mr. Capuano. Now we will
hear from Mr. Manzullo of Illinois for 1 minute.

Mr. MaNzZULLO. Mr. Chairman, I examined Mr. Kashkari from
TARP on December 10th and asked him if he was going to ask for
a $3 million bonus back from one individual. He said it could be
deferred compensation and ostensibly not returnable. Deferred
compensation for what? I represent Rockford, Illinois, the largest
city with 14 percent unemployment. People are losing their jobs.
Factories are closing.

They're taking cutbacks, working odd shifts, and taking late
night shifts. They aren’t being paid to destroy the economy. They're
being paid to invigorate it. They're sitting in this seat today, all
740,000 of them, wondering how could government do something so
stupid as to allow these people to make that kind of money and
then sit back and everybody point fingers at each other. We want
some answers today.

Chairman KANJORSKI. Thank you very much, Mr. Manzullo. Now
we will hear from Mrs. Maloney of New York for 1 minute.
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Mrs. MALONEY. Thank you. American taxpayers are justifiably
outraged. AIG will be remembered as one of the worst financial dis-
asters in American corporate history. Six months into the crisis,
AIG executives still have not read the memo from the American
taxpayer. It is morally reprehensible and fiscally irresponsible to
expect bonus money for bringing a corporate giant to its knees and
paralyzing a national economy.

There are many proposals before Congress now to address this
outrage. I have authored legislation which would tax at 100 per-
cent. any bonus compensation where the U.S. taxpayer has majority
ownership of the company. This would bring back the $125 million
in bonus money. Bonuses should be based on creating value, not
destroying it and a formerly great company, AIG.

Chairman KaNJORSKI. Now we will hear from Mr. Royce of Cali-
fornia for 1 minute.

Mr. RovcCE. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I voted against the bail-
out of AIG, and I wrote an editorial at the time, “Bailout Plan
Could Mutate into a Gravy Train of Tax Money.” Well, it has. And
rewarded in this are the counterparties around the world that
made poor investments with AIG. Rewarded with bonuses are the
members of the very Financial Products Division that contributed
to AIG’s demise. Rewarded is AIG, that now appears to be using
their new systemically significant label issued by the Federal Gov-
ernment. to charge artificially lower rates in the commercial lines
and undercut responsible small private insurance companies in this
country.

Central to this discussion on AIG is what Chairman Bernanke
told us. He said 54 various State insurance regulators didn’t have
the capacity to deal with a global insurance company. I have been
warning about the systemic risk here since 2006. Congresswoman
Melissa Bean and I have been pushing a bill that will close that
gap. And until we establish a world class regulatory alternative
that is able to deal with a global insurance company like this, that
gap will remain. Now in the meantime, we should strike these bo-
nuses.

Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman KaANJORSKI. Thank you, Mr. Royce. And now we will
hear from Mr. Hodes of New Hampshire.

Mr. HopEs. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. You know, as far as the
American people are concerned, I think AIG now stands for Arro-
gance, Incompetence, and Greed. It is unacceptable that TARP
funds are being pocketed by AIG executives, and it must not be al-
lowed to stand.

I agree with Chairman Frank. I think his approach is a good one.
It is ridiculous to stand on these contracts as justification for pay-
ing the bonuses, given the circumstances that AIG found itself in.
As representatives of the taxpayers, I believe that the contract pro-
visions which allow bonuses for failure are unconscionable and
should be held to be invalid or unenforceable on the grounds of
public policy. I think it’s a good thing that we explore that tack,
and I look forward to supporting any way we get this money back
for the American taxpayers.

Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
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Chairman KaNJORSKI. Thank you. Now we will hear for 1 minute
from Mrs. Biggert of Illinois. Mrs. Biggert.

Mrs. BIGGERT. Thank you, Mr. Chairman, and thank you for
holding this hearing. Let me be clear. We want the money back.
It should never have gone to the recipients in the first place. Today
I want to know, did taxpayers who own 80 percent of this company
get. to vote on these bonuses? Did anyone represent the U.S. tax-
payer?

While preaching transparency and accountability, did the Admin-
istration and the leaders in Congress drop the ball? Did the regu-
lators drop the ball? I would also like to know how much would the
recipients have received in bonuses if the Federal Government had
not stepped in in September and October and November and now
in March. I don’t think that there would have been any bonuses.
So I think that AIG should either return the bailout money with
or without the bonuses.

We need to reverse this travesty. Perhaps we need to take legal
action. This is not the direction that my hardworking, tax paying
citizens want us to go. We can do better, and we must do better.

With that, I would yield back.

Chairman KaNJORSKI. Thank you, Mrs. Biggert. And now for 1
minute, Mr. Klein of Florida.

Mr. KLEIN. Thank you, Chairman Kanjorski, for holding this im-
portant hearing. As most Americans are, we're pretty disgusted by
the deplorable saga of AIG, and I certainly join my constituents in
their outrage about the millions of dollars in bonuses that are
being awarded to AIG employees. The American people understand
that we are going through a difficult time and are prepared to sac-
rifice and work together to get our country back on track. But they
will not stand for taxpayer dollars being wasted on bonuses for peo-
ple who bear responsibility for this crisis in part, and neither will
I

When I'm back in my district in South Florida, I talk to people
who have lost their jobs, their health care, their homes, or the
value of their pension investments. And here we are sitting today,
or we will be sitting before the Chairman and CEO of AIG who dis-
tributed million dollar bonuses to those who drove the company
and possibly our economy into the ground.

There’s a tremendous disconnect between the American people
and the executive officers of AIG. And I certainly want to know
what were they thinking when they allowed these bonuses to go
forward. I look forward to the testimony and a frank discussion
about how to resolve this.

Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman KaNJORSKI. Thank you very much, Mr. Klein. And
now we will hear from Mrs. Capito of West Virginia for 1 minute.

Mrs. Caprro. Thank you. Mr. Chairman, I would like to thank
you for convening this hearing this morning. As I was on my way
to work this morning into the office, the first person I encountered
looked at me and said, “something isn’t right here,” in reference to
the recent news of the AIG bonuses. And to be honest, I couldn’t
agree more,.

When this body first considered the proposal that would become
the TARP program, I and others expressed significant concerns
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that we were moving too quickly, there was too much risk for the
taxpayer, and too little oversight. News accounts from this week
only reconfirm what many of us said from the beginning. There
was not adequate understanding or transparency surrounding
these dollars.

All across the Nation, American families and small businesses
are tightening budgets, cutting back on costs, and making tough
decisions. And the recent news of these bonuses has just added an
insult to the prudence of these small businesses and families who
are making difficult decisions every day.

Whether we like it or not, or whether they like it or not, the com-
panies that have received TARP are under intense scrutiny under-
standably. The light is shining brightly on their actions, and it is
my hope we can resolve the current economic challenges so the tax-
payers are no longer on the hook for this type of excess.

I would like to thank the witnesses for being here today and I
look forward to the testimony. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman KaNJORSKI. Thank you, Mrs. Capito. And now we will
hear from Mr. Peters of Michigan for 1 minute.

Mr. PETERS. Thank you, Mr. Chairman, and I want to thank you
for holding this hearing here today. I'm one of the many members
of the subcommittee who are outraged by news that employees of
AIG were paid $165 million in bonuses. AIG has received over $170
billion from taxpayers, and my constituents are finding it harder
and harder to believe that such support is justified.

In my congressional district in Michigan, there are thousands of
UAW employees who have employment contracts, and they have
been told that they need to re-negotiate those contracts and make
concessions to justify taxpayer investments. There are thousands of
white collar employees with employment contracts who have fore-
gone promised bonuses and benefits and have taken pay cuts in
order to save the companies that they work for.

People are sick of this double standard where working class and
middle class workers are treated differently than the financial in-
dustry executives. What people are looking for is a sense of shared
sacrifice. Wall Street does not seem to understand that yet, but
they need to understand it immediately. I know that Mr. Liddy has
outlined some reductions, but I look forward to hearing more from
Mr. Liddy.

And, again, thank you, Mr. Chairman, for this opportunity.

Chairman KaNJORSKI. Thank you very much, Mr. Peters. And
now we will hear from the gentleman from Texas, Mr. Hensarling.

Mr. HENSARLING. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. With respect to the
TARP program, this AIG bonus scandal is simply the outrage of
the week, and the week is not yet half over. The greater outrage
should be the almost $180 billion and growing of taxpayer expo-
sure. The greater outrage ought to be four bailouts later, no end
in sight, and no plan of sustainability or exit strategy that has
been explained to this committee, the greater outrage ought to be
taxpayer money used to sustain counterparties to make them
whole, counterparties who undertook a risk versus taxpayers who
did not take the risk.

And finally, the greater outrage ought to be over a Congress and
a President who could have prevented all of this. With respect to
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comments out of the Administration, I am reminded of that famous
scene in the Humphrey Bogart movie, Casablanca, “I'm shocked to
find gambling going on here,” as the character stuffs the gambling
winnings in his pockets.

I have two suggestions: No more taxpayer funds without the abil-
ity to place these firms in receivership; and no more bonuses until
the taxpayer is made whole.

Chairman KaNJorskI. Thank you very much. Next, Mr. Scott of
Georgia for 1 minute.

Mr. ScorT. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman. I just want to
say how very important it is for us to quickly restore the confidence
of the American people in what we're doing. In order to do that,
we have to get to the bottom of how we got into this situation in
the first place.

I think it’s very important, Mr. Chairman, to get to the bottom
of this, to look at the fraud elements of this case. We have to re-
member that this started in March of 2008. How in the world could
they justify putting out contracts of $450 million for a Financial
Products Department in AIG that had only 367 employees? Also it’s
very important that this $165 million at the outset is only the tip
of the iceberg. What they have put forward here comes to a total
of $1.2 billion in bonuses that have been given throughout the
firms for this year.

The other point I want to make, Mr. Chairman, is, in order for
us to really get the confidence of the people back, we have to put
a pause button on these bailouts and get to the bottom of it. And
we in Congress have that responsibility to do as well, and we have
a role to play. So as we point fingers here in Congress, we have
to recall that there are three fingers pointing right back at us. We
have to make sure we're doing our job in order to have the con-
fidence of the American people.

Chairman KaNJORSKI. The gentleman from South Carolina for 1
minute.

Mr. BARRETT. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Last fall, President Bush asked for my help to avoid a total col-
lapse of the economy, a collapse which would have pushed our
country into great economic peril. Back home, small business own-
ers and major corporations called me to let me know that if we
didn’t take extraordinary steps in those extraordinary times, many
of the employers my constituents rely on would be forced to close
their doors for good.

Now it disappoints me to see that some of these very companies
which requested taxpayer assistance have failed to change their
pattern of irresponsible decisionmaking, which undoubtedly con-
tributed to the current economic crisis. The Bush Administration
and then-chairman of the New York Fed, Timothy Geithner, mis-
managed the implementation of this program, and the Obama Ad-
ministration, while assuring us they knew exactly what was going
on and how the monies were being spent, have failed to bring about
the necessary reforms and safeguards to protect the American tax-
payer.

Panel, we need to figure out our exit strategy, how taxpayers are
going to be paid back, and when we can end this toxic relationship
with AIG.
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Chairman KaNnJorskI. Thank you very much, Mr. Barrett.

For 1 minute, the gentleman from Idaho, Mr. Minnick.

Mr. MINNICK. I opposed the TARP bill and I opposed the bailout
of AIG. I'm a businessman who, when I bought companies, took
due diligence seriously. We taxpayers shouldn’t buy companies or
socialize businesses. Having made the mistake with AIG, we
should not now throw good money after bad. Instead, we should
now withdraw taxpayer support and let AIG go bankrupt. Let a
Federal bankruptcy judge void these ill-advised bonus contracts,
sort out the losses and bring in new qualified management to prop-
erly manage AIG before you get one more nickel of taxpayer sup-
port. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman KaNJoORsKI. Thank you very much, Mr. Minnick.

Next, Mr. Campbell of California for 1 minute.

Mr. CaMPBELL. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

There will be lots of discussion about how we got here, but we
also need to spend some time on what we are going to do next. I
have a lot of concerns about whether there will be any business left
from which the taxpayers can recoup any money.

A question I would like to know the answer to is that in Sep-
tember, AIG had $450 billion of exposure on credit default swaps.
What is that number today? AIG’s commercial property and cas-
ualty business was down 22 percent in the fourth quarter and
there is evidence that it retained the remainder of its business by
substantially reducing prices.

What is happening to that property and casualty business? It
would appear it is in some kind of a death spiral. Have there been
some, even in the money market fund that AIG had, some puts and
other riskier assets put into that which should not have been put
into that and if the systemic risk is in the life insurance business,
where does that stand right now?

Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I yield back.

Chairman KaNnJorsKI. Thank you very much, Mr. Campbell.

And now, the last opening statement, the gentleman from Texas,
Mr. Neugebauer, for 1 minute.

Mr. NEUGEBAUER. Well, thank you, Mr. Chairman.

I was going to go ahead and say that I am outraged as well, but
what I would like to be is enlightened. What we really need to
know is what the plan is. The whole problem with the TARP plan
from the very beginning is nobody has ever had a plan, other than
to throw taxpayers’ money at a problem that nobody is able to actu-
ally define. As the previous speaker said, what is the position in
some of the CDS’s today as opposed to what they were on the day
that we took over, or I guess—I think we took over. I'm not sure
what we did with AIG.

What the American taxpayers want to know is what we are
doing to mitigate their exposure, when are they going to get their
money back, and what is defined. And what we need, this com-
mittee needs, if we are going to actually do oversight, is a plan that
has measurable results. In other words, here is where we are
today. Here is where we think we are going to be. Then we want
you to come back in 30 days or 60 days or 90 days and show us
whether or not you are going to make any progress.
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You couldn’t borrow money anywhere in the world on the basis
that we are throwing money at some of these entities without a
plan. So I hope we will be enlightened today, as well as hopefully
get a little bit less enraged and more engaged in getting our money
back for the American taxpayers.

Chairman KANJORSKI. Thank you very much, Mr. Neugebauer.

And now in response to requests in consultation with the ranking
member, our witnesses today will take an oath. Will the witnesses
please stand and raise their right hands and respond “I do” after
I read the oath.

[witnesses sworn]

Chairman KANJORSKI. Thank you very much. You are now sworn
in. Please be seated.

I will now introduce the panel and first thank them for appear-
ing today. We had to make changes to the panel because of the re-
cent news. In light of that, I may say, because I heard some com-
ments in the opening remarks, initially this subcommittee hearing
was scheduled 6 weeks ago and at that time, there was no hulla-
baloo in the land about the bonuses. It was a standard process we
were going through to find out what is happening with AIG. But
Mr. Scott Garrett and I are so attuned to what may happen in the
future, we anticipated this occurrence and therefore, we are here
at the right moment asking. I am trying to be humorous, but I am
not very humorous.

In reality, the purpose of this hearing, really, is to find out what
happened, how did AIG get here, what is the plan for AIG to per-
form, and what can we expect in the future, particularly toward
when the taxpayers can expect to receive their funds back? And
Mr. Castle specifically stated some disappointment that the Sec-
retary of the Treasury and the Chairman of the Federal Reserve
are not here today. They are scheduled to be here on the 24th of
March. That will be the follow-up for that. I am sure there will be
a lot of concentration on the bonuses.

I would just caution my panel members on both sides of the aisle
that bonuses are important, the bonuses are shocking, but the bo-
nuses are not the only element here. The most important element
is what the plan is for the future and are we going to be—

The CHAIRMAN. Will the gentleman yield?

Chairman KANJORSKI. Yes.

The CHAIRMAN. On the procedural issues, we could also note that
the Secretary of the Treasury has also been scheduled to be here
on the 26th to talk about the board of regulatory issue, the subject
of our previous hearing. And I did want to note both of those hear-
ings, just procedurally, will be full committee hearings, although
the subcommittee has been doing an excellent job of handling this.

But the protocol has been, for as long as I have been here, that
cabinet. officers will only testify at full committees, so the hearings
with Mr. Geithner and Chairman Bernanke, not because there is
any reason, other than that is the only way you can get them to
come. This will continue to be a matter in which the subcommittee
is taking the lead for us.

Chairman KaNJORSKI. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman. We
will take that into consideration and understand that.
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Now our witnesses are asked to summarize their testimony in 5
minutes and all of your written statements will be made a part of
:;ihe 1Ojlecord without objection. Hearing no objection, that is so or-

ered.

First, we will hear from Mr. Scott Polakoff, Acting Director of the
Office of Thrift Supervision.

Mr. Polakoff.

STATEMENT OF SCOTT M. POLAKOFF, ACTING DIRECTOR,
OFFICE OF THRIFT SUPERVISION (OTS)

Mr. PorLAKOFF. Good morning, Chairman Kanjorski, Ranking
Member Garrett, and members of the subcommittee. Thank you for
icr)lviésing me here to testify about the supervision of AIG by the

TS.

The scope of government intervention on behalf of AIG has cre-
ated enormous public interest and acute attention by policymakers.
I welcome the opportunity to present the facts available and to an-
swer the important questions surrounding AIG.

The OTS granted a Federal savings bank charter to AIG in 1999
and the bank opened for business in 2000. The OTS is the primary
Federal regulator for the $1 billion FDIC insured depository insti-
tution and the OTS was the consolidated regulator for the savings
and loan holding company.

In January 2007, the OTS was informed that its holding com-
pany supervision was deemed equivalent to that required by the co-
ordinator under the European Union’s financial conglomerate’s di-
rective. OTS continued in its role as consolidated supervisor until
September 16, 2008, when by operation of law, AIG was no longer
a savings and loan holding company.

My written testimony goes into detail about OTS oversight of
AIG, including our annual examinations of the company, targeted
reviews of its subsidiaries, including the AIG Financial Products
operating business, our reports on the findings of those supervisory
activities and follow-up communications with AIG’s management
and board of directors to address our concerns.

In my statement today, I would like to highlight just a few
points. The rapid decline of AIG stemmed from liquidity problems
and two important business lines:

Number one, credit default swaps. A credit default swap is a de-
rivative instrument that provides insurance-like protection to in-
vestors against credit losses from the underlying obligations which
were typically mortgage loans. Number two, securities lending, a
business strategy implemented by a handful of AIG’s State insur-
ance subsidiaries.

It is important to note that AIG stopped originating credit de-
fault swaps that were linked to subprime borrowers in 2005. By
that time, however, the company already had $50 billion of such in-
struments on its books. AIG halted these activities while the hous-
ing market was still going strong, but the company’s model fore-
casted trouble ahead.

Another important point is that AIG’s credit default swaps were
protecting against credit losses on the highest rated, super senior,
triple A plus rated tranche of the collateralized debt obligations.
This segment of the securitization poses the least risk of credit loss.
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In fact, as of December 31, 2008, there have been no actual real-
ized credit losses from the underlying CDO’s.

AIG’s crisis resulted from the enormous sums of liquidity re-
quired to meet collateral calls triggered by one of the following
three events: A rating agency downgrade of the company; a rating
agency downgrade of the underlying CDO; or a reduction in the
market value of the underlying CDO. AIG’s security lending pro-
gram, which began prior to 2000, lent securities from the State in-
surance companies to third parties who provided cash collateral in
return.

As a general theme, the cash collateral was invested in residen-
tial mortgage-backed securities. With the turmoil in the housing
and mortgage markets over the past 2 years, these residential
mortgage-backed securities experienced sharp declines in value.
When the trades expired or were unwound, the cash collateral had
to be returned to the counterparty.

This created unprecedented liquidity pressure for the company.
The cash requirements of the program significantly contributed to
AIG’s crisis. I think these are the keys to understanding how we
got. to where we are today.

And as to where we go from here, I see two important lessons
learned.

Number one, the credit default swaps at the center of AIG’s prob-
lems continue to be unregulated products. New regulations gov-
erning these complex derivative products are essential. The an-
nouncement by the President’s Working Group on Financial Mar-
kets in November of last year to implement essential counterparty
service for credit default swaps is a good beginning. And number
two, the AIG story makes a compelling argument for establishing
a systemic risk regulator with the authority to examine the re-
sources to address temporary liquidity crises and the legal author-
ity to perform receivership activities if a failure is unavoidable.

Thank you, Mr. Chairman, for allowing me to testify. I look for-
ward to answering questions.

[The prepared statement of Mr. Polakoff can be found on page
210 of the appendix.]

Chairman KanJorskI. Thank you very much, Mr. Polakoff.

Now we will hear from the Honorable Joel Ario, Insurance Com-
missioner of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania Insurance Depart-
ment, on behalf of the National Association of Insurance Commis-
sioners.

Welcome, Mr. Ario.

TESTIMONY OF THE HONORABLE JOEL ARIO, INSURANCE
COMMISSIONER, PENNSYLVANIA INSURANCE DEPARTMENT,
ON BEHALF OF THE NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF INSUR-
ANCE COMMISSIONERS

Mr. Ario. Thank you, Chairman Kanjorski, Ranking Member
Garrett, and members of the subcommittee. I appreciate the oppor-
tunity to provide an insurance regulator’s perspective on what has
happened at AIG.

Ben Bernanke, Chairman of the Federal Reserve, recently de-
scribed AIG as, “A hedge fund attached to a large and stable insur-
ance company.” He was right on both counts. The hedge fund is
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AIG Financial Products, which, according to Chairman Bernanke,
made, “Irresponsible bets and took huge losses.” The large and sta-
ble insurance company is, of course, 71 State regulated insurance
subsidiaries, including 11 companies in my State of Pennsylvania.

The reason the Federal Government decided to rescue AIG was
because of the systemic risk created by Financial Products. That
risk materialized last September when it became apparent that Fi-
nancial Products had bet twice the value of AIG on risky credit de-
fault swaps and failed to hedge its own bets. To make matters
worse, the counterparties to those swaps included many of the
world’s leading financial institutions. It was to protect those insti-
tutions that the Federal Government acted.

In Chairman Bernanke’s words, “We are not doing this to bail
out AIG or their shareholders certainly. We are doing this to pro-
tect our financial system and to avoid a much more severe crises
in our global economy. We know that the failure of major financial
firms can be disastrous for the economy. We really had no choice.”

To put it bluntly, AIG Financial Products, the hedge fund that
failed to hedge its own bets, has become the poster child for sys-
temic risk. Although the September crisis at Financial Products
produced collateral damage within the AIG insurance companies,
the fact is that these companies do perform well—they are not in
a death spiral—well enough that competitors accuse AIG of using
its Federal assistance to unfair advantage in the marketplace.

The allegations are most prominent in commercial insurance
where the Nation’s largest insurers routinely bid against each
other on multi-million dollar accounts. AIG’s competitors claim that
AIG is deliberately underpricing in a desperate attempt to main-
tain premium value. AIG has fired back that its competitors are se-
lectively underpricing to exploit a vulnerable company.

Such disputes typically reflect insurers trying to protect profit
margins in a soft market, but there is a point at which low pricing
can threaten long-term stability. So we have carefully reviewed, we
being State insurance regulators, carefully reviewed charges on
both sides and to date, have not seen any clear evidence of under-
pricing on either side.

What have we learned from the AIG ordeal? First, we have seen
stable insurance companies that demonstrate the efficacy of State
insurance regulation. Indeed, the Federal rescue of AIG would have
been an even tougher call were it not for the well-capitalized insur-
ance companies providing the possibility that the AIG loans will be
paid back. That was true in September. It is true today.

The insurance companies have the value they do because State
regulation requires healthy reserves backed by conservative invest-
ments all dedicated to protecting policyholders and other claimants.
This is not to say that regulation is perfect, to the chairman’s intro-
ductory comment, which brings me to securities lending.

Securities lending did not pose systemic risk and would have
been resolved without any Federal assistance, but for the Financial
Products debacle, which caused the run on the bank that took a net
of $20 billion in Federal funds to fully resolve. It is more than $40
billion out, but $20 billion held by the Federal Government today.
This was unfortunate and it is a problem for State regulation, but
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it does not compare to the $440 billion credit default swap mess
that continues to pose systemic risk.

The securities lending problem: solved today. Completely solved.
My written testimony contains more details about securities lend-
ing, but let me conclude with a few thoughts on the most important
lesson we can learn from the abuses at Financial Products: the
need to identify and manage systemic risk.

As AIG illustrates, insurance companies are more likely to be the
recipients rather than the creators of systemic risk, but as AIG also
illustrates, the systemic risk that is received can have significant
repercussions. In this case, a manageable securities lending prob-
lem turned into a run on the bank back in September.

State insurance regulators recognize that Federal action is need-
ed to address systemic risk, but the solution should be a collabo-
rative one that builds on the strength of State regulation (multiple
eyes on any problem) by adding the eyes of other functional regu-
lators in a transparent structure that holds all functional regu-
lators accountable and does not compromise one company within
the enterprise for the benefit of another. Such a structure would
give us, as State regulators, the ability to do what we do best, pro-
tect the insurance buying public. Thank you.

[The prepared statement of Mr. Ario can be found on page 136
of the appendix.]

Chairman KaNnJorskI. Thank you very much, Mr. Ario.

And now our next witness will be Ms. Orice Williams, Director
of Financial Markets and Community Investment at the Govern-
ment Accountability Office.

Ms. Williams.

TESTIMONY OF ORICE M. WILLIAMS, DIRECTOR, FINANCIAL
MARKETS AND COMMUNITY INVESTMENT, UNITED STATES
GOVERNMENT ACCOUNTABILITY OFFICE (GAO)

Ms. WiLLiaMs. Mr. Chairman and members of the subcommittee,
I appreciate the opportunity to participate in this morning’s hear-
ing on AIG and issues related to its Federal assistance. I will be
providing an update on the status of our ongoing work on issues
surrounding the Federal Reserve’s and Treasury’s assistance to
AIG and potential competitive implications for commercial prop-
erty/casualty markets where AIG insurance companies are major
players.

When you and Ranking Member Bachus asked GAO to initiate
this work in January, we pulled together a multi-disciplinary team
that includes staff knowledgeable about insurance and economics,
including our Chief Actuary and Chief Economist. Our work is di-
vided primarily into two areas:

In the first area, we are exploring the goals of the assistance,
progress in achieving these goals, and challenges AIG faces in re-
paying the Federal assistance as well as how the Federal Reserve
and Treasury are monitoring AIG’s restructuring efforts; however,
it is important to note that GAOQ is prohibited by law from auditing
the Federal Reserve’s monetary policy activities, which includes the
emergency authority the Federal Reserve is using to address the
current financial crisis. Therefore, our review is based on publicly
available information.
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Second, we are examining allegations that the assistance pro-
vided to AIG has afforded its property and casualty insurers an un-
fair advantage in certain markets and that they are pricing in a
way that is not consistent with their risks.

Now I will share a few of our preliminary findings. The Federal
Reserve and Treasury officials told us that the goal of the contin-
ued assistance has been to avoid systemic risk from a rating down-
grade or rapid failure of the company that would further desta-
bilize financial markets. The Federal Reserve has been monitoring
AIG’s operations since September and Treasury is beginning to
more actively monitor AIG’s operations as its role has expanded.

Although the ongoing Federal assistance has generally prevented
further downgrades in AIG’s credit rating, AIG has had mixed suc-
cess in fulfilling its other restructuring plans. For example, while
AIG has terminated its securities lending program, its efforts to
sell certain business units has been more challenging in the cur-
rent economic environment.

GAO also faces ongoing challenges from the continued overall
economic deterioration and tight credit markets. AIG’s ability to
repay its obligations to the Federal Government has also been im-
paired by its falling revenue and ability to sell its assets, as well
as further declines in the value of its assets.

Now I will briefly discuss our ongoing work on the potential im-
pact of AIG’s Federal assistance on the commercial property and
casualty market. Specifically, we are reviewing potential effects on
AlG’s pricing practices. As you know, some of AIG’s competitors
have expressed concerns that Federal assistance to AIG has al-
lowed AIG’s commercial property and casualty insurance compa-
nies to offer coverage at rates that are inadequate for the risk in-
volved.

To date, we have spoken with numerous State insurance regu-
lators, insurance brokers, and insurance buyers. The general con-
sensus thus far is that while AIG may be pricing somewhat more
aggressively in order to retain business in light of damage to the
parent. company’s reputation, they have not seen indications that
this pricing was inadequate or out of line with previous AIG pric-
ing practices. However, we have found no evidence to date that
Federal assistance has been provided directly to AIG’s property/cas-
ualty insurers.

To the extent that the property and casualty insurers would have
been adversely affected by a credit downgrade or failure of the par-
ent, AIG’s insurance companies have likely received some indirect
benefit.

In closing, I would note that the extent to which the assistance
provided by the government will achieve its goal of preventing sys-
temic risk continues to unfold and will largely be influenced by
AIG’s success in meeting its ongoing challenges to try to restruc-
ture its operations and maintain goodwill. Our work is ongoing at
this time. We have not drawn any final conclusions about whether
or how the assistance has impacted the overall competitiveness of
the commercial property and casualty market and will face a num-
ber of challenges in doing so.
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Mr. Chairman, this completes my oral statement. I would be
pleased to answer any questions that you or members of the sub-
committee may have at the appropriate time.

[The prepared statement of Ms. Williams can be found on page
231 of the appendix.]

Chairman KaNnJorsKI. Thank you very much, Ms. Williams.

And last, we will hear from Mr. Rodney Clark, managing director
of insurance ratings at Standard & Poor’s.

Mr. Clark.

TESTIMONY OF RODNEY CLARK, MANAGING DIRECTOR, IN-
SURANCE RATINGS, STANDARD & POOR’S RATINGS SERV-
ICES (S&P)

Mr. CLARK. Thank you, Mr. Chairman, Ranking Member Garrett,
and members of the subcommittee. Good morning. My name is
Rodney Clark. I serve as a managing director in Standard & Poor’s
rating services business and from 2005 until very recently, I served
as S&P’s lead rating analyst covering AIG. I am pleased to appear
before you today.

Let me begin by speaking generally about our ratings process
and the nature of our credit ratings. S&P’s credit ratings are cur-
rent opinions on the future credit risk of an entity or debt obliga-
tion. OQur ratings do not speak to the market value of a security or
the volatility of its price and they are not recommendations to buy,
sell or hold a security. They are one tool for investors to use as
they assess risk and differentiate credit quality of issuers and the
debt that they issue.

S&P analysts gather information about a particular issuer or
debt issue, analyze the information according to our published cri-
teria, form opinions and then present their findings to a committee
of experienced analysts that votes on what ratings to assign. S&P
publishes its ratings opinion in real time and for free on our Web
site and we also generally publish a narrative that provides addi-
tional information about our opinion.

This is the process by which S&P arrived at its ratings on AIG,
which I will now discuss in more detail. Attached to my written
submission is a table listing our global ratings history of AIG since
1990, as well as a more detailed description of our rationale for our
rating changes. For many years, S&P had a triple A rating on AIG.
Our opinion began to change in 2004 and since March 2005, we
have lowered our ratings on AIG 4 times.

In February of last year, S&P announced a negative outlook on
the company’s ratings related to the way AIG was determining the
fair value of credit default swap contracts or CDS. AIG’s CDS guar-
anteed an array of structured finance securities. Several months
later, in May 2008, we lowered AIG’s rating to double A minus fol-
lowing the company’s announcement of further losses in their CDS
portfolio and we maintained a negative outlook on AIG throughout
the summer of 2008.

In August, S&P announced that its view of the actual expected
credit losses in the CDS area would likely amount to around $8 bil-
lion, significantly higher than the mark-to-market losses. AIG’s fi-
nancial condition continued to deteriorate sharply amid the sub-
stantial market turbulence in September 2008 leading to a sudden
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Ehiop in the market value of AIG’s investments and its CDS port-
olio.

In light of these events, on September 12, 2008, S&P placed its
ratings on AIG and its subsidiaries on credit watch with negative
implications. On September 15, 2008, as AIG’s condition continued
to deteriorate, S&P lowered its rating further to A minus in light
of the increase in CDS related losses and AIG’s reduced flexibility
in meeting its collateral needs. Since then, AIG has benefitted from
government support.

Our rating on AIG remains at A minus, but includes a six notch
uplift for the government support. Thus, without government sup-
port, our rating on AIG today would be double B minus. S&P re-
cently affirmed its A minus rating on AIG; however, we maintain
a negative outlook on the company’s rating going forward.

I have also been asked to address the effect of AIG’s troubles on
creditworthiness of its insurance subsidiaries. We believe those
subsidiaries are, to some extent, protected by insurance regulations
from AIG’s financial problems. Nevertheless, we believe there is in-
creased reputational risk for the subsidiaries at this time, which
may eventually affect their earnings. Moreover, they may have re-
duced access to capital in the event AIG’s condition should worsen.

I have also been asked to address whether S&P’s ratings may
have contributed to the decline of AIG. We believe that AIG’s dif-
ficulties resulted from the convergence of many factors, including
the unprecedented and substantial deterioration in the market
value of AIG’'s CDS portfolio. While some have argued that S&P’s
downgrade was too slow, others have said that we acted too aggres-
sively and that our downgrades contributed to AIG’s decline.

We would not refrain from taking any rating actions simply out
of deference to a particular issuer or at the request of a market
participant. Our ratings are not driven by market sentiment; rath-
er, our role to act as an independent observer offering our views
on creditworthiness.

Finally, you have asked me to describe any involvement S&P
may have had in connection with the structuring or restructuring
of the government support packages to AIG. Although S&P has
been informed by government officials about the actions that have
been taken, we have had no participation in the structuring or re-
structuring of these packages, nor has S&P provided or been asked
to provide any advice or consultation to the government in connec-
tion with its support of AIG. I think you for the opportunity to par-
ticipate in this hearing and I would be happy to answer any ques-
tions you have.

[The prepared statement of Mr. Clark can be found on page 148
of the appendix.]

Chairman KaNnJorskI. Thank you very much, Mr. Clark.

To the whole panel, we thank you for coming today. We did not
anticipate that this hearing would have as much attention as it
does. It is just a standard old country type hearing up here and
suddenly has gotten a life of its own for totally other purposes. But
maybe we can use our time in questioning you to find out some im-
portant questions, other than bonuses.

And that is first maybe directed to our Pennsylvania insurance
commissioner because a good part of AIG’s insurance is inspected
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by your department. And I know you are here for the National In-
surance Commissioners, but could you give us an idea whether
there is any real negative impact or risk to the insurance policy-
holders of AIG, specifically in Pennsylvania, but then as you may
know, countrywide.

Mr. ARIO. As was just said by the gentleman from Standard and
Poor’s, there are some threats on the horizon in terms of
reputational risk and in terms of access to capital, but today I can
tell you that the 11 companies in Pennsylvania are strong. They
continue to be roughly as strong today as they were in September.

And so far, these threats have not materialized, and the insur-
ance companies continue to be strong. Even if there were more
threats, of course, the policyholders under these insurance compa-
nies would be fully protected, but today I think the franchise value
is still there across the set of AIG companies, both in the property
and casualty business and in the life business, and we continue to
watch it carefully.

Chairman KaNJORSKI. So as I understand that, trying to be fair,
if I were a policyholder, I would not fear the fact that my policy
will be honored, can be honored, and the funds are there protecting
me. So it will be honored; is that correct?

Mr. Ar1o. That is absolutely correct.

Chairman KANJORSKI. Very good.

As to the thrift regulator, I guess I am just going to ask a simple
question that I get asked every day when I am home talking to
people. Most people are astounded that the problems of AIG and
their involvement in the derivative markets were not picked up by
the regulator and dealt with by the regulator. It seems that there
was no whistleblower either. Can you give us some evidence of
what happened and why the regulator did not pick that up?

Mr. POLAKOFF. Yes, sir. I'll start with the notion that indeed the
Office of Thrift Supervision reviewed the performance of the $80
billion in credit default swaps that are really at issue with the gov-
ernment bailout that occurred last year. Of that $80 billion in cred-
it default swaps that are primarily supporting CDO’s, the under-
lying CDO’s, I want to restate what I said earler, sir, which is that
Ehelé)e has been no credit, realized credit losses, on those underlying

DO’s.

Credit default swaps were written on the triple A senior, super
senior, tranche of the CDO’s. The risk in that portfolio, especially
that $80 billion, the risk is from collateral calls associated with ei-
ther the rating downgrade of AIG, the company, the rating down-
%rage of the CDO’s, or the market value deterioration in the

DO’s.

We have been strongly looking at the FP performance since 2004.
We had regular, what we call colleges, with all the international
supervisors each year. In 2007 and 2008, we very aggressively dis-
cussed the risk within FP and the credit default swap portfolio.
About $306 billion of the $430 billion of the credit swaps reside in
a subsidiary in the U.K., but is actually a subsidiary of a French
bank that is part of FP. So Commission Bancaire looks at that por-
tion of the credit default swaps.

But indeed, I do want to clarify, from our perspective, we re-
viewed and clearly understood and worked with FP with this risk.
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I also want to state that it is important to understand that this
book of business, that the subprime credit default swap book of
business stopped in 2005.

Chairman KANJORSKI. On that point, though, it seems to me that
it was not our problem? We are not responsible for it so we would
have to look somewhere else. So it is sort of a pointing game. The
problem is, we are going to have to find somebody ultimately who
is responsible for the whole thing, and what do you envision the
change should be so that this problem will never happen again?

Mr. PorakoFF. Well, thank you, sir. Congressman, I want to go
on record as saying OTS should have, in 2004, stopped this book
of business with an understanding, with an anticipation, with an
analysis that suggested that the real estate market might get as
bad as it has gotten in the last 2 years. At the 2004 assessment,
we should have done it; we didn’t do it. There are a lot of people
walking around who failed to understand how bad the real estate
market was going to get.

I, in no way, want to suggest that there is a pointing game going
on here or we are looking at others. We do believe that this kind
of company deserves the oversight of what we will call a systemic
risk regulator and that systemic risk regulator would have three
parts to it: The ability to examine; the ability to provide liquidity
if there is a liquidity crisis; and the ability to place an institution
into receivership if that is a necessary outcome.

Chairman KaNnJorsKI. Thank you very much, Mr. Polakoff.

And now my time has expired. My ranking member from New
Jersey, Mr. Garrett.

Mr. GARRETT. Thank you. And I seek unanimous consent, just to
clarify the record, as to my comments in July that actually besides
covered bonds, it was also dealing with the framework of the
unwinding process, the potential for future troubled institutions,
such as this, and future activity of the Fed in the reserve, if no ob-
jection.

Chairman KANJORSKI. No objection. It is so ordered. Do you have
a copy?

Mr. GARRETT. Sure.

Thank you all. Just to run down the aisle, Mr. Clark, with regard
to the comments regarding the six notch uptick with regard to the
grading, is that due to the fact—simply to the amount of money
that the Federal Government puts into this or is there an implicit
now guarantee that we are there going forward?

Mr. CLARK. We are not considering, in our analysis, that there
is an implicit guarantee going forward. We are reflecting the sup-
port that has been provided and the potential that there could be
future support, which would include some of the things that AIG
and the Fed have announced, but have not yet been put into place.

Mr. GARRETT. Because just recently, a few months—a short time
ago, it was restructured from the Fed and the Treasury as to what
their relationship was and I guess that was in light of the fact that
had they not done that, then you would have gotten that six notch
or some deviation.

Mr. CLARK. Right. And conditions wouldn’t have been exactly the
same at the time. So the answer might not have been exactly six
notches, but it would have been in the range. But we have been
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saying for several months in our publications that we believe AIG’s
ratings would be non-investment grade had it not been for the sup-
port that had been provided.

Mr. GARRETT. I appreciate that.

Ms. Williams, the last time you were here, whenever that was—
a few weeks back—I got the impression—maybe I heard wrong
from our exchange—that there was no one really responsible for or
looking over the AIG and the holding company with regard to all
this stuff going on here, black box/black hole, I think you referred
it to, as far as the derivatives and what have you, but today, and
also at the meeting previously, Mr. Polakoff, in reading his testi-
mony, I get the idea that there was and that it was the OTS.

And if you go into his whole testimony, he had a whole bunch
of review back in March and what they said should be done and
it comes back to them, AIG coming back with their recommenda-
tions. So if I understand it correctly, was there a regulator that
looks over all the holding companies and the banks and the CDS
out there?

Ms. WiLLiaMs. The OTS, in this situation, is the holding com-
pany regulator. They are responsible for regulating the holding
company. And that is what I mentioned before, that there is a hold-
ing company regulator. The questions that we have about holding
company regulation is the focus of that regulation; in this situation
we have heard today, they were looking at AIG FP. There is a
question of timing. And I think I may have indicated the timing
was off in terms of when they actually started going ahead.

Mr. GARRETT. Bottom line, there was a regulator. Mr. Polakoff
says that maybe they were just looking in the wrong—had the
wrong modeling, the wrong analysis. In retrospect, they can see
what they should have done, but—

Ms. WILLIAMS. Yes. There is a holding company regulator.

Mr. GARRETT. Very good. And just very quickly, on a side note,
your comment that you are not able to audit the Fed with regard
to the monetary policy, that is under current statute.

Ms. WiLLIAMS. Correct.

Mr. GARRETT. And perhaps, this is something—I know Chairman
Frank has said at some point in time to look at the policy, and
what have you, our control over that. I assume—do you want to
make a comment whether that is something that Congress should
look to do?

Ms. WiLLIAMS. This is an issue. GAO has said before that we will
do what you instruct us to do and we—you know, if you want us
to do it, we will definitely do it.

Mr. GARRETT. I appreciate that.

Mr. Polakoff, $80 billion left out there; $50 billion of that is on
the subprime situation, right?

[no verbal response]

Mr. GARRETT. Okay. Going on Mr. Campbell’s original question,
what is the—how did you phrase that, Mr. Campbell? What is the
total amount that is at risk, actually there, exposure for the tax-
payer at this—or for actually AIG and potentially for the company
and the taxpayer?

Mr. PorLAKOFF. Congressman, I may not be the best person to an-
swer that question since post-September 15th—
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Mr. GARRETT. That is fair enough.

Mr. POLAKOFF. —we are no longer a savings and loan holding
company regulator for this company. But I would submit to you,
sir, that the $80 billion is down to $12 billion as a book of business
of AIG FP.

Mr. GARRETT. One other question while you are here. Do you
take a look to see on the other side on these CDS’s whether these
CDS’s are actually hedged in this situation because we know that
some of the folks out there who looked at AIG earlier than you
folks and saw the problems said, “We are going to hedge this busi-
ness with AIG and protect ourselves.”

So even though the fact we bailed out AIG and some of these
parties were basically—got tax dollars through that, they were ac-
tually protected on the other side for their own hedging on the
downgrade on this. Do you look at that? Do you have that informa-
tion?

Mr. PorLAKOFF. We do not have that information. As to how a
counterparty would be hedging, that relationship with AIG, no, sir.

Mr. GARRETT. Does anybody look at that?

Mr. POLAKOFF. It is going to depend who the counterparty is and
who the regulator is for that counterparty.

Mr. GARRETT. I understand. Thanks so very much.

Chairman KaNJoRrsKI. Thank you very much, Mr. Garrett.

And now the gentleman from Massachusetts, the chairman of the
full committee, Mr. Frank.

The CHAIRMAN. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

And let me say to the gentleman from New dJersey, I apologize.
I was looking at the transcripts of our previous hearing and the
transcript, the official transcript, is probably incorrect. Looking at
the official transcript, it cuts off the questioning. I should have
wondered because, according to this transcript, the gentleman used
far less than 5 minutes and most of us find 5 minutes too con-
straining.

So I will have to correct the transcript. It began with covered
bonds and I will have to check and see why transcripts were not
better done. So we did have the hearing on July 10th well before
they got involved again. The gentleman did ask if they planned to
do it again and I guess he got his answer. They may not have
planned to do it again, but they did it again.

Mr. GARRETT. They didn’t want to do it again. They said—yes.

The CHAIRMAN. This may be beyond the scope of what the GAO
got. involved in, but you know, Ms. Williams, that the rationale for
the intervention by the Federal Reserve was to prevent systemic
risk if there was a total collapse. Does the GAO have any opinion
on whether or not that was a valid fear or was that beyond the
scope of your mandate?

Ms. WILLIAMS. It really is beyond the scope of our study. We
were attempting to identify what the goal was.

The CHAIRMAN. That’s fine. There is no question, you know, it is
correct. I would just note, and it is clear that there should have
been some conditions, but I was re-reading the transcripts, prob-
ably to remind myself of what had happened. We should note that
the Federal Reserve and the Secretary of the Treasury at that
time, Secretary Paulson and Mr. Bernanke, were being criticized
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because they had not intervened to stop Lehman Brothers from
falling apart and not paying off.

So they were, to a certain extent, dammed, but they didn’t dam
when they didn’t because there was a consensus forming—well,
first Bear Stearns, there was intervention for Bear Stearns and
there was a lot of criticism. People said this is capitalism. You have
to let people go belly-up.

And then Lehman Brothers went belly up and it turned out bel-
lies didn’t look so good to people. So when the next one came up,
which was AIG, they intervened. Now that doesn’t mean they did
it right or wrong, but we ought to give that context. And there was
a significant consensus that letting Lehman Brothers fail with no
intervention was a problem.

But this is a question I want to ask our various witnesses and
it is not exactly what they were asked about, but we do—in addi-
tion to doing everything we can to get the money back, an impor-
tant part of our job is to minimize this kind of damage and, in par-
ticular, not to have either the Bush Administration, the Obama Ad-
ministration, or any Administration forced with the choice of either
you let Lehman Brothers go completely under and have a problem
or you bail out AIG’s counterparties and have a problem.

We have, under the law, reasonable means for reacting when a
bank is going bad. It is called “resolve” it. One of those antiseptic
words. We can “resolve” banks. Wachovia went under during this
period, Washington Mutual. Neither of those or other banks caused
the kind of disruption, one way or the other, that we saw from
Bear Stearns or Merrill Lynch being bought by Bank of America,
ete.

What Secretary Geithner has asked for, and recently the Speaker
and Mr. Paulson were for this, and he has testified about it and
Mr. Bernanke has, an argument is that I think, very strong that
there should be a statutory framework so that regulators can step
in and unwind an institution and not be faced with the O and noth-
ing choice that they had with regard to, I think, people would find
both the Lehman Brothers outcome and the AIG outcome some-
what unsatisfactory.

I'm wondering again—it wasn’t on your agenda, maybe, beyond
the scope for some, but on the other hand, from OTS and others,
do you have opinions as to whether or not we ought to be moving
towards some statutory framework so that you can unwind these
troubled institutions without the kind of choices we have had?

Mr. POLAKOFF. Yes, sir. We do believe that there should be that
statutory process. We do believe that if there is sufficient discus-
sion and debate within Congress and a decision to move forward
with a systemic regulator that the power should fall within the sys-
temic regulator to examine, and if necessary for receivership activi-
ties. Yes, sir.

The CHAIRMAN. Anyone else? Yes, Commissioner.

Mr. Ar1o. Yes, within the insurance subsidiaries there’s a clear
process too for unwinding, just like there is with the banks.

The CHAIRMAN. Right.

Mr. Ar10. Two things would happen with AIG in this kind of sit-
uation. One, most of the business would go to competitors, so there
would be a smooth transition for policyholders; and, to the extent
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that didn’t happen, there would be a guaranteed fund protection
behind it. So we agree with OTS that there ought to be a systemic
approach to this, and we would think.

The CHAIRMAN. And let me just say one of the things with a
guaranteed fund is it could come with limits so people are not re-
warded with open-ended funds, but in the guaranteed funds there
are usually limits, which is a guide to prudent investing.

My time has expired, Mr. Chairman. If either one of you has a
brief comment, but I think it’s probably not a GAO issue.

Ms. WiLLiamMs. Well, actually I would just like to comment. The
framework the GAQO rolled out in January of this year for the fi-
n}r;lncial regulatory system has an element that directly goes to
that.

The CHAIRMAN. Thank you.

Ms. WILLIAMS. And that’s a provision to make sure that the expo-
sure to taxpayers is limited in any framework going forward. So
this would fall into that category.

The CHAIRMAN. I thank you. That’s something this committee
will have to focus on.

Chairman KaNJorsKI. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman.

Now, the gentleman from Alabama, Mr. Bachus, for 5 minutes.

Mr. BAcHUS. Thank you.

Ms. Williams, Chairman Kanjorski and I, part of our request to
you is to determine whether there had been any measurable
progress in recouping the taxpayer dollars. Have you seen any-
thing, any optimistic signs or positive signs; and, one of the things
I'll ask you in that question or even choose to use this or not, but
in the Fed’s special purpose vehicle, “Maiden Lane,” I notice that
those contracts and credit default swaps may be performing at
least apparently at a higher level than when they were acquired.
But would you comment on the broader question than maybe that
detailed question?

Ms. WiLLiaMs. Our work in this area is going on, on an ongoing
basis. In terms of the status, we looked at where they are and we
noted the challenges. And at this point we see a number of chal-
lenges that AIG continues to face in terms of restructuring itself.
So, I would say at this point we are kind of neutral until we con-
tinue to do some more work in terms of the outlook.

Mr. BacHUs. Okay. Thank you.

And Mr. Polakoff you acknowledged, I believe, that you were
somewhat aware of the worsening situation at the Financial Prod-
ucts Subsidiary, but you, I think, admit that OTS didn’t foresee the
extent of the risk to AIG. Is that correct?

Mr. POLAKOFF. Yes, sir. We did not foresee the extent that the
mortgage market would deteriorate and the impact on the liquidity
of AIG FP.

Mr. BacHUS. Did you understand the complicated use of the cred-
it default swaps? Did you end the exposure they were creating for
t}ﬁe gompany, the amount of risk? Was there an appreciation of
that?

Mr. POLAKOFF. Yes, sir. Absolutely. We reviewed the models. We
understood the models. We worked with the external auditors. We
worked with senior management of the company. Again, the models
were accurate in predicting that the actual realized credit loss on
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the underlying CDOs was minimal, and it remains minimal as of
today. It was the liquidity aspect that the models failed and we
failed to identify that aspect.

Mr. BacHus. Did you lack qualified examiners, or is that an im-
possible task?

Mr. POLAKOFF. No, it’s quite possible. I'm very proud of the work
our examiners did. Again, in 2004, we failed to predict how bad
things would get in 2008.

Mr. BacHUS. Have you revised your examinations? Of course, a
lot of that liquidity has been unwound now. So I guess it’s accu-
rate.

Mr. POLAKOFF. Yes, sir. And this is not the only company that
suffered liquidity crises. And from the Basel committee on down,
all of the regulators have focused on the proper review of liquidity.

Mr. BAcHUS. Thank you. Okay.

Mr. “Ario,” is that how you pronounce it?

Mr. Ar10. That’s correct.

Mr. BacHus. There has been, you know, some call to create an
optional Federal charter. But at least as I have seen it, I am not
seeing much failure of State regulation of the insurance industry.

Would you comment on what native reform, maybe the insurance
reform ought to be and where that ought to come from?

Is there a gap in the regulatory structure? Is there a failure of
Federal regulation or is it a State regulation?

Mr. Ar10. Thank you for that question.

I certainly agree with you that there hasn’t been a failure of the
State system here. In fact, we are the success story within this
overall story and that the insurance companies continue to remain
strong, stable, well-capitalized companies. And they are the most
likely route that the taxpayer will get paid back here is the value
in those insurance companies. There are on an ongoing basis many
modernization initiatives that we're involved in. The world changes
fast these days, and so we're updating our financial regulation, tak-
ing into account some of the issues on securities lending.

I do agree with my colleague here, Mr. Polakoff, that it's the
same thing on securities lending. It was liquidity issues that
caused the problem, not losses in the underlying value. But we're
looking at that issue. We're looking at modernizing our product ap-
proval and market conduct systems, our producer licensing sys-
tems, and so forth.

But there is nothing in a systemic nature, I think, that we have
to do other than be partners as part of a national systemic risk sys-
tem that protects the functional regulators within an overall col-
laborative system.

Mr. BacHUS. Have you looked at the overall holding company at
AIG in doing your assessments of the insurance company? Or, do
you deal solely with the insurance operations?

Mr. Ar1o. We deal primarily with the insurance companies. Cer-
tainly, when we have questions we kick them up to the holding
company level, since securities lending was actually handled at the
holding company level. When we have those kind of questions then
about how is it being handled there, because it’s using money from
the life insurance companies, we generally get answers to those
questions.



31

But there is a well there where if we are pressed real hard on
some sensitive topics, we don’t have clear authority to go into the
holding company level. And so I do think you need somebody that
has clear authority at that holding company level as well.

Mr. BAacHus. Thank you.

Chairman KANJORSKI. Thank you very much.

And now we will hear from the gentleman from New York, Mr.
Ackerman, for 5 minutes.

Mr. ACKERMAN, Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

I think a lot of people listening to us, their eyes are starting to
glaze over because they don’t know what the heck we're talking
about. And when they hear a term “credit default swaps,” it sounds
very intimidating to begin with. Most of the American people don’t
know what that is, and I daresay that most Members of Congress
didn’t know what it was as long ago as a year ago, because it’s a
relatively new thing.

I just want to make sure that I understand it. And I'll try to ex-
plain my understanding in what my mother would call by giving
you a “for instance.” So there are two guys out on a life raft, and
they're adrift at sea, and a storm blows up. And the raft is sur-
rounded by sharks and the waves are 10 feet high. And the first
guy says, “I'm scared.” So the second guy sells him the policy.

That’s a credit default swap. You're selling something with abso-
lutely nothing to back you up. You have no money, possibly, in
your pocket or your wallet, and, if everything goes right, you're col-
lecting a premium. And if everything goes wrong, so what. It
makes no sense. It's like snake oil salesmen selling you jars of
snake oil, and they don’t even have the oil in the jars.

I mean there’s a great company called, “I Can’t Believe It’s Not
Butter.” You know, at least they have the decency to tell you it’s
not butter. I mean, this is insurance without being insurance, be-
cause if they called it insurance they would have to have money
to pay you off. But they don’t have the money to pay you off and
they're calling it credit default swaps, because if they called it, “I
Can’t Believe It’s Not Insurance,” maybe nobody would buy it.

I mean, it’s a funny joke I made up but this is exactly what’s
happening, and it’s not funny, because all of us who are laughing
are crying, and getting angry and getting enraged. How is this sud-
denly an industry? I mean these brilliant people figured this out.
It’s really very simple. Call yourself something else and sell some-
thing that you're saying isn’t insurance that people think is, and
the biggest companies, the most sophisticated investment minds on
Wall Street and all over the world are buying this stuff thinking
that they are “almost insured,” almost.

And as long as they don’t put in a claim, they're fine, but as soon
as the tide goes out, there are a lot of people trying to cover their
bare assets and they don’t have the wherewithal to do it. How did
we allow this to happen? I mean, some people think that we're the
regulators and the Congress are the watchdogs. We're not that
agency. We make the laws. We have oversight, and we rely on the
regulators. We rely on the rating agencies and you at the table to
sound the bells, whistles, and alarms and tell us hey, there’s some-
thing going on out there that we can’t regulate, that we can’t ob-
serve, that we can’t figure out, but it’s going on.
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There are billions of dollars. AIG is the biggest, I suppose. How
large is this? How many other people are involved in this? What
is the risk to the American people? I mean, otherwise, you're play-
ing, “I can’t believe we're not regulators,” and we're pretending to
be, “I can’t believe we're doing oversight.”

Take a shot.

Mr. Arr1o. I'll give you an answer from an insurance perspective
as a downstream recipient of the risk that was created here. Finan-
cial Products is essentially on top of the pyramid. Financial Prod-
ucts is the one that everybody else looks at this stuff and says,
“We're not. quite sure if this is going to perform or not. We had bet-
ter hedge on it.”

You buy the policy from AIG, and then people, as Mr. Garrett
said, even people who bought policies from AIG hedge, in case AIG
couldn’t pay.

Mr. ACKERMAN. They went to AIG because these guys rated AIG
triple A, and so everybody assumes that their subsidiary is triple
A, which you haven't rated. It’s like if I have an 800 credit score,
are you going to lend my kid money because you think he has an
800 credit score?

Mr. PoLAKOFF. Congressman, if I could offer a couple of points
for your consideration of the bailout that has occurred. And AIG re-
cently did a press release breaking down the money—$52 billion
went for credit default swap-related issues, and $40 billion went for
security lending issues. So there were multiple issues associated
with AIG.

There are many large financial institutions in the United States
today that underwrite credit default swaps. The issue is not the
product.

Mr. ACKERMAN. They're underwriting the underwriters that are
doing the underwriting?

Mr. PoLAKOFF. No. They're issuing, selling credit default swaps
on various products. It's a well-known, well-respected product if
done properly, if it were regulated.

Mr. Arto. Well, I do agree with you, sir, that the product itself
should be a regulated product.

Mr. ACKERMAN. Well, bingo! That’s the whole problem. Why don’t
we say that it has to be regulated? Otherwise, it can’t be insurance.

Mr. Ar1o. Well, we agree on that.

Mr. PorLAKOFF. Yes, the CFTC Commissioner a number of years
ago came before Congress to ask that indeed credit default swaps
become regulated; and, I think many members at this table would
endorse that it should be a regulated product.

Mr. ACKERMAN, The New York State Insurance Supervisor, Eric
Dinallo, came before a different committee of Congress back in Oc-
tober and said that. I mean, where is the guy on television who
does the bells and whistles and gongs? We need all of these things
going off here.

Otherwise, there’s nobody getting our attention. The thing that
we have to be doing, Mr. Chairman, I think, is taking a look at how
we regulate a completely runaway financial giant that’s going on
so that when people buy—I think I'm buying insurance—are buy-
ing insurance, and not something else.

I yield back the balance of my time.
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Chairman KaNJoRsKI. Thank you very much, Mr. Ackerman.

Gentlemen, as you know, we have some votes. We have probably
8 minutes left, 7 minutes left, 7% minutes left. Are you a fast talk-
er, Mr. Price?

Mr. PrICE. I think 5 minutes.

Chairman KANJORSKI. In 22, you can do 5 minutes?

We will recognize Mr. Price for his 5 minutes reduced to 22 min-
utes.

Mr. PrICE. The first vote will go for a while, so I will appreciate
them as chairman. I am pleased to hear the chairman of the com-
mittee announce that Mr. Geithner will be here before our com-
mittee within a couple of weeks. I think that there are a lot of
questions that we would like to ask him today. I want to thank the
panel for their perspective.

Ms. Williams, one of the most pivotal roles that we can play is
oversight, and so I think it comes as a surprise to some members
of our committee that the GAO is prohibited by law from certain
reviews of certain Federal financial activities.

Would you elaborate on that? And, I know you responded to Mr.
Garrett on that, but what is it specifically the GAO cannot do?

Ms. WiLLIaMS. This is an area that we actually have a prohibi-
tion, and it’s quite unusual. It is in the Bank Audit Agency Act,
and it articulates the limits of our authority in this area. And there
are specific areas prohibited and I think there are four. One of the
four articulated in the Act is we are prohibited from looking at the
Federal Reserve’s monetary policy activities.

Mr. PRICE. You mentioned that you would be happy to do that
if we gave you the authority to do so. Would it be helpful for you
to be able to do that?

Ms. WILLIAMS. In this current environment, I would say yes.

Mr. PRICE. So you would be able to give us and the American
people a better sense of what has happened and what is going on
if you were able to look at that.

Ms. WiLLiaMs. We currently, in our conversations with the Fed,
are limited to the information they provide publicly. We don’t have
the same prohibition, for example, with their supervisory and regu-
latory activities. We can actually go in and look at what they are
doing.

GAO does appreciate the fact that, you know, the reason the Fed
has the protections that it has is to ensure its independence.

Mr. PRICE. Sure.

Ms. WiLLIAMS. But I think we are in an extraordinary time, so
when the Fed has evoked activities under their emergency powers,
that’s an area that perhaps would make sense for GAO to have
more visibility.

Mr. PrICE. Thank you.

I want to address your report, and I just got it this morning, so
I am trying to digest it all. But I didn’t see any sense of an exit
strategy that AIG has reported by GAO in your report. Is that an
accurate assessment of what’s going on over there?

Ms. WILLIaMS. I mean, at this point, the plan is for restruc-
turing. I think given the assistance that the government has pro-
vided so far and kind of the ongoing restructuring that has hap-
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pened, there are real questions about what the exit strategy is. But
our work in this area is ongoing.

Mr. PrICE. But the American people can’t look at it and say
there’s an exit strategy that’s in place. Is that an accurate state-
ment?

Ms. WILLIAMS. Not that we have seen.

Mr. Price. Okay. Thank you.

Mr. Polakoff, you mentioned that OTS should have stopped a
whole book of business back in 2004; and, I think you respond to
a couple members saying OTS didn’t appreciate how bad liquidity
was going to get in 2008.

Was there any change in the assessment between 2004 and
2008?

Mr. POLAKOFF. Yes, sir. What we didn’t understand or appreciate
significantly with our analysis was how bad the real estate market
was going to get from 2004 to 2008 and the corresponding impact
to liquidity on the CDS contracts.

Mr. PRICE. And in 2006 or 2005?

Mr. PoLAKOFF. Oh, absolutely, as we progress through the years,
and these were continuous examinations. As we progressed through
the years, our concerns became greater. We communicated more
with the board. We communicated more with management.

Mr. PrICE. With the board of AIG?

Mr. POLAKOFF. Yes, sir, but about FP. And we became more ag-
gressive in the actions that we took as a regulator.

Mr. PrRICE. And were there any structural changes within AIG to
address the concerns that you had?

Mr. POLAKOFF. Yes, especially with regards to the modeling and
the valuation of the credit default swaps.

Mr. PricE. Mr. Clark, were you aware of any of this going on as
you were going through your ratings over the 2005, 2006, 2007 pe-
riod, the changes that AIG was making in response to OTS?

Mr. CLARK. We were generally aware of that. We were certainly
aware of their decision to cease writing the new credit default
swaps on that asset class when they did; and, therefore, the nature
of the portfolio was relatively low-risk compared to if they had con-
tinued to protect against mortgages in 2006 and 2007 when the as-
sets clearly were worse.

Mr. PRICE. And the moneys that they have received at this point,
have‘?they been used to the best advantage of shoring up the com-
pany?

Do you believe in terms of your rating your rating remains at an
A-minus, negative?

Mr. CLARK. The moneys relating to those credit default swaps on
the assets that covered subprime mortgages were used essentially
to fund this “Maiden Lane III” vehicle.

Mr. PrICE. Could they have been used more wisely?

Mr. CLARK. I won’t comment as to whether they have been used
wisely or not. I will say the way that they have been used limits
further loss to AIG, and so contributes to stabilizing them.

Mr. PrICE. I thank the Chair.

Chairman KanJorskI. Thank you, Mr. Price.

The committee will stand in recess.

[recess]
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Chairman KANJORSKI. The subcommittee will come to order.

We have had some discussions. Two members of the panel are
due to testify in the Senate around 1:00 and have delayed their tes-
timony even up until this point. In order to accommodate them,
and also to accommodate the rest of the subcommittee members,
particularly with the second panel, Mr. Liddy, we have decided to
g0 urlltil 1:15, and then excuse this panel and bring in the second
panel.

So all members who wish to have their time, I think we have
more than enough requests right now, but anyone else who has a
request for time, please get it into the respective side so that we
can put you down, and, to the best of my knowledge the last exam-
iner was Mr. Price. And so we are now into California and Mr.
Sherman.

Mr. SHERMAN. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Without objection, I would like to enter into the record an article
by economist Dean Baker, explaining how even if it might have
been a mistake to let Lehman go under, that certainly does not
mean it is a mistake for AIG to go into bankruptcy or receivership.

Mr. SHERMAN. Mr. Ario, do you have any bright member of your
staff who understands credit default swaps?

Mr. Ario. They understand it better than me, and I think they
understand them pretty well.

Mr. SHERMAN. Okay. In order to have somebody on your staff
who understands credit default swaps, how many million dollars of
retention bonus did your agency give him last year?

Mr. Ar10. As you might guess, the answer to that would be zero.

Mr. SHERMAN. And one would expect that this individual would
make what kind of general salary? Don’t reveal anything all that.

Mr. Ar10. It may be into 6 figures, if that.

Mr. SHERMAN. Okay. I'll ask our Acting Director of the Office of
Thrift Supervision.

Do you have anybody on your staff that understands credit de-
fault swaps? I mean, they may not have understood in 2004 that
the real estate market would tank in 2008. Anybody who under-
stood that is a genius and a multi-millionaire right now. But in
terms of just understanding how they work, do you have people on
your staff who understand it?

Mr. POLAKOFF. Yes, sir. We do.

Mr. SHERMAN. Retention bonuses of over a million in order to
keep them on staff?

Mr. POLAKOFF. No retention bonuses, sir.

Mr. SHERMAN. Salaries below $125,000 a year?

Mr. POLAKOFF. I would say $125- to $150,000 for some of these
specialists.

Mr. SHERMAN. I don’t know how it is that the private sector has
to pay millions of dollars for that kind of expertise. And, I might
add that the members of your staff, they haven't destroyed your
agency or the international economy in any case, which is addi-
tional reason to think that they might be goodbye.

I want to thank the panel for exposing one more fraud per-
petrated on behalf of AIG, its counterparties, its general creditors,
and of course its executives. And that fraud is this image that has
been perpetrated, that the savings bank and its depositors, and the
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insurance company and its consumers would be destroyed if we put
AIG into receivership.

I think you gentlemen and lady have illustrated that these oper-
ating agencies, the savings bank, the insurance companies, have
some representational relationship, some reputation tie. But, if
anything, putting them into receivership would ameliorate a little
bit of taint that they have had by being associated with their par-
ent company. After all, if AIG was in receivership a month ago, we
wouldn’t have all these cameras here. And being associated with
AIG as the savings bank and the insurance companies are wouldn’t
be near the problem that it is for them today.

So let me just clarify Mr. Ario, if AIG, the parent company, were
bankrupt and the bankruptcy judge or receiver were to spin-off the
independent. insurance companies, would they still be relatively
health insurance companies, at least as to the 11 companies that
your agency is familiar with?

Mr. Ario. The general answer to that is yes. The longer out in
time we go, the more the insurance companies get separated from
the holding company issues, the more the answer is going to be
yes.

Back in September, though, I would say that a bankruptcy at
that point, because of the way the ratings are tied together be-
tween the holding company and the insurance companies, the
disentanglement and the potential for the problems at the insur-
ance level were greater then. But your general point, the longer we
go, the easier to separate.

Mr. SHERMAN. Also, the longer we go we know the executives at
AIG are greedy and now desperate, and they’re trying to think of
ways to squeeze money out of the savings bank and the insurance
companies and bring it into the parent company in the Financial
Products unit.

You have done a very good job in preventing them from doing
that, but every day that they are in control of those subsidiaries
is a day that worries me.

Mr. Polakoff, what about the savings bank? If it was a separate
company unaffiliated with AIG, would it be relatively healthy?

Mr. POLAKOFF. Yes, sir. In fact, if any holding company goes into
bankruptcy, the underlying insured financial institution remains
an open institution. I want to underscore the importance of the
FDIC deposit insurance in that approach. So, yes sir.

Mr. SHERMAN. I think this illustrates the fact that $170 billion
has gone not just to pay the bonuses, but it’s going to take care of
the counterparties. These are the richest entities in the world, the
most powerful entities in the world. And they have insisted that
the American taxpayer make sure that the AIG casino pays them
off the full amount called for by their bet, notwithstanding they
have broken the bank. And, it is said that AIG was too big to fail,
that it was explained AIG is too interconnected to fail.

I would put forward that AIG is too well-connected to fail and it
is about time that they are put into receivership and the insurance
companies and savings bank you regulate are no longer held hos-
tage by and perhaps squeezed by a relatively malignant parent
company. I yield back.

Chairman KANJORSKI. Thank you very much.
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1Next, we will hear from the gentleman from Delaware, Mr. Cas-
tle.

Mr. CasTLE. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. And let me just start
with a question for Commissioner Ario. In your opinion, are the
various entities that make up AIG’s insurance portfolio of sufficient
strength and in a position to be able to be sold to develop assets
as part of the return of the loan from the United States?

Mr. AR10. Yes, but for the deterioration of the economy generally.
Relative to other insurers they continue to hold good value, but of
course anybody who was in the market today trying to sell, and
somebody has to raise the capital to buy, it’'s a problem for every-
body. But if the markets recover so that there are actually opportu-
nities to sell any insurance companies to anybody else, the AIG
companies are going to be as good as anybody’s.

Mr. CASTLE. Yes, I wasn’t trying to ask you to market them, but
just from your point of view, from a regulatory legal point of view,
they are sellable as assets?

Mr. ARI10. Yes.

Mr. CaAsTLE. Thank you.

I guess this question could go to Ms. Williams and Mr. Polakoff,
but I am concerned about the management of AIG since the Fed-
eral Government has been involved. I think that was in October of
2008 under the previous Administration when the stock was as-
signed to the Federal Government as part of, I think, the first ini-
tial bailout, close to 80 percent of the stock of AIG.

We have had a series of problems and transgressions since then,
and I don’t know if in your work in terms of dealing with them on
a regulatory matter, looking into their circumstances of func-
tioning, if you made a determination of how the management as-
pect. of this is working, has the Federal Government in the form
of the Federal Reserve or in the form of Treasury asserted itself in
terms of board membership or anything of that nature; or, have
they been present during these board meetings that have taken
place in which these decisions have been made?

I mean, I have been told that I think the Federal Reserve at
least was present during some of the discussion of bonuses, for in-
stance, and, I don’t know what you know about that. And perhaps
there’s an answer you will have to get to us at a later time, but
I am gery interested in what that Federal Government role is con-
cerned.

We have a lot of money on the line. We have a lot of ownership
at this point, and I would hope that our involvement is greater
than what we have been hearing on the television and newspapers
in the last few days as a matter of fact.

Either one of you or both of you.

Ms. WILLIAMS. As part of our ongoing oversight of the TARP pro-
gram, one of the things we recommended in our very first report
was for Treasury to make sure it created a process to oversee the
agreements the agreements they have with institutions. And Treas-
ury did have an agreement with AIG in November and they are
still in the process of standing up that process to oversee the terms
of their agreement. And in terms of the Fed, based on what they
have disclosed to us, our understanding is that they are present at
certain board meetings at least as a silent observer, if you will.
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Mr. CasTLE. Okay. I may come back to you.

Mr. Polakoff, do you have anything to add?

Mr. PoLAKOFF. Congressman, once the United States Govern-
ment. took ownership of AIG, the company, back in September of
2008, we in essence ceased to be the regulator of the holding com-
pany. So I don’t have that information.

Mr. CAsTLE. Gotcha.

Ms. Williams, can you tell us anything about that Treasury plan
in terms of what their involvement in the management would be
in more detail?

You have indicated there was a plan and you believe they exe-
cuted it, but what did it consist of?

Ms. WILLIAMS. No, actually. Let me clarify that. Our rec-
ommendation was for Treasury to develop a plan.

Mr. CASTLE. Right.

Ms. WiLLIaMS. And in our second report that we issued in Janu-
ary, we found that they still hadn’t developed that plan yet and it
was still in process.

Mr. CasTLE. Okay.

Ms. WiLL1aMS. And this is an area we continue to monitor the
status of that recommendation.

Mr. CASTLE. And you can’t update us today as to whether or not
they have done any thing since then. Is that correct?

Ms. WiLLiamMs. What we found when we spoke to them specific
to AIG is they are continuing to stand up oversight of AIG as their
role has increased in the assistance that’s being provided to AIG,
but they haven’t done that yet.

Mr. CasTLE. Okay.

Mr. Clark, I am a little concerned in your testimony in terms of
some of the credit ratings, etc. Was this done with a rearview mir-
ror? It seems to me if you look at your chart of when downgrades
were done, it sort of reflects things that have happened in the
world of AIG.

Do you feel that you and other agencies that do this are doing
it in such a way that you are giving fair warning as opposed to
looking at it after the fact? And I am asking that, maybe in gen-
eral, but specifically as to AIG.

Mr. CLARK. It certainly is the case that we sought to give fair
warning in our ratings announcements, and that includes back in
February 2008, long before this rescue became necessary when we
placed the ratings on negative outlook, a subsequent downgrade to
the ratings in May. And, in fact, we indicated at that time that po-
tential downgrades could occur after that if the company did not
successfully raise capital.

In June, they did successfully raise $20 billion of capital. After
that fact, the events started to change very dramatically, particu-
larly the first part of September, where in a very quick time the
takeovers of Freddie Mac and Fannie Mae, the failure of Lehman,
and just a massive loss of confidence in the markets that occurred
over a very short period of time, and really greatly changed the as-
sumptions that we had about the potential market value losses on
those credit default swap securities.

So the rating actions we made earlier in the year did reflect the
facts as we knew them at that time and what we felt were appro-
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priate assumptions for the future, but we didn’t fully anticipate
this extremely rapid, really unprecedented deterioration in the
markets in early September, which affected the company’s liquidity
and collateral needs. And as soon as we were in a position to recog-
nize that and see that it was going to have a lasting and important
impact, we took the rating changes that we felt were appropriate.

Mr. CasTLE. Thank you.

Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I yield back.

Chairman KANJORSKI. Thank you very much.

Mr. Capuano?

Mr. CaApuaNO. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Ladies and gentlemen, I think I heard most of you say that you
didn’t have oversight over CDS, but I didn’t hear any disagreement
with Mr. Ackerman’s general description or the general belief that
credit default swaps are all some sort of insurance. And I take that
to be an accurate assessment of what they are. They're just insur-
ance with nothing backing it up.

If that’s what they were, I would then argue that you did have
the authority to oversee these. If we were a part of the holding
company, it was your responsibility at the OTS to include any ac-
tivity that might have impacted the holding company. If it was part
of the insurance company, the State regulators had a responsibility
to oversee some sort of insurance; and, certainly, the credit rating
agencies had some responsibility to see that this game wasn’t going
to undermine investors’ confidence.

So I know nobody wants to take fault for it, and again, I don’t
think it’s actually anybody’s fault. It’s everybody’s fault. Credit de-
fault swaps were simply a way to get around any sort of regulation,
any sort. of oversight, and everybody here allowed it to happen. Ev-
erybody allowed it to happen. To say you didn’t have any authority
to me 1s simply an easy way out and a wrong way out.

But I do want to know now. I mean, okay, it’s done. We are
where we are. I presume that everybody, you're here today, because
you know a lot about AIG, and AIG to me is just one of the many
problems, but it’s the one that we're talking about today. I presume
that even though the OTS isn’t technically the regulator, I presume
you are still keeping an eye on it, because in theory there will come
a time when you will be the regulator again unless we change ev-
erything.

So I don’t think you probably just dropped the ball. I hope you
have. And that being the case, I would like to know when do you
think that the path that we are on now should, has a reasonable
expectation, of leading AIG back to profitability at some point of
stability; and, if so, when. And I'm not saying when, tomorrow, but
within a year, 2 years, 10 years, 100 years, never.

Mr. Polakoff?

Mr. PoLAKOFF. Congressman, thank you.

If I could just go back to one of your earlier points to clarify from
my perspective while credit default swaps may be an unregulated
product, they absolutely, positively fell within a company that OTS
regulated and we indeed very much understood the risks of the
profile of the credit default portfolio as we were looking at it.

Mr. CapuanNo. Well, hopefully that cannot be true, because if you
did, and then didn’t do anything about it, that’s even worse than
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not doing anything about it in the first place. If you understood the
risk and took no action and said nothing about it, that’'s 10 times
worse to me than simply saying not our bailiwick.

Mr. PoLaKOFF. Well, we did take action, and the risk in the port-
folio was not a risk of credit loss because they have had no credit
loss in the underlying CDOs. It was a liquidity risk.

Mr. CaruaNo. I understand that, but a risk is a risk, and the
truth is that may be important to you, but it is not important to
the American public as to why we are putting billions of dollars in
there. It doesn’t matter.

The risk, I think, was part of your responsibility to oversee, and
the fact that you let them take so much risk, credit risk, liability
risk, counterparty risk, I don’t care what you call it or where you
put it in a box, it’s still too much risk for the American people. And
you and your agency was one—not the only one. I'm not trying to
single you out. You were one of the ones who allowed it to happen,
but I would like to know when are we going to see some profit-
ability at AIG.

Mr. PoLAKOFF. Congressman, I don’t know when we are going to
see the company returned to a profitable scenario. My under-
standing of everything that the government has done are the right
actions to put it down the path to get where the American public
wants it to be.

Mr. CAPUANO. Are you reasonably satisfied—not the details, but
in general—with the approach we have taken or has been taken is
an acceptable approach?

Mr. POLAKOFF. It seems very supportable and logical to me.

Mr. Ario, on the States’ side?

Mr. Ar1o. Forward looking at credit default swaps, clearly, they
should be regulated. I think you could get agreement across the
panel on that. As to your question of when AIG will come out of
this situation, basically, it depends on the markets.

When this was done in September, there was enough value in
the insurance subsidiaries to sell a number of them and pay back
the Federal Government. Then, as we all know, it was October and
the markets deteriorated across-the-board, and there just hasn’t
been an environment in which to sell.

Mr. CAPUANO. So you would agree that the basic approach is in
your group’s estimation a reasonably correct approach?

Mr. Ar1o. The question of whether the counterparties needed to
be paid-off in order to stabilize the financial market, I think, that’s
a question for the Federal Reserve and Treasury. I don’t have the
expertise to answer that one. But the question of whether that
money can be paid back, whether the insurance companies have
the value in them to pay back, I think they do.

Mr. CAPUANO. But it’s insurance companies subject to State regu-
lation, so therefore the State regulators in my estimation have to
be on top of this issue. They must have an opinion as to whether
this has been reasonably well-handled or not. I mean, it’s a very
simple question.

Mr. Ar10. From the insurance perspective, the answer is yes.

Mr. CapuaNo. Ms. Williams, I am going to skip you, because I
don’t think that’s your end of the world.
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Mr. Clark, the credit rating agencies must have an answer on
this. You must now be absolutely certain, because I know that’s
what you get paid to do is to give us your opinion. When is AIG
going to become profitable again?

Mr. CLARK. I would have to have quite the crystal ball to be ab-
solutely certain on that. No. We are not certain when AIG is going
to be profitable again. I can tell you from the company’s financial
reports in 2008 if it hadn’t been for significant investment losses
caused by the markets, the life insurance business would have been
profitable.

The property and casualty insurance excluding mortgage guar-
antee would have been profitable, excluding those investment
losses. So there are still core profitable businesses that are a part
of this group, but I agree with Commissioner Ario. Until the finan-
cial markets stabilize or even begin to show recovery, it will be dif-
ficult for AIG to show profitability.

Mr. CapuaNo. And do the credit rating agencies believe in gen-
eral that the general approach taken on this is reasonably good or
horrendously bad?

Mr. CLARK. Which general approach? I'm sorry.

Mr. CapuaNo. On AIG, what we have done so far, what has been
done.

Mr. CLARK. The government’s approach; we don’t have a view on
whether it was appropriate or not, only that it has to some degree
stabilized the condition of the company.

Chairman KaNJorsKI. Thank you very much, Mr. Clark.

Thank you, Mr. Capuano.

Our next questioner is Mr. Royce of California for 5 minutes.

Mr. RoYcCE. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

I want to ask Ms. Williams of the Government Accountability Of-
fice a question. Yesterday, “ABC News” reported during late closed-
door talks last month negotiators for the House, Senate, and White
House stripped out a measure to the stimulus bill that could have
restricted the AIG bonuses. And “ABC News” goes on to say, “Last
month the Senate unanimously approved an amendment to the
stimulus bill aimed at restricting bonuses over $100,000 at any
company receiving Federal bailout funds. The measure, which was
drafted by Senator Olympia Snowe, Republican-Maine, and Senator
Ron Wyden, Democrat-Oregon, applied these restrictions retro-
actively to bonuses received or promised in 2008 and onward. But,
then, the provision was stripped-out during the closed-door con-
ference negotiations involving the House and Senate leaders and
the White House.”

A measure by Senator Chris Dodd, Democrat-Connecticut, to
limit executive compensation, replaced it. But Dodd’s measure ex-
plicitly exempted bonuses agreed to prior to the passage of the
stimulus bill. Here’s the exact language, says “ABC News,” from
Dodd’s measure in the stimulus:

“The prohibition required under clause I shall not be construed
to prohibit any bonus payment required to be paid pursuant to a
written employment contract executed on or before February 11,
2009.”

Now, I didn’t vote for the stimulus for this particular bill, but the
point is that some Democratic members, those who controlled the
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conference committee, were aware of the potential for taxpayer dol-
lars to be used for bonuses and went out of their way to protect
those bonuses by a reading of the provision in the conference report
here that says exactly that. So I am going to ask the GAO, Ms. Wil-
liams, to comment. I don’t know if inside the Government Account-
ability Office there has been discussion about the consequences of
that language. But, if there has been, I would like to hear your
commentary on it.

Ms. WiLL1AMS. Based on what we were doing specific to AIG, I
am not in a position to provide a specific response to that issue.
But I would be more than happy, if this is something we have
looked at, to provide an agency response for the record.

Mr. RoyceE. Well, as we pull up the language of the bill and, as
I said, this isn’t in the House version or the Senate version. This
comes out of the conference committee report after Senator Olym-
pia Snowe and Senator Ron Wyden attempted to put in on the Sen-
ate side. They added the language aimed at restricting bonuses
over $100,000, those retroactive and prospective bonuses. And then
to go through the provision again, this is the language that was put
in behind the closed-door conference committee. It says: “The prohi-
bition required under clause I shall not be construed to prohibit
any bonus payment required to be paid pursuant to a written em-
ployment. contract executed on or before February 11, 2009.”

Now, that measure came back to the House and back to the Sen-
ate with that new provision in it. And my second question would
be, why couldn’t we pass legislation? And I believe the House Re-
publicans prepared legislation to do this. Why can’t we pass legisla-
tion that would remove that provision in the stimulus package?
And, if we did, would that put us on firmer ground as we tried to
knock-out these bonuses on AIG.

Ms. WILLIAMS. Once again, this is really outside of the scope of
what we are specifically looking at in terms of AIG.

Mr. Rovce. But you are looking at the bonus issue, and 1 am
looking at the law that attempts to prescribe us or attempts to pre-
vent us from knocking down those bonuses—attempts to prevent
regulators and other authorities from halting the payment of those
bonuses. And I am just saying, why don’t we go back and reverse
what was done in that closed-door session? And, if we did that,
clarify the law, maybe go back to Senator Olympia Snowe’s original
language before it was taken out in the conference committee, I
would think that would put us on firmer ground then to prevent
these bonuses from being paid.

Chairman KaNJORSKI. The gentleman from Massachusetts, Mr.
Lynch.

Mr. Lynch, because of the limitation of time until 1:15, do you
have an objection if we allow 2 minutes, because we are intending
to try and get in many members as possible.

Mr. LYNCH. I am happy to cooperate, Mr. Chairman, sure.

Chairman KaNJORSKI. The gentleman is recognized.

Mr. LyNncH. Thank you, Mr. Chairman, and Ranking Member
Garrett.

I am tempted to follow up on the gentleman from California’s
point. I do know that in terms of contract, we have heard objections
that we can’t go back and interfere with a pre-existing contract.
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However, I know that Congress, in our raw power, has the ability
to do just that. We do it all the time in bankruptcy where Congress
has provided a forum where we just basically tear up every con-
tract in a bankruptcy. And I know that Article 1, Section 10 of the
Constitution prevents States from doing that, but Congress has
that power.

But I understand, Ms. Williams, you are saying it is outside the
scope of your authority, and I am not going to badger on that. But
I'm mystified why my autoworkers were badgered and badgered
publicly on these financial shows because they are making $40 an
hour and you don’t hear one word about the—it is just a sense of
entitlement by the folks of these companies that are losing billions
of dollars—Dbillions of dollars—in taxpayer money, and yet they still
feel the sense of entitlement that they are due these bonuses. It
just blows my mind.

Let me ask you: AIG originally received $85 billion back in Sep-
tember of 2008—actually, it was September of 2007, I believe,
when we originally gave them $85 billion and we took an 80 per-
cent share of AIG. Then following that, there was $70 billion in
cash given to them by the Fed, $40 billion in loans from the Fed,
$34 billion in—from this sheet, it looks like the Capital Purchase
Program, we took some equities and securities back from AIG. And
then finally there was $52.5 billion in TARP, which T want to note
that I voted against, but they got it anyway.

Going all the way back to the beginning of this, we have received
zero in terms of information on AIG. We got a lot this week. We
got. nothing on counterparties, who they were, where the money
went, what kind of compensation deals going on out there, if there
were bonuses being paid, whether the money was going to foreign
banks. So going back to the original $85 billion that they got, we
had 6 months of silence basically.

And you folks are supposed to be out there helping us get infor-
mation back here because we have a whole bunch of people lined
up who want another bailout, which—forget it. As far as I am con-
cerned, forget it. We got so little cooperation from these people and
we have such abuse here, don’t even think about coming up here
looking for a bailout. That is a disgrace.

But why did we have to wait for 6 months, until this week, until
finally we got a little bit of information? Chairman Frank is still
waiting for information on some of these counterparties, they
haven’t told us the identities of all these people. We are going to
try to get it from Mr. Liddy when he comes up here in a little bit.

But where is the bottleneck? What is the problem with getting
information about where the taxpayers’ money is going? Can you
help me with this?

Mr. PoLAKOFF. Congressman, I would only offer that from an
OTS perspective, we are not involved in that role and we are not
involved with the communication requests from Members of Con-
gress.

Mr. LyNcH. I am not going to let you off the hook that easily.
You know, you looked at these CDOs. I know that, by virtue of an
Act of Congress back in 2000, CDOs are not regulated, but you did
look at the condition of this company on the holding company end.
What about information on what these instruments were valued
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at? I know you are saying we had no credit losses on the super sen-
ior tranch, but you have a mezzanine tranch and an equity tranch
that were just deteriorating, and that has an impact on the margin
for those senior tranches. I mean what about the information on
that stuff that we would be looking for?

Mr. POLAKOFF. Any information, Congressman, that you have
been looking for hasn’t come to the OTS in a request. To the extent
we have information that is not part of the examination process
that we can share with you, we would do so in a timely manner.

Chairman KaANJORSKI. Thank you very much, Mr. Lynch. And
now, Mr. Hensarling of Texas.

Mr. HENSARLING. Thank you Mr. Chairman, and as I said in my
opening remarks, as outrageous as this bonus scandal is, the great-
er outrage continues to be the almost $180 billion of taxpayer expo-
sure for bailouts with no end in sight, taxpayer money used to help
make counterparties whole, including foreign entities.

Mr. Chairman, there was an excellent editorial in the Wall
Street Journal yesterday entitled, “The Real AIG Outrage” that is
on point. I would ask unanimous consent that it be entered into the
record. Mr. Chairman?

Chairman KANJORSKI. Without objection, it is so ordered.

Mr. HENSARLING. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

In addition to serving on this committee, I also have the oppor-
tunity to serve on the Congressional Oversight Panel for the TARP
program, and with my time on that panel, I have concluded that
when I look at the causes at the economic turmoil we have, cer-
tainly there are the crooked, there are the greedy, there are the
foolish, but there are also smart people, good people, well-meaning
people who simply made mistakes. And with the hindsight of 20/
20 vision, it is able to bring these mistakes to the fore.

So, Mr. Polakoff, I don’t frankly know enough about you or com-
pletely studied OTS’s actions, so I am not here to vilify you, but
I am here to understand the limits of your power, your authority,
and what actions were taken.

In an earlier answer to one of the questions, I believe I heard you
say that OTS in 2004 should have stopped the book of business
that I think you were alluding to, the CDS, and the AIG securities
lending commitments. Did I understand you correctly?

Mr. POLAKOFF. Yes, sir.

Mr. HENSARLING. So if you said you should have stopped it in
200%, that implies you could have stopped it in 2004. Is that cor-
rect?

Mr. POLAKOFF. Yes, sir.

Mr. HENSARLING. So there were not limits on your power. Per-
haps there were limits on your knowledge or insight, but there was
not. limits on your power to stop what you cite, as I believe—I'm
reading from your testimony—“AlG’s liquidity was the result of two
IGs business lines.” So you did have the power to stop those busi-
ness lines, is that correct?

Mr. POLAKOFF. Yes, sir.

Mr. HENSARLING. I read on your Web site that, “OTS has super-
visory and enforcement authority over the entire corporate struc-
ture. The scope of this authority includes the savings association,
its holding company, and other affiliates and subsidiaries of the
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savings association.” I continue to quote, “These supervisory tools
allow OTS to obtain a complete picture of the interrelationships
and risk throughout the savings and loan holding company enter-
prise regardless of its size and complexity.”

Again, it appears, if this is correct, it was not a lack of super-
visory authority that caused you not to take action with respect to
these two lines, is that correct?

Mr. POLAKOFF. Yes, sir.

Mr. HENSARLING. And I think I also heard you say in your testi-
mony that you did have sufficient manpower and expertise, is that
correct?

Mr. POLAKOFF. Yes sir.

Mr. HENSARLING. So again, in retrospect, it wasn’t the lack of au-
thority, it wasn’t the lack of resources, it wasn’t the lack of exper-
tise, you just flat out made a mistake. Is that a correct assessment?

Mr. POLAKOFF. In 2004, we failed to assess how bad the mort-
gage economy, the real estate economy would become in 2008, yes,
sir.

Mr. HENSARLING. I see my time has expired. Thank you.

Chairman KaNJORskKI. Thank you very much Mr. Hensarling.
Now the gentleman from North Carolina, Mr. Miller, for 2 minutes.

Mr. MILLER OF NORTH CAROLINA. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Until just the last few days, I have assumed that we had really
smart, really aggressive, mean lawyers looking at every possible
legal theory upon which we could sue directors or officers or em-
ployees who caused all of this.

So I was surprised to hear that we were actually worried about
them suing us, that we were getting legal advice, that we had to
pay these contracts, these bonuses, no questions asked. They were
based upon the contracts. Contracts are sacred. We could end up,
under Connecticut law, having to pay double damages if we paused
to ask any questions.

Mr. Frank has already mentioned the failure of performance, the
negligence, the incompetence as an issue, but that argument also
assumes that this was an arms length transaction involving a sol-
vent corporation, a corporation that had been continuously solvent
at the time that it made the contracts and at the time that it paid
the bonuses.

And there is a great deal of evidence that AIG is not solvent, has
not. been solvent for a long time, much longer than a year, and that
la)lt 11§3ast their top executives knew that. They were cooking their

ooks.

The Oversight and Government Reform Committee last fall had
a hearing, and in lieu of deposition, Joseph W. St. Dennis provided
written answers. He was the vice president of accounting policy at
AIG Financial Products from June 2006 until October 2007. His
duties were documenting the accounting for proposed transactions,
ete.

And his statement is that he resigned because he was consist-
ently excluded from valuing the assets, from performing his job, by
Mr. Cassano, that Mr. Cassano didn’t want him to be part of him
valuing their super senior credit default swap portfolio, and he be-
lieved because he would bring transparency to it as the accounting
rules required.
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Have we looked at the liability, if in fact they were insolvent,
they knew they were insolvent, and they were cooking their books?
Ms. Williams?

Ms. WiLLIaAMS. GAO has not looked at that issue.

Mr. MILLER OF NORTH CAROLINA, Is anybody else familiar? Do
you know if we are looking at any liability by any officer, director,
or employee of AIG Financial Products, the AIG parent?

Mr. POLAKOFF. At this point, OTS is not, Congressman.

Mr. MILLER OF NORTH CAROLINA. My 2 minutes has expired.

Chairman KANJORSKI. Thank you, Mr. Miller. The gentleman
from Georgia, Mr. Scott, for 2 minutes.

Mr. Scort. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Mr. Polakoff, I want to ask you some direct questions and I want
you to give me some direct answers because I want to speed up to
get to Mr. Liddy. When were you aware that AIG was going into
the business of credit default swaps?

Mr. POLAKOFF. Sir, I would say 2004 or earlier.

Mr. ScoTT. At that time, did you know that that was an unregu-
lated market?

Mr. POLAKOFF. Yes.

Mr. Scort. Were you concerned about that?

Mr. POLAKOFF. Our focus was on the modeling and on the risk
associated with the product, sir.

Mr. Scorr. When were you aware of the contracts for the bo-
nuses?

Mr. POLAKOFF. I was not aware of those contracts, sir.

Mr. ScorT. Not aware of the contracts? The contracts began, as
we are aware now, on March 15th of last year.

Are you aware that on March 15th, that particular unit, the Fi-
nancial Products division, was losing buckets of money, by the
trainloads that accumulated in $40.5 billion of losses at the very
tilme‘)that they were preparing these contracts? Were you aware of
that?

Mr. POLAKOFF. I was aware of the financial condition of FP, yes
sir.

Mr. ScoTT. I mean, wouldn’t that raise a major concern, that
here is a division, a company that is awarding a division with $450
million in contracts for a unit of 467 people at a time when that
very unit was bleeding money to the company at the tune of $40.5
billion.

I mean, it seems to me that somebody was saying, how can we
even think of bonuses to be given to a division and rated at $450
million at the very time that division is losing buckets of money.
And that 5 months later, here we come, they are asking, and out
of the Federal Reserve rescue fund we give them $85 billion? It
seems to me that somebody was asleep at the switch.

This is a profound issue that borders on fraud and criminality
with the timeline. And I am anxious to put these lines of ques-
tioning to Mr. Liddy, but you, as the oversight agency over AIG,
should have known all of this.

We didn’t know. We were rushed into a panicking situation by
then-Secretary Paulson to save this AIG or the whole world econ-
omy is coming down.

Mr. PoLAKOFF. Congressman—
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Chairman KANJORSKI. Mr. Scott, I am going to interpose here.
Allow the answer. We have to move this along. We have several
members waiting.

Yes, respond.

Mr. POLAKOFF. The timeline that you offered revealed that these
contracts were initiated when this company was an operating—still
well-rated company before any government funds. And we would
have looked at the financial condition of the company as still a
well-rated company with no taxpayer dollars in looking at those
payments and the intent of those payments to keep employees at
FP to unwind the transactions that originated in 2005 or earlier.

Chairman KaNJoRsKI. Okay, the gentlelady from New York, Mrs.
Maloney, for 2 minutes.

Mrs. MALONEY. Thank you. I would like to ask insurance com-
missioner Joel Ario, have you seen this document, produced by
AIG, on systemic risk of AIG? Did you ever see this document?

Mr. ArI10. Yes, I have, ma’am.

Mrs. MALONEY. This document really talks about the dire con-
sequences if AIG were allowed to fail, and I am wondering if a
similar document was ever reviewed by the executives of AIG when
they decided to go into derivatives and other highly risky products
that have brought down the company. Do you think they ever
looked at anything that assessed that risk? I would like to put this
in the record, please.

Mr. Ar10. Not to my knowledge.

Mrs. MALONEY. I would like to ask you a question. How are the
insurance businesses of AIG segregated from the AIG Financial
Products?

Mr. Ar1o. Within insurance regulation, there is the strong prin-
ciple that the assets that are there for the benefit of policyholders
are walled off from all other creditors of the company, including the
holding company upstream. So we believe that the assets of the in-
surance companies are there for the policyholders and they are pro-
tected against all other creditors, including the holding company
upstream.

Mrs. MALONEY. So in other words, the risk of default in the life
insurance business of AIG is separate from the cross-linked risk of
being associated with and dragged down by AIG Financial Prod-
ucts, is that correct?

Mr. Arrto. It is a slightly different question. If there are problems
at the holding company level, particularly in terms of the rating of
the companies, that can create rating issues for the downstream in-
surance companies, and that is a particularly important issue in
the property and casualty side. If we are going below the A minus
level that we are at now into the Bs, it would have very negative
impacts on the insurance company. So there is that linkage.

Mrs. MALONEY. But the linkage is only with the rating compa-
nies. In other words, they are walled off, they are separate. So
what would happen if AIG Financial Products was allowed to fail?
Would that have an impact on the insurance properties and the in-
surance assets of AIG?

Mr. Ar1o. Not directly on the assets. That is more a question for
how the rating agencies would look at that issue for the insurance
companies.
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Mrs. MALONEY. The rating agencies do not have a lot of credi-
bility at this point, so I would rather ask the insurance commis-
sioner. It is my question. So if Financial Products was walled off
and allowed to fail, the insurance portion would be safe and sound,
and going forward, is that correct?

Mr. Ar10. Yes, the assets would be there and would be protected.

Mrs. MALONEY. Thank you.

Chairman KaNJORSKI. The gentleman from Florida, Mr. Klein.

Mr. KLEIN. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I would like to direct my
questions to Mr. Clark.

Mr. Clark, there have been a lot of questions about the role that
the rating agencies have played, not just in AIG, but in the entire
meltdown, and who pays the fees where there are conflicts of inter-
est, the systems that are being used? I have heard the comments
that say that—I think in your statement today you said it is just
one factor, which of course it is. There are the sophisticated buyers
of instruments who look at a rating agency valuation one way and
there is the general public who also, to some degree, looks at the
rating agencies and sees a triple A rate or an A minus, or any
number of things.

And it seems to me that there is a failure here—and I am not
just picking on Standard & Poor’s or you. But the system that real-
ly depends on transparency, making intelligent investment deci-
sions at the highest level and the average investor who is buying
a bond, needs to know that the information is real and it is objec-
tive in terms of making that decision. In my opinion—I am not a
professional, but as someone who has done some securities work in
the past—the system is not working properly with the role of the
rating agencies in their current form.

And I would like to just gauge from you whether you think mis-
takes were made, and how are you changing your models as you
move forward in your valuation techniques to help, if you are going
to continue to do what you are doing, and the role that you have
in our system to make sure that we really do get information that
is objective and useful for investors to make their decisions.

Mr. CLARK. The first part of your question, were mistakes made,
I think hindsight being 20/20, we might have formed different judg-
ments than we did if we knew then what we know now about how
the financial markets would perform in the late summer, because
that really is the biggest thing that changed in our analysis of AIG
over this period.

We believe based on the models that we used, the assumptions
we were making, the information we had, that our ratings were
correct and appropriate until the beginning of September until the
huge decline 1n those market values and the effect that would have
on the collateral that the company would have to post really
changed those conclusions very rapidly with the extreme rapidity
of the movement in those markets.

Mr. KLEIN. Wouldn’t you agree, though, that the projection of the
market has some value in terms of where things are going, the
value of an investment vehicle?

Mr. CLARK. The market values are important. They are an im-
portant guideline, but what we could not have understood at that
time, what many people in the market did not know at that time,
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was how quickly the value of mortgage-related securities and other
structured securities would decline over the late summer into Sep-
tember. It was something unprecedented in terms of the rapidity
of the decline.

Chairman KANJORSKI. Mr. Perlmutter, for 1 minute.

Mr. PERLMUTTER. Thank you all for testifying today. Just a
statement.

Mr. Ario, I appreciate the fact you say there are good parts to
AIG that still either have been profitable or are solid. What we had
was a rogue or a subsidiary that made outrageous profits and it
created outrageous losses that took this company down and has
cost the United States a lot of money. So hopefully those solid parts
of the company will ultimately pay us back $160 billion, which is
where I want to see this thing go.

But I would ask all of you, just taking a look at this retention
plan, it almost contemplates the losses that that subsidiary suf-
fered. They are almost pointing to everybody, “We are going to lose
money, but you guys are still going to get a bonus.”

And so I would look at that closely. I think Mr. Miller was on
to something. When a company is insolvent, there is a concept
called fraud against creditors, that you can’t just be making bo-
nuses to people if you are out of money. So I don’t know why we
paid these bonuses, especially to that division, when they talk
about realized losses in this thing. They are already contemplating
their own demise.

That is just a statement. Can somebody tell me what guaranteed
investment agreements are as we are repaid as part of the TARP
money?

Mr. Ario. That is going to be where a government agency is
issued a bond, they have a certain amount of money, say $100 mil-
lion to build a bridge or something, and they don’t need all the
money right now, so they go out and get a contract with a company
like AIG to guarantee the payment of the money back when they
need it. That is what a guaranteed investment contract would be.

Mr. PERLMUTTER. Thank you, because a substantial amount of
the money from the TARP went back to States, as I can see it from
this. Thank you.

Chairman KaNJORSKI. Thank you very much. We will have 1
minute for the gentleman from Indiana, Mr. Donnelly.

Mr. DONNELLY. Thank you very much.

Mr. Polakoff, I have a question. For naked credit default swaps,
how are those anything other than gambling? There is nothing
really there. Back home in Indiana, if a fellow goes and places a
bet on a Bears game, he can go to jail. On Wall Street, he is consid-
ered a master of the universe. How does this work and why is it
allowed?

And then the last question, and it may be the most important,
why should we be paying for just a gambling casino, just bets,
there is no real product there? And you know what, the casino is
closed, you go home.

Mr. PoLAKOFF. Congressman, I agree with you from the perspec-
tive that these products need to be regulated and there are certain
parts of these products, whether it is a naked credit default swap
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or in some cases whether it is naked short selling, which is an en-
tirely different vehicle—

Mr. DoONNELLY. Well, there is nothing even there, is there, other
than a bet? And if it is a bet, how come you go to jail for betting
on a Bears game and not for one of these?

Mr. PoLAKOFF. Naked credit default swaps are not the subject of
the AIG FP though, sir.

Mr. DonNNELLY. Well, if you are a waitress or a truck driver or
a hardworking person, why should you pay the other side of a bad
bet?

Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman KaNJORSKI. The gentlelady from California for 2 min-
utes.

Ms. SPEIER. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

I think that it is very important for us today to realize that Con-
gress has a lot of finger pointing to do at itself. When the Commod-
ities and Futures Trading Commission Chairman said, “Credit de-
fault swaps should be regulated,” came up here, testified to that
fact, she lost her job, and subsequently, credit default swaps were
unregulated specifically by legislation that passed the Congress.

We had the Glass-Steagall Act that was on the books for over 60
years, it worked, and then the financial services industry wanted
the Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act, which allowed for this financial su-
permarket. to happen, and what did Congress do? It passed it. So
I believe that part of the responsibility falls with us.

One last question to Mr. Clark. You rated AIG at an A or A
minus through most of 2008, is that not correct?

Mr. CLARK. We lowered the rating on AIG to A minus on Sep-
tember 15, 2008, and it—

Ms. SPEIER. So before that, it was a double A?

Mr. CLARK. Before that it was double A until May, and then it
was double A minus from—

Ms. SPEIER. Well, growing up, an A means good. A double A
means really good. So through all of 2008, it was a double A until
September 15 when we already knew in March of 2008 that it had
lost $12 billion.

So I believe that you need to go back to the drawing board and
come up with different ways of rating these agencies.

Chairman KaNJORSKI. Thank you very much, Ms. Speier. Mr.
Foster, did you want to exercise your minute to 2 minutes?

Mr. FOSTER. One minute.

Chairman KANJORSKI. One minute? Very good. That is it then.

Mr. FosTER. I have been struck by the complexity of AIG from
a corporate point of view, and I was wondering if you could give
me an impression of what fraction of these difficulties could have
been avoided if AIG was simply simpler or a series of independent
companies accomplishing the same thing. You know, if they were
a bunch of independent insurance companies, and if the thing
called the holding company basically didn’t exist, and that you had
a credit default swap trading house that was regulated so that the
regulator only had to look at that.

Mr. Arto. AIG started as an insurance company, and in my view,
if they had stuck to that, they would still be the number one insur-
ance company in the world on the property and casualty side.
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Mr. PoLAKOFF. Congressman, I think your question goes well be-
yond AIG to whether we need a systemic regulator, because what
you described is not limited to an AIG structure. When you get to
be a trillion dollar company, when you operate internationally, it
is a very complex unit.

And I think your point, as I understand it, sir, is if it is going
to be complex and arrogated like an AIG is or other companies are,
there really needs to be someone from the top down who has all
the powers necessary as a systemic regulator.

Mr. FosTER. No, my point was more should we allow this level
of complexity?

Ms. Williams, did you have any comments on this?

[no response]

Mr. FosTER. Thank you. I yield back.

Chairman KaNJORSKI. I thank you very much, Mr. Foster. That
completes the examinations.

I want to thank this panel for appearing.

Mr. Clark, you have an opportunity to correct the record. You
had some problem that—

Mr. CLARK. Yes, Mr. Chairman, thank you, if I could.

In my remarks, I believe I may have made one statement in
error with regard to the credit default swaps. S&P announced in
August that AIG’s actual credit losses in these areas would amount
to around $8 billion with significantly higher mark-to-market
losses. I may have said that incorrectly earlier, so I would ask that
to be submitted to the record.

Chairman KaNJORSKI. Put that in the record.

Thank you all very much for appearing, and now this panel will
be excused and we will have the seating of the second panel.

[pause]

Chairman KaNJORSKI. Will the Capitol Police restore order, and
particularly the signs of demonstration are to remain down or be
removed from the room. I am a very patient person, but do not try
my patience.

Now the Pink Ladies back there, respond properly or please exit
the room.

Signs down!

And in consultation with the ranking member, our witness today
will take an oath. Will the witness please stand and raise his right
hand, and I will ask the witness to respond “I do” after I read the
oath.

[witness sworn]

Chairman KaNJORSKI. Thank you very much, Mr. Liddy, if you
will kindly be seated.

Mr. Liddy, you and I are not strangers to one another. We have
had the occasion to visit personally some 2 or 3 months ago in my
office for what I thought was a great conversation. And then subse-
quently, maybe 4 to 6 weeks ago, a telephone conversation that
was not as great, as I recall. And I want to just have the record
reflect that.

So that the public knows and the record reflects, Mr. Liddy is not
a person who is being paid anything for the CEO position he occu-
pies at AIG. He has been pressed into Federal service by officers
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and public officials of the United States Government, and he re-
sponded to their call.

He is a former CEO of one of our largest insurance companies,
now presently retired before he took on this command.

I wanted to make that clear, Mr. Liddy, because I am sure that
you and your family have had a great deal of abuse, particularly
in these last few days. We do not intend to harass you here in this
committee, nor should we.

On the other hand, I think it is only fair that we set the record
straight. When we discovered that there were potential bonus pay-
ments about 2 months ago, we talked with each other and I urged
you to do everything within your power to see if you could suppress
the payment of those bonus payments, or deny them in their en-
tirety.

At that time, it was my understanding and the understanding of
my staff, that both AIG people and my staff on the committee
would cooperate, would have a transfer of information and some
documents to indicate whether or not there was any assistance we
could lend in interpreting what positions AIG could take in regard
to these bonuses.

I think specifically, to make it simple, we wanted to see whether
or not we could vitiate that contract. And when I say “we,” Mem-
bers of Congress and for the benefit of this committee.

The disappointment and why you are here under these cir-
cumstances, Mr. Liddy, is that I warned you at that time that if
these bonuses were paid and no mitigation was made to the gen-
eral public of the United States or to this Congress, the action by
AIG in doing that would jeopardize the second rescue plan that is
anticipated and potentially needed to save the American economy.

As of Saturday last, we had received no communication regard-
ing the documents, papers, and faxes that we had expected from
AIG prior to payment. The only thing we received was a letter indi-
cating that payment was made and that it was done on the basis
of an attorney’s or attorneys’ positions, that a contract was in-
volved, and apparently they advised that no way around the con-
tract could be found.

Not to get argumentative about it, but I do want to render this
opinion. In my prior life, I was an attorney, and I dealt with your
prior insurance company where you were CEO. And I will not men-
tion the company, because it is of no concern to anyone else. But
I am sure everybody knows what a large company that was.

In cases that I had with your company, there were clear cases
of the need for recovery or payment. And yet defenses were ren-
dered and time was taken, and very often those cases had to go to
trial. And that practice exists all over the United States.

So this is not a thing of first impression, that sometimes insur-
ance companies delay payment or take a position they will not pay
until they were sued.

In this case, there is an opinion in the land, and in this com-
mittee, reflected today that this was a rush to payment, that there
were other alternatives at hand.

One of the last alternatives would have been a denial of the right
to pay on the contract. And a simple word to these folks: Sue us.
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Now that is not a bad remedy, in my estimation, and I hope you
will address it in your statement today. I have read your prepared
statement. Insofar as if you had taken that position, these bonus
recipients would have been in the same position as the taxpayers
of the United States. They would have had to sue and wait until
the resolve of whether AIG succeeds or not, or go the distance of
the suit, which would be 2 or 3 years.

The worst that could have happened would be a penalty feature
under the laws of the State involved. But, if in the meantime, an
election were made to take AIG into bankruptcy or some other re-
lief, those funds would not have been paid.

Now I indicated to you I thought that you were missing the grav-
ity of this situation in terms of what the American people were re-
sponding to: They had enough. This was an unreasonable action on
the part of AIG to pay these funds.

So in your testimony today, I hope you address some of these
ideas. And with no further assertion on my part, and looking for-
ward to the question, Mr. Liddy, if you summarize your testimony,
we will allow you some leeway because of your involvement in the
situation, so provide it all, and you may proceed.

Mr. BacHus. Mr. Chairman, I don’t know how long Mr. Liddy’s
statement is, but I would because of the gravity of this matter,
even if it’s 10 minutes, I would—

Chairman KANJORSKI. Absolutely. I will be very lenient. Mr.
Liddy can take all the time he wishes to respond to the committee,
I hope. But I am going to be heavy on the gavel, because there is
a lot of criticism at the lower levels of the committee that we have
not gotten down to, and I assume there is nobody at this hearing
today who is not going to want their 5 minutes with Mr. Liddy. So
I am going to hold everybody to their 5 minutes, and probably be
annoying by slapping the gavel.

Mr. Liddy, proceed.

STATEMENT OF EDWARD M. LIDDY, CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EX-
ECUTIVE OFFICER, AMERICAN INTERNATIONAL GROUP
(AIG)

Mr. LibDy. Thank you, Chairman Kanjorski, Ranking Member
Garrett, and members of the subcommittee. I appreciate the oppor-
tunity to appear before you as the representatives of the largest
shareholder we have, the American people.

My name is Edward Liddy. Six months ago, I came out of retire-
ment to help my country. At the government’s request, I have had
the duty and the extraordinary challenge of serving as Chairman
an Chief Executive Officer of American International Group or

I1G.

I speak to you today on behalf of the 116,000 AIG employees
around the world, who are remarkably united around one simple
belief. When you owe someone money, you pay that money back.

I'm sure we all share that belief. I believe that you and I also
share a common agenda today to clean up the mess at AIG and in
the process, help get the American economy moving again.

Let me speak directly to the situation at AIG that has sparked
the Nation’s outrage over the past several days. No one knows bet-
ter than I that AIG has been the recipient of generous amounts of
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government aid. We are acutely aware, not only that we must be
good stewards of the public funds we have received, but that the
patience of America’s taxpayers is indeed wearing thin.

Where that patience is especially thin is on the question of com-
pensation. I am personally mindful both of the environment in
which we are operating, and the President’s call for a more re-
strained compensation system.

At the same time, we are essentially operating AIG on behalf of
the American taxpayer, so that we can maximize the amount we
pay back to the government as quickly as possible.

We weigh every decision we make with one priority in mind: Will
this action help our ability to pay monies back to the government
or hurt it?

Although we have wound down more than $1 trillion, roughly a
third from its peak, in the portfolio of AIG Financial Products, the
unit that is at the root of our financial problems, that portfolio re-
mains very large, $1.6 trillion. And it continues to contain substan-
tial risk.

The financial downside for taxpayers is potentially very large,
and it’s very real, and that’s why we're winding down that business
as quickly as possible.

To prevent undue risk exposure in the meantime, AIG has made
a set of retention payments to employees, based upon a compensa-
tion system that prior management put in place at the end of 2007
and the beginning of 2008.

Payments were made to employees in the Financial Products
Unit that caused many of AIG’s problems. And Americans are ask-
ing quite simply, “Why pay these people anything at all?”

Here is why: I'm trying desperately to prevent an uncontrolled
collapse of that business. This is the only way to improve AIG’s
ability to pay taxpayers back quickly and completely, and the only
way to avoid a systemic shock to the economy that the U.S. Gov-
ernment help was meant to relieve.

Make no mistake, had I been CEO at the time, I would never
have approved the retention contracts that were put in place over
a year ago. It was distasteful to have to make these payments, but
we concluded that the risk to the company and therefore the finan-
cial system and the economy were unacceptably high, and if not
paid, we ran the risk that we would have happen what everyone
has worked so hard thus far not to have happen.

That said, we have heard the American people loudly and clearly
these past few days. The payment of large bonuses to people in the
very unit that caused so much of AIG’s financial trouble does not
sit well with the American taxpayer in any way, shape, or form.
And for a good reason.

Accordingly, this morning, I have asked the employees of AIG Fi-
nancial Products to step up and do the right thing. Specifically, I
have asked those who received retention payments in excess of
$100,000 or more to return at least half of those payments. Some
have already stepped forward and offered to give up 100 percent
of their payments.

The action we are taking today is a result of discussions with nu-
merous parties, many of you, including Attorney General Cuomo of
New York.
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We will work to ensure the highest level of employee participa-
tion in this effort in the days ahead, and will keep the Congress
and the American people informed of our progress.

Now obviously we are meeting today at a high point of public
anger. And I share that anger. As a businessman of some 37 years,
I have seen the good side of capitalism. But over the last few
months, in reviewing how AIG has been run in prior years, I have
also seen evidence of its bad side.

Mistakes were made at AIG on a scale few could have ever imag-
ined possible. The most critical of those was the creation of a credit
default swap portfolio, which eventually became subject to massive
collateral calls, that created a liquidity crisis for AIG.

I agreed to take the reins at AIG last September after the com-
pany had turned to the U.S. Government for financial support.

On behalf of my colleagues, I want to thank the Federal Reserve
and the U.S. Treasury and the American taxpayer for making the
extraordinarily tough call to provide that support. It has meant
that together we have been able to preserve jobs and businesses,
and most importantly protect policyholders who rely on a promise
of insurance to secure their wellbeing.

We are moving urgently on a business plan designed to maximize
the value of our core businesses, so that in turn we can maximize
the amount that we repay to the American taxpayer.

We at AIG want to belhieve that we are all in this together. I have
led AIG for 6 months, and I want to assure you that the people
there today are working as hard as we can to solve this problem
for the benefit of America’s taxpayer. And quite frankly, we need
your help.

We need the support of the Congress to do this, and if we do it
together, I'm confident we can achieve two hugely important
things: First, repayment of AIG’s debt to the government to the
maximum extent possible; and second, and perhaps equally impor-
tant, a solution to AIG’s condition that is a giant stepping stone to
the economic recovery we all desire.

With that, Mr. Chairman, I would request that my remarks and
several additional comments be included in the hearing record and
I'm happy to respond to your questions or those of the members.

[The prepared statement of Mr. Liddy can be found on page 157
of the appendix.]

Chairman KaNJORSKI. Thank you very much, Mr. Liddy. I guess
my first question is, you have just announced that some of your
employees who received those bonuses after Saturday of this week
have agreed to return them. Why could that not have been nego-
tiated for the last 2 months? And why couldn’t that information
have been made available to this committee, to the Secretary of the
Treasury, and to the Chairman of the Federal Reserve?

Mr. LiDDY. I think there are two parts to that question, sir. Let
me see if I can address them in turn. We have been working on
this issue of what to do with these retention payments. We have
made the information publicly available in our various 10-K filings
and 8-Ks and 10-Qs.

The decision we made, I made, was as much one of risk assess-
ment as it was blindly following legal advice. The risk assessment
was: We have made great progress in winding down this business,
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but there is still $1.6 trillion of stuff in that portfolio. There is risk
that it could blow up. And if it were to explode, it can cause irrep-
arable damage to that progress that we have already made.

Chairman KANJORSKI. Necessitating, Mr. Liddy, a further invest-
ment. of the American taxpayers in AIG with equity, if we are to
keep you solvent?

Mr. LipDY. Would you repeat that, sir?

Chairman KaNJORSKI. The risk is, if those assets deteriorate or
blow up, you would either go into total—

Mr. LIDDY. Yes—

Chairman KANJORSKI. —destruction, or have to come back to the
United States Government and this Congress for additional funds.

Mr. LiDDY. Yes. I think that’s exactly correct, sir.

Chairman KANJORSKI. Right.

Mr. LibDY. So the judgment that we made in cooperation with
the Federal Reserve—we treat the Federal Reserve as our very im-
portant partner in this—the decision we made was that we could
preserve that unit and continue to wind it down in a very orderly
fashion and not expose the taxpayer and the company to the risks
that heretofore they had been exposed to.

I know $165 million is a very large number; it’s a very large
number. In the context of $1.6 trillion and the money that has al-
ready been invested in us, we thought that was a good trade.

Chairman KaANJORSKI. Am I to understand that you are saying
that Chairman Bernanke or his designated person at the Federal
Reserve was informed that you were going to make these payments
and acquiesced in that decision?

Mr. LipDY. Yes. Everything we do, we do in partnership with the
Federal Reserve. The Federal Reserve is at our board meetings, at
our compensation committee meetings, at our various meetings on
strategy. And they have the ability to weigh in either yea or nay
on anything that we decide.

Chairman KaNJORSKI. Why was this committee not informed, as
you had previously indicated that you would put a plan together
and you would immediately after that plan was submitted to Treas-
ury and to the Federal Reserve make us aware of what that plan
was? Why did you hold us, in the absence of that information, and
make the payments on a Saturday night?

Mr. LIDDY. Sir, there was no intent to deceive or hide anything.
These payments were due to be paid on March 15th. We have been
discussing this issue at large with the staff of many of the mem-
bers who are represented here today, and with the Federal Reserve
since—

(%}fl)airman KaNJORSKI. You publicly did not discuss this with my
staft?

Mr. LIDDY. I don’t remember, sir, whether we discussed all of the
particulars of this with your staff or not. I would just like to make
the point that there’s no attempt to do anything under the stealth
of darkness or under cover. We wanted to do what was right in
these contracts. The contracts called for a payment on March 15th.

And we have done that. We have been talking about this within
the board and with our representatives of the Federal Reserve lit-
erally for 3 months.

Chairman KaNJORSKI. And with the Secretary of the Treasury?
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Mr. LipDY. No. The way our relationship generally works is we
review things with the Federal Reserve, and the Federal Reserve—
as they think is appropriate—discusses it with the Secretary of the
Treasury or with representatives of Treasury.

I have asked if the Federal Reserve would like us to have a sepa-
rate line of communication with Treasury or not, and I have asked
Treasury. I think they're trying to get as efficient a process as pos-
sible.

Chairman KANJORSKI. Are you aware of the fact that probably
the funds available, the TARP funds, will run out shortly, and the
likelihood of additional funds will have to be secured by action and
authority of Congress?

Mr. LipDY. I am.

Chairman KANJORSKI. And do you realize that the actions that
you take at AIG and took in this precise case not only impact AIG
and the potentials of that reality occurring that you described, but
it may have jeopardized our ability to get a majority of this Con-
gress to support further largess to provide funds to prevent a reces-
sion, depression, or meltdown.

Are you aware that is the process of your decision and how im-
portant it was?

Mr. Lippy. I am sir, although I think there’s also a question of
another element. And that is if something happens to AIG, and it
goes bankrupt or goes belly-up and puts at risk all the money that
has already been put into it, that also can have dire consequences.

So it’s an issue of: Can we stabilize the AIG FP situation, run
it down so nothing untoward happens there and reach the promise
of paying back the taxpayer?

Chairman KANJORSKI. Well, not to argue that point further, but
you are going to serve further. Are we to assume that you are going
to continue this process of decisionmaking and disclosure of talking
only to the Federal Reserve and not informing the Congress or the
American people or the Executive Branch of this government?

Mr. Lippy. I will do it in any way that you and the Federal Re-
serve ask AIG to do it. Heretofore, what we have assumed is that
our discussions with the Federal Reserve were being properly com-
municated to others. It appears that we need to improve upon that
process. We will do everything we can to do that.

Chairman KaNJORSKI. My time has expired. Mr. Garrett?

Mr. GARRETT. Thank you.

First, I appreciate your service and recognize the fact that you
have to step up to this situation. The chairman didn’t make men-
tion of the fact; I guess it’s in the press as far as apparently phys-
ical threats or what have you, to yourself or to your family, which
of course are condemnable, and no one should be going through
that.

Secondly, along this line, we realize how difficult it is to get peo-
ple to fill spots like this, and also we recognize right now the
Treasury Secretary has had his dilemma in filling spots as well. It
may be because the government is engaged in an activity that it
has never engaged in before, basically crossing the line between
public and private, and the conflicts then are inherent there that
we have to have a public discussion of what otherwise would be
private activity.
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So that is something Congress needs to consider, going forward.

Much of the discussion will be on the bonuses. I'll just raise one
question with regard to that, and it goes along the line as far as
who knew what when, and what have you. I appreciate your com-
ment with regard to the discussions that you have had with the
Fed on this.

I would presume that even though the Treasury was not sitting
in at those meetings, the information should still be hopefully flow-
ing back from the Fed to the Treasury. You probably don’t have
any personal knowledge of that.

Mr. LipDY. I don’t. I'm pretty sure that it did, but I would be
hard-pressed to prove it to you.

Mr. GARRETT. Yes. And the reason is this, because there are sto-
ries in the papers today and yesterday saying that the White
House has now instructed the Treasury to try to engage in some
clawback provisions in past legislation to engage in trying to get
some or all of this money back.

And I'm reading that, and I'm wondering, is the White House ba-
sically then second-guessing what the Treasury Secretary must
have known—or at least I will assume that your Treasury Sec-
retary must have known—for a period of time: (a) through these
discussions with the Fed; and (b) just by the fact that the Treasury
Secretary is from Wall Street and we sort of know that this type
of employment contract and contingency contract is not unique to
top-level management.

I presume you would agree.

Mr. LipDY. I'm sorry, Mr. Garrett. The Treasury Secretary is—

Mr. GARRETT. Well, the Treasury Secretary obviously comes from
a financial background. He comes from having been involved with
the AIG situation in the past Administrations as well.

Mr. LipDY. I understand.

Mr. GARRETT. And whether you had that conversation with him
or not, some of this is sort of obvious on the face that these types
of employment contracts would have been there.

So it’s just puzzling to me that the White House now seems to
be second-guessing the decision that the Treasury Secretary made,
if he allowed this to go forward.

Mr. LiDDY. Yes, I don’t have a comment on that. I talked to the
Treasury Secretary last week, and he indicated to me that the first
he had heard of this whole situation was about a week before that.
So I don’t know where the—

Mr. GARRETT. Okay—

Mr. LIDDY. —rubber meets the road, so to speak.

Mr. GARRETT. A final question is on the bigger picture, and that
is: How do we get the taxpayer off the hook, going forward? Is
there basically in a word an exit strategy here for the government
to get out from under this?

Mr. LipDY. There is.

Mr. GARRETT. Is that exit strategy basically in part to sell off
some of the assets, and if that is the case, do you see—I know you
haven’t been able to do it now, because of the global economic cli-
mate—is there anything that you would see in the near future,
that any of this exit strategy is really going to engage itself?
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Mr. LipDY. The exit strategy, I think, is a solid one. It has been
in place for a while now. And it is: Sell whatever assets we can,
use that money to pay back the Federal Reserve and the TARP
money. To the extent we can’t sell an asset, we're going to ring-
fence it, put it in a separate trust, and actually give that asset to
the Federal Reserve as satisfaction of the debt.

And when that asset can be taken public or it can be sold, then
the Federal Reserve would decide to sell it.

Mr. GARRETT. Okay.

Mr. LIDDY. So there is an exit strategy. I think it will work. But
it’s very market-dependent.

Mr. GARRETT. And the final question here is this: The number
you gave was $1.6 trillion?

Mr. LIDDY. $1.6 trillion. The testimony on an earlier panel was
about the derivative aspect, and you originally said it was 360 or
370 on the foreign derivatives overseas, and around 80 or 90 billion
here, adds up to 400-something. So why is that number different
than what you see as being outstanding?

Mr. LipDY. I believe the prior testimony, which I was watching,
had more to do with credit default swaps.

Mr. GARRETT. Right.

Mr. LiDDY. But in addition to that, there are all kinds of deriva-
tive contracts. There are currency contracts, interest rate contracts,
oil contracts, a whole series of contracts.

So there are three measures. Let me see if I can clarify that for
you. There’s a measure of how many dollars of notional exposure
1s it? At the beginning of 2008, that was $2.7 trillion, it’s now $1.6
trillion. We have made great progress winding it down.

With respect to the credit default swaps that have caused us all
the difficulty, that number started out at about $80 billion, it’s now
about $10 billion.

Mr. GARRETT. Right.

Mr. LipDY. And then there’s another category called regulatory
capital trades. And that started out at about $360 billion, it’'s now
down to $230 billion, and we will get it down to considerably less
than that by the end of the first quarter in 2010.

So there are different metrics designed to measure different
things.

Mr. GARRETT. I appreciate your answers. Thank you.

Chairman KANJORSKI. Pink Ladies, I think you have tried my
patience. Now the signs are either going to be removed from the
room, or you are going to be removed from the room, before I recog-
nize another speaker.

Do you wish to remain in the room? And those of you who are
in pink with the signs, are you going to surrender those signs so
that they can be held for you later on, or do you want to be re-
moved from the room?

VOICE IN AUDIENCE. We won't—

Chairman KaNJORSKI. Officers, take the signs. If I see any more
signs on camera, you are going to be physically removed from this
Toom,

The Chair will now recognize the chairman of the full committee,
Mr. Frank of Massachusetts.
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The CHAIRMAN. I thank you, Mr. Chairman. Given your method
of dealing with this, I assume it’s a good thing no one was wearing
a tee-shirt with a slogan.

[laughter]

Let me begin by repeating what Mr. Geithner has said and oth-
ers. Mr. Liddy is in no way responsible for these bonuses having
been agreed to. He, as a public service, agreed to come in, and in-
herited a situation.

I disagree with some of the ways in which he has handled it, but
there ought to be a clear distinction between people who had a re-
sponsibility for creating this situation and those given the responsi-
bility for handling it, who may differ with us.

And frankly, on some of those signs talking about jail with re-
gard to imbecility, they were entirely inappropriate and not, it
seems to me, seemly for people who believe in civil liberties and
fairness to incorrectly suggest that there was any criminality on
the part of this witness.

Now having said that, I do want to say, as I have said several
times, that I think the time has come to make some changes, and
indeed I think the time has come for the Federal Government to
assert greater ownership rights.

That is in part motivated by what I would think was a stronger
legal position. If we sued against these bonuses as the owner,
charging that there had not been adequate performance to justify
the bonuses, as opposed to as a regulator, I think many, myself in-
cluded, would have more comfort with the Federal Government as
a party in interest as the actual owner, saying, “We are exercising
ownership rights not to have paid out bonuses,” when there was a
poor performance, than for the Federal Government to interfere
with an existing third-party contract.

I also have said that I thought there should be some people re-
moved, and I was not talking about Mr. Liddy, and I may not have
been as clear about that.

I am very critical of the people who put these contracts in place.
As I read earlier from the contract, there is a pool of money to be
distributed, and then it says: But losses are to be subtracted from
that, but the losses that could be subtracted toward a cap by $65
million.

Let me just ask you, Mr. Liddy, is it possible under the way
these contracts were written, that you inherited, that the company
as a whole could have lost money but there still would have been
a bonus pool to distribute to the employees?

Mr. Lippy. Congressman, I think the contracts here that you
were reading from have to do with performance bonuses. No per-
formance bonuses at FP, zero. It's a different issue than the reten-
tion bonuses, where we basically said to people, “You have a job,
that job’s going to go away, after you wind down the book of busi-
ness that you manage. If you'll stay—

The CHAIRMAN. So are you saying that the only bonuses that
were paid recently were the retention bonuses?

Mr. LIDDY. Yes.

The CHAIRMAN. There were no other bonuses paid?

Mr. LipDY. Not at AIG FP. No, I don’t believe so.
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The CHAIRMAN. All right. And as to the retention bonuses, we are
told some people who got retention bonuses have since left. Is that
correct?

Mr. LIDDY. Yes, sir. The arrangement—

The CHAIRMAN. Did they give back their retention bonuses?

Mr. LiDDY. No. The arrangement is if you stay, wind down your
particular business, do a good job of it, and we are comfortable
with the job you have done, you will get that retention bonus. So—

The CHAIRMAN. So—the people who got a retention bonus and
then they left, what would be the average period of time after
which people got a retention bonus that they left? I don’t expect
you to know that off the top of your head. I would ask you to sub-
mit to us.

Mr. LipDy. Okay.

The CHAIRMAN. One other issue before I get to—well, two others.
You are optimistic in here about paying down the Federal Reserve
debt. You don’t mention the debt to the Treasury. Is that next after
the Federal Reserve debt?

Mr. LipDY. Yes. It's really important for us, sir, to pay the debt
down first so the rating agencies remain—

The CHAIRMAN. As opposed to the TARP, which is considered a
different category? Is that the—

Mr. LippY. Yes. Although, could I clarify? I think there’s some
confusion. Right now, the Federal Government has invested two
major tranches of money in AIG. One is $40 billion of TARP and
the other is just under $38 billion of a loan from the Federal Re-
serve. That’s it. It’s $78 billion.

There’s another $30 billion of TARP, which is available to us if
we have to draw—

The CHAIRMAN. And you are talking about paying off the Federal
Reserve debt, the $38 billion?

Mr. LipDY. The order in which we would do things is, first, the
Federal Reserve debt, and then the TARP dollars.

The CHAIRMAN. Next question before I ask you my final one: I'm
running of time. I would be interested in your submitting in writ-
ing, given your experience, whether we should be dealing with this
question of an orderly resolution procedure. You were put in place
where there wasn’t any.

The Secretary of the Treasury previously and currently has said:
“We need an orderly way to wind down a troubled non-bank.”

But let me ask you this now; you have said some people are giv-
ing the bonuses back. I'm now asking you to send us the names of
those who received bonuses, who have not given them back. Can
you do that?

Mr. LipDy. Sir, I will if I can be absolutely assured that they will
remain confidential.

The CHAIRMAN. Well, I won’t give you that assurance, sir. And
so if that’s the condition, it would be my intention to ask this com-
mittee to subpoena them. This is a situation where there is a lot
of public activity.

I ask you to submit the names of the people who have received
the bonuses, noting that they paid them back, or not, and I would
accept them under a confidentiality personally. In fact, you have
submitted some confidential information, and I frankly threw it
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away after reading it, because I was afraid I would inadvertently
breach the confidentiality.

But I do ask that you submit those names with restriction, and
if you feel unable to do that, then I will ask the committee to sub-
poena them.

Mr. LoDy, Congressman, if you'll let me explain. I very much
want to comply with your request. I would hope it doesn’t take a
subpoena. If it does, then we will obviously comply with the law.

I'm just really concerned about the safety of our people. So let
me just read two things to you: “All the executives and their fami-
lies should be executed with piano wire around their necks. My
greatest hope.” “If the government can’t do this properly, we the
people will take it in our hands and see that justice is done. I'm
looking for all the CEOs’ names, kids, where they live, etc.”

You have a legitimate request—

The CHAIRMAN, Well—

Mr. LipDY. But I won't affect the wellbeing of our employees.

The CHAIRMAN. Could I get an additional minute by unanimous
consent? Because this is a subject to be addressed?

[Off microphone discussion]

The CHAIRMAN. I understand that. Many of us get these kind of
threats. Clearly, those threats are despicable, people who engage in
this kind of threat.

And I would say to my colleagues, the rhetoric can get over-
heated, so we ought to be very careful. That's why I want to be
very clear, Mr. Liddy, that I disagree with the way you have han-
dled this, but I understand that you inherited it. I disagree with
the people who wrote those contracts, but it did not appear to me
to be criminal.

I will be willing to be guided to some extent by what the security
officials may say, but this is an important public subject, and my
guess is that there are probably threats aimed without too much
specificity about people who work there.

So I am going to keep that request on the table. I will consult
with the law enforcement people, including the Federal law en-
forcement people, and if they tell us they think there is a serious
threat, we will have to take that into consideration.

But I do want to keep that request on the table, and it is subject
to our being persuaded, if I ask for a subpoena there would be a
committee mark-up, it’s not a unilateral decision, and yes it’s legiti-
mate to take into account.

I have to say that if we gave in to these kind of threats, we
would never get information made public about a lot of things, and
I would certainly ask that the State and local and Federal law en-
forcement officials give full cooperation, and I would urge that any
threat that anybody even comes close to carrying out or even
threats which themselves can, by law, be prosecuted.

At this point, I am not persuaded, but it is—I will ask before we
act that we get information from the security people and that will
be before the committee when we vote.

Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Mr. Lippy. Thank you, sir. We will wait to have more discussion
with you.

Chairman KanJorsKI. Thank you very much, Mr. Frank.
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The gentleman from Alabama, Mr. Bachus?

Mr. BacHus. Thank you. Mr. Liddy, mark-to-market, I think, is
good in concept, but insurance and banking CEOs are telling me
that it is not working well in a distressed market. I would like your
comments on modifications others have proposed, and general
modifications, and how it might help AIG to increase the likelihood
of the taxpayers being fully reimbursed.

Mr. LiDDY. Yes, sir. I think mark-to-market is a good concept,
run amok. On balance, knowing what something is worth every day
is a good thing, but it presumes that there’s a market. It presumes
that there’s a willing buyer and a willing seller.

When liquidity completely dries up, there’s not a willing buyer,
so you have to keep marking the value of the assets down to an
unwilling buyer level.

In insurance companies, we have a long liability. We will insure
your life. And we will match it with a long dated asset. Those long
dated assets, like commercial mortgage-backed securities and resi-
dential mortgage-backed securities, because they're long-dated,
they are not liquid right now, and they have been buffeted in
value, unlike anything most of us have ever seen.

So as a result of that, AIG and many other insurance companies
have had to write the value of those assets down, and it has caused
great stress on the liquidity.

So I'm a believer in mark-to-market, but I think it’s not a one-
size-fits-all, and I think it’s not a one-size-fits-all with respect to all
the various assets to which it applies.

I think it is important that some adjustment be made. To be hon-
est. with you, much of the damage is already done, but that’s not
an argument for not closing the door. We should still close the door,
and perhaps be more prudent about how we apply it, starting with
this quarter, the first quarter of 2009, going forward.

Mr. BAcHUS. And maybe be critical to get that guidance out be-
fore those first quarter reports.

Mr. LiDDY. Yes. I know this topic has been discussed before, and
it made sense to me to not do anything in 2008. You can’t do it
in the fourth quarter of the year.

But to start afresh with the new quarter of 2009, to the extent
it’s possible, that makes sense to me.

Mr. BacHus. Thank you.

You said that you have unwound all but about $10,000 worth of
credit default swaps. That’s very good news. That’s $70 billion.
What about the balance sheet rental? When you were talking about
regulatory capital, was that the same thing or a different thing?

Mr. LipDY. No. That is the balance sheet rental. The regulatory
capital trades are really of a substantially different nature. They
don’t require—for the most part, they don’t require the collateral
postings that the credit default swaps did. It's pay-as-you go. If a
company actually doesn’t get a payment, then you have to make
them whole.

What has happened—and a couple of the individuals on the pre-
vious panel did a great job I think of explaining that—with the
AIG credit default swaps, what we did was we insured the value.
So when the value went down, we had to post collateral.
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In most cases, what you are doing is you are insuring the pay-
ment. So the regulatory capital works in an entirely different way.

Mr. BacHUS. Sure. What—on the balance sheet rental, have you
had progress in that regard?

Mr. LipDY. Yes. That number was at its height. I'm going to give
you boxcar numbers. I don’t remember precisely, it was $350- or
$370 billion. It is now down to $230 billion.

And because of some things that are happening in the regulatory
environment in Europe, that will be reduced by 95 percent by the
end of the first quarter next year.

Mr. BacHus. All right. You know, I have had some problems, we
use that figure $170 billion, bail-out money that the taxpayers are
owed?

Mr. LIDDY. Yes.

Mr. BacHUS. Now I'm aware of the Federal loan, which is $37.8
billion. The $40 billion TARP, now that’s $77-, $78 billion. Is that
what is actually owed? Or is it $170 billion?

Mr. LIDDY. No, it’s $78 billion that is actually owed. If you would
let me break down the pieces. $40 billion of TARP money, you're
100 percent correct. $37.8 billion at the end of 2008, it might have
gone up a “skooch.” So it’s in the range of $80 billion is what we
actually owe.

Mr. BacHUs. Right.

Mr. LipDY. Now the Federal Reserve invested in some of our dis-
tressed assets, they bought into financing vehicles that have
RMBSs in them.

Mr. BAcHUS. Those are the Maiden Lane?

Mr. LipDY. Yes, Maiden Lane II and III. They were able to ac-
quire those assets at a discount at 40 or 50 or 60 cents on the dol-
lar. They are currently performing. There have been no credit
losses on them. And the Fed is a patient investor. They and the
American public will do very well on that investment.

So I believe what frequently happens is people take the $40 bil-
lion and we can have as much as $60 billion in the Federal Re-
serve. We have only tapped into, let’s call it $40 billion. But ana-
lysts, writers will take §40- plus $60- plus the $50 billion of assets
that the Federal Reserve has invested in, and a few other things,
and they get to that $170 billion number.

It’s an important distinction, because for us to pay off what we
owe the Federal Government, it’s roughly an $80 billion target
right now, and we can do that. But we need some help from the
markets to be able to do it.

Mr. BacHus. Thank you. And let me say this, Mr. Chairman, as
I close. It’'s my understanding most of those assets, like you say,
they were 45 cents, 50 cents on the dollar. Now in the markets gen-
erally, they're trading about 90 cents on the dollar. Is that—

Mr. LipDY. No, that is too high, sir. That’s too high. They are
down—it depends upon the specific asset, but they are probably
anywhere from 30 to 75 cents; it depends upon the asset.

But the really important thing is: They are current pay. You
know, for every dollar that’s owed on those, 96 or 97 or 98 cents
is being paid.

Mr. BAacHUS. That’s performing? So they're performing?

Mr. LIDDY. Yes, they're performing.
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Mr. BacHUs. And you know, when you talk about $1.6 trillion
under management, and you're having to have people to manage
that, I would say to the committee, we're talking about—this is a
big number—but a million and six hundred thousand million.

Mr. LIDDY. Right.

Mr. BAcHUS. That’s a pretty big figure.

Mr. L1DDY. And sir, that really is the risk trade-off that we made.
I don’t want that book to blow up and cause to come undone all
that we have achieved, all that you all have achieved thus far.

You know, do other reasonable people see it in an entirely dif-
ferent way? Yes. Is the American public mad as a hornet about it?
Yes. Would I have liked not to have made those payments? Yes.

But I don’t want that business to erupt on us and cause the dif-
ficulties we have tried so hard to avoid.

Mr. BacHus. I think that is the definition of the risk, if those
aren’t properly managed, is a million six hundred thousand million.
So we ought to all keep that in mind when we talk about you hav-
ing the skill to manage those.

Mr. ACKERMAN. [presiding] Mr. Liddy, you have basically been
parachuted into the helm of a ship that has already hit the rocks.
And you get no pay, you get a buck a year, you have no stock op-
tions is my understanding. You have no financial upside, no matter
how good a job you might do.

And on behalf of a lot of people, I want to thank you for rising
to the occasion to take on the task of setting this thing straight to
the best of your ability.

Mr. LipDy. Thank you, sir.

Mr. ACKERMAN. You're going to hit some bumps in the road. But
you have no right and neither do the good people who work for
your company to be subjected to the kinds of things that you have
Eegn subjected to and the threats to yourself or your family by any-

ody.

And I just want to apologize on behalf of the millions and mil-
lions of decent Americans who understand really what is going on,
but are nonetheless frustrated.

We are here to help you over those bumps in the road, because
you're not going to make perfect decisions all the time, and you
have just hit one of those bumps in the road.

So I want to try to help you. So maybe you can—

Mr. LipDY. Thank you. I need all the help I can get.

Mr. ACKERMAN. All right. This old school teacher is going to give
you a little bit of advice: Pay the $165 million back. That bonus
money that has been given out, circumstances understood very
clearly. You have a legal question here. But you have received or
have access to $197.3 billion of U.S. taxpayer money. $165 million
adds up to this old math teacher as less than one-tenth of 1 per-
cent. That’s not worth the aggravation, the angst, that you have
suffered and that this country 1s going through.

Give that back. Cut your losses in financial terms. It just isn’t
worth it. Do you think you could consider doing that? And then
pursue the legal options if you wish, of litigation against the people
who do not want to give it back or haven’t given it back?

Mr. LipDY. Sir, that is what I have attempted to set in motion
this morning; I have asked the folks at AIG FP to, in fact, return
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that money, give it back, at least 50 percent of it, and for the lead-
ership group, 100 percent of it.

The 1ssue I have, I never got a chance a moment ago to fully ex-
plain the legal side of it. And I'm not one who hides behind the
legal aspect of this.

What we can’t do is have a group of individuals or have an event
which causes AIG FP to get into a situation of cross-default. If it
does that, it will be bankruptcy and it won’t be a very good picture.

Mr. ACKERMAN. Take it out of your profits down the road. Eat
it now. It’'s a lot sweeter now than it's going to be later. Because
you have legislation coming down the pike that they're going to call
it, “I can’t believe it’s not waterboarding.”

Mr. Lippy. What I would like to do, sir, is see how much leader-
ship comes from the AIG FP people in terms of returning those bo-
nuses. My fear is the damage is done, that we will get the bulk of
that money back. They will return it, but they will return it with
their resignations.

And we do in fact run the risk of that business being much more
difficult to wind down than we ever anticipated. That is not a con-
cession to defeat. We will do everything we can to make sure that
business gets wound down professionally, quickly, and efficiently.

Mr. ACKERMAN. You're talking about the business of credit de-
fault swaps?

Mr. LipDY. No. I'm really talking about the $1.6 trillion. We're
pretty much done with credit default swaps.

Mr. ACKERMAN. Is credit default swaps a bad idea?

Mr. LipDY. No, a credit default swap is I think a very legitimate
product. It just needs much more visibility and you can’t use the
language—

Mr. ACKERMAN. Can I edit one of your words, “visibility?”

Mr. LIDDY. Yes.

Mr. ACKERMAN. And say “transparency.” The reason this country
is great and our system works better than any other, is because of
transparency, and our capital markets work great, better than any
others, because of transparency.

And the fact that Mr. Madoff said, “I can’t tell you the secrets
of my business, because they're secret, that's why I'm successful,”
that is what has everybody all screwed up, because nobody knew
what he was doing and he’s just too big to fail.

The credit default industry is Madoff Lodge. People are buying
into what they don’t understand, they can’t see through, it is com-
pletely unregulated by any agency that we know of or have been
told today by the regulators; has no finances to back it up, and
can’t pay off on a bad debt, on a bad bet.

It’s people sitting around, shooting craps without a wallet. And
I don’t think that’s a good financial investment, do you?

Mr. LipDy. Well, I wholeheartedly accept your edit. Transparency
is a better word. With transparency and the right contract, a credit
default swap can serve a purpose. That is not what we had. We did
not have transparency, and we did not have a good contract.

Mr. ACKERMAN. My time has expired. Mr. Price? No? In that
case, Mr. Castle.

Mr. CasTLE. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. And thank you, Mr.
Liddy for being here today. I am very interested in the events that
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have occurred about the time that you came to AIG, and in terms
of the Federal Government role in all of this, going back to the first
tranche, which I understand was issued by the Federal Bank of
New York, as a matter of fact, which I think Mr. Geithner was
heading at that time.

Can you tell us—and it was at that point that the Federal Gov-
ernment became the owner of 89-point-some percent of AIG stock,
and so we became a majority stockholder at that time. Can you tell
us what the Federal Government participation has been since that
time in terms of meetings that have occurred either with the Fed
of New York or the greater Federal Reserve here in Washington
and the Treasury Department?

Mr. LipDY. I can. Our interaction is primarily with the Federal
Reserve Bank of New York. They have observer or overseer powers
over us. They have assigned an excellent cadre of people to under-
standing our business. That cadre of people have brought in ex-
perts from Morgan Stanley, and from Ernst & Young to supple-
ment. them since the Federal Reserve primarily is a regulator of
banks, not of insurance companies.

As 1 said earlier, I very much view the relationship as a partner-
ship. We do not do a single thing of strategic import without mak-
ing certain that we have talked to the Federal Reserve about it and
we have given them an opportunity to weigh in on it.

The Federal Reserve attempts—

Mr. CAsTLE. I don’t mean to interrupt you, but you said in your
testimony, “working with our partners in the Federal Reserve and
the U.S. Treasury.” You have only been talking about the Federal
Reserve so far.

Mr. LipDY. Well, no, really I'm just talking about the Federal Re-
serve. As I have talked to the Federal Reserve, and I have talked
to the U.S. Treasury, they have encouraged us to primarily deal
with one regulator or one overseer, and that has been the Federal
Reserve, and that is exactly what we have done.

Mr. CAsTLE. And the Federal Reserve has been a participant at
your board meetings. I'm not sure they have a vote, but they have
been a participant at your board meetings and in other significant
meetings in terms of reviewing policy since that time in October?

Mr. LIDDY. Yes. Absolutely yes. And it goes well beyond that. It
goes to participation in all the things that lead up to board meet-
ings or committee meetings.

Mr. CASTLE. And it has been a variety of people? Either outsiders
they have brought in, or people from the Federal Reserve who par-
ticipated in these meetings. Is that correct?

Mr. LIDDY. Yes, sir.

Mr. CASTLE. And you indicated that you assumed that they had
shared that information earlier in testimony today. You assumed
they had shared that information with Treasury and with Con-
gress, for all that matters. Is that correct?

Mr. LipDY. Yes. As I mentioned—

Mr. CASTLE. I'm correct and have been correct in saying that was
an assumption you made?:

Mr. LipDY. Yes. I had a conversation with Treasury Secretary
Geithner about a week ago, and he indicated to me that he had
only become aware of the situation about a week prior to that, and
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we have tried to keep the staffs of various Members of Congress
apprised of all of the situation and to be very responsive to what-
ever queries you may have. I think we have done a good job of that.
Very good—you’ll be the judge of that.

Mr. CAsTLE. If Treasury Secretary Geithner was the head of the
New York Federal Reserve and his people were participating in the
meetings that you had thereafter, would he not have known from
them? Or was even a participant in the meetings at least until he
became Secretary of the Treasury?

Mr. Lippy. I don’t know. You really have to ask the Federal Re-
serve that as to how much was there in the chain of command that
would have gone all the way up to Mr. Geithner. I don’t know the
answer to that.

Mr. CaAsTLE. Did he participate in any of the meetings when he
was still at the Federal Reserve in New York?

Mr. LippY. In several yes, although once he was nominated as
a potential Secretary of the U.S. Treasury, he recused himself from
any of those situations.

Mr. CAsTLE. Now you indicated that the Federal Reserve could
say yea or nay at these various meetings, and I assume these are
probably board meetings or some subset of the board executive
committee meetings or whatever.

Mr. Lippy. Correct.

Mr. CasTLE. Did they actually have the right to say yea or nay
on decisions such as bonuses, or whatever? Or did you just assume
that they were there and they could have said something if they
wanted to. How do you interpret their powers?

Mr. LipDY. I generally ask them, I ask them if they're okay or
if they have a comment on it, which is my way of making certain
that if there’'s a different point of view that should be heard or
should be voiced, that there’s an opportunity for it to be heard.

Mr. CasTLE. And they did not say nay as far as these bonuses
were concerned?

Mr. LiDDY. No. There was great angst over the payment of these
bonuses, believe me, on all of our parts, including the Federal Re-
serve’s. And the judgment, as I said—I'm sorry to be repetitive—
the judgment we made was the risk was too great that we would
lose all the progress we made if we didn’t pay these bonuses.

Mr. CAsTLE. I request, Mr. Chairman, as I close here—and would
it be possible to ask if Mr. Liddy or those working with him could
submit a list and the chronology of the meetings that occurred at
which the Fed was available there and who was there and the
basic outline of what was discussed at that meeting?

Mr. ACKERMAN. Would you submit that in writing?

Mr. CaAsTLE. Could you submit that in writing? I'm not asking
you to do it now.

Mr. LipDY. We don’t have it available to us right now. I—

Mr. CasTLE. No, would you submit it in writing? Could you go
back and after several days be able to submit something of that na-
ture, looking at your minutes or whatever?

Mr. LIDDY. Yes.

Mr. ACKERMAN. Thank you.

Mr. CASTLE. Yes, from your board minutes or whatever other
writing you might have. Thank you.
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Mr. ACKERMAN. The answer was yes.

Before moving to Mr. Sherman, if the committee would indulge
a quick clarification? If you could give us a yes or no? During the
exchange with Chairman Frank, requesting a list of those people
who have accepted the bonuses or to whom bonuses were given,
you also referenced the fact that you were going to cooperate with
Attorney General Cuomo in New York.

He has indeed already subpoenaed those names. Does that mean
you will be cooperating with that subpoena?

Mr. LipDY. We have not provided those names to the Attorney
General.

Mr. ACKERMAN. The question was: Will you cooperate with the
Attorney General’s subpoena?

Mr. Lippy. I'll talk to my general counsel about it, and we will
do the right thing.

Mr. ACKERMAN. Does the right thing include complying with
legal requests from attorneys general?

Mr. LiDDY. We always comply, we do everything we are required
to do and more with respect to obeying the law.

Mr. ACKERMAN. So that will be a yes? You will supply the names
subpoenaed?

Mr. LipDY. I'm sorry to be so evasive. I just want to protect our
employees—

Mr. ACKERMAN. No, it’s easy. You don’t have to be evasive. It’s
really yes or no.

Mr. LipDY. I just want to protect our employees. So if someone
can just assure me that what is not going to happen is a list of
names, addresses, dollars, and pictures are released and therefore
they are even more at risk than they are right now.

Mr. ACKERMAN. You are not giving it to a bunch of Congressmen,
now. You're giving it to an attorney general of a big State—

Mr. LipDY. No. Believe me, I understand that, and it would our
intent to comply with the subpoena.

Mr. ACKERMAN., Thank you. Mr. Sherman?

Mr. SHERMAN. Thank you. Mr. Liddy, you missed the first panel.
We learned in the first panel that the insurance companies and
savings banks will be just fine and that U.S. consumers would be
just fine if the parent company went into receivership. We heard
that from the regulators of those entities.

They said that there would be a slight reputational risk if the
parent. company went into receivership, but it would be maybe a
thousandth of the bad press that they have gotten over the last
week, because you didn’t go into receivership.

The second thing they told us is that they had on their staffs ex-
perts in credit default swaps, who were making between $100- and
$150,000 per year with no retention bonuses at all.

But of course none of those individuals, although they have the
expertise, none of them have the experience in bringing down an
entire company or a world economy.

Now I support Chairman Frank’s plan to launch a shareholder
derivative suit or similar action against the overpaid executives.

But I don’t want to go home and tell my constituents, “We may
have some chance of getting some of the money back.” The Amer-
ican people are skeptical.
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And so as a tax attorney, I can assure my constituents that if
we pass the tax bill, we're sure to get virtually all of the excess
compensation back for the American taxpayers.

Now if the Federal Reserve Board knew about the particulars of
these bonuses and didn’t tell us, then they should be called to ac-
count. Because that calls into question not only their competence,
but their dedication to democracy. Because they may have delib-
erately prevented the American people from weighing in on the de-
cision as to whether AIG should have been put into receivership.

Mr. Liddy, can I count on you to provide the members of this
committee with every document that you gave the Fed, excluding
those documents that have the names or other identifying informa-
tion of your employees?

Mr. LipDY. I would like the opportunity to talk to my general
co%nsel about that and make sure that, in fact, is the right thing
to do.

Mr. SHERMAN. Well, if you're going to keep your shareholders in-
formed, you have to keep the members of this committee informed,
and not just give it to a Fed that seems to have let us down.

I would ask you provide for the record a chart, focused on future
bonuses and future high compensation, which we could stop if we
pushed you into receivership. At least we can stop future pay-
ments.

And in that chart, show us how many employees are getting
more than $100,000 a month in salary and how many stand, under
current compensation plans, to get over $500,000, $1 million, or $2
million during 2009 in bonuses?

Can you furnish that for the record?

Mr. LipDY. I believe we can.

Mr. SHERMAN. Thank you.

Now are the employees of the company able to consult at AIG ex-
pense criminal defense lawyers, especially the high-paid $500-an-
hour or $1,000-an-hour criminal defense attorneys? Is that allowed
under your policies?

Mr. LiDDY. Only if there’s an assertion of criminal wrongdoing.

Mr. SHERMAN. I think anybody listening to this committee would
say that there is an assertion of criminal wrongdoing, at least
being made by the America people.

You have an obligation to keep your shareholders informed. The
shareholders are the 300 million American people. You can’t just
tell one or two shareholders. You have to tell all the shareholders.

You knew a month ago that if we put this company into receiver-
ship, we not only would save the $30 billion that was provided to
the company, or the risk that was taken by the Federal taxpayer,
in providing an additional $30 billion credit line, but that we would
invalidate these bonus contracts.

You seem to have informed one or two people of that. You did
not inform all of the shareholders.

The other issue is the contracts themselves seemed to have been
entered into in contemplation of huge losses, and whether there
was a criminal conspiracy to conceal these losses from the share-
holders that AIG had about a year ago, and enter into these con-
tracts, both of issues raise issues of whether there is criminal li-
ability.
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Under those circumstances, will AIG spend the money to provide
criminal defense counsel to its employees and officers?

Mr. LipDY. I really need to look at the facts, sir. And in much
more detail than what you just indicated.

Mr. SHERMAN. I would ask that you would provide for the record
what your policies are, because as of, you know—the Miranda
rights don’t entitle you to a $1,000-an-hour criminal defense attor-
neys, they entitle you only to what is called, the rights that Mi-
randa was given.

I believe my time has expired.

Mr. ACKERMAN. The gentleman from illinois, Mr. Manzullo.

Mr. ManzULLO. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Mr. Liddy, when did you first know about the retention con-
tracts?

Mr. LipDY. In October or November of 2008.

Mr. MaNZULLO. Did you attempt to change any of those contracts
as you did when you were at Allstate?

Mr. LipDY. I asked that a complete analysis be done of whether
there were ways to effectively alter those contracts. Could we
change them? Did we have to honor them? I did do that.

Mr. MANZULLO. And so you came to the conclusion that even
though the taxpayers owned 80 percent of the company, and the
company couldn’t pay any bonuses at all unless the taxpayers had
put up the money, that the contracts could not be altered. Is that
what you were told?

Mr. LipDY. It was what I was told, sir, but I really started from
a different place. As I mentioned earlier, I started from the basic
issue of risk analysis.

Mr. MAaNZULLO. No, I understand that.

The top 7 people at the organization received more than $4 mil-
lion in retention bonuses, and the top individual got $6.4 million,
and 73 employees got a total of $1 million each. Were these being
considered to be key players, key figures in the corporation?

Mr. LipDY. Not within the corporation, but within the unit
known as AIG FP, so just to be clear, the top people in the corpora-
tion are getting no bonuses.

Mr. MANZULLO. But that’s the group that went sour, isn’t it, the
Financial Services Division?

Mr. LipDY. Yes. And they would be some of the top people in
AIG—

Mr. MaNZULLO. When Mr. Kashkari, who is the head of TARP,
testified before this committee on December 10th, he said that the
top people who were involved in AIG going sour had been removed.
Would he have been mistaken when he said that?

Mr. LoDy, I think he was really referring—I haven’t seen the
testimony—I think he was referring to the corporate level, the
holding company, versus AIG FP.

But with—

Mr. MANZULLO. He said, “We have removed those people.”

Mr. LipDY. I understand that Mr. Cassano is gone.

Mr. MaNzZULLO. But I had asked him that question, because I
was questioning a $3 million bonus, which turned out to be $4 mil-
lion, and his statement was that the key people who had made AIG
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go sour had been removed, and that this was evidently somebody
else.

And my question too is that these people who got the $4 million
and the $6.4 million, those are the people who were in charge of
the Financial Services Division at the time that division collapsed?
Isn’t that correct?

Mr. LipDY. Not entirely, sir. The architects and builders of the
AIG FP strategy, they are gone, primarily Mr. Cassano and a few
other names. And we are not paying them anything, despite what
the contracts say and everything else, we are not paying them—

Mr. MANZULLO. So you could not pay contracts? Go ahead.

Mr. LIDDY. Not when we have our people who are more executers
and traders, derivatives—

Mr. MaNzULLO. Would you say an executor would get $6.4 mil-
lion in bonus and 7 get more than $4 million? These are not per-
functory people, these are first-class people making first-class deci-
sions that determined the destiny of the Financial Services Divi-
sion.

Isn’t that correct?

Mr. LIDDY. Yes—

Mr. MANZULLO. So they have to bear responsibility, do they not?

Mr. LipDY. They are very talented people who are—

Mr. MANZULLO. I understand that, but they have to bear the re-
sponsibility, do they not, Mr. Liddy, that they were there at the
time that these financial investments went south and they have to
bear responsibility that they perhaps were at fault also in addition
to the gentleman that you removed, who is on the holding com-
pany? Isn’t that correct?

Mr. LipDY. Yes. Although sir, most of the people who were di-
rectly responsible for the credit default swaps at AIG FP, those
people are gone.

Mr. ManzuLLo. Well, then, who are these people? I mean did the
credit swaps come out of the Financial Services Division?

Mr. LipDY. They did, but think of it as boxes. You had credit de-
fault swaps, you had regulatory capital, you have other derivatives
trades. Many of these people are working the other derivative
trades at $1.6 billion. The regulatory capital book, we have that
under control, and the credit default swap book, that’s pretty much
gone.

These are people who for the most part worked in the deriva-
tives, the currency hedges—

Mr. MaNzuLLo. Okay. I understand that. But my question is the
fact that your testimony is inconsistent with that of Mr. Kashkari,
because he led the American people to believe—and perhaps he
was correct—that the people who are responsible for the mess at
AIG had been removed from their areas of responsibility and all
new people had been put into that position.

That is why the Americans are really upset over people who are
at fault getting these types of outrageous bonuses.

Mr. LibDy. Sir, I think we are in agreement. The people who
were primarily responsible for the credit default swaps that had
brought us to our knees, they are gone. The people who were re-
sponsible for regulatory capital trades that had some exposure,
they are gone.
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But the people who still operate a $1.6 trillion trading book of
business, we aren’t losing the kinds of dollars on that we have lost
on credit default swaps, they are still there.

Mr. MANZULLO. Those are the ones—

Mr. LipDY. They are the ones who are winding that book of busi-
ness down.

Mr. MANZULLO. And they got the retention bonuses?

Mr. LIpDY. Yes, they did.

Mr. MaNZULLO. Even though seven of them left after they got the
retention bonuses?

Mr. LipDY. Well, again, they did exactly what we asked them to
do. They had a book of business of several—

Mr. MANZULLO. But they got paid on March 15th and this is
March 18th. So they didn’t retain very long, did they?

Mr. LipDY. No. Remember, these went into effect on January 1,
2008, so those people may have taken until October to November
of 2008 to get rid of that book of business in a way that we felt
comfortable with—

Mr. MaNzULLO. Okay—

Mr. Libpy. If they did that and then their job was eliminated,
they earned their retention bonuses.

Mr. MaNzULLO. Thank you. My time is up. Thank you.

[Off microphone discussion]

Mr. ACKERMAN. Mr. Capuano?

Mr. CapuaNo. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. Mr. Liddy, I'm just cu-
rious. First of all, thank you for working for a dollar a year. Appar-
ently Diogenes found his one good man and you're it.

I think you're about to get some more thanks.

I'm just curious. When you were doing these bonuses, did you ex-
pect. that it would touch a nerve with the American people, as it
has?

Mr. LIDDY. Absolutely.

Mr. Capuano. All right. So you knew this was coming?

Mr. LIDDY. Yes.

Mr. CapuaNo. All right.

Mr. LIDDY. But perhaps not as severe as it is, but absolutely.

Mr. CapuaNo. Fair enough.

I understand that these people who got these bonuses—and I
want to be clear—I'm not against bonuses per se. What I'm against
is bonuses to people who helped cause the problem and particularly
bonuses that come out of taxpayer’s dollars, etc., etc.

I'm not against bonuses. We're not talking about anybody who
got a $1,000 bonus, we're talking about people who got hundreds
of thousands of millions of dollars.

And do you believe honestly in your heart, with all of the unem-
ployment that has gone on in the financial services sector right
now, right this very minute, do you really believe that these are
the only people who are capable of doing this job?

Mr. LiDDY. No, I don’t.

Mr. CAPUANO. So that there are people out there who would have
taken this job, who maybe wouldn’t have gotten this far. So you
could have fired these people to replace them with equally capable,
professional people that are currently unemployed on Wall Street
right this minute?
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Mr. Lippy. If you'll let me explain. Each of these contracts is a
complicated contract unto itself. It's not you have seen one, you
have seen them all. They're really all unique.

And they need to be properly hedged and balanced at the end of
each day, because there’s so much volatility in the—

Mr. CapuaNoO. Yes—

Mr. LipDY. If they're not, you get burned.

Mr. CAPUANO. Let me ask a question. In your former life with
Allstate—I'm a policyholder of lots of insurance, that’s basically a
legal contract between me and my insurer, so when you were at
Allstate, every person that you sold an insurance policy to had a
basic contract with Allstate. Would you agree with that?

Mr. LIDDY. Yes.

Mr. CAPUANO. Did you honor every single one of those contracts
as those clients saw them as they should have been on it, as they
think? Every single one of them. You just paid it out when some-
body asked.

Mr. LibDY. No, we—

Mr. CapuaNO. You had a difference of opinion on a legal contract.
You went to court, based on judgment.

Mr. LIDDY. Yes.

Mr. CapuaNoO. And let the courts decide. I'm a lawyer. I'm all for
courts making decisions on legal matters, not necessarily lawyers
for private companies. Our job, your job, is to make decisions on
the basis of what you think is best but at the same time, in this
case, you have an obligation to the general public.

I can’t imagine why you couldn’t have followed the same policy
here. Simply—

Let me ask you one more question I asked the previous panel.
Do you believe that the current course that AIG is on, that this
course will lead to stability and profitability of AIG within a rea-
sonable period of time?

Mr. Lippy. I do.

Mr. CapuaNoO. Do you have any idea how long it will take? A
year, 2 years, 5, 10, or 100 years?

Mr. LipDY. You know, the plan is about a 2- to 3-year period of
time—

Mr. CAPUANO. A 2- to 3-year period.

Mr. LIDDY. But it’s very dependent upon what happens to market
conditions around the globe.

Mr. CapuaNo. I respect that.

Mr. LIpDY. Very dependent.

Mr. CaPuaNO. As we all are dependent on that.

So did you consider at all—you didn’t consider replacing these
people because you thought the contracts were too complicated. 1
respect that.

Did you consider at all saying, “Look, we're not going to do this.
We read it differently, we think the circumstances have changed,
we think these contracts are null and void because the cir-
cumstances have changed. If you disagree with us, we will see you
in court,” knowing, or at least believing that within 2 to 3 years,
AIG will either be back to profitability or bankrupt and gone. Ei-
ther way, by the time those lawsuits were settled, these people
would be then in a court that either was a private company with
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no taxpayer dollars left, or a company that went bankrupt, with a
bankruptcy judge to decide who got what money. Did that cross
your mind at all?

Mr. LipDY. It crossed our minds; it got very serious consider-
ation.

Mr. CAPUANO. Serious consideration. Why didn’t you do it?

Mr. LipDY. Back to the risk assessment. Had we done that, more
than likely those people would have walked out the door tomorrow
or whenever, and we would have had this $1.6 trillion book of busi-
ness which needs to be managed every day with no one to manage
it.

To the extent something happens in one of those trades, and it
triggers a cross default, we get into a spiral that undoes all of what
the government has—

Mr. CAPUANO. So do you have any plans for the people who
haven’t left yet? Do you have any plans for firing them now? Be-
cause they have proven to me that they don’t have the best interest
of their employer, mainly the American taxpayer, at heart.

Since that’s the case, I understand you don’t want to be without
them. You don’t have to tell me names, but is there anybody you
are going to fire next week or next month or 3 months from now
and replace them quietly in a thoughtful manner?

Mr. LipDY. No. Let me tell you what we have tried to do. Each
person has a book of business. There are 22 or 24 separate books
of business. Their job, either individually or in tandem, is to wind
that book of business down.

It could happen by the end of April, it could happen by the end
of December.

What we have also done is we have brought in some additional
people to understand those books of business—it’s hard to get all
the right expertise at the right time—to understand those books of
business as backstops or insurance.

Mr. CapuaNoO. Mr. Liddy, I think you have made a series of judg-
ments that I obviously disagree with, that you could have made
other decisions and let the chips fall where they may.

It amazes me that these are the only people. Apparently you are
the only good person left on Wall Street to do this because you
know the American people need it, and I appreciate your effort,
and I don’t mean to berate you on a personal basis. I really do ap-
preciate what you have done.

Nonetheless, it would be nice if we had a couple more people
working for AIG at top-level salaries who felt the same way or any-
where near the same way.

And for those who don’t, the truth is, as one taxpayer, I don’t
want them working for me. I would just as soon you get rid of them
and take the risk with that.

Mr. LipDY. You know, sir, there is a cadre of people working at
AIG very hard for the American taxpayer, trying to do everything
we can to repay every single dollar.

You would be proud of them.

Mr. CAPUANO. Not right now, I'm not.

Mr. LipDy. Okay.

Mr. ACKERMAN. The gentlelady from Illinois, Ms. Biggert.

Mrs. BIGGERT. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
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If the taxpayers hadn’t loaned AIG any money, would the execu-
tives who received the bonuses have received them?

Mr. LibDY. Probably not. But if you'll let me explain, I think it’s
a matter of what would have happened. I think the company would
have spiraled into bankruptcy, and in bankruptcy, a bankruptcy
court judge makes the decision of: “Are you important, or are you
important, and what do we have to do in order to keep you?”

So if they were determined by a bankruptcy judge to be impor-
tant, they may have gotten a payment. But the basic contracts
would have been voided.

Mrs. BIGGERT. But because the money came from the Treasury
and from the Fed, they were able to get the bonuses?

Mr. LiDDY. There was no bankruptcy.

Mrs. BIGGERT. Okay.

In my opening statement, I was concerned whether the taxpayers
who own 80 percent of the company got to vote on these bonuses.
Was there any notification or anything that—the reason I'm asking
that is because as part of the bailout, the New York Fed appointed
3 trustees to represent the government’s nearly 80 percent owner-
ship interest in the company. Did you ever see or hear from these
trustees? Were they at the board meetings? Were they there?

Mr. LipDY. You know, I have met with the trustees on a number
of occasions. They were just appointed approximately the middle of
February or so. I don’t remember the exact date.

Again, we have reviewed these with the Federal Reserve, and the
Federal Reserve is the repository gatekeeper, if you will, of the re-
lationship with AIG.

Mrs. BIGGERT. So they were appointed after the decision—well
no, the decision was in March.

Mr. LipDY. No. Before.

Mrs. BIGGERT. So did they notify anybody? Or did you talk to
them about the bonuses?

Mr. LipDY. I do not know if they were reviewed or not.

Mrs. BIGGERT. Okay. Who are the trustees?

Mr. LipDY. There are three trustees. To be honest with you—
Doug Fuge. I can get you that list, if you will—

Mrs. BIGGERT. I would appreciate it.

Mr. LipDy. Bill Considine. I can get you that list.

Mrs. BIGGERT. All right.

So did you or your staff make the Treasury aware of the bonuses,
other than talking to the trustees, or—

Mr. LipDY. I'm sorry, did we make the Treasury—

Mrs. BIGGERT. Yes. Did you make the Treasury aware?

Mr. LipDY. No, as I said earlier, we began discussing this at our
board meeting starting in the middle of November, a full disclosure
with the Federal Reserve. And I don’t know, I'm not privy to what
happens from the Federal Reserve up into the Treasury.

Mrs. BiGGERT. Okay. You know, my constituents and the Amer-
ican taxpayers are really upset with this. As you well know, as we
all know.

And they don’t want to see one more dime go to AIG. Can you
give me three good reasons why you should have received that
money, and why, if you are going to need it in the future, that the
taxpayers should give you support?
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Mr. LipDY. I think the payment of the bonus, the thought process
was that it would prevent a very disorderly event within the Finan-
cial Products business, which could have brought down the whole
corporation.

And then the roughly $80 billion that the taxpayers have already
invested in AIG would have been for naught.

So we did not think that the $165 million relative to putting at
risk the $80 billion that has already been invested—we thought it
was wiser to err on the side of caution and see if we could do every-
thing we could to keep those individuals in place at AIG FP.

Mrs. BI¢GERT. And do you think that it would happen that the
company would need more money?

Mr. LiDDY. I believe we are adequately capitalized, particularly
WX;E the ability to draw down on the additional $30 billion of
TARP.

It goes back to my answer to somebody’s question over here. It
is very much a function of what happens with the capital markets
around the globe, if investment values, if asset values continue to
go down, it will be a problem for everybody in the life insurance
industry.

Mrs. BIGGERT. All right. Thank you.

Mr. ACKERMAN. Thank you very much, Ms. Biggert.

And now, Mr. Baca of California?

Mr. Baca. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman, and thank you
very much, Mr. Liddy, for being here and trying to find a solution
to a major problem that the American people are outraged in ref-
erence to what happened to these particular bonuses.

I want to start out by asking a couple of the questions. You indi-
cated you started in September, but I believe in part of your testi-
mony you indicated that it was during the last Administration they
came up with these contracts that were in place, is that correct?

Mr. LipDY. When you say last Administration, do you mean my
predecessors?

Mr. BAcA. Yes.

Mr. LIDDY. Yes.

Mr. Baca. And that was before President Obama took office, is
that correct?

Mr. LipDY. Yes. That goes back to the end of 2007, beginning of
2008,

Mr. Baca. So it was basically under this last Administration.
And part of the problem that we have and people are so much
upset with this, retention bonuses that were given out right now—
isn’t retention, doesn’t that mean that you stay, and a bonus means
that you're getting paid for something you performed that is posi-
tive and is turning our economy around and our crisis around?

Mr. LiDDY. Yes. In this case it meant you stayed and you made
progress on a specific assignment to wind down a portion of your
responsibility within AIG FP.

Mr. Baca. And some of these retention bonuses individuals you
indicated in your testimony, that some of them have left, is that
correct?

Mr. LiDDY. Yes. If they completed their work and their responsi-
bility was wound down to our satisfaction, they would have left
probably closer to the end of the year, and they have would have



78

waited until March 15th, but they would eligible for the retention
arrangement.

Mr. Baca. You know, it is appalling to me that we are giving out
these bonuses, and to the American people and the taxpayer—we
have teachers right now across the Nation who are receiving pink
slips, especially in the State of California. They are doing excellent
jobs, and yet they are not getting bonuses. I wish we would have
given those teachers bonuses, because they're getting the pink
slips, and yet, these individuals out here, when you look at the cri-
sis that we're in, they haven’t gotten us out of the crisis, they re-
ceived the bonuses. Isn’t that a shame?

Mr. LipDY. I have teachers in my family, sir. I know that pain.

Mr. Baca. And you indicated during your testimony that you
asked a lot of these AIG executives who received these bonuses to
return the money. What has been the result of that survey that you
conducted earlier?

Mr. LipDY. I just asked them this morning. And in response to
the public outrage, in response to the suggestions of many folks
that I met with yesterday, just listening to the President of the
United States say, we need to do something, we have attempted to
amend this situation, and we have asked the people at AIG FP to
demonstrate their leadership and give it back.

Mr. Baca. Isn’t there any remorse or feeling by these people who
are getting these bonuses, when people are losing their jobs, losing
their homes, the economy is where it’s at right now? I mean, what
has been there expression and their feelings? We are talking about
human beings who have lost their jobs, have lost their homes. And
yet we're giving out the $165 million that was given.

And I'm glad that the last question was asked, you know, “Was
it done because of the bailout?” Because it was this last Adminis-
tration that asked us to vote for this bailout that a lot of us didn’t
want to, did they know in fact that we were going to have a crisis
and that they were going to gain from this?

Mr. LipDY. You know—

Mr. BAcA. It could have been, yes.

Mr. LipDY. Yes, that’s a hard one to answer, sir. I understand
the intent of the question. The people at FP, it is easy to paint with
one brush and capture everybody. In fact, there are a lot of really
good people up there. They are basic Americans, they want to do
a good job for us.

The trades that were done that brought us to our knees, that
was a very small number of people—

Mr. Baca. Somebody asked us to do a bailout, we gave them the
bailout. They knew it, they took it, they ran, they took the Amer-
ican people’s money.

Mr. LipDY. No, but I was really trying to be sensitive to and re-
spond to your point. You know, don’t these people have a con-
science, which is basically what you asked me.

You bet they do. What we asked them to do was to stay, do a
specific amount of work, and if you do that, at the end of that pe-
riod of time and you have done that work, we will give you a reten-
tion bonus. That is what those payments were.
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So they did the work, they reduced the risk from that $2.7 tril-
lion down to $1.6 trillion, and the American taxpayer is better off
because we have less risk.

But we have to keep shrinking this business quickly so it doesn’t
get away from us.

Mr. BAaca. And I hope that in part of the comment, that we hope
that from now on, that we modify those kind of contracts, and we
never ever have these kind of contracts if the American people will
have to pay for something that someone else has created, some-
thing that they didn’t do, that we now are paying for that.

Mr. LipDY. Duly noted.

Mr. Baca. Thank you very much. I yield back the balance of my
time.

Mr. ACKERMAN. Thank you very much, Mr. Baca.

Mr. Hensarling from Texas.

Mr HENSARLING. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. Mr. Liddy, I have
disagreed with certain things that you have said, and I have dis-
agreed with some of your conclusions. But I do want to add my
voice to others who state that you are one of the good guys. You
were asked to come into this position, take on a very, very tough
job, and clearly you are doing this out of a feeling of service to your
country, and I thank you for that.

On page 4 of your testimony, you talk about Federal regulators
making the decision not to allow AIG to fail. With all due respect,
Mr. Liddy, AIG has failed. Any company requiring $170 billion-plus
of taxpayer viability exposure has failed. It has failed in my mind,
and it certainly has failed in the public opinion’s mind.

I mean AIG, notwithstanding the fact—I know you have many
good men and women, I know that you have profitable divisions.
But it appears to many of us it is now a conduit for counterparty
transfers of taxpayer money.

My first question is: Did I hear you correctly? And please, I had
to step out of the room on occasion. You speak of a plan in your
testimony, a business plan designed to maximize the value of the
core of businesses, so that we can maximize the amount to repay
the American taxpayer.

}{slii‘s) your belief that this plan will make the American taxpayer
whole?

Mr. LipDY. It is, sir, with the caveat, if you will, that the mar-
kets have to behave. In order to sell assets, there have to be buyers
who have equity or cash or capital in order to be able to buy them.

Since October, that has proven not to be the case. We have set
in motion a plan that despite that fact, we think we can still pay
back the Federal Government.

Mr HENSARLING. Mr. Liddy, I spent about 12 years in the private
sector before coming to Congress, and I know we have talked about
the bonuses ad nauseam. But when I was in the private sector, two
things had to happen to qualify for a bonus. You had to perform
exceedingly well and the company had to perform exceedingly well.

Clearly, you are bullish on the future of AIG. I'm curious wheth-
er the recipients of these bonuses share your enthusiasm. And if
so, let me offer a suggestion to you, sir. What AIG does with their
money is their business. What they do with taxpayer money is our
business. If these people who receive the bonuses share your bull-
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ish thoughts on AIG, why don’t you do double or nothing on these
bonuses? Let’s let the taxpayer be made whole, and if the taxpayer
is made whole on his debt, if the taxpayer makes a decent return
on his equity position, and AIG is indeed returned to profitability,
Mr. Liddy, why don’t you just double those bonuses. Instead if
these people have skin in the game and if they believe they can
work it out of trouble, then we don’t have to worry about these
other options.

Mr. LIDDY. Interesting idea.

I would say it’s probably not in the taxpayer’s best interest to go
there. I have much confidence that we can in fact rescue AIG. It’s
not a failed company; it is a failing company unless we do some-
thing about it. And we in fact have a plan to do something about
it.

It basically is a disaggregation of AIG.

Mr HENSARLING. Well, Mr. Liddy—

Mr. LIDDY. And the sale of those businesses to pay back—

Mr HENsARLING. Here’s the challenge for many of us here. And
that is—and I voted against TARP once, I voted against it twice,
I'll vote against it 3 or 4 times, if necessary. So I didn’t support
the underlying legislation.

But if the taxpayer is being asked to yet again prop up this com-
pany, you know, where is the skin in the game for the individuals
who were supposed to turn this around? How can I look taxpayers
in the eye in the Fifth District of Texas and say, “Yes, invest your
fifth tranche of hard-earned money into this company,” notwith-
standing the fact that the people who receive the bonuses don’t ul-
timately have enough confidence that you're going to get paid back?

How do we do that? How do we have any confidence? And in ad-
dition, I know you talk about failure, but failure isn’t necessarily
chaos. I mean, that is why they have chapter 11, that is why they
have reorganization, that is why they have receivership.

Mr. Lippy. I think you find—I did listen to the previous panel—
I think you would find that AIG is regulated by 430 regulators
around the globe, and if the company failed, those good insurance
companies would be grabbed by whatever regulators could possibly
get. their hands on them, to make sure that they were protected.

I don’t know that the world has ever seen anything like that. My
risk assessment is that winding down the AIG FP business as
quickly as possible is essential because it’'s the biggest exposure
that we have. If we are successful in doing that, when we are suc-
cessful in doing that, then we can in fact sell all the good insurance
businesses, take those proceeds, and pay back the Federal Govern-
ment. That is what we are desperately trying to do.

Chairman KaNJORSKI. The gentleman from Massachusetts, Mr.
Lynch.

Mr. LyNcH. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. Thank you for testifying,
Mr. Liddy. I appreciate your being here. I want to get right to the
employee retention plan. Do you have a copy of this in front of you?

Mr. LipDY. I do not.

Mr. LyncH. Can some of the staff drop off a copy here to—can
you hold my time till we get this down there? Mr. Liddy, I'm going
to explain a couple of sections here. One has already been men-
tioned by Chairman Frank, and that was the—at page 10 of this
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compensation agreement, it holds that the bonus pool that’s avail-
able for employees will be basically capped at $67.5 million and
that regardless of what happens with the company, and invest-
ments, the bonuses will be given out. So it basically anticipates
losses on the part of the company but protects the employee’s bo-
nuses from that dire circumstance. Do you think that’s consistent
with your fiduciary responsibility to your shareholders and to peo-
ple who rely on your performance for their own benefit?

Mr. LipDpY. Congressman, you'll have to forgive me. I just am not
familiar with that contract. I believe that contract is the annual
performance bonus arrangement.

Mr. LYNCH. Right. It is.

Mr. LipDY. No performance bonuses were paid in AIG FP, I don’t
believe, for 2007.

Mr. LYNcH. I'm sorry. This is for retention. These are retention
bonuses. And while you're looking at it, the paragraph above that,
Section 306, subparagraph A, this really gets me.

Mr. LIDDY. I'm sorry, sir. What page are you on?

Mr. LYNCH. Page 10 of the agreement. It says, “The effect”—the
subheading is, “The effect of mark-to-market losses on the bonus
pool.” This is again a protection for the bonus pool for the employ-
ees.

It says: “The bonus pool of any compensation year beginning
with 2008 compensation year will not be effected by the incurrence
of any mark-to-market losses or gains or impairment changes aris-
ing from the CDO portfolio.” This is the credit default swaps. This
is the underlying—these are the underlying assets.

So what you have done here is basically you have reserved the
bonus pool for the employees, and not only have you done that in
this agreement, but you have basically protected yourself, immu-
nized yourself from the stupidest decisions made by AIG, which
earlier in the testimony has been admitted to that it was the credit
default swaps that were really—you know, by the Financial Prod-
ucts Division—that really brought this company down to where it
is right now.

And what you have done here in this agreement is basically you
have immunized your own bonuses from that stupid decision. In
other words, the bonus pool will not be affected by the CDOs and
the credit default swaps that you were all worried about. And this
agreement was written in 2007. This is similar—this is like the
captain and the crew of the ship reserving the lifeboats saying, “To
hell with the passengers. We're going to take the lifeboats for our-
selves.” That is what happened here.

This is a violation of fiduciary duty. When you cordon yourself
off and protect yourself, as the managers of this company and as
the people running the ship, and you say, well, we're going down,
so we're going to make an agreement where we're not affected by
the bad decisions we make. We're going to pass that all on to the
investor and the shareholder.

That amounts to malfeasance. Not just nonfeasance, but that’s a
complete violation of trust in the people who invested in your com-
pany. This should not have happened, and I honestly believe this
is reversible. This is so outrageous that you would say we're not
going to be victims of our own stupid decisions. We're not going to
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take the heat for this on the CDOs and the credit default swaps.
That is simply unbelievable. It’s arrogance. And I think it’s prob-
ably illegal. And I agree with Chairman Frank that we should
probably try to challenge this as shareholders on behalf of the
American people as well.

Do you have anything to say for yourself?

Mr. LiDDY. Yes, sir, I do.

Mr. LYNCH. Please.

Mr. LipDY. You have generously used the word “you” in that con-
struct. As I mentioned, these contracts were all put together before
I was at AIG. I would not have done these contracts this way, and
this whole arrangement would have looked, if it existed, would
have looked a whole lot different. So I really do—I take offense, sir,
at the use of the word—

Mr. LyNcH. Well, offense was intended. So you take it rightfully,
sir.

Mr. LipDY. No. I take it—

Mr. LyNcH. What I see happened to the American people here
and what is happening to 200 billion innocent taxpayers. I have
people in my district who don’t have a 401(k). They're out there
working every day for, you know, a fixed wage. And yet they and
their sons and daughters and grandchildren and great grand-
children are going to have to pay the freight here. They don’t have
anything to do with Wall Street. They're lucky if they can live from
day to day. A lot of them are out of work right now. Think about
those people, how they feel in having to pick up the tab for this.

Mr. LipDY. I understand everything you have said, sir. I do. It’s
just important for me that you appreciate these were put in place
before I was there.

Mr. LYyNcH. But the decision to allocate these was made in De-
cember, sir.

Mr. LiDDY. No. No. That decision—the decision to put this plan
in place goes back to 2007.

Mr. LYNCH. No, no, no. The actual payment of the bonuses.

Mr. LipDy. Okay. There were no payments then. If you'll just
give me a chance to explain. The arrangement you're reading from
continues to be—it’s an omnibus plan that covers retention pay-
ments and an annual performance plan.

Mr. LYNCH. It says here retention bonuses.

Mr. Lippy. Right. And if you—I think if you read through it, I
would be glad to spend time with you offline and make sure that
I understand your point of view, and maybe I can help you under-
stand—

Mr. LyncH. Well, look. I understand if there’s ambiguity, we can
talk about it. But this says, in large letters, “Employee Retention
Plan.”

Mr. LiDDY. Right.

Mr. LyNcH. Look, I am a contract attorney. You might want to
try that with somebody else, but this is the plain language within
the four corners of this contract that we're talking about here, sir.

Mr. LipDy. Right. And it applies to the payment of annual per-
formance bonuses, not to the pay of the retention plan itself. So
there were no performance bonuses. You're absolutely correct. The
clauses that are on here should not be in here. I would not have
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put them in there. We did not pay anything in accordance with
those clauses.

Mr. LYyNcH. Okay. My time has expired, Mr. Chairman. I yield
back.

Chairman KaNJoRrskI. Thank you. We will now hear from Mr.
Campbell of California.

Mr. CaMPBELL. Thank you, Mr. Chairman, and thank you, Mr.
Liddy, for your rather thankless service. I would like to focus on
the future of this company which is now nationalized. You talked
about reducing the exposure in the Financial Products Division
from $2.7 trillion to $1.6 trillion. And I understand what you have
said1 ibout it depends very much, the future, on what the markets
are like.

If markets were as they are today, in other words, they don’t get
any better, they don’t get any worse, and you run down that $1.6
trillion, what kind of loss would AIG expect out of the Financial
Products Division once you have wound it all out?

Mr. Lippy. Mr. Campbell, if I could, my comment about markets
getting worse has more to do with selling assets. It's selling our
really good life insurance company in Asia or what have you. The
rundown of the book of business can happen in an orderly way. On
some trades we make money, on some trades we lose money. The
goal would be not to lose any money on that business so we don’t
have to put more money into it from the Federal Reserve. That'’s
entirely possible in almost any market condition as long as there’s
someone there monitoring the book of business. If there’s no one
there, you have a problem.

Mr. CAMPBELL. I understand. So do you think it's likely that
could be run down without any further loss?

Mr. LipDY. No. I think it will probably cost, I don’t know, maybe
a couple of billion dollars, which is a large number, but that’s an-
ticipated in the borrowings that we already have from the Federal
Reserve.

Mr. CamPBELL. Okay. Let me talk about—you talked about the
good businesses, and I wanted to discuss just how good perhaps
they are. My understanding—correct me if I'm wrong on this—is
that the commercial property and casualty business was down 22
percent, I believe, in the fourth quarter. There is that anecdotal
evidence out there that there is a lot of price cutting on the part
of AIG, and so therefore the profitability of that business—that the
business may be shrinking, and it’s both in volume and in margins.
And obviously, a business that has shrinking volume and marging
has problems for the future. Is that what’s going on in the—

Mr. LipDY. No. I don’t believe it is. And I think as I listened to
the individual from the GAO, I think what she said was as of her
testimony today, they had seen—and Joel Ario said the same
thing—they had seen no evidence of irresponsible price cutting on
the part of AIG.

I will tell you what is happening. What AIG does is we write
really big risks for oil rigs and large apartment buildings and new
hotels and tunnels and things of that nature. That has all ground
to a halt. So there is no new business that you can write insurance
on. So to the extent you lose an account, there’s not fertile ground
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that you can apply to replace that account. That is happening in
spades.

The point you make is a good one. Over time, people just get AIG
fatigue. A buyer of insurance just doesn’t want to deal with, “Is
AIG bankrupt? Are they solvent? Are they going to be around? Why
did they pay those bonuses?” You just get AIG fatigue. And if I
can’t turn this situation around, we run the risk that the business
does atrophy. We're trying very hard not to do that.

We have a plan. We're going to sell a minority interest in that
business, maybe take it public, maybe get it out entirely from un-
derneath the AIG umbrella. We brand it and give it a chance so
we can realize some value and pay it back to the Federal Govern-
ment.

Mr. CaMPBELL. Will that business be profitable in the first quar-
ter of 2009?

Mr. LipDY. I just haven’t seen the numbers. I'm sorry. I just
don’t remember what they are.

Mr. CAMPBELL. Was it profitable in the last quarter of 20087

Mr. LipDY. If you exclude investment losses, I believe it was, yes.
It was profitable and generated cash.

Mr. CAMPBELL. Talk about the life insurance subsidiary for a sec-
ond. I know that in your—I believe it was the company’s evaluation
of systemic risk, that is where you believe there is a great deal of
systemic risk, but there is a lot of counterparty liabilities to other
life insurance companies. Is that true?

Mr. LipDY. It is in both. You know, we insure, on the property
casualty side, we insure 94 percent of the Fortune 500 companies.
So the systemic risk idea is very real in both the property casualty
and the life side.

Mr. CAMPBELL. Okay. But in the property casualty, I mean, they
could replace that insurance with another carrier.

Mr. LIDDY. If there is enough capacity.

Mr. CAMPBELL. Right.

Mr. LipDY. It is a really good point, and if you would just give
a minute. You know, we are so large. We have more capital than
any other insurance company in the United States in the property
casualty area. If that business went away, I'm not so sure that it
could all be immediately replaced. And because the market is so
treacherously low right now, companies that wanted to replace it
couldn’t go out and raise the capital to be able to do it.

Mr. CampBRELL. Okay. Because I'm running low on time, what is
the status then of the life insurance—that 1s a separate division
from property casualty, correct?

Mr. LipDY. It is. Multiple life divisions.

Mr. CaMPBELL. Correct. And is that business profitable? Is it
shrinking in margins and business, or what is its status?

Mr. LipDy. It is profitable. Pieces of it are stable. If you sell vari-
able annuities or fixed annuities right now, nobody in the industry
is selling those. Industry sales are down maybe 40 to 50 percent
on balance. So we are down the same as the industry is. But the
persistency has more or less stabilized since September. That busi-
ness is profitable. That’s part of what we want to either take public
or give to the Federal Reserve to satisfy our debt.

Mr. CaMPBELL. Why can’t we sell that? That is my final question.
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Mr. LipDY. No buyers. The people who would buy that business
don’t have any money, and their stocks are down 70 percent since
October 1st. So they can’t use equity to buy it. They can’t go out
to the capital markets and raise cash to buy it. There is no way.
We could sell it for a fraction of what it is worth. That is not a good
idea; it would not enable us to pay back the money that we owe
to the government.

Mr. CaMPBELL. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman KaANJORSKI. The gentleman from North Carolina, Mr.
Miller.

Mr. MILLER OF NORTH CAROLINA. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. Mr.
Liddy, I am sympathetic to your concerns about the safety of your
employees, but the lack of transparency at AIG has been a great
frustration to me personally, to the Congress, and to the American
people. Neel Kashkari sat right there on December 10th, and 1
asked him whether we were ever going to find out who the counter-
parties were, and if not, why not, and he said he did not under-
stand my question.

You said that you first learned of these performance—rather
these retention benefits—in October or November, and you talked
to lawyers, and they said there is no way out of this, you have to
pay it. You would have to pay twice this under Connecticut law if
you don’t pay it, no questions asked. Did your lawyers assume that
AIG, the Financial Products Unit, was solvent at the time of the
contract, that this was an arm’s length transaction with a solvent
corporation? Or did they ask you if it was possible that this was
a sweetheart deal to loot an insolvent company by insiders to leave
the company without sufficient—or leave the company with even
less to pay its honest debts?

Mr. LiDDY. As I mentioned, I was not there. I simply do not know
the answer to that question.

Mr. MILLER OF NORTH CAROLINA. You were there. This was in
October/November of last year.

Mr. LiDDY. Yes. Let me explain. The work that I asked to be
done in October/November of last year was, are these valid con-
tractsg Are we required to pay them? Can we break these con-
tracts?

Mr. MILLER OF NORTH CAROLINA. And that is what I am asking.

Mr. LipDY. What will happen if we do?

Mr. MILLER OF NORTH CAROLINA. There is an important factual
question here: Was AIG solvent? Were these arm’s length trans-
actions or were these sweetheart contracts?

Mr. L1iDDY. Yes. I'm not a lawyer, sir, but I would say at the end
of 2007, 2008, when they were entered into, AIG was solvent. It
was before the very substantial credit crunch of the third and
fourth quarter.

Mr. MILLER oF NORTH CAROLINA. Have you seen the written
questions and written answers from Joseph W. St. Dennis provided
in October of last year to the Government Reform and Oversight
Committee as part of their investigation of AIG? He was the vice
president, of accounting policy at AIG Financial Products from June
2006 to October 1, 2007. He said that he left, he resigned because
on multiple instances, beginning in the late summer of 2007, “Mr.
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Cassano took actions that I believe were intended to prevent me
from performing the job duties for which I was hired.”

He gave several instances, one of which was evaluation of credit
default swap portfolio, and said that Mr. Cassano pretty clearly ad-
mitted that he had intentionally cut or excluded Mr. St. Dennis
from those discussions. Have you reviewed this?

Mr. LipDY. I have not.

Mr. MILLER OF NORTH CAROLINA. Are you familiar with it?

Mr. LipDY. I am familiar with it, yes.

Mr. MiLLER OF NORTH CAROLINA. Okay. Have you looked at
whether Mr. Cassano or anyone else has any liability to your cor-
poration for—on any basis?

Mr. LipDY. You know, as I said, I'm not a lawyer, but there was
no evidence of wrongdoing in any of this.

Mr. MILLER OF NORTH CAROLINA. This isn’t evidence of wrong-
doing?

Mr. LipDY. No, sir. I—

Mr. MILLER OF NORTH CAROLINA. Isn’t this evidence of cooking
the books?

Mr. LipDY. I have not read it, so I can’t comment on it.

Mr. MILLER OF NORTH CAROLINA. You said in your testimony,
and I agree with this, that when you owe somebody money, you
pay that money back. The United States Government and the
American people don’t owe anyone for the debts of AIG. It is not
our debt. Do you agree with that?

Mr. LiDDY. I'm not sure I understand, Mr. Miller. AIG owes the
government—

Mr. MILLER OF NORTH CAROLINA. Right.

Mr. LIDDY. —the American people $80 billion—

Mr. MILLER OF NORTH CAROLINA. Yes. But what you owe your
counterparties, that is not a debt of the United States Government.

Mr. LIDDY. No, it is a debt of AIG.

Mr. MILLER OF NORTH CAROLINA. Okay. There has been a study
by economists on what works and what doesn’t when a nation’s
banking system collapses, its financial system collapses, and one of
the characteristics is transparency. The second is maintaining mar-
ket discipline. And that means that shareholders bear the loss, but
it also means that unsecured creditors bear the loss. Anyone who
is in a position to determine the ability of the corporation they are
doing business with to pay their debts should bear the loss, not
presumably taxpayers. Are we maintaining market discipline by
continuing to give money to AIG to pay unsecured creditors, to pay
the counterparties to your credit default swaps?

Mr. LipDy. Well, that whole process is over. We are not doing
any of that any longer. We have walled off those liabilities, if you
will. But to your basic point, we owe those people that money. 1
mean, it’'s just a fact of life. AIG owes those counterparties that
money. If you don’t pay them, the result—

Mr. MILLER OF NORTH CAROLINA. You did. We didn’t.

Mr. LipDY. Right. But the result of not paying them is an event
of default and it forces the company into bankruptcy.

Mr. MILLER OF NORTH CAROLINA. Okay. Are you going to exam-
ine ever whether there is any liability by any officer, director, or
employee of the Financial Products Unit?
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Mr. LipDY. Yes. There are ongoing investigations by the Justice
Department and the SEC and the FBI and a regulatory agency in
the U.K. We are cooperating fully with those investigations.

Mr. MILLER OF NORTH CAROLINA. I'm talking about civil liability
to the corporation, for breach of fiduciary duty or whatever else.
Are you examining whether you can sue them? You seem to be ter-
rified they might sue you. Are you going to sue them?

Mr. LibDY. No. We did examine that. And, again, the judgment
was on a risk basis: if we don’t have those people, we increase the
risk that something happens at AIG FP, and we undo everything
we have done to get to this point.

Chairman KaANJORSKI. Okay, gentlemen. We have eight votes on
the Floor. It will be approximately 1 hour. We would appreciate
your indulgence, Mr. Liddy. We have arrangements for where you
are to stay, and we will take a recess for 1 hour.

[recess]

Mr. ScorT. [presiding] The subcommittee will come to order.

We will now hear from Mr. Royce.

Mr. RoycE. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Mr. Liddy, I have a conversation I want to have with you and
it has to do with the issue of any discussions which AIG might
have had with members of the Senate over the provision that was
put in the Senate bill in order to guarantee the payment of the bo-
nuses.

The explicit provision that went in in conference said: “The pro-
hibition required under this clause shall not be construed to pro-
hibit. any bonus payment required to be paid pursuant to a written
employment contract executed on or before February 11, 2009.” But
the wider discussion I was interested in was whether AIG had con-
tacted any members of the United States Senate about this par-
ticular problem of the bonuses. And, so, I would just like your re-
sponse to that.

Mr. LiDDY. I believe the answer is no, at least not to my knowl-
edge. We have a strict prohibition against lobbying. We will re-
spond if called, but we do not make outbound calls, if you will. So
as far as I know that is not anything we had any engagement in
whatsoever.

Mr. RoycE. Let me ask this, then. Could you check and see if
there are any e-mails or any written communication around this
issue that would have attempted to bring this to the attention of
members of the United States Senate, or the House for that mat-
ter. But I understand the provision went on in the Senate.

Mr. LippY. I will answer. At your request, we will check. I feel
quite certain the answer is no.

Mr. RoycE. And then let me ask you about discussions that you
may have had with members of the Administration and get into a
little more detail in terms of who had those discussions and the
basic thrust of them.

Mr. LipDY. The only discussion I would have had with members
of the Administration would have been with Secretary Geithner.
The first of those conversations would have been about a week ago.
I'm sorry not to be more precise. I don’t have the exact date. And
there probably would have been two of those: one on a Tuesday and
one on a Friday; or one on a Wednesday and one on a Friday;
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something like that. And the purpose of the discussions was for
Secretary Geithner to hear from me—my view of the bonuses and
what we were going to do.

As I indicated earlier, he indicated to me that he had become
aware of those only maybe a week or 10 days beforehand, and we
shared a healthy exchange on this is going to be rough for the
American public. He understood the risk issues, I believe, under-
stood the legal issues, asked for me to make some changes to them,
which we did. I sent him a note, which was vetted with his staff
beforehand, and that has pretty much been the extent of it.

Mr. RoycE. I understand.

Mr. LipDY. When you said Administration, I didn’t include in any
of that the Federal Reserve.

Mr. ROYCE. Sure. Well, let me ask this question then. Would
there be any talking points or e-mails or communication from the
company that you could provide this committee as to the nature of
that conversation? We would appreciate it if that could be supplied
to the chairman and ranking member.

Mr. LipDY. We can do that, and that basically would be the letter
which I sent to Secretary Geithner, and I think has an attachment
to it in his public record.

Mr. RovYcE. The issue to us is of course the fact that Senator
Snowe was concerned about this very provision, and so when the
stimulus bill came before the Senate, she attached to that an
amendment aimed at restricting bonuses over $100,000 to any com-
pany that received Federal bailout money. And that measure draft-
ed by Olympia Snowe in the Senate and by Ron Wyden applied
these restrictions retroactively to those bonuses received or prom-
ised in 2008 and onward. And, of course, the issue was at some
point. that provision was stripped out during the closed-door con-
ference negotiation involving the House and Senate leaders and in-
volving the White House.

And a measure reportedly originally reported by “ABC News,”
that it was Senator Chris Dodd who put that provision in it, but
at any rate, a provision that the Democratic leadership on both the
House and Senate side were aware of replaced the provision voted
out of the Senate by 100 members of the Senate. And so, instead,
we had a final bill come back to the House with a new provision
in it, a provision that explicitly exempted bonuses agreed to prior
to the passage of the stimulus bill.

So, you know, for us on the House side, you can see the surprise.
Republicans all voted against that bill, but in that bill, then, we
find a provision that nobody voted on in the Senate or House on
the Floor, but instead is put in during a closed conference and ex-
pressly prohibits us from attempting to prevent the use of taxpayer
money for bailouts of firms for payment of bonuses to firms which
the taxpayers have themselves bailed out, and, so, hence our con-
cern over the line of communication.

So, if there’s any company communication or lobbyist retained by
the company that did have any communication on this, the request
from this committee is for that to be produced.

And, again, thank you very much, Mr. Chairman.

Mr. Lippy. I understand your point. I have no involvement and
no perspective on it, but we will comply with your request.
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Mr. RoycEe. Thank you.

Chairman KaNJORSKI. The gentleman from Georgia, Mr. Scott.

Mr. Scort. Thank you very much. Mr. Liddy, over here. How are
you? Welcome.

First of all, I want to say you're in a tough spot. We understand
that and I share your concern that whatever we do, it is very im-
portant for us to understand that the American taxpayers now
have $173 billion invested at AIG. We have another $30 billion on
its way.

That’s over $200 billion. And if we are going to get a return on
that and get our money paid back and be able to restructure this
company, it is going to take talented, hard-working, good people at
AIG to do this. So we are aware of this and we are all very sen-
sitive to it.

But, Mr. Liddy, we are in effect at war. Our economy is almost
in the tank. We get a ray of hope with the stock market here and
there. We had a new Administration coming in. We had hopes soar-
ing, but this happened. And what we have here with the action
with AIG and these bonuses is sort of like a stone in America’s
shoe, a stone that makes it difficult for us to walk this journey, let
alone run it where we have to go.

And the American people are demanding that we get this stone
out of this shoe, so we need to hurry up and get this bonus issue
off the table. And so I applaud you in coming forward in your ini-
tial statement of saying what you're doing for that, but getting half
of the money back is not the answer. The answer is getting all this
money back, because there is strong evidence as you have seen
from the testimony here that we are coming at that money, because
the American people want us to come at it.

We should not have to fight this through the courts. We should
not have to harangue the Tax Code in such a way. There’s also
thoughts of fraudulent and criminal activity. We don’t need to go
down that road, so I hope that you will amend your efforts to de-
mand, as to now see the person who is now in charge to say on my
watch I don’t need this hanging over us.

We have too much to do to be sidetracked by this, and with the
Senate offering bills along that line, with the House coming for-
ward with efforts, and you heard the chairman of the committee
and the different concerns. The American people need this. We
need to win this round and get this money back.

I want to ask you a couple of points along this line. The first
point. I want to ask you is would you do that, first of all. Would
you amend and ask for all of this money to come back?

Mr. Lippy. If you let me think about that, sir, it is one of many,
many requests that I have had: Are there different ways to do that.
I hear your request.

Mr. ScorT. Okay. Now, the other point is, I asked the thrift per-
son, and I want to ask you. And I know you came on the scene in
}Sleptember, but many of us believe that this was a fraudulent, effort

ere,

What do you think when they put forward the effort 1 year ago
exactly this month to give $450 million in bonuses to this Financial
Products division, which has only 367 people in it, to deal with this
area when they were bleeding money at the time?
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And 4 or 5 months later, they had bled enough money to the
tune of $40.5 billion, this very unit that drove AIG into the arms
of the taxpayers. Somewhere down the line, it seems to me the
question should be asked: Where were they thinking they were
going to get this money? And was there any thought too, since
there’s such a close proximity here and they're bleeding money that
somebody down the line might have thought down the road if we
do this, the government will come to our rescue. And, thereby,
that’s where we could get our bonuses from, from the taxpayers.

Had that thought occurred to you?

Mr. LipDY. Sir, I was not there. I just do not know. I think the
timeline would be important there and I think there are some dif-
ferences in the timeline that maybe we can share with you that
would perhaps persuade you that is not the case.

Mr. ScorT. Okay. Let me get to my other point, because I only
have a few minutes.

Now, we know it’s $165 million that is going out the door. But,
in fact, the true amount of the money is a little over $1 billion in
bonuses that have been agreed-to. Now, you are in the seat now.
First of all, of the $450 million, $165 million of that has gone out
the door. That leaves $285 million. Where are you on that? Where
is that in the process of being distributed? Can we not stop that?

And then, there is another $600 million that is being committed
to spread over 4,700 employees. What are you going to do about the
remaining, what amounts to about $835 million, that has been
committed in bonuses that are yet to be given.
er. LDy, Let me break your question down into components,
if T can.

There is a retention bonus that could be paid in March of 2010,
additional retention bonus to AIG FB employees that could total as
much as $200 million. As I have said in my conversation in my let-
ter to Secretary Geithner, that's for work not yet done. It's one
thing to evaluate a bonus for work already done; quite another one
to evaluate for work yet to be done.

That size bonus, there is no way that that would be paid. I unfor-
tunately suspect that most of those people will be gone. I think
they will, in fact. The people at FP will in fact return the bulk of
the money that has been given to them, and it will come with their
resi%nations. So I don’t think that size payment is going to happen
at all.

We may not like the outcome of that, sir, when those people are
no longer there. I am worried about the $1.6 trillion of exposure,
and keeping that business under control. Do not hear in that a con-
cession. We are going to do everything we can to wind that busi-
ness down well and wisely. It just got harder by many, many mul-
tiples, because I think what people will do is stay for a short period
of time, but they will return that money along with their resigna-
tion.

Sir, could I, if you would?

Chairman KANJORSKI. Yes, sir.

Mr. LipDY. There are so many numbers bandied about with re-
spect to AIG and I think the facts should be out.

The amount of money that we need to return to the American
taxpayer is right now—at the end of December—$78 billion. We
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have not drawn the additional $30 billion. Other elements of it we
simply haven’t drawn. There is still money available at the Federal
Reserve.

We haven’t drawn that, but if I could just make sure that you
have one really important fact as you walk out the door towards
the end of this hearing, the dollars we owe the American taxpayer
right now, it totals $78 billion.

That is a big number, but it is substantially more manageable
than $200 billion. And I only raised that because keeping that in
the context of the assets that we have to sell so we can raise that
number, it is much more reasonable if the number is $78 billion
than if it is $178 billion or $200 billion.

Mr. ScorT. Thank you, sir.

Chairman KANJORSKI. Mr. McCarthy of California is not here.
We will go to Mr. Posey of Florida.

Mr. PostEy. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Mr. Liddy, we wouldn’t care anything about the bonuses if it
wasn’t for the bailout money. You know, if private industry pays
people what they are worth and they do not ask our constituents
to pay the bill for it, it really doesn’t matter. You know why we
care so much about this.

Mr. Lippy. I do.

Mr. PosiEY. And I am still not clear how these people earn these
retention bonuses in the past or the future. I heard your answers,
but I am not sure that I really understood them. And I would think
a big bonus for the people who put us in this position would be that
they're not in jail, number one, and number two, that they still
have jobs.

I can’t imagine there are a lot of other employers frothing at the
mouth to hire the people who put AIG in that position. I mean, I
just can’t imagine that the job market is that great for somebody
who exhibits such a tremendous ability to fail and screw up the
whole country, basically, or help do it.

Have you in your analysis of the way AIG operates now, have
you seen any signs of what somebody might normally consider to
be criminal activity?

Mr. LipDY. I have not, sir. I would not condone it. I have seen
absolutely none.

We have had a number of investigative authorities looking at our
practices and our books and records, and nothing has come to light
that I am aware of. Could I go back to one other point?

Mr. PosEky. Certainly, you may.

Mr. LiDDY. It is important to remember at FP, as I said earlier,
it really is easy to paint with one brush and color everyone with
the same brush. There are people who worked on one piece of FP
called credit default swaps. There were people who worked on an-
other area of FP called regulatory capital. There were people who
worked on the derivatives book, the $1.6 trillion.

For the most part, those are separate people. I am simplifying,
but for the most part they are separate groups of people. It is the
credit default swap people who, really, and that was a very small
number of folks and a very small number of trades. They are the
ones who brought our company to its knees.
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The folks out here in the derivatives book, you know, they are
getting tarred and feathered along with everyone else, and they are
the ones that we're asking to please, please, wind this book of busi-
ness down, orderly, economically, and efficiently, so it doesn’t cause
problems for us. They are the ones who got the retention bonus.

Mr. Posky. I hear what you are saying. Somebody gave me a but-
ton on November 5th that said, “Every now and then an innocent
man gets sent to Congress.” So we understand that.

Is there an obligation on your part if you see activities that
might be considered unethical or perhaps illegal that you would
have a duty to report that? And, if so, who would you report it to?

Mr. LipDY. Oh, sure. You know, I would report it first to our gen-
eral counsel and to our board and audit committee, and our part-
ners at the Federal Reserve, absolutely.

We are trying to establish a new AIG, one that is transparent,
one that shares information. It’s hard to do. That has not been our
practice in the past, but that would be reported and I wouldn't be
shy about taking the lead on that.

Mr. Posey. Well, let’'s spur some of these questions. We have
good reason to believe, obviously, there is plenty of evidence that,
you know, back in the days when Enron was inventing cap and
trade or cap and tax, whatever we want to call it, that they were
also pulling down some pretty good bonuses based on cooking the
books to make it look like they had performed better than they had
actually performed.

And the question that begged for an answer is whether there was
any sign of that here. You know, people would do a lot of things
to get a million-dollar bonus, and obviously it has been dem-
onstrated that is one of the things they would do.

Mr. LiDDY. Yes, I would say there are no signs of this here. What
we had at AIG is too much appetite for risk, too much appetite for
businesses outside of our core competencies, contractual commit-
ments, which, when left in place and the market melted down, ex-
posed their weaknesses. So we could and should be roundly criti-
cized for aggressive business practices, but nothing like an Enron
or a WorldCom or the things that you just referred to.

Mr. Posey. Okay. And one final one, Mr. Chairman, if I have
time.

You know, we understand that 73 people got bonuses that ex-
ceeded $1 million and they are called retention bonuses. And 11 of
those people are no longer with the company.

Mr. LIDDY. Yes.

Mr. PosEy. Why did we even consider giving a retention bonus
to somebody who 1s no longer with the company?

Mr. LipDY. We specifically asked those people on a book of busi-
ness to wind it down, get it to go away, and get it within certain
parameters. If you can do that by the end of October, that’s fine.
We will pay you the retention bonus. If it takes you until March
to do it, we will pay you the retention bonus then.

Those people achieved the objective. That is how we got the book
from $2.7 trillion down to $1.6.

Mr. Posky. Thank you.

Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman KANJORSKI. Thank you very much.
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Next, we will have Mrs. Maloney of New York.

Mrs. MALONEY. Thank you, Mr. Liddy, for your public service. I
understand you are a retired CEO of one of America’s great compa-
nies and you were asked to come back and serve. And we appre-
ciate it. Thank you.

I have so many questions I am going to have to submit them to
you in writing and trust that you will respond to the committee be-
cause we have very limited time.

On the question of bonuses, you mentioned that a number of peo-
ple said that they would give back their bonuses. Well, I have been
told by Chairman Rangel that on the Floor tomorrow will be a
version of my bill that will tax the bonuses at 90 percent, so the
money will be coming back to the Treasury.

How many people have said they will give money back to the
Treasury? And, after this bill passes, maybe more will give back.
Wouldn’t you agree?

How many people tell you they would give back the money?

Mr. Lippy. I don’t have the information, Congresswoman. I have
just made that request this morning and I have been in this hear-
ng.

%/Irs. MaLoNEY. If you could get back to us on that, we would
really appreciate it. Also, I requested from Treasury and the Fed-
eral Reserve for many, many months now to get information on
who is receiving the money. The taxpayers own AIG now, 80 per-
cent, yet they were saying it is proprietary. We own it. We should
see the books.

Just on Sunday night, they released this information, and why
were you fighting giving us this information when it belongs to the
American taxpayer?

Mr. Lippy. I wasn’t fighting anything. The Federal Reserve has
a policy against disclosure of counterparties, and, when we saw the
testimony of Chairman Bernanke and Vice Chairman Kohn, I had
a conversation with the people at the Federal Reserve and said we
should figure out a way to disclose this.

We made the various telephone calls to make sure that the
counterparties would be okay with that, and so we disclosed on the
credit default swaps, and the RMBSes, the securities lending and
municipalities. We disclosed all of it, so it really wasn’t on the part
of AIG that we were attempting to husband any information or not
disclose.

Mrs. MALONEY. Really? So you were willing to disclose and the
Federal Reserve would not disclose. Is that correct?

Mr. LippYy. Well, we were never asked. The Federal Reserve had
a policy of not disclosing counterparty associations. With respect to
“Maiden Lane II1,” they are the ones who own that structure, and
they are the ones who negotiated with the counterparties.

Mrs. MALONEY. Are there any other disclosures that you have at-
tempted to make, but have been blocked by the Federal Reserve or
the Treasury? Any other request that has been blocked that you
would have been willing to give the information?

Mr. LipDY. Not that I can think of. No.

Mrs. MALONEY. Now, really, the Federal Government is not re-
quired or obligated to bail out AIG. Isn’t that correct? Bailing out
AIG was never a government. obligation?



94

Mr. LiDDY. It was never an obligation; again, it was a decision
made before I was there. But as I understand it, the representa-
tives of the Federal Reserve and the Treasury believed that AIG’s
failure would cause a shock to the system, on a worldwide basis,
that would be unpalatable.

Mrs. MALONEY. Yes. AIG prepared a document that I would like
to put in the record that said if AIG failed, it would be a tremen-
dous shock to our American economy. I would venture to say that
if every company said and prepared a document like that, our
Treasury would be bankrupt.

So I looked at the counterparties. We were told that this was sys-
temic risk. Now, some of the counterparties were municipalities.
I'm a former city council member. I love cities, but if we bailed out
every municipality that made a bad decision, we would be bank-
rupt in this country. So I would venture to say that that was not
a systemic risk.

Also in the document that I haven’'t thoroughly studied, because
we just got it, there were two foreign banks. Certainly, bailing out
foreign banks is not a systemic risk to the American economy. 1
would say we were basically bailing out the governments of Ger-
many and France. If the bank was so important to their economy,
they would have bailed it out. So, indirectly, we bailed out two dif-
ferent countries, and, I would venture to say that it was not a sys-
temic risk to our own economy.

So I would venture, were there any guidelines that said what
would be systemic risk? Anyway, I just find that very, very dis-
turbing. But, the main point is we could have saved the insurance
arm, but let the derivatives business go, and possibly be in better
economic condition.

In the prior hearing, I questioned the insurance regulator, one of
them, of AIG. He said the insurance arm was very healthy.

Would you agree with that?

Mr. LIDDY. Yes, they were and are very healthy.

Mrs. MALONEY. And I would venture to say that probably not
many Americans are buying insurance from AIG right now. It
would probably be better for the company to divide, to have the in-
surance go for it and be healthy, and divide up the derivatives that
is pulling down the risky products division. It is pulling down the
company. Would you agree?

The insurance regulator told me after the hearing that he
thought it should be divided. It should go that way, that we should
come in, possibly take control and a bank holiday for a day, and
divide the company. Would you agree?

Mr. LipDyY. That’s exactly what we're doing.

Mrs. MALONEY. That’s exactly what you're doing?

Mr. LIDDY. Yes.

Mrs. MALONEY. So are you going to have a bank holiday?

Mr. LipDY. No.

Mrs. MALONEY. How were you going to do it?

Mr. LipDY. The dividing of AIG.

Mrs. MALONEY. Pardon me?

Mr. Lippy. The dividing of AIG is exactly what we are doing. So
the entity that has existed for 90 years as AIG, it will over time
cease to exist. We are selling assets wherever people can afford to
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buy those assets. We are taking assets and putting them in trust,
and giving them to the Federal Reserve, big assets that can be
taken public at a later time or sold when the market recovers. So
those assets will move out from AIG. We are going to seek the mi-
nority interest in our property casualty business, possibly take it
public and spin it off, so that is exactly what we need to do in order
to repay the taxpayer.

Mrs. MALONEY. Last question: Would you say it is a serious mis-
take to have allowed a risky product to be attached to one of the
great insurance companies in the world? Was that a bad regulatory
decision?

Mr. LipDY. Yes. I would say two things to you, Congresswoman.
One, any time you see a business stray from what it is really good
at, watch out. And, two, and Chairman Bernanke uses this
vernacular, and I think it is very appropriate, what we had at AIG
was a series of well-regarded, well-run, well-capitalized insurance
companies, and to it we attached an internal hedge fund.

That internal hedge fund worked fine for a while, but we became
too aggressive in terms of the risks that we were prepared to take,
and when the capital markets stopped functioning, it exposed that
aggressiveness for what it was and that is what caused the liquid-
ity problem.

Mrs. MALONEY. My time has expired.

Thank you.

Chairman KANJORSKI. Next, we have Mr. McCotter.

Mr. McCotrTER. Thank you, and thank you for coming, Mr.
Liddy. I know you are not doing this for the money. You make a
dollar a year. You are trying to help your country in a very difficult
time and you relied on people, both at the Fed and the Treasury,
to try to help you succeed in that job, which is why I'm going to
try to reconcile much of what we are seeing today with how my
constituents view this.

I come from Michigan. It has the highest unemployment rate in
the country. They quite simply think it is thoroughly insane to pay
people to stay in a job when they can’t find one. They think it is
insane for the people who helped cause the problem to be paid for
causing the problem and then have them turn around and have to
?e paid to clean it up. They think that is not only insane, it is un-

air.

They think it is insane for people to say that we need the best
and the brightest to fix this problem when it was the best and the
brightest who caused the problem in the first place. As I have said
before, if these individuals are the best and the brightest, we live
in benighted times and God help us all.

I think one of the things that we have to remember is these indi-
viduals have jobs for one reason: The taxpayers decided to bail
them out. Well, not the taxpayers, but their representatives in gov-
ernment. when they voted for the Wall Street bailout and the indi-
viduals at the Federal Reserve Board when they decided to start
the process.

So when they look at this, they say to themselves, we would real-
ly like the money back that is given out in bonuses. And credit to
you, you have already started that process. You have talked about
50 percent coming back. I personally don’t know that the 50 per-
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cent. is going to be enough for them. I know it isn’t for me. They
would like full restitution, in their mind, of money that was given
to people who caused the problem and don’t deserve another penny
for cleaning up their mess.

You said that you have not asked for the access to the $30 billion
that the Treasury has committed to AIG; am I correct?

Mr. LIDDY. Yes.

Mr. McCotrTER. I would like to see Secretary Geithner repeal
that commitment to that $30 billion and then precondition any al-
lowing of that money to go to AIG on first recouping the bonuses
from the individuals who have done it. And I do think it would be
in their best interest, not only the taxpayers in terms of equity, but
as has been pointed out before, there will be transparency in the
process. The request and potential subpoena of the list of individ-
uals who have received and kept that money will come to this Con-
gress because the taxpayers will need to know.

I do think and appreciate the threats that may be made against
them and have been made, but there is a very good way to get
one’s name off the list. It is to give back the bonus to the taxpayers
of the United States. I think that when you made this decision, I
can’t believe that you made it alone. I think you would have con-
sulted with both Treasury and/or the Federal Reserve Board.

We talk about how losing these people would have caused AIG
potentially to go under, right? Enormous damage to AIG towards
the attempt at a soft landing, which to me, in and of itself, shows
the very weakness of AIG and why we can’t continue to try to effec-
tuate a soft landing because you have said that market conditions
are going to dictate over the next year or two as to how soft that
landing will be.

It will also require a whole bunch more of Federal money, I
would think, in that 1 to 2 years until the market “corrects” be-
cause I think what you have done—not you specifically, but you
generally, both you and the government, is you mistake why the
public has no confidence right now in the economy. We think that
if consumers just woke up and decided that we are seeing signs of
light, that potentially I could go out and spend some of my hard-
earned nest egg, that we would stimulate consumer demand and
everything would be fine.

But the reason that we are having this discussion today is Amer-
icans believe that we have seen institutional failures, both in our
economic sphere and right now in the government sphere, because
of a failure to be good stewards of their money. And until that in-
stitutional confidence is restored in the minds of the American peo-
ple, there will be no recovery in the next 1 to 2 years.

If we continue down the path that institutions that were once
deemed too big to fail continue to prove too big to fix and cost tax-
payers billions of dollars at a time when they are struggling to
keep their homes, their jobs, and their hopes for their children,
they will have no institutional confidence in anything and we will
continue on the path that we are on.

So my question to you is, if we can recover, hypothetically, within
the next 1- to 2-year timeframe that you talk about, how much
would it potentially cost the taxpayers to keep injecting into AIG
during the next 1 to 2 years to have that soft landing because as
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we found out on March 2nd, I think AIG reported the largest quar-
terly lost in corporate history, what $61.7 billion, and then prompt-
ly received an offer of $30 billion, which you have not drawn upon.
If we continue on the path we are on for the next 1 to 2 years, how
much money are the taxpayers going to be asked to continue to put
into AIG?

Mr. LIDDY. Let me see if I can respond to your question, sir. As
I mentioned earlier, we have roughly $80 billion invested from the
taxpayer through Treasury and the Federal Reserve into AIG with
a call on another $30 billion if we need it. The comment about soft
landing really applies to the book of business at AIG FP, its own
little—not so little—unique world of derivatives trading and
hedges, etc., etc. And to a certain extent, it works, I'm going to say
independently, of what is going on in the capital markets. That is
a simplification. It’s clearly aligned to them, but it works dif-
ferently.

The comment about the markets having to help us is we have
good businesses to sell, really good businesses to sell, but people
have no money to buy them, so the price mechanism is that which
equates. So we have a great business in Southeast Asia, but there
is no—the companies that want to buy that business don’t have eq-
uity. Their equities are down 70 percent. They don’t have access to
the capital markets, to liquidity markets. So as a result of that, the
values are depressed. What we don’t want to do is sell good assets
at fire sale prices and then not have enough proceeds to be able
to repay the Federal Reserve and the Treasury.

I do not anticipate asking the Federal Government for more
money. I would like it very much if we didn’t have to draw on the
$30 billion and I would like to give you a guarantee that is exactly
what will happen. I can’t do that because my crystal ball is not
that good and I do not know what is going to happen with the
value of assets.

You are 100 percent correct, we reported a very large loss, the
largest in corporate history in the fourth quarter, and three things
drove it. When the value of assets goes down, we have to write
those assets down and we have to recognize that loss in our P&L.
That is $30 billion of that $60 billion.

Because we are restructuring the company, we write off things
like deferred tax assets because we think they are valueless. It
wasn’t a cash loss. It was a loss that had to do with the restruc-
turing of the company. I don’t believe that it will occur again. I cer-
tainly hope not, but it will very much be dependent upon what hap-
pens to the value of assets going forward.

Mr. McCoTTER. Forgive the indulgence, Mr. Chairman.

If the loss was as you say, and I'm not disputing that, why did
Treasury then make available another $30 billion, which you have
not drawn down upon?

Mr. LipDY. When you lose that money, it reduces the equity that
the company has. Think of a home; you need so much equity to
support the debt. We have all the debt, but the equity shrunk be-
cause of the loss. So as a result of that, the Treasury restructured
the TARP arrangement, the original TARP arrangement, in such a
way that accounted for more equity and made the $30 billion avail-
able to us if we needed it. That kept the rating agencies calm so
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they don’t downgrade the company and we don’t get into an ex-
traordinarily negative spiral.

Chairman KANJORSKI. Ms. Moore of Wisconsin.

Ms. MOORE OF WISCONSIN. Thank you so much, Mr. Kanjorski,
and thank you again, Mr. Liddy, for your service.

I think the public generally understands the bonus structure,
and are we calling them the correct thing? Were these bonuses that
the Financial Product Services division were getting?

Mr. Lippy. They were retention payments, yes, commonly re-
ferred to as bonuses.

Ms. MooRE OF WIsCONSIN. Okay. Good. Okay. Because here is
what we don’t understand. I guess I think we understand that bo-
nuses are for good performance. And earlier we had the Office of
Thrift Supervision in here, Mr. Polakoff, and he testified that as
early as December 2005, the Financial Products group, on their
general observation, knew that the underwriting standards for
mortgage-backed securities were declining, that by March of 2006,
that the Office of Thrift Supervision was talking to the AIG board
about this weakness and certainly by June 2007, they had taken
supervisory action against them.

So I am trying to get a timeline of when these bonuses were put
in place in these contracts because I did read your letter, the very
difficult situation that you feel that you are in having to honor
these contracts. What I understand a contract to be is kind of a
meeting of the minds. I mean, I offer my employees a bonus be-
cause they are going to produce a good result, but clearly, it seems
to me, if I have the timeline right, that it was—according to your
letter, it was the first quarter of 2008 when you put these bonuses
in place.

And so I guess what I would like for you to help me to under-
stand is how you knew that this particular division of AIG was fail-
ing, that you would offer bonuses as a sort of a perverse thing in
terms of what we all understand?

Mr. LipDyY. Congresswoman, I was not there.

Ms. MOORE OF WISCONSIN. Okay.

Mr. LipDY. I just wasn’t there. So it is very hard for me to an-
swer except with broad conjectures.

Ms. MOORE OF WISCONSIN. I mean, I guess you might agree that
it is sort of weird.

Mr. Lippy. Well, I listened to the previous testimony and I agree
with it.

Ms. MOORE OF WISCONSIN. Okay.

Mr. LiDDY. There were some—

Ms. MOORE OF WISCONSIN. Let me ask another question before
I get gaveled down. Do you know how other divisions fared—okay.
The fiscal year for AIG is January 1st to December 31st?

Mr. LipDY. Correct.

Ms. MOORE oF WISCONSIN. So the first quarter of 2008, March,
is that sort of an awkward time to offer bonuses? I mean, wouldn’t
bonuses come like at the last quarter when you get the report and
find out that everybody has done wonderfully? Was March a sort
of an off-schedule time to offer a bonus?

Mr. LipDY. Not necessarily. Remember, these were not perform-
ance related bonuses. They were arrangements that said if you stay
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in your job and do something specific, wind down a book of busi-
ness, we will pay you a certain amount of money. So they were
really retention arrangements. And while they were signed in
March of 2008, the process of deciding should they be offered and
negotiating them and crafting them would have begun 6 months
before that.

Ms. MOORE OF WISCONSIN. Okay. Let me ask you this, and per-
haps you won’t know this, sir. Do you know how the other divisions
of AIG fared? I mean, 1 guess some people just worked in the
wrong division. I mean, the healthy parts of AIG, how they fared
in the bonus area?

Mr. LiDDY. 2006 was a—I'm going to answer generally because
I just don’t—

Ms. MOORE OF WISCONSIN. Yes, sir. I understand, sir.

Mr. LipDY. 2006 was a very, very strong year for AIG, which
means all of the businesses, including FP, would have performed
well. 2007 was not because towards the end of 2007 was when AIG
began to write the value of those credit default swaps down. But
the other businesses within AIG, the commercial insurance and the
life insurance and the aircraft leasing, they would have had good
years.

Ms. MOORE OF WISCONSIN. So sir, let me ask you a question
while I still have some time. You know, in your letter, you talked
about your legal department talking about how very difficult it
would be not to honor these contracts, but again, you know, our
commonsense, and I'm not an attorney, but our commonsense un-
derstanding of a contract is that it 1s kind of a meeting of the
minds. You know, it is a deal that is made in good faith that all
things are put together.

And knowing that there was tremendous—trillions of dollars of
exposure, not necessarily to the public at that point because we
hadn’t taken over, but to the company and to its health, could it—
might it just, theoretically, be argued that this sort of ethic, you
know, negates a contract when in fact it wasn’t necessarily exe-
cuted with the great expectation that there would be a positive out-
come given just the ordinary commonsense notion of what bonuses
are for?

Mr. LIDDY. I'm only speculating on the answer because I simply
was not there. I don’t think anybody—as the gentleman on the
panel before me testified, I don’t think anybody expected that we
would have two things: Incredible meltdown in the value of resi-
dential real estate in this country; and the liquidity risk or the li-
quidity crisis that it unleashed. Both of those happened in roughly
the second and third quarters of 2008. But back at the end of 2007
when these contracts were being fashioned, I believe there was a
belief that this was a viable ongoing business. AIG wanted those
people in place to drive that business forward.

Ms. MOORE OF WISCONSIN. Well, my time has expired. I just
want to simply make a comment, Mr. Chairman, that, you know,
as best as I could reconstruct the timeline, the Financial Products
group knew that they were in decline as early as 2005. So they
knew at a minimum that $165 million worth of bonuses, perhaps,
were not warranted. And with that, I yield back.

Chairman KANJORSKI. Thank you.
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The gentlelady from Minnesota.

Mrs. BACHMANN. Mr. Chairman, thank you, and I appreciate as
well, Mr. Liddy, your willingness to be here today and the candor
with which you are answering the questions. I appreciate that, and
I, too, would like to submit written questions and I would appre-
ciate having written responses.

But I will start. I took some notes during some of your earlier
testimony. I was wondering, you had said that you expect AIG’'s FP
business will be wound down. Do you know when you expect that
to be? I know you said you don’t have a crystal ball, you dont
know, but just on the basis of your history and what your expecta-
tions are, when do you believe that FP business will wind down?

Mr. LipDY. Warren Buffett had a business very similar to this,
except it was about a third the size. It took him 4 years to wind
it down and he did it in a better economic environment. I just put
that out there because sometimes other people’s experience is a
good indication of what it is going to take us.

I think you will see tremendous progress winding it down. Much
as we did at the end of 2008, you will see tremendous progress at
the end of the first quarter 2010 because many of those regulatory
trades go away. But it is difficult because you have—some of these
contracts go out 50 years. Can you imagine debating what the cost
of oil is going to be out 50 years from now? So it requires a delicate
balance of you and I negotiating whether we want to settle that
contract.

This business will get a lot smaller at the end of 2009, and a
whole lot smaller at the end of 2010. And as it gets smaller, it just
represents much less risk. But I think it is instructive if it took
Warren Buffett, who is an investor of some agility and some acu-
men, if it took him 3 or 4 years to wind down a book of business
that had many of the similarities, but was a third the size.

Mrs. BACHMANN. So Mr. Liddy, what would you say then? What
would be your guesstimate? We are not holding you to it.

Mr. LipDY. Four years—

Mrs. BACHMANN. Oh, you think you could do it within 4 years?

Mr. LipDY. —before it is entirely gone. I do. I think it will be
that.

Mrs. BACHMANN. Do you think that once the business has gone
through this transition, that you will retain the name AIG?

Mr. LipDy. No, I do not. I think the AIG name is so thoroughly
wounded and disgraced that we are probably going to have to
change it and in fact, as we think about our property casualty busi-
ness in the United States, which did travel on the AIG name, we
have already begun the rebranding process to AIU and on the life
side, many of those businesses already have different names. So
where there may have been an approach to use one single name
like AIG, we are reversing that and going back to some other indi-
vidual brand names.

Mrs. BACHMANN. Thank you. Do you believe that AIG has under-
lying assets sufficient to pay back the taxpayer? You had said that
you didn’t want to sell them at fire sale prices. That was part of
your concern. Is it your belief, sir, that you have collateralization
sufficient that the taxpayer will be paid back and made whole?
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Mr. LiDDY. Yes. It is our belief. It is a belief of our financial advi-
sors. It is difficult for me to speak for the Federal Reserve, but I
think it is their belief, and they have a set of financial advisors,
and it is their belief. The thing I cannot control is when does the
market get better and when do people begin to want to invest in
business.

Mrs. BACHMANN. Mr. Liddy, if you did, you would be worth more
than a dollar a year.

Mr. LipDy. I would be.

Mrs. BACHMANN. Thank you, sir. I just want to go back to some
of your first comments in your opening statement. You had said,
and I realize this is a long time, but you said the Federal Reserve
knew about the bonuses and acquiesced to them in a meeting that
I believe you had in mid-November? Is that correct?

Mr. LiDDY. Actually, I think my words were we began this proc-
ess of debating what we should do with these in November. We
didn’t come to a final conclusion until, oh, the early part of March,
at a board meeting at which the Federal Reserve was present.

Mrs. BACHMANN. Okay. And then Mr. Kanjorski had asked the
question, why didn’t the committee know? And I believe that your
response was that AIG had met with staff from the committee. Was
that true?

Mr. LipDY. Yes, it was. I'm told that we have provided a great
deal of information to the committee and to various members of the
committee. I can’t sit here and tell you exactly what it was or
whether we previewed these bonuses or not, but we have tried to
be very responsive to the inundation of requests that we have had.

Mrs. BACHMANN. And when was that? Was that beginning in
mid-November or when was that?

Mr. Lippy. Oh, that would have—you mean specifically on the
bonuses?

Mrs. BACHMANN. Yes.

Mr. LipDY. I'm hazarding a guess. I don’t have the command of
those facts at my fingertips. I would guess that would have been
starting in December.

Mrs. BACHMANN. Starting in December. Is it possible to get a list
of which Members of Congress’ staff knew about this and when?

Mr. Lippy. We will provide you information of what we provided
to whom and when we provided it.

Mrs. BACHMANN. Okay. Thank you. How about anyone in the Ad-
ministration? I believe you had been asked that question as well.
Any members of the Administration who knew about the bonuses
and conversations about the bonuses?

Mr. LipDY. As I mentioned earlier, the conversation I had was
with Secretary Geithner approximately a week ago, two conversa-
tions on a Tuesday and Friday or Wednesday and Friday, and he
called to my attention that the first time he had heard anything
about it was approximately a week before those conversations.

Mrs. BACHMANN. And so no conversations with the transition
team or with anyone else in the Administration other than Sec-
retary Geithner.

Mr. LipDY. Not to my recollection. It is possible that there were
communications between staff, but I just don’t know that.
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Mrs. BACHMANN. To your knowledge, did any Members of Con-
gress know anything about these bonuses?

Mr. LipDY. The obligation to pay the bonuses, I think probably
several people did. They have been in our various financial docu-
ments, our 10-Ks and our 8-Ks and our 10-Qs. And to the extent
that we have provided that information to congressional staff, I
would presume the answer is yes.

Mrs. BAcCHMANN. Could you be responsive about which Members
of Congress knew about these bonuses?

Mr. Lippy. We will provide you the information. I can’t as I sit
here, no. I just don’t know.

Mrs. BACHMANN. But you will be able to—

Mr. LIDDY. Yes.

Mrs. BACHMANN. —let me know which Members of Congress
knew and when they knew—

Mr. LIDDY. Sure.

Mrs. BACHMANN. —about the bonuses. Both Members of the
House and Members of the Senate.

Mr. LIDDY. Sure.

Mrs. BACHMANN. Thank you, Mr. Liddy. I had a few other ques-
tions as well. One is, it was just about exactly a year ago, just over
a year, when the United States—when the Federal Reserve opened
the discount window for the first time to Bear Stearns.

Mr. LiDDY. Right.

Mrs. BACHMANN. We just celebrated that anniversary. And I
wonder had we—had the Federal Reserve chosen not to open that
discount window and had Bear Stearns failed as a result of that,
do you think that would have served as an example to AIG to stop
with the risky bets that were going on?

Mr. LipDY. It is hard to speculate, but I think the aggressive be-
havior of AIG started really 2 or 3 or 4 years before that. So I think
by then, it probably wouldn’t have.

Mrs. BACHMANN. That is what your testimony indicated.

Mr. LipDy. I think by then it would have been too late.

Mrs. BACHMANN. Do you think had AIG, had the managers in-
volved in that fund, had they seen that, do you think that would
have altered their perspective?

Mr. LipDY. I don’t think so. Not in the timeframe that you have
indicated. By the time you have—remember, it was at the end of
2005 that AIG, the first quarter of 2006, that AIG stopped writing
any credit default swaps whatsoever because they saw some risk
in the housing market. But once you have written that contract,
you are exposed to it. Now there may be things they could have
done to hedge it differently, to try to offload the risk, and some of
that was done. We just had too much of it.

Mrs. BACHMANN. Mr. Chairman, I think I will be submitting the
rest of these questions to Mr. Liddy in writing. I just want to end
with the Federal Government did approve, prod, enable AIG in a
lot of ways to ensure these risky bets. And what I'm wondering is,
why didn’t AIG have the institutional fortitude to say no to Uncle
Sam?

Mr. LipDY. I think you have to ask to come before you the people
who constructed these risky businesses at AIG FP and the prede-
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cessors, my predecessors, who ran this company before I was here
6 months ago and ask them that question.

Mrs. BACHMANN. Thank you.

And I yield back, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman KANJORSKI. Thank you.

Mr. Donnelly.

Mr. DONNELLY. Thank you, Mr. Chairman, and Mr. Liddy. You
were handed a mud pie and the thanks of your government and
one dollar a year for doing this. So we appreciate your efforts.

In terms of credit default swaps, how much have they cost AIG
at this point approximately?

Mr. LipDY. $50 billion.

Mr. DoNNELLY. $50 billion. How much of that was the naked
credit default swaps, would you say?

Mr. LipDY. How much of it was what?

Mr. DoONNELLY. The naked credit default swaps where there
wasn’t even anything to them, other than just a gamble.

Mr. LipDY. I don’t recall what the split of that would be.

Mr. DONNELLY. Does that product seem to be—you know, I men-
tioned earlier today that back home, a naked credit default swap
is called gambling. And this seems to be very much the same exact
thing and back home if we do that, we go to jail. And it seems that
Wall Street dreamed this up to create additional profits and if we
dreamed it up back in Indiana, we would be on the other side of
the sheriff's department.

Mr. LipDy. Congressman, I just do not recall exactly what the
split was of traditional credit default swaps versus what you are
referring to as naked ones. I would be delighted to have another
conversation with you. I just don’t—

Mr. DONNELLY. You don’t have to do that, but one of the things
that struck me when you came in, you said, your job is to try to
pay back everybody who money is owed to with AIG, and I under-
stand that. It is incredibly distasteful, especially with the naked
credit default swaps, where these were nothing more than gam-
bling. And when the casino closes down or goes bust, usually all
the guys who are gambling close down shop and head for the next
bookie they can find.

And it is very, very unfortunate that taxpayers from Indiana and
other places had to pay hedge funds who had gambled on the
American housing market going even lower. It is almost as if they
bet against their own country, these people.

Mr. Lippy. Congressman, if you would. I understand your point.
I don’t know that we wrote any contracts to hedge funds. We would
have written a contract through—to a counterparty and that
counterparty could have done—we don’t have visibility as to what
they did.

Mr. DoNNELLY. The reason I mentioned that is today's Wall
Street Journal mentions hedge funds who work through Goldman
Sachs to AIG for these kind of contracts.

The derivatives that are left, how much do you think at the end
of the day? It is about $1.6 trillion?

Mr. LipDy. Correct.

Mr. DONNELLY. Where do you think we will wind up? Close to
even on those?
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Mr. Lippy. That certainly would be our goal. As I mentioned ear-
lier, I think we probably have a couple billion dollars left to put
into FP so that they can settle that $1.6 trillion in trades. It is
hard to tell exactly what the size of the number is, but some of
those trades are good trades. Some of those trades are not good
trades, and netting them out, of course, is the art or science of it.

Mr. DONNELLY. Sure. And the other divisions, are they holding
their own at this point? Are they at least staying even?

Mr. LipDY. They are. The insurance operations of AIG are rock
solid from a policyholder standpoint. The AIG name has tarnished
those businesses. As I said earlier, we are trying very hard to make
sure those businesses stay strong and aren’t contaminated to any
great extent. So we are changing names. We are isolating those
businesses. We are going to take pieces of them public in order to
protect them.

Mr. DONNELLY. In terms of—not in today’s market, but in a reg-
ular market, would they still command premium prices, those other
divisions?

Mr. LipDY. Those are good businesses, sir. I mean, we are a lead-
er in the property casualty world, we are one of the largest insur-
ance companies in the United States and one of the largest in the
world, so they would, in a normal world where you can actually sell
things, they would be very prized assets.

Mr. DONNELLY. The commitment we like to make to the Amer-
ican people, and I know you would, too, is that all the waitresses
and truck drivers whose paychecks are dinged a couple of pennies
or a buck every week to keep this going, we want to try and make
this whole so that at the end of the day AIG is—it comes out and
we can say, well, we may not have made a buck, but we didn’t lose
a buck. That is the goal and I am sure that is yours, too.

Mr. Lippy. Congressman, you and I are in violent agreement.
That is my ambition as I said in my opening statement. We have
two things we want to do: We want to pay back the American tax-
payer every dollar that has been invested in us; but second, we
need a victory in this country. We need a confidence building vic-
tory% I{; is important that President Obama’s Administration be suc-
cessful.

We would like to serve that up just as quickly as we can, but the
markets are not very cooperative, so we have come up with other
structures. When you owe people money, you can pay them in cash,
you can pay them in diamonds, you can pay them in gold, you can
pay them in anything that is worthwhile. It is the anything that
is worthwhile that we are moving towards.

Mr. DoNNELLY. Well, you just try to run them well and chip
away a little at a time until the markets do turn, I guess would
be the other thing.

Mr. LipDY. The only way I know to solve a problem is take a big
problem and break it down into small pieces and just keep knock-
ing them off, and after awhile you look backwards and you have
really come a long way.

Mr. DONNELLY. And obviously, on the bonuses, it does rub peo-
ple—or the retention bonuses—it does rub people wrong and any-
thing you can do to help on that front certainly makes everyone in
this country feel a lot better.
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Thank you, sir. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman KaNJORSKI. Thank you. The gentlelady from Cali-
fornia.

Ms. SPEIER. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. Mr. Liddy, you are in
many respects the knight on the white horse, and that is not a ref-
erence to the color of your hair.

Mr. LIDDY. Sometimes it doesn’t feel like a good place to be ei-
ther.

Ms. SPEIER. I would like to give you some unsolicited advice. The
American people and the Congress are at their wit’'s end relative
to funding AIG and if you do us the favor of communicating di-
rectly with the chairman of this subcommittee and the chairman
of this full committee in addition to the Chairman of the Fed, we
will be in much better stead moving forward on any of the issues
that will continue, I think, to be challenges for you and for the
Congress.

You referenced just a few moments ago that you were a leader
in insurance and that it is a solid market and that those divisions
are doing very well. I believe that they are doing very well in part
because they have been regulated by the States for all these years.
Would you agree with me?

Mr. LipDY. Yes. I would say State regulation didn’t cause AIG’s
difficulties.

Ms. SPEIER. No. But State regulation may, in fact, have saved
what is left of AIG in terms of the insurance components, correct?

Mr. L1iDDY. State regulation has worked well.

Ms. SPEIER. So this whole idea of a optional national charter may
be, in fact, be a very flawed idea?

Mr. LippYy. Oops, let me see if I can explain my point of view.
The State regulatory system has worked well, but the insurance
products have gotten so complicated and the rapid rate with which
capital moves around the globe now may just be surpassing the
State regulators’ ability to stay current on everything.

Ms. SPEIER. Wait a minute. Time out. Time out. With all due re-
spect, the OTS was in a position to regulate you and didn’t know
what a credit default swap was and, in fact, said they are so com-
plex that the risk was not properly addressed because of the com-
plexity. So complexity is not something that is going to ring well
for any of us moving forward because if you can’t understand it,
how can you really assess what the risk is?

Mr. LipDY. No. I agree with that, and therefore, where I was
going was, I think there needs to be some overarching systemic
risk regulator. When you have these large $100 billion companies
that are so complex and interrelated, it defies the regulatory
scheme that is currently in place and there has to be something
that comes along that can really guide and review the interaction
of those companies. I think that was missing in this case.

Ms. SPEIER. All right. How much of the $30 billion that is now
at your disposal do you expect to use?

Mr. LipDY. I hope none. It is there for a reason. If we need it,
it is there for us to help accomplish certain things that will enable
us to effect a plan to pay back the taxpayer. It will be difficult to
say until we see what happens in the marketplace in general.
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Ms. SPEIER. The $1.6 trillion that has to be unwound is probably
the toughest credit default swaps left. Is that a safe assumption?
Mr. LipDY. No. Most of the credit default swaps are gone. We
have—I know people aren’t interested in hearing success stories—

Ms. SPEIER. No. We are, please.

Mr. LoDy, The original arrangement that the Fed and the
Treasury put in place for AIG worked. We did not go bankrupt and
we walled off the securities lending and the credit default swap
issues. They are gone. So what is left in AIG FP is really just—
I am going to use the term “traditional” book of derivatives con-
tracts, although it is hard to use traditional and derivatives in the
same sentence.

Ms. SPEIER. So what is left are derivative contracts. Are they
going to be more difficult to unwind because they are still there?

Mr. LiDDY. Yes. And some of them, as I said earlier, are very
long so it is you and I entering into a contract; you want to hedge
against an interest rate increase, so I offer you a derivative that
does that. Well, you may not want to give up on that hedge, and
if that is a 20-year hedge you may not want to give up on that,
so it is an interesting dynamic of give-and-take to try to resolve
these hedges. If we get that book of business small enough it is en-
tirely possible that we can sell it or we can have somebody else run
it off, run the balance of it off for us.

Ms. SPEIER. In 2008, were there any performance bonuses offered
to employees in the insurance silos within AIG?

Mr. LIDDY. Performance bonuses, yes, there were.

Ms. SPEIER. And how much were they?

Mr. LipDY. I just don’t have that number.

Ms. SPEIER. Okay. Would you make that available to the com-
mittee? How much, how many people, what amounts. And let me
give you some more unsolicited advice. Right now, AIG is owned by
the taxpayers of this country. Until the $70 billion is returned no-
body, in my view, should be getting retention bonuses or perform-
ance bonuses until that money is paid back. I yield back.

Chairman KaNJORKSI. The gentleman from Ohio, Mr, Wilson.

Mr. WiLsoN. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. Mr. Liddy, thank you for
coming today. I don’t envy your position but thank you for serving
in the capacity that you are. I—like all my friends—am outraged
about what has happened with AIG. Back in Ohio where I rep-
resent, that is a magic word or acronym, if you will, AIG; and ev-
erybody just—it is sad. I just can’t understand how people can be
so arrogant and impractical about thinking that they can dole out
bonuses to people who have literally run the company in the
groung and then also contributed to the country being run into the
ground.

And, please, when I hear about contracts that were in place and
the people needed to have their contracts, I represent an area in
Ohio where General Motors has had to break their contracts, not
necessarily because of anything that they have done, but what the
result has been is how can we ask working families to break their
contracts and yet support the contracts like AIG have done. I just
don’t think it is fair.

That being said, I would like you to explain why the pay struc-
ture at your company is like it is. It is my understanding that most
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Wall Street folks use the compensation approach and the bonuses
are where they make the majority of their money. That kind of a
package is certainly something that seems to be applied pretty ba-
sically. So salaries are kept relatively low and then the bonus
comes at the end of the period, whether it is a performance bonus
or whether it is a retention bonus or whatever kind of bonus is it.

Is this the way it works at AIG?

Mr. LipDY. No, sir. We are a Wall Street firm only by geography.
You know, that is a term that generally applies to investment
banks and commercial banks. We are an insurance company with
this difficult hedge fund attached to it, so we tend to have an en-
tirely different pay structure than that which you just described
where you have across the company, excluding AIG FP, you tend
to have a little bit higher base salaries, not that much in an annual
bonus, and then most of the upside comes in the performance of the
stock, which, of course, has been wiped out. The AIG FP structure
would be more similar to what you described.

Mr. WILsSON. I see. Yesterday, I read in the Wall Street Journal
an article that companies are anticipating congressional action and
are trying to go around this by proposing significant pay increases
as a way of getting around the security of bonuses. Have you heard
anything of that nature?

Mr. LipDY. I have not.

Mr. WiLsoN. Okay. That is why today I introduced a bill that is
going to be called the TARP Wage Accountability Act, and basically
what it is for is to prohibit companies from going around by switch-
ing it back to salary and taking away, or lowering the bonus, or
minimizing it. We are hoping that it will be one of the things that
will make salary increases to be something that would be along the
lines of 3.9 percent, which is what is given to the government em-
ployees and soldiers of our country, and it just seems like if it is
good enough for them, it should be good enough for the companies
that have contributed to the problems that we are suffering right
now.

Mr. LipDY. And Mr. Wilson, for the top executives, the top 70 or
75 executives at AIG, no salary increases for 2009. For the top
seven or eight people at AIG, including me, no bonuses whatsoever.
So dwe clearly understand and agree with the spirit of what you
said.

Mr. WILSON. Good. I know that the outrage this week has been
focused on the bonuses and rightfully so, but I worry about what
is going to be the next shoe to drop. Will it be the additional $30
billion? Will it be the flipping of compensation structures, in other
words, going back to salary and minimizing bonuses? I think it is
all about trust and it is all about what has happened over the last
several months; very, very difficult situation.

I just want to make sure that the taxpayer money does not go
for outrageous raises and so many times, Mr. Liddy, this is the
kind of thing that happens in a classic case where a bank has
failed or a business has failed, the people who ride out with their
golden parachutes are out with their golden parachutes, and thank
goodness there is someone like yourself who will come in and try
to put the pieces back together. It just seems terribly unfair and
I know, as a representative of the taxpayers, that we just feel that
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it is something that is very, very unfair to the people in our coun-
try.

And one of the things that I heard you say earlier is that one
of the reasons that happened here was the appetite for risk, but
yet I never heard the word greed, and it just seems like that
seemed to be what had to be driving what was going on with some
of the appetite for risk that was going forward. I need to be able
to wake up in the morning and feel sure that at least we are trying
to point out the problems that have happened and I would like to
hear more common sense as to what we are going to do in the fu-
ture. Thank you.

Mr. LipDy. Thank you, sir.

Chairman KaNJORSKI. Thank you very much, Mr. Wilson. Let us
hear from the gentleman from Florida, Mr. Grayson. I am sorry,
Mr. Grayson, we have another gentleman from Florida, Mr. Klein.

Mr. KLEIN. Thank you. We try to all be gentlemen from Florida,
but thank you. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. Mr. Liddy, it is been a
long day and we understand that and you have been through a lot
of questions. I understand your comments earlier today and also
appreciate the fact that you came back from retirement to work on
this. You have heard a lot of frustration today. You have heard a
lot of concern. We heard your explanation about the reason why
the bonuses were provided in terms of retention. We heard about
contractual rights. I thought Mr. Kanjorski, earlier today, made an
excellent observation.

I am a lawyer by background and I also represent a number of
people who many times insurance companies first say no before
they settle claims or settle issues and this seems to be one of those
times when, you know, with legal advice, I understand, your folks
seem to tell you that the better way to proceed on this was to give
the bonuses and not have to deal with that. But I think in retro-
spect I think we all understand now this has created a huge back-
lash of concern, and it is not so much about AIG—it is about AIG—
but it seems to be that the public has just allowed this to accumu-
late in their minds about what has gone wrong in our system.

And, you know, I know that the comment you made about reten-
tion, I guess one of my local newspapers this morning wrote an edi-
torial about this—and this is the newspaper, the Sun Sentinel in
south Florida, and it said, “If not for the Federal bailout of AIG,
the company would have gone bankrupt. Then the contracts calling
for the bonuses would have been nullified and the executives who
wrecked the company would have lost their jobs.”

And I guess the point of that is that even if there were some type
of performance bonuses—and I don’t know all the terms of how
these were, whether they were discretionary or otherwise—but for
the Federal Government and all of us as taxpayers, the American
people having stepped up, there wouldn’t be a company to pay the
bonuses. So I guess the notion, and I guess where I still haven’t
really got the answer, and maybe you can just address this for us,
is understanding that principle.

You know, why is it that you and your colleagues felt like this
was necessary? It didn’t feel like it was—whether it was a legal,
or equitable, or moral, or ethical right to say, you know, companies
that make money pay dividends, companies that make money pay
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bonuses. That is the American way. We all support free enterprise.
As shareholders, we support that to a point. But a company that
is not making money as a whole doesn’t pay bonuses. And if you
could just share with me, at least, the moral/ethical side of this
thing as well.

Mr. LiDDY. Sure. We have talked about that during the course
of the afternoon. These are not performance-based bonuses in the
way you are using that word. They are retention bonuses. We want
to wind down the FP business just as quickly as we can so we don’t
expose the company and the American taxpayer to anymore risk
than we have right now.

So the judgment we made was with $1.6 trillion in a derivatives
book out there we need these people to keep making progress to
shut it down. We made real progress in 2008. So this was more
about risk. What I clearly do not want to have happen is I don’t
want to have this company fail after all that the American public
has gone through with AIG. The judgment we made was we stood
a better chance by paying these bonuses, $165 million, a large
amount of money, we stood a better chance of protecting the busi-
ness that has $1.6 trillion of exposure.

And it gave us a better opportunity to wind that down in an or-
derly way and not have it erupt on us in some sort of disorderly
way. The legal argument was the secondary argument. The pn-
mary argument, or thought process, was weighing the risk of a dis-
orderly breakdown in that business against keeping those people in
place at the cost of $165 million.

Mr. KLEIN. And I appreciate the thinking. But at the same time
the average American, trying to apply a common-sense standard
here, would say, well, first of all, some of these people left anyway.
Secondly, are these really the kind of people that you would—be-
cause some of them made mistakes along the way in creating some
of these things, and I recognize that not everybody’s in that basket.

And also what about the notion of we are all Americans here?
This is a serious situation we are in in our economy. Isn’t there any
commitment to our country to stick with it and fix this thing as op-
posed to, if I don’t get my million dollar bonus I am not staying
here? I mean, where is this notion that these are Americans and
we are all in this together that I think most American taxpayers
feel? Don’t some of these people have that same commitment?

Mr. LipDY. They do, sir, and I think they have been so vilified
over the last couple of years that really many of them just want
to go someplace else and work. What we said is, we understand
that. Please, stick with us until your area of responsibility is
wound down in a responsible way. We will pay you a retention
bonus to do that and then you can go someplace else. So I would
not conclude from their apparent or perceived behavior that they
aren’t Americans very interested in having this country get out of
the mess that we are in.

Mr. KLEIN. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman KANJORKSI. Thank you very much, Mr. Klein. Next we
will hear from the gentleman from Florida, this time, Mr. Grayson.

Mr. GravsoN. Still a gentleman, huh? Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Mr. Liddy, I took a look at the 10-K that you filed about 2 weeks
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ago with the Securities and Exchange Commission. Are you gen-
erally familiar with the AIG 10-K?

Mr. LIDDY. Yes.

Mr. GrRAYSON. Thanks. We copied some pages for you. Do you
have it in front of you?

Mr. LipDY. I do. Someone handed it to me.

Mr. GraysoN. All right. I want to ask you some questions. Let’s
start. with page 153. This is a chart of shareholder equity, and it
says the changes in AIG’s consolidated shareholder equity from the
beginning of 2008 to the end of 2008 were as follows: Beginning of
the year the shareholder equity was roughly $96 billion. You had
$99 billion in losses realized in 2008. And somehow you ended up
with a shareholders’ equity of $53 billion. Certainly 96 minus 99
means that without anything else happening you would have ended
up $3 billion in the hole. Is that correct?

Mr. LIDDY. Yes.

Mr. GrAYsON. All right. Now, I see two large entries here. I was
hoping you would explain them. One is excess of proceeds over par
value of preferred stock issued. This is $40 billion and it was re-
corded on your books as an increase in the shareholders’ equity.
Can you explain who provided the preferred stock that you re-
corded on your books as a $40 billion increase in shareholders’ eq-
uity?

Mr. LiDDY. I believe that is the TARP money that was provided
to us.

Mr. GRAYSON. So you recorded the TARP money in your books
as essentially equivalent to profit, correct?

Mr. LipDY. No. It is reported as equity, not as profit.

Mr. GRAYSON. As equity?

Mr. LIpDY. Right, this 1s an equity statement.

Mr. GravsoN. All right. And equity is something that you get
without any legal liability except to the same liability you would
have to any shareholder. Is that correct?

Mr. LipDY. No, sir. I think it comes with a pretty heavy liability.
You have the liability of making whatever the dividend payment
rate is that you have to make on it. And in our case there is an
expectation that at some point in time that money will be repaid.

Mr. GRAYSON. Well, it is interesting that you say that because
there is another line here that says $23 billion, and without that
line then your company would have been close to being in the red
even by this accounting method. Without this you would have been
in the red. It says, consideration received for preferred stock not
yet issued.

Mr. LipDY. It is the loan from the Federal Reserve. At the time
this was prepared we had not yet issued, or maybe this was the
10-Q or the 10-K with which we actually issued the 79.9 percent
ownership that the Federal Reserve has of AIG.

Mr. GRAYSON. So essentially what this means is that the tax-
payers gave you $23 billion and before you even gave the preferred
stock to the taxpayers in return, you counted that as increase in
shareholders’ equity for AIG. Is that correct?

Mr. LiDDY. Yes. It was in anticipation of giving that preferred
stock.
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Mr. GRAYSON. All right. Let’s turn two more pages to page 179.
This is one that says, “The following table provides estimates of
AIG’s sensitivity to a yield curve upward shift, equity losses, and
foreign currency; exchange rate losses at December 31, 2008.” And
you see the entry that says, yield curve 500,000?

Mr. LIDDY. Yes.

Mr. GRAYSON. Now that 500,000 actually corresponds to $500 bil-
lion. Is that correct?

Mr. LipDY. I believe so, yes.

Mr. GraYsoN. All right. So what this is telling us, this stress test
analysis, is that if the yield curve, which is simply the difference
between long term rates and short term rates, increased by 100
basis points, which is 1 percent, then you are telling us that AIG
would be on the hook for half-a-trillion dollars. Is that correct?

Mr. LipDY. I am not sure. I am looking to see whether those are
billions of dollars or hundreds of millions of dollars and I don’t see
the designation in front me, sir.

Mr. GraysoN. Well, look above the words “yield curve” where it
says “dollars in millions.” Do you see that?

Mr. LiDDY. Yes, I do.

Mr. GRAYSON. Okay. What is $500,000 million?

Mr. LIDDY. Yes.

Mr. GRAYSON. Okay. So is it correct, then, that according to your
own 10-K, that if the yield curve changed 1 percent, if long-term
rates went 1 percent higher and short-term rates stayed the same,
then you would be on the hook for half-a-trillion dollars?

Mr. LipDy. Well, you would have the offsetting effect of the im-
pact on the liabilities.

Mr. GraysoN. Well, why isn’t that reflected here in the stress
test?

Mr. LipDY. You know, I can only assume that stress tests are put
together according to a very specific formula so that they can be
compared from one institution to the next.

Mr. GRAYSON. Well, that sounds like an awful lot of stress for the
taxpayers if they are on the hook, doesn’t it?

Mr. LiDDY. And to that exact point is why we wanted to make
certain that the AIG FP business gets wound down in an orderly
way.

Mr. GRAYSON. Let’s take a look at the next page because time is
short. If there were an earthquake in San Francisco, then accord-
ing to your table on page 184, that would cost AIG $8.6 billion. But
if interest rates increased 1 percent, that would cost AIG $500 bil-
lion. Correct?

Mr. Lippy. Well, as I said, on the second of those pages that you
called out, there is an offset on the liability side. On the page on
the insurance, the cost of insurance, it would be $4,966,000,000
after reinsurance if there was an earthquake along the lines of
what occurred in the early 1900’s.

Mr. GRAYSON. Well, what exactly was AIG insuring? The entire
U.S. economy?

Mr. Lippy. I don’t know, sir. That has been my point, that we
are a very good insurance company with an internal hedge fund at-
tached to it. We need to wind down that internal hedge fund quick-
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ly and efficiently so it doesn’t cause the taxpayers even more dis-
tress.

Mr. GraysoN. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman KaNJORSKI. Thank you, Mr. Grayson. We will hear
from Mr. Peters of Michigan.

Mr. PETERS. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Thank you, Mr. Liddy. I know it has been a long day, and luckily
I am one of the more junior members here, or probably the most
junior member, so your day is about over. I know it has been a long
day, and I want to join some of my colleagues in saying that I know
you have come into the situation late and are faced with a very dif-
ficult task.

I missed some of the most recent testimony. I was just at a press
conference for a bill that is going to be on the Floor tomorrow in
which I have worked with leadership to place a 90 percent tax on
bonuses for those individuals working with companies with sales—
or have received over $5 billion in TARP money.

But I want to ask a couple of questions related to the business
as a whole. Now, most of the losses from your company, from AIG,
have come from the Financial Products unit. Let me wrap my head
around this a little bit.

How much money was actually lost by the Financial Products
unit in this last year?

Mr. LoDy, If you will permit me, I think we have a schedule
that we submitted for this hearing. Of the money that has come
in to us, $52 billion has gone out to support Financial Products.
That might be a better way to—

Mr. PETERS. Is that the money from the Federal Government?

Mr. LIDDY. Yes.

Mr. PETERS. How much was lost? Just how much was lost? Be-
cause you took a hit on your—how much was the total loss that the
Financial Products unit has actually had?

Mr. LippY. It would be in the range of $30 billion. I am sorry,
I just don’t have that number tucked in the back of my head.

Mr. PETERS. And had the Federal Government not put in money,
that loss would have been considerably larger?

Mr. LipDY. No. Not necessarily.

Mr. PETERS. So $30 billion was the loss. $30 billion of loss re-
quired $170 billion of taxpayer money?

Mr. LipDpY. I would like to go back. The taxpayer money is not
$170 billion. We have $40 billion of TARP money and about $38
billion of a loan from the Federal Reserve. So it is $78 billion.

Mr. PETERS. Okay. So the loss of $30 billion, how many people
are ‘r;lctually in this unit? There are about 300-plus people in the
unit?

Mr. LiDDY. At its high-water mark, it was 435. We wound it
down last year. It is 360 now.

Mr. PETERS. How many are actually involved in the derivative
business that accounted for these losses? How many people are ac-
tually engaged in that activity out of the—

Mr. LipDY. Very, very few. Again, if you think of it as a couple
of buckets, you have the credit default swaps, you have other—the
other swap business, and you have the $1.6 trillion of derivatives
business. Most. of what is left in FP now is all under $1.6 trillion.
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Mr. PETERS. Right.

Mr. LipDY. The credit default swap business is gone or is wind-
ing down rapidly.

Mr. PETERS. Well, all of it. So of the whole unit, this type of li-
ability that is out there. I mean, I guess my point is that you had
a relatively small unit. A very large company that insures about
81 million people in this country, a large insurance company. And
it is really a small number of people that really brought your com-
pany to the brink.

Now, we want to make sure that we never let this happen again.
And I know in your testimony, when I heard you earlier, you
talked about what would happen if AIG failed, that it would be ab-
solutely devastating for the entire American U.S. economy, dev-
astating for the international economy.

How can a relatively small number of people bring the U.S. econ-
omy to the brink? What sort of controls need to be in place going
forward so this doesn’t happen again? How can the fate of the U.S.
economy be in the hands of just 100 or 200 people? How do we pre-
vent this?

Mr. LippY. In fact, sir, it wasn’t even that many. You know, the
number of people involved in the credit default swap business was
probably 20 or 25.

Mr. PETERS. So 20 people brought your company to the brink,
and brings our economy to the brink?

Mr. Lippy. I think the answer to your question is we need a
much more hefty systemic risk regulator. So we get a ton of regula-
tion on the insurance side from State regulators, the United States,
from other regulators around the globe.

What we need is someone who can look at the systemic risk that
a large company like AIG represents, pair that with the systemic
risk that a large bank or investment bank represents, and decide
whether there is too much risk there or not. I don’t think that reg-
ulation—

Mr. PETERS. But where was your company’s risk management?
To take on, what, $3 trillion in risk, where was the risk manage-
ment. of your company? Where was the failure of your own internal
risk manager procedures?

Mr. LipDY. We had risk management practices in place. They
generally were not allowed to go up into the Financial Products
business. It was—

Mr. PETERS. How could that be? How could they not be allowed
to go when they are putting trillions of dollars at risk?

Mr. LiDDY. As I said earlier to a similar type question, you need
to get the people who ran FP, Mr. Cassano, and the people who ran
AIG before my arrival, and ask them that question.

Mr. PETERS. Yes. Well, it is a big question.

Mr. LipDY. It is an excellent question. We should ask the right
people that question.

Mr. PETERS. Good. I appreciate it, sir. Thank you. I yield back
my time.

Mr. MooORE oF KaNsas. [presiding] Thank you.

Next, Ms. Kilroy of Ohio. You have 5 minutes, ma’am.

Ms. KitroY. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I appreciate it.
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I, like my colleagues, am just absolutely astounded by the situa-
tion of paying $165 million in bonuses with a company that is
being propped up with the help of the Federal Reserve and with
the TARP money, still seeing $62 billion of loss in the last quarter.

And, you know, the question that the average American would
ask is, how can you pay bonuses when you don’t really have the
money to pay them, when it is somebody else’s money that is being
put to work here to pay down these bonuses, which is, just recently
commented, bonuses paid to people who have caused cataclysmic
losses and damage to both AIG, to its shareholders, and to the eco-
nomic system?

And yet we are told, and I think you said this earlier, that if
something happens to AIG, that can have dire consequences for the
rest of the country. And you kind of get the feeling that there is
a bit of coercion here being put to the American taxpayer by say-
ing, you have to—this is another version of we are too big to fail
And I think the American public is really wanting to see something
different here.

This afternoon, we voted on the GIVE Act, people who are giving
service, people who are working hard to make their community bet-
ter for small stipends. And we have seen people around the coun-
try—we have heard earlier about the teachers who are taking cut-
backs in their pay, and the auto industry, which is modifying their
contracts, and the pensioners who are taking cutbacks.

You see this willingness to come forward and to help out. And
you are among those as well, serving at the request of President
Bush and the former Treasury Secretary for $1 a year.

You know, I am reminded that one of our great presidents, John
F. Kennedy, said, “Ask not what your country can do for you—ask
what you can do for your country.” And yet my feeling is some of
these traders and others are asking our country to just keep giving
flhem more, and not owning up to the responsibilities that they

ave.

And one of my concerns is a responsibility that has been brought
to light, brought to my attention, from the State of Ohio, a case
brought by the Ohio Public Employees Retirement System, the
State Teachers Retirement System, and the Ohio Police and Fire
Pension Fund against AIG, making some very serious allegations
about misrepresentations and nondisclosures of material fact made
by AIG that has hurt these pension funds with respect to paying
contingent commissions and other practices alleged to be direct
market manipulation.

And I understand that the suit—other parties to the suit have
settled; other parties to the suit have paid out a significant amount
of money in terms of settlement, but that the meter is still running
with respect to AIG’s obligations and the attorney fees, which 1
have been told are somewhere in the vicinity of $3 million a month
for AIG to defend against this suit.

I am wondering—and I understand that there have been some
attempts at settlement, and that those attempts at settlement have
kind of come to an end. But in terms of this orderly wind-down
that you talk about, is that orderly wind-down going to include con-
sidering the millions that could be owed to the pensioners of Ohio,
New York, Texas, Florida, New Mexico, Virginia, California, or
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Michigan, all of whom have had substantial losses in AIG during
the class period, during the period involved in this case?

Mr. LipDY. I have to confess I just don’t have any specific knowl-
edge of that particular case. I will look into it. My general counsel
is sitting behind me, and we will look into it, and we will do every-
thing we can to make sure that it gets resolved. I assume this is
the loss of the equity value of AIG. I just don’t have any perspec-
tive on it whatsoever.

Ms. KitroY. I appreciate you taking a look at it. I just worry
about what happens. And that is one of the reasons I think Con-
gress is taking a look.

Mr. MooRE oF Kansas. We are out of time. Thank you.

Mr. Foster of Illinois, please, for 5 minutes, sir.

Mr. FosTER. Certainly. Let’s see. I was wondering if you could
walk me through some of the details on the mechanisms.

When people talk about your assets blowing up or the other
things you worry about, bad things that would happen, if some-
one—if the people who are currently managing the wind-down of
the book were replaced by people who are equally expert but not
familiar with them, what are the sort of mistakes that would get
made if the people currently managing the books were replaced by
equally competent people brought off the street? And what are ex-
amples of the way in which taxpayer funds would be at risk in that
replacement?

Mr. LIDDY. Sure. First, each contract is unique unto itself, as I
mentioned earlier. If you have seen one, you have not seen them
all. So each one will have a specific type of an arrangement, a spe-
cific type of settlement.

If we have a hedge on an interest rate and the interest rates
move a percent in a day or currency moves a percent in a day, we
have to re-hedge that book. There is some dynamic hedging, things
that happen automatically. But much of the hedging has to be done
with some thought attached to it.

So because each of those contracts—there are now 29,000 of
them; there used to be 44,000 of them—because each of those con-
tracts is somewhat unique unto itself, you have to know what to
do with respect to currency movements or interest rate movements
or oil price movements so that you can minimize the exposure to
loss on that contract.

Mr. FosTER. And what is the range in the final value that you
would realize after you wound down the things, between ones that
were managed with the best team that you currently have versus
the best one you could buy off the street? I mean, do you have any
f%elinég for what the difference might be in the final valuation
there?

Mr. LipDY. I just don’t. I think the issue is how quickly could
someone else get familiar with each of those individual contracts.
You know, right now people know those contracts and they can
react to changes in whatever it is that is the underlying instru-
ment; they can react right away. How long would it take for people
to get up to speed on those contracts? That becomes the risk factor.

Mr. FosTER. And you had mentioned you were in the process of
getting some bench depth in this so that you had a backup person
in each of these places.
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What fraction of the way along are you on that path?

Mr. L1DDY. Let’s call it 40 or 50 percent. Again, it is hard to find
people who want to work on these books of business at AIG. You
know, people don’t want to work at AIG. They are not. cheap if you
try to get them.

Mr. FosTER. What fraction of their compensation that we have
been talking about do you have to pay when you get the backup
person in? Does he end up costing, you know half as much or a
quarter as much or an equal amount?

Mr. LipDY. We have tried to do that differently, and we have
hired a firm. So the firm has the responsibility for those people,
and they have the responsibility for backing up those people. So it
is more a matter of a contract with the firm that helps to provide
the backup or the insurance.

Mr. FosTER. And do you end up spending a roughly comparable
amount, compared to the compensation levels we have been talking
about?

Mr. LipDY. I believe so, sir. Again, I just don’t travel with that
information in the back of my brain.

Mr. FosTER. Okay. And when you visited my office yesterday,
you described some of the legal opinions that you had gotten in an
effort to understand what your freedom—what freedom you had to
cancel these things.

And you had indicated that canceling these, if you just refused
to pay them, that the likely result, according to legal opinions that
both you and the Fed had obtained, would end up—you would end
up losing the court cases, in all probability, and the likely result
would be doubling and in some cases tripling the size of the bonus
that would eventually be paid.

Mr. Lippy. Correct.

Mr. FosTER. Correct. And so that is your sworn testimony as
well. That is your best legal reading of the position you are in?

Mr. LiDDY. Yes. And those documents have been provided to the
committee. But I would just like to add, remember, the first issue
that we were trying to address here was not the legal issue. It was
the risk issue of can we effectively manage this book of business
now in a way that doesn’t cause us difficulty, that doesn’t have it
erupt and have to have more money come in from the American
taxpayer.

Mr. FosTER. Okay. And in regards to the counterparties, are you
familiar with what happened when European banks were bailed
out and there were American counterparties? And do you get a feel-
ing there is a rough symmetry between European banks that are
bailed out with U.S. taxpayer money and American banks and so
on that were bailed out with European or Asian or other—

Mr. LipDY. I don’t have a perspective on it, sir.

Mr. FosTER. Okay. Thank you. Well, I yield back.

Mr. MooRE oF KaNsas. Thank you, Mr. Foster.

The Chair next recognizes Mr. Clay from Missouri for 5 minutes.

Mr. CraY. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. And thank you, Mr. Liddy,
for being here today. I know it has been a long day, so let me try
to expedite some of my questions.

Initially I voted against the TARP legislation, and at this point
I have no regrets about my vote. It was still the correct thing to
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do. However, this is not a concern of yours, and I know that you
\Oglvere placed in your position just a few months ago, after the melt-
own,

The American taxpayers have put over $165 billion into AIG in
the last several months, and AIG is still not stabilized. And it is
looking like we are putting money into a sinkhole. I also under-
stand that there remains a possibility that AIG will come back for
additional TARP funds associated with the $1.6 trillion in your de-
rivatives portfolio.

Can you convincingly illustrate to us why this is not an exercise
in staving off the obvious collapse or prolonging the agony? Is this
a bad deal? And can you elaborate?

Mr. LipDY. I do not think it is a bad deal. I think the Federal
Reserve and Treasury made an appropriate decision back in Sep-
tember, particularly on the heels of Lehman Brothers and the
banking crisis and credit crisis that was in place.

As I mentioned earlier, the amount of money we owe the Amer-
ican taxpayer right now, at the end of December, was $78- to $79
billion. We have sufficient assets that we should be able to repay
that in full.

The market is a pretty difficult place right now. There are not
people with money who can afford to buy assets. So we are at-
tempting to put up a structure which will isolate these assets,
break the business up into component parts, and isolate those that
are particularly healthy.

I would like to wind this whole thing down and be the first com-
pany that is able to make a meaningful repayment to the American
taxpayer. I think we have the potential to do that, but it is some-
what out of our control because it very much depends upon what
happens with the worldwide capital markets, not just the stock
market but liquidity and capital flows.

I think the American taxpayer has a better chance of getting
paid from AIG than perhaps many of the other companies that
have received TARP dollars. I would like nothing better than to
prove that statement to you.

Mr. Cray. Mr. Liddy, I am pulling for you to succeed with AIG.
I want you to succeed. And you have gotten questions today from
numerous members about the bonuses. But let me ask the question
a different way.

I represent St. Louis, Missouri. Our daily paper is the St. Louis
Post-Dispatch, and they run a political blog. And Geno writes on
the blog, and hopefully you can answer Geno’s question: “How can
AIG defend bonuses given to people who have run the company
into the ground? Every place I have worked, bonuses are given to
people who make money for the company. As far as retaining good
help, you have really missed the boat.” End of Geno’s blog entry.

What can you say to Geno?

Mr. LipDY. These are not performance-based bonuses. They are
retention bonuses. These are not the people who ran the company
into the ground. While they are in the FP unit that has caused us
such distress, they are in a different section of that business for the
most part.

I would say to Geno that if we really want to maintain a fighting
chance to repay the American taxpayer, we have to wind down this
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$1.6 trillion that exists in AIG FP. We can do that more securely
and more quickly with people that we have asked to stay there and
run that book down.

So it is a risk assessment. If we keep those people, we have a
higher probability of running this book down and not having it cost
the American taxpayer more. That is what those bonuses were
about.

Mr. CLAY. And that is based on the familiarity of the people who
are in place there.

Mr. LipDy. Correct. Correct.

Mr. Cray. I mean, even the point about honoring the contracts,
I mean, don’t we change contracts every day in this country, and
could in some those instances those contracts be altered?

Mr. LipDY. Well, that is why I say it was secondarily a legal con-
sideration and primarily a risk consideration. Contracts can always
be altered as long as the two parties, or multiple parties to a con-
tract, agree to it.

Mr. Cray. Okay. Well, I appreciate your responses and I wish
you well, Mr. Liddy.

I yield back, Mr. Chairman.

Mr. MooRE OF KaNsas. Thank you, Mr. Clay. I next recognize
myself, the Chair, for up to 5 minutes.

Mr. Liddy, there are a lot of people in our country hurting very
badly right now, and I think you know that. I know you know that.

Have you asked any of the executives who received these bonuses
if they would voluntarily forgo these bonuses and pay the tax-
payers’ money back so we can try to get on with this whole thing?

Mr. LipDY. I have. I asked them this morning.

Mr. MOORE OF Kansas. And?

Mr. LipDY. I have been in this hearing all day. I don’t know what
the outcome is.

Mr. MooRE OF KaANsAs. You haven’t received any e-mails or
phone calls?

Mr. LippYy. No. I would prefer to ask the right people, and I will
do that.

Mr. MooRE oF Kansas. And we would like a report back. If you
get. information about that, will you be willing to provide that infor-
mation to us, sir?

Mr. LIDDY. Yes.

Mr. MooRE OF KaNsas. Within a short time after you receive it,
if you do receive that information?

Mr. LipDY. Yes. I will be very transparent with you. I just want
to—I need to get the information. I need people to—I need to give
them a chance to make a rational decision, and then provide it to
everyone who has an interest in it.

Mr. MoOORE OF KANSAS. Sure. I don’t know that we can—our
country can afford to wait until 2012 for AIG to pay its money
back. So if AIG continues to behave like this, despite being sup-
ported by not only current taxpayers but also by future genera-
tions, our children and grandchildren, when will you pay the
money back? When will AIG pay the money back, sir?

Mr. LipDY. As I mentioned, we have a plan to do that in 2 to 3
years. We will do it just as quickly as we can. I know it is frus-
trating to hear that long a timeframe. You can’t sell assets if there
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is no one prepared to buy those assets. We need to sell assets or
transfer them to the Federal Reserve in payment of that debt.

We think we have a good plan to do exactly that. We will act on
pieces of it within the next couple of quarters.

Mr. MooRE oF KaNsaAs. Did any of the executives who left AIG
who received retention bonuses return the money? Were there in
fact people who left after receiving retention bonuses?

Mr. LiDDY. Yes. There were people at AIG Financial Products
who had a book of business to wind down, and our commitment to
them was if they wound it down within certain parameters, they
would get a retention bonus. In some cases they did that before the
end of the year. They left. We paid them their retention bonus.

Mr. MOORE OF KANsAS. A retention bonus is to retain the person
in your employ. Isn’t that correct?

Mr. LipDY. It was offered to them at the beginning of 2008 for
them to stay and be retained and wind down the book of business
so we could get out of that as quickly and expeditiously as possible.
So they did stay for the period of time we needed them.

Mr. MooORE OF KaNsas. And how much did you pay to those indi-
viduals?

Mr. LipDy. I don’t know. I will—

Mr. MooRE oF KaNsas. Were there different bonuses to each dif-
ferent person?

Mr. Lippy. Well, yes. It would have depended upon what their
activity was and what their compensation was.

Mr. MOORE oF KaNsAs. But we are talking about several million
dollars in some cases?

Mr. LiDDY. Yes. It would have probably been in the range of a
million dollars. I just don’t have the numbers, sir.

Mr. MoOORE oF KANSAS. So some of these people received reten-
tion bonuses of a million dollars or more for staying on for an addi-
tional, say, less than 1 year. Is that correct, sir?

Mr. LipDY. Well, they received a retention bonus for doing what
we asked them to do: wind down your book of business in a way
that we agree with it and doesn’t cost us any money. If you can
do that in 6 months, that is okay. If it takes you 18 months, we
understand that. But wind that book of business down. That is how
we got the $2.7 trillion derivatives book down to $1.6 trillion.

Mr. MooRE oF KaNsas. But do you understand how frustrating
that must be to people who are watching this on television, under-
standing some of these people received in excess of a million dollars
as a retention bonus and now they are gone? Can you understand
that, sir?

Mr. LipDY. I do understand it. And the only thing I can say is
we got the benefit of the bargain. We got from them what we asked
them to do. That was, help us reduce the risk in this book of busi-
ness.

Mr. MooRE OF KaNsAS. Can you understand that some American
people might think you paid way too much to get that bargain?

Mr. LIDDY. I can understand that, yes.

Mr. MooRE oF KaNnsas. Thank you, sir.

The Chair next recognizes Mr. Cummings from Maryland.

Mr. CumMmINGs. Thank you very much. Thank you very much,
Mr. Chairman. I want to thank the committee.
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Mr. Liddy, it is certainly good to see you again, and I want to
just ask you a few question. The media has been focused on the
$165 million installment of the $450 million retention program for
AIG’s Financial Products division. However, for months, you and 1
have been going back and forth overall about the $1 billion reten-
tion program that covers thousands of employees throughout AIG.

We know that the Financial Products retention contracts were
drawn up before you became CEQO of a company in September
2008, which you passionately stressed to Mr. Lynch a little bit ear-
lier today. However, in your letter to me on December 5th, you
wrote these words: “On September 18, 2008, AIG’s compensation
committee of the board of directors approved retention payments
for 168 employees.”

Did you approve those?

Mr. LIDDY. Yes.

Mr. CummiINgs. All right. Because we keep talking about things
that happened before you came, and I am trying to make some—
you know, try to figure out what happened under your watch.

How many retention payments of any kind have you approved
during your tenure? Of any kind?

Mr. LipDY. There is a group of about 4,500 people who work in
our healthy insurance businesses that we are trying to sell. These
are the leaders and critical players in those businesses that we
?avehapproved retention bonuses for that can go out 2 years in
ength.

Mr. CuMMINGs. On January 15th at a meeting, when you and I
met, you told me, “We have expanded the retention program to
cover other employees since the first phase, and we voluntarily an-
nounce that we implemented two additional phases of this pro-
gram, covering an additional 2,100 employees.”

Would that be included in the number that you just gave me, the
4,5007

Mr. LipDY. Yes. I don’t remember the exact number. I think it
is about 4,500 to 4,700.

Mr. CuMmMINGS. And so you approved those additional phases. Is
that correct?

Mr. Lippy. Correct.

Mr. CuMMINGS. You also noted that business units have adopted
their own retention plans.

Did you approve those also?

Mr. LipDY. I would not have. They would have been approved by
the business units.

Mr. CUMMINGS. So there are other retention plans within AIG,
the big AIG umbrella, under the umbrella?

Mr. LipDY. Those are more—I believe they are more severance
plans. What happens if somebody buys you and you lose your job?

Mr. CuMMINGS. How much in non-financial product retention
payn%ents have you paid in 2008, and how much will be paid in
20097

Mr. Lippy. I don’t have the numbers at my fingertips. We will
be delighted to get them to you.

Mr. CuMMINGS. All right. Have you reduced these payments
below the levels approved on September 18th?
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Mr. LipDY. We have either—in some cases we have reduced
them, and in some cases we have stretched them out to a longer
period of time.

Mr. CuMMmINGsS. Now, you sent a letter to Secretary Geithner. It
was a very interesting letter you sent over the weekend—well, it
is dated March 14th. And it says something that I want you to help
me out on because I don’t understand it, and I think the committee
has just sort of passed it by.

It said, “AIG”—and this is your letter—it says, “AIG hereby com-
mits to use best efforts to reduce expected 2009 retention payments
by at least 30 percent.” Now, what I am trying to figure out is—
so we already have some people in place. We have been talking
about 2008 performance. Now, we have some folks in place to get
bonuses for 2009 performance. Is that correct?

Mr. LipDY. Yes. That letter specifically relates to AIG FP, and
it is the second part of the retention program which, if they are
there and they accomplish their goals, we would pay in 2010.

And I don’t mean to interrupt you, but I think that whole issue
is going to be moot because what we will find is those individuals
will in fact return much if not all of the retention bonus that we
paid them, and it will be accompanied by their letters of resigna-
tion.

Mr. CummINGs. Well, I am hoping—another member said some-
thing a little bit earlier. I am hoping—President Obama has made
it clear that he is trying to reverse our economy here and get it
straightened out. And these people are very central people, one
making as much as $6.5 million in bonuses.

I would hope that they would stick around, take a regular pay-
check like most people do, and stick around and help us get
through this. They have benefitted from the greatness of this coun-
try, and I would hope that they would do that, and I hope you will
appeal to them to do that.

Finally, you wrote in your letter to Secretary Geithner that the
Secretary had asked AIG to “rethink our 2008 corporate bonus pro-
posals.”

How much in bonuses—we keep saying bonuses and retention
payments. How much in bonuses, not retention payments, have you
paid to AIG employees in 2008, and what was the range of the bo-
nuses paid?

Mr. Lippy. I will provide you the information. I think it was—
I think it might have been in the range of $9 million.

Mr. CuMmMmINGs. Thank you very much.

Mr. MooRE oF KaNsas. Thank you, Mr. Cummings.

The Chair next recognizes Ms. Kaptur of Ohio for up to 5 min-
utes.

Ms. KAPTUR. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

I agree, Mr. Liddy, with the statement in your formal testimony:
“Insurance is the oxygen of the free enterprise system, and without
it the fundamentals of capitalism are undermined.” I think that is
a very important sentence.

I think that the spirit of those who work for AIG, whatever divi-
sion it is, isn’t being well communicated to the American people.
I would guess those who received $165 million in extra compensa-
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tion, whatever you want to call it, are probably among themselves
worth billions of dollars.

And for them—you know, for you to have to come here today and
not even say, you know, by such-and-such a date—I thought you
were going to come and present in your testimony, well, it is the
middle of March, and this is what is going to happen by the begin-
ning of April. This is what they have decided to do on behalf of the
Republic. I am disappointed that wasn’t forthcoming in your testi-
mony.

I have several questions, and I thank you for your endurance
today. The Wall Street Journal discloses today that AIG has put
funds in escrow for Deutsche Bank, whose hedge fund clients bet
against the housing market.

Could you please disclose which hedge funds could receive funds,
money, as a result of payments to counterparties, and how much
each fund could get?

Mr. LipDY. I can’t. I have no access to the information. We would
have to ask the representatives of Deutsche Bank. What we had
was a relationship, a credit default swap, between us and Deutsche
Bank. We honored that. They would have had other counterparties
beyond that that only they are privy to.

Ms. KAPTUR. Could you provide this information to the record if
you don’t know it here today? I am not only asking about Deutsche
Bank. I am asking about other hedge funds.

Mr. Lippy. We don’t have it. They are not our customers. Our
customers are the companies or the names that were listed on the
release of the counterparty names. What you are asking is what
did they do? What were the relationships that they had? I don’t
have any access to that information.

Ms. KaPTUR. All right. Then let me ask this next question. In
terms of the face value of the Financial Products derivatives that
you stated in your testimony are now worth about $1.6 trillion—
I read that correctly. Correct? Okay. What is your best estimate of
the trading value of those securities underlying your Financial
Products derivatives, as opposed to just the face value? What is the
trading value?

Mr. LipDY. I just don’t know. I will get the information for you.
We will provide it for you. I just don’t know as I sit here today.

Ms. KaPTUR. All right. You don’t know that. What is the possible
remaining taxpayer exposure?

Mr. Lippy. Well, as I said, winding down that book of business
in a very effective and costly way is important to us. We think it
will probably cost us several billion dollars to do that. That is
baked into the amount of money that we think we would have to
borrow from the Federal Reserve and that we anticipate repaying
to the taxpayer.

Ms. KAPTUR. If the contracts are successfully terminated, is it
possible that the counterparties would have to return any of the
tens of billions of collateral to our taxpayers?

Mr. Lippy. No. They are totally different buckets, if you will. The
first one are credit default swaps, and that was a unique set of cus-
tomers; the second one, our derivatives that are with a—could be
with a whole different. set of customers for a whole different set of
arrangements.
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Ms. KAPTUR. So you are saying from that bucket there might not
be any return to the taxpayers?

Mr. LiDDY. From the credit default swap?

Ms. KAPTUR. From the derivatives?

Mr. LipDY. Oh, I am sorry. Yes.

Ms. KAPTUR. From either one.

Mr. LIDDY. Yes.

Ms. KAPTUR. But you are telling me from the credit default
swaps, no.

Mr. LipDY. Well, on the credit default swaps, the way that was
solved was we put it into a financing vehicle with the Federal Re-
serve. The Federal Reserve—we put equity in. The Federal Reserve
put debt in. They own those at a number of 50 cents on the dollar.

If they are worth more than 50 cents on the dollar, the American
taxpayer will do very, very well on it. That was Maiden Lane III.
My personal assessment is that they will be worth more than what
the Federal Reserve paid for them.

Ms. KAPTUR. All right. And what about the derivatives?

Mr. LipDY. It is not an analogous situation because the deriva-
tives are live documents. The credit default swaps are, for the most
part, already behind us. The derivatives are traded on a daily
basis, on an active basis. So I simply can’t answer the question.

Ms. KAPTUR. Okay. What percent of your company is owned by
the U.S. Government today?

Mr. LiDDY. 79.9.

Ms. KAPTUR. And how does our government get back its money
out of AIG?

Mr. LipDY. We have an aggressive plan to do that. We are going
to sell some assets. That will help us in repayment. We are going
to give some assets to the Federal Reserve. These are very well-
performing, good value life insurance companies. We will give them
to the Federal Reserve in exchange for lowering some of the debt.

We will take some of the insurance policies that we have and do
what is called a monetization, give that cash flow to the Federal
Reserve or the Treasury. We will take our insurance business, our
property casualty business, and sell a minority interest in it, and
perhaps eventually increase that minority interest. We will take
the proceeds from that and give it back to the Federal Government.

Ms. KAPTUR. How long will it take and how much money will the
taxpayers lose?

Mr. LipDY. I would hope the taxpayers won’t lose any money. It
will take us a good 2 to 3 years, but we will make material
progress quickly.

Ms. KAPTUR. Thank you.

Mr. MoorRE oOF KaANsaAS. Thank you. The Chair next recognizes
Mr. Crowley from New York.

Mr. CRowLEY. I thank the chairman. Thank you for allowing me
to sit in on the committee, my old committee, Financial Services.
It is good to be back. Unfortunately, not under these circumstances,
but it is always good to be back. Mr. Liddy, welcome to the com-
mittee. Let me thank you for being here.

I do feel, like many of my colleagues, Mr. Liddy, that—I feel for
you having to be here today to take this. I know you came into the
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scene in September of last year after the government’s first bailout
of AIG.

And whether it is fair or not, AIG has become the face of every-
thing that has been wrong with Wall Street, and it has become the
face of American greed. I am a New Yorker as well. I come from
Woodside, Queens, not Wall Street.

So I want to make clear that while it is clear that there are some
bad actors, we must also remember that there are a lot of good peo-
ple working in the financial services sector, on the street, and at
the businesses surrounding the street as well. Take, for example,
people who helped the orderly transfer of Bear Stearns or
Wachovia to prevent the additional chaos in our markets.

But no American, not myself and definitely not any of my con-
stituents, can understand millions of dollars in bonuses to people
at AIG Financial Products division, the very division that helped
sink the company and caused the government to prop the company
up with $170 billion in taxpayer funds. In fact, my mother always
thought that a bonus was given to someone who did something
good and above and beyond the call of duty, not actually help bring
down a company.

During tough economic times, we must all make sacrifices. In
doing so, we share each other’s pain and we earn each other’s trust.
I feel that AIG’s actions demonstrate a complete lack of under-
standing for the need for shared sacrifice, and in turn, it has trig-
gered a complete lack of confidence in my constituents, in our econ-
omy, and it has shaken their belief in the system of capitalism.

As such, I want to touch on a few other compensation issues out-
side of bonuses at AIG FP that have preoccupied this hearing
today. There are reports that AIG is considering awarding addi-
tional bonuses in the coming days, including an additional $121.5
million incentive bonuses for 2008 that AIG will start making this
month to approximately 6,400 of its roughly 116,000 employees;
and that AIG is also making over $600 million in retention pay-
ments to an additional 4,000 employees.

Could you comment on those bonuses?

Mr. LibDY. The first number you have I believe is an accurate
number. It's about $120 million. It is to all of the good businesses
that performed in accordance with business objectives that we es-
tablished in the beginning of 2008. It is a very traditional and very
classic annual performance, variable performance, award.

Mr. CROWLEY. I think it is important to state that for the record,
as we anticipate this coming down the road, that there is some un-
derstanding that this is not necessarily—this is not the FP? This
is not AIG FP?

Mr. LipDY. No. No. No. It is entirely separate. Now, you asked
a question similar to what Mr. Cummings had asked, and that is,
we are going to sell many of these—or transfer them to the Federal
Reserve—

Mr. CROWLEY. Right.

Mr. LiDDY. —many of these good assets that we have. We want
the good players, the really critical players in those businesses, to
please stay with us and not go someplace else. So there are reten-
tion payments for those folks, much simpler, much smaller in value
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than what we have been talking about with AIG FP, that would
be paid over the next 12 to 18 to 24 months.

Mr. CRowLEY. Thank you. Let me just go back a moment to
something that Mr. Cummings also mentioned, and that was the
retirement—the retention programs that were entered into.

Prior to coming there, when was the last one entered into, the
agreement, retention agreement?

Mr. L1DDY. Prior to my coming there?

Mr. CROWLEY. Yes.

Mr. LipDY. March 2008.

Mr. CROWLEY. Do you think the people who put those agree-
ments together had any indication back then that their company
was in deep trouble?

Mr. LipDpY. I really don’t think so, Mr. Crowley. Those agree-
ments would have been started, the discussion and negotiation
process would have been started—it takes a while to get these
done—probably in mid-2007. So I don’t think it was done in antici-
pation of anything. That is speculation on my part.

Mr. CROWLEY. Can we find—is it possible for this committee or
the House to know who those individuals were who entered—who
made those agreements?

Mr. LipDY. Who authored them? Who signed—

Mr. CROWLEY. Who authored those agreements?

Mr. LIDDY. I am sure that information exists. We will try to get
it for you.

Mr. CrROWLEY. Were any of those individuals beneficiaries of
those agreements?

Mr. L1pDY. I just don’t know. I'll—

Mr. CROWLEY. Was there a conflict of interest? In other words,
would they have benefitted by the agreement?

Mr. LipDy. Well, no. For AIG Financial Products, it would have
been negotiated by an individual to whom that business works. He
would not have been covered by those retention agreements.

Mr. CROWLEY. Well, if we could—if it is possible to get to us that
information, I would appreciate that as well.

As many of the people who work under you within AIG know, 1
have been very interested in this issue for some time. And unfortu-
nately, it has gotten to a point I had hoped we could have avoided,
but unfortunately, that didn’t happen, because I think—not be-
cause of the people who work for you, but others within your com-
pany who put the company and their country last and themselves
first. And I yield back.

Mr. MooRE oF KaNsas. Thank you, Mr. Crowley, and thank you,
Mr. Liddy.

Are there any additional questions? Do you want to submit those
in writing or take a couple of minutes here? We do want to wind
up this hearing, sir.

Mr. GrRAYSON. For a couple of minutes, thank you.

Mr. MooRE oF Kansas. All right. Mr. Grayson is recognized for
a couple of minutes.

Mr. GraysoN. Thank you. Mr. Liddy, you said before that there
were 20 or 25 people who were involved in the credit default busi-
ness.

What are their names, please?
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Mr. LipDY. I don’t have their names at my disposal, sir.

Mr. GraYsoN. Well, I am sure you remember a few of the names.
I mean, they did cause your company to crash.

Mr. LipDY. You know, I have been at the company, as you know,
for 6 months. I don’t know all the people who were in AIG FP, and
many of them are gone.

Mr. GraysoN. Well, there or gone, it doesn’t really matter. I
want to know who they are. Names, please.

Mr. LiDDY. Yes. If you're asking for the names of the people who
got. the bonuses at FP, is that—

Mr. GravsoN. No. I am asking for the names of the people who
ran the credit default business, the 20 to 25 that you referred to
earlier who caused your company to lose $100 billion.

Mr. Lippy. If it 18 possible to provide you the names, we want
to. If we are—we will cooperate with you.

Mr. GRAYSON. Well, that is good. But I want to know the names
you know right now.

Mr. LipDY. I don’t know them, sir.

Mr. GRAYSON. Not a single one? You are talking about a group,
a small group of people who caused your company to lose $100 bil-
lion, and as you sit here today, you can’t give me one single name?

Mr. L1iDDY. The single name I would give you is Joseph Cassano,
who ran—

Mr. GRAYSON. That is a good start. You already gave that name.
Give me another name.

Mr. LipDy. I just don’t know them. I do not know those names.
I don’t have them all at my command.

Mr. GRAYSON. Well, how can you propose to solve the problems
of the company that you're now running if you don’t know the
names of the people who caused that problem?

Mr. LiDDY. Because there are great people running AIG FP now
who do know each and every one of those individuals.

Mr. GrRAYSON. That is a great thing to say. But the fact remains
that I would expect you to at least know more than one name. How
about two names?

Mr. LiDDY. Yes, sir. I am just not going to do that, sir, because
that could be a list of people that—individuals who want to do
damage to them could do that. It is just not—

Mr. GRAYSON. Well, listen. These same people could now be
working, right now, today, at Citibank. Is it more important to pro-
tect them, the ones who caused the $100 billion loss, or protect us?
Which is more important to you right now?

Mr. LipDY. The important thing is to protect both—1I will—if that
is the information you want, we will do everything we can to co-
operate with you. I am just not going to sit here and give it to you
until I understand what the implications are.

Mr. GRAYSON. Can I count on you to give us that list? Yes or no?

Mr. Lippy. I will—I do not know. I will consult with our general
counsel and decide what the appropriate course of action is.

Mr. GRAYSON. Not the answer 1 was hoping for, but my time is
up.

Mr. MooRE oF KaNnsas. Thank you, sir.

At this time, the Chair notes that some members may have addi-
tional questions for this witness which they may to submit in writ-
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ing. Without objection, the hearing record will remain open for 30
days for members to submit written questions to this witness and
to place his responses in the record.

Before we adjourn, the following will be made part of the record
of this hearing: a letter Chairman Kanjorski received from Sec-
retary Geithner last night. Without objection, it is so ordered.

The panel is dismissed, and this hearing is adjourned. Thank
you, Mr. Liddy.

[Whereupon, at 6:45 p.m., the hearing was adjourned.]
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Statement by Rep. Michele Bachmann
House Financial Services Subcommittee on Capital Markets,
Insurance and Government Sponsored Enterprises
“American International Group’s Impact on the Global Economy: Before, During,
and After Federal Intervention”

March 18, 2009
Thank you, Mr. Chairman, for holding this incredibly timely hearing.

And, thank you, Mr. Liddy, for being here today. It would be hard not to begin by
expressing the same distaste that you did over the $165 million in retention bonuses that
have become the eye of the public storm of taxpayer outrage these days. Like so many of
my colleagues, I am just stupefied by the audacity of executives who even as they were
able to retain their jobs by the grace of hard-working taxpayers are unwilling to deny
their million-dollar bonuses.

But — and I say this as someone who voted against the financial service sector bailouts
each and every time — I am equally stunned at the feigned surprise of those in government
who say they are shocked by these bonuses. AIG disclosed these payments as far back as
May 8, 2008 in a filing with the SEC. And, then in November —after American taxpayers
had already funded a commitment of over $150 billion to AIG, giving the U.S.
government an 80% stake in the company — AIG convened a working group to examine
the bonuses. Representatives from the Federal Reserve were part of that reviewing
committee.

So, I find it rather disingenuous that so many in government, from the Secretary Geithner
to Senator Dodd and others in Congress — are expressing shock not only about these
particular bonuses, but about the stark reality that the misguided bailout “strategy” has
led America’s political class to this conundrum. When you insert yourself as the lead
stakeholder in American businesses, don’t be surprised when you are held accountable
for business decisions like these.

In this particular case, AIG is literally rewarding with bonuses as high as $6.4 million
some of the very same executives who were selling the risky products that got AIG in
trouble in the first place. And, over the next year, the amount of bonuses promised under
current AIG contracts will rise to about $450 million. Simultaneously, taxpayer
assistance to AIG has grown to $170 billion.

This situation makes crystal clear one thing: We need an exit strategy from the bailout
mania.

Yet, even as Congress and the Administration fretted about the lack of oversight and
accountability in the TARP, they conspired to release the second $350-billion tranche of
taxpayer dollars under the program. And, the President’s budget includes another
financial service sector bailout that could put American taxpayers on the hook for another
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$750 billion. TARP has not received high marks for success from anyone. Clearly there
is not adequate transparency or accountability in the program, or in several other lending
facilities administered by the Fed, for that matter. AJIG has now received four taxpayer-
funded bailouts. Every single one was negotiated in secret and taxpayers have been left
wondering where or how their money was being spent.

We need an exit strategy from the current bailout-band-aid-short-term strategy for
addressing the lagging market that has been implemented thus far. That should be our
number one focus.

1 1look forward to the opportunity to hear from today’s panel about the current situation
with AIG. )

T}}ank you, Mr. Chairman, and I yield back the balance of my time.
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Mr. Liddy, I understand you stepped into your current role at AIG after the company’s
tremendously risky behavior undermined its solvency and forced the Federal Reserve 1o step
in and prevent systemic failures. I respect your willingness to step in and lead the company
forward responsibly during this time of crisis. However, I believe that significantly more
could have been done to prevent those responsible for this catastrophe from being rewarded
with taxpayer funded bonuses.

Before the current bonus controversy, your company paid for spa treatments, retreats and
hunting trips after receiving federal assistance. Now, your company is hiding behind the
Connecticur Wage Act to appear guiltless in paying out these bonus contracts. The
American people are not fooled.

You contend that these extravagant bonuses help retain the best and brightest in the
industry. Mr. Liddy, the employees in your financial products division who are receiving
bonus payments are the same employees who wrote the credit default swaps that have
exposed your company and our financial system to huge losses I would hardly say their
service to our financial markets will be missed.

Because of your company’s actions, federal efforts to stabilize our economy in this most
severe of times have been vilified. We are not a country that believes in rewarding the
failures of the Wall Street elite at the expense of hardworlding taxpayers. Yer, the American
public perceives this to be the case and believes we are supporting a double standard.

While our nation’s auto companies have received $17 billion in federal assistance to date,
your company has required a record $170 billion. While middle class autoworkers have been
forced to renegotiate their contracts — to cut their pay, eliminate their bonuses and freeze
cost-of-living adjustments ~ your company pays out big for wildly irresponsible behavior.

M, Liddy, I recognize AIG’s downfall began before you 1ok the helm. As current CEO,
however, it is your responsibility to show your employees the error in this decision and
compel them to turn down these bonuses. Trust us when we say thar Congress and the
Administration will pursue every legal avenue 1o recoup these funds. We are not asking you
politely, we are telling you to fix I, or we will.

PAINTED ON RECYCLED PAPEA
"
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Congtesswoman Lynn Jenkins

Capital Markets Subcommittee Hearing
3/18/09

Opening Statement submitted for the record

Over the past year, the Ametican taxpayer has been forced to foot the bill for the bad
declslons made by financial institutions that were deemed ‘too big to fail.’

Eazlier this month, the administration said they were confident they knew how one of those
institutions, AIG, was spending their bailout dollars. Sadly, for the American taxpayers, that proved
not to be the case.

Since then we've leatned that tens of billions were sent ovetseas and that AIG used some
$165 million of their ballout money to pay bonuses to many of the same executives who got them
into the mess to begin with.

I do not believe that government should intetfere with the inner wotkings of private
business. However, we are in 2 whole new ballgame with AIG.

The federal government now owns neaty 80% of AIG, giving us all 2 major stake in the
success or failute of their internal decisions. As the primary unwilling investors, the American
taxpayers desetve assurance that the close to $200 billion in taxpayer dollars will not be squandered
and further, how and when they will be repaid.

I thank the chaitman for today’s heating and appreciate the opportunity this committee has
to ask questions on behalf of our constituents.
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Statement by Rep. Carolyn McCarthy

Subcommittee on Capital Markets, Insurance and Government Sponsored Enterprises
Financial Services Committee

3/18/09

I am disappointed and disgusted to learn of the recent reports that AIG will pay roughly
$165 million in bonuses to their executives, when the company is in a financial disaster.
Bonuses are a means of rewarding and recognizing an employee’s positive contribution
that would have guided the company to a state of positive health and revenue. It is
inexplicable why AIG is “rewarding” executives that participated in risky business
decisions and led to the failure of the company. Taxpayers have every right to be
angered by the reasoning CEO Edward Liddy offered to Treasury Secretary Geithner,
that “AIG’s hands are tied.” As a result of companies like AIG’s participation in the
economic meltdown, people have lost their houses, jobs and pension funds. Executives
who presided over the downfall of AIG Financial Products unit, the division that greatly
contributed to the company’s serious liquidity problems, should not be allowed to receive
additional compensation.

We can not forget that AIG has received biilions of dollars in emergency help from the
American taxpayer! While we have been trying to shore up AIG to prevent a further hit to
the overall economy, their corporate leadership is rewarding bad behavior with our
money.

This is the height of irresponsibility, arrogance and hypocrisy. This is, in some ways, the
type of behavior that put us in the circumstances we are in today.

AIG’s involvement in the economy is complex and far-reaching. They do not operate in
a bubble, which is why we have been working so hard to infuse cash into the corporation.
We wanted to stop the bleeding so other people do not go down innocently with AIG’s
sinking ship.

We did not support AlG so they could slap us in the face by giving our money away. |,
for one, want my money back from these bonuses and so do the nation’s taxpayers.

To that end, I have cosponsored a bill introduced by my colleague from Long Island,
Congressman Steve Israel that would tax bonuses at 100% for companies like AIG, who
receive TARP funding. The bonus bailout rate would apply only to the bonus portion of
an individual’s taxable income. Currently the IRS holds 25% from bonuses less than $1
million and 35% for a bonus of more than $1 million. Taxing these bonuses at 100%
would not only send an important cautionary message to AIG and other TARP recipients,
it will help taxpayers recoup some of our money.

If companies decide it’s acceptable to waste money on bonuses that are not deserved,
they should face consequences for those bad decisions. I look forward to working with
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my colleagues on the Commitiee to ensure that in the future, companies think twice
before granting bonuses to executives who do not deserve them.
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Testimony of Joel Ario
Insurance Commissioner
Pennsylvania Insurance Department

1 would like to thank Chairman Paul Kanjorski, Ranking Member Scott Garrett and the members of
the Subcommittee on Capital Markets, Insurance, and Government Sponsored Enterprises for
inviting me to testify today at this hearing on the “American International Group’s Impact on the

Global Economy: Before, During, and After Federat Intervention.”

My name is Joel Ario and I am the Insurance Commissioner for the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania.
[ am appearing here today on behalf of the National Association of Insurance Commissioners

(NAIC).

1 very much appreciate the Subcommittee holding this hearing so that we can discuss what has

happened at AIG and how to improve financial services regulation in the future.

Only AIG’s Domestic Insurance Companies are Subject to State Insurance Regulation

I would like to start by clearing up some confusion. AIG is typically described as the world’s largest
insurance company, which reinforces the misconception that AIG is entirely the province of state
insurance regulation. In fact, AIG is a huge, global financial services conglomerate that does
business in 130 countries. AIG includes 71 U.S. insurance companies, but it also has 176 other

financial services companies, including significant non-U.S. insurers.

State insurance regulatory authority is limited to the 71 U.S,-based insurance companies.
Under the nationally-coordinated system of state-based insurance regulation, state insurance
departments have primary authority for those insurance companies domiciled in their state. In

Pennsylvania’s case, we are the domestic regulator for 11 of AIG’s 71 U.S. insurance companies.

These 71 insurance companies are primarily involved in three lines of insurance: life and annuities,
commercial lines (e.g., workers compensation and other business insurance), and personal lines (e.g.,

auto). AIG pools its business in each of these three lines and there are lead regulatory states for each
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line, starting with the state in which the lead AIG company in each pool is domiciled: Pennsylvania

for commercial lines, New York for personal lines, and Texas for life and annuities.

Six of the Pennsylvania companies are members of AIG’s commercial lines pool, including the lead
commercial lines company, National Union Fire Insurance Company of Pittsburgh, PA. The other
commercial lines companies are AlG Casualty Insurance Company, Insurance Company of the State
of Pennsylvania, New Hampshire Insurance Company, American International South Insurance

Company and Granite State Insurance Company.

The other five Pennsylvania domestics are personal lines companies: AIG Centennial Insurance
Company, AIG Indemnity Insurance Company, AIG Preferred Insurance Company, AlG Premier

Insurance Company and New Hampshire Indemnity Company.
AIG does not have any life insurance companies domiciled in Pennsylvania.

One of the checks and balances inherent in the state-based regulatory system is that multiple states
look at each AIG line of business. Our critics may question the efficiency of having maltiple eyes on
a complex enterprise such as AIG, but the reality is that these multiple eyes have served
policyholders well by protecting the solvency of the AIG insurance companies despite turmoil at the

AIG holding company level.

Efficiency is important, and through the NAIC, state regulators have developed tools and
technologies to improve efficiency and coordination. But effectiveness is more important, and one
reason our state-based system has worked well to identify and limit damage from the inevitable
mistakes that come with any regulatory system is that we are careful not to trade minor gains in

efficiency for our effectiveness in protecting solvency and policyholder interests.

The core principle of our nationally-coordinated financial accreditation system is the requirement
that insurers hold conservative reserves to ensure that they can honor their obligations to
policyholders and claimants. The concept sounds simple enough -- companies must practice sound
risk management by setting aside funds to pay obligations down the road — but it is a concept that
other segments of the financial sector have failed to enforce. One clear lesson of the current crisis is

the importance of having plenty of capital and not having too much leverage.
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AIG Financial Products was the Problem, Not the AIG Insurance Companies

Federal Reserve Chairman Ben Bernanke recently described the source of AIG’s troubles as coming
from “a hedge fund, basically, that was attached to a large and stable insurance company.” He was
right on both counts. The “hedge fund” is the AIG Financial Products unit, which, according to
Chairman Bemanke, “made huge numbers of irresponsible bets” and “took huge losses.” The “large

and stable insurance company” is the 71 state regulated insurance companies.

Let me be more specific. When the credit rating agencies announced potential rating downgrades for
AIG on September 12, 2008, the primary focus of concern was AIG Financial Products and the $440
billion in credit default swaps it had outstanding at that time, many of which included subprime
housing loans. As it became clear that Financial Products had bet more than twice the market value
of AIG in these credit default swaps, and failed to hedge or otherwise protect itself against collateral

calls, the situation turned dire.

Faced with ratings downgrades over that fateful September weekend, AIG Financial Products and
AIG holding company were staring at tens of billions of dollars of demands for cash collateral on the
credit default swaps written by Financial Products and guaranteed by the holding company. To make
matters worse, the counterparties to those credit default swaps included many of the world’s largest
financial institutions, all of which had hedged their own involvement in the risky credit default swap
business through Financial Products. To quote Chairman Bernanke again, Financial Products “took
all these large bets where they were effectively, quote, ‘insuring’ the credit positions of many, many

banks and other financial institutions.”

In summary, the reason the federal government decided to rescue AIG was not because of the
insurance companies, which were stable and well capitalized. Rather it was because of the systemic
risk created by Financial Products. I will address the future role of insurance regulation in avoiding
systemic risk later in my testimony, but it is important to understand that the systemic risk created
and still ongoing at AIG came from the Financial Products operation. Also important is the fact that

the federal government acted more to protect the counterparties rather than AIG itself.
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In Chairman Bernanke’s words: “We’re not doing this to bail out AIG or their shareholders,
certainly. We’re doing this to protect our financial system and to avoid a much more severe crisis in
our global economy. We know that the failure of major financial firms in a financial crisis can be

disastrous for the economy. We really had no choice.”

Put simply, AIG Financial Products’ reach was so broad and so interconnected with the world’s

largest financial institutions that it has become the poster child for systemic risk.

AIG Financial Products and Holding Company Are Federally Regulated

By purchasing a savings and loan in 1999, AIG was able to select as its primary regulator the fedcral
Office of Thrift Supervision (OTS), the federal agency that is charged with ovcrseeing savings and

loan banks and thrift associations.

AIG Financial Products is not a licensed insurance company and is not regulated by the states.
Financial Products is an investment unit based chiefly in London. It was able to evade regulation
under the British Financial Services Authority because the AIG holding company was registered with

an “equivalent regulator,” the OTS.

Although OTS has acknowledged its role as the holding company supervisor, it is worth noting that
credit default swaps were exempted from regulation under the Commodities Futures Modernization

Act of 2000, which prevented both the C.F.T.C. and the states from regulating these instruments.

AIG and its Insurance Competitors Continue to Engage in Vigorous Competition

AIG’s insurance comparnies continue to perform well in a troublcd economic times, wcll enough that
allegations have been raised by their competitors as to whether the AIG companies are using their
current situation to unfair advantage in the marketplace. The allegations are most prominent in the
highly competitive commercial property and casualty markets, where some of the nation’s largest
insurers routinely bid against each other on multi-million dollar accounts for the privilege of insuring

the nation’s largest businesses.



141

AIG’s competitors have argued that AIG is deliberately under pricing its insurance in a desperate
attempt to maintain premium volume at a time when policyholders might otherwise move their
business to a safer competitor given AIG’s uncertain future. Not surprisingly, AIG has fired back
that its competitors are targeting A1G business by making disparaging comments about AIG and
selectively under pricing their products in an unfair bid to take business away from a vulnerable

competitor.

Each of these allegations has some plausibility, and state regulators have spent considerable time
listening to such allegations, asking for specific facts, and following up as appropriate. When AIG
complained of disparagement by competitors in the aftermath of the federal government’s September
actions, Pennsylvania and other states issued notices reminding everyone that disparaging a
competitor violates state insurance Jaws. Later, when AIG did the same thing by making unfair
comparisons between its investments and thosc of competitors on its website, Pennsylvania and New

York required them to focus on their own strengths and delete the offending material.

The latest round of allegations have involved specific cases where the charge is that a particular
account was deliberately under priced in a manner that would present a solvency risk if done
systematically. Such disputes are common in highly competitive markets and typically reflect
insurers trying to protect profit margins. However, there is a point at which low prices for
policyholders can threaten long term stability, especially considering that the effects of under pricing

may not show up for years given the time lapse between collecting premium and paying claims.

The Pennsylvania department has devotcd special attention to the current allegations because both
AIG and its competitors may have distorted incentives to put their competitive engines into overdrive
- to preserve business on one side and to deliver a knock out blow on the other side. With the caveat
that these issues are very complex, we have not seen any clear evidence of under-pricing to date,
though we continue to look both at individual cases and at aggregate numbers on both renewals and

new business at AIG.
State Insurance Regulation Has Performed Well

Some have rather disingenuously tried to use AIG’s problems as an argument for an optional federal

charter for insurance companies. There are some lessons to be leamed from the AIG situation, but
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shifting the primary locus of insurance regulation to the federal level is the wrong lesson to learn

from AIG for two reasons.

First, when you permit companies to pick their regulator, you create the opportunity for regulatory
arbitrage. The whole purpose of financial services regulation is to appropriately control risk. But
when you allow regulatory arbitrage, you increase risk, because you create the opportunity for a
financial institution to select its regulator based on who might be more lenient, who might have less

strict rules, who might demand less capital.

Second, what happened at AIG demonstrates the strength and efficacy of state insurance regulation.
Indeed, the federal rescue of AIG would have been an even tougher call were it not for the well-
capitalized insurance companies that provide the possibility that the federal government and
taxpayers will be paid back. AIG’s insurance companies remain strong, in part because state
regulation continues to wall them off from the high risk activities engaged in by AIG Financial

Products.

In most industries, the parent company can reach down and use the assets of its subsidiaries. With
insurance, that activity is greatly restricted. Insurance is a promise to pay, often many years, even
decades, down the line. Companies must be well capitalized to ensure that they can pay claims. That
is why state regulators require insurance companies to maintain healthy reserves backed by
investments that cannot be used for any other purpose. As New York Superintendent Eric Dinallo

says, “the insurance companies are the bars of gold” within the AIG conglomerate.

State Insurance Regulation Must Continue to Improve, Including Securities Lending

There are certainly activities that the states need to modernize, such as producer licensing, product
review, and market regulation. State regulators are making progress in each of these areas, often by
applying the lessons we learned in developing our financial accreditation program. That program has
a strong and solid history of safeguarding the most important consumer protection: a solvent insurer
to honor its promises and pay claims. At a time when many financial firms are in trouble because
they do not have adequate capital and are too highly leveraged, insurance companies remain

relatively strong.
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This is not to say that the state financial regulation system is perfect. There are always
improvements to be made and new challenges to address. The current economic crisis has exposed
new clouds on the horizon, particularly within the life insurance sector, and there will be some
serious challenges if the economy continues to deteriorate at current rates. But that is true of
virtually every sector of our economy, and only reinforces the need to be wary of changing a part of

our regulatory system that has proven effective.

That brings me to the question of securities lending, because this is one area where the AIG situation
has exposed some problems and improvements are underway. Before addressing those issues,
however, let me again emphasize that securities lending did not pose unmanageable systemic risk and
was not the reason for federal intervention. AIG Financial Products was the source of federal

intervention.

If there had been no Financial Products unit and only the securities lending program, as it was, we
would not be here today. There would have been no federal rescue of AIG. Financial Products,
which wrote $440 billion in credit default swaps, as well as other derivatives and futures, with a total
notional value of about $2.7 trillion dollars as of September 2008, created systemic risk. Securities
lending, with a $58 billion balance in the U.S. life insurer portion of the pool outstanding in
September 2008, did not create systemic risk. If not for the run on the bank caused by Financial
Products, the securities lending pool would likely have continued to decline at a manageable pace, as

it had been doing under state regulator supervision for the year before the Financial Products crisis.

It is also important to understand that securities lending is an activity that has been going on for
decades without serious problems. Many, if not most, large financial institutions, including

commercial banks, investment banks and pension funds, participate in securities lending.

Securities lending involves financial institution X lending a stock or bond it owns to financial
institution Y. X still owns the security and will benefit from any growth in its value. Inreturn, Y
gives X collateral, usually cash, to secure the borrowing. Generally, the cash collateral provided is
about 102 percent of the value of the security it is borrowing. X then invests the cash to gain an
additional amount of return. These contracts typically mature in 30 to 90 days, with an option to

“rollover” and continue the contract for an additional term.
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Problems can occur if Y decides it wants to return the security it borrowed from X rather than
allowing the contract to rollover. X is then required to sell the investments it purchased with the cash
collateral in order to obtain the cash it owes Y. Generally, in a big securities lending program, X will
have some portion of the collateral investments in liquid assets it can easily sell. But if borrowers
choose to terminate contracts more frequently than planned for, then X may not be able to sell
enough assets quickly enough to obtain the eash it needs. If collateral investments have declined in
value, X may be required to sell assets for less than what is owed to Y. If the number of borrowers
choosing to terminate contracts grows large enough, X may not have enough assets with enough
value to-provide the cash it must return to the borrowers. This is the proverbial “run on the bank”

scenario.

In the case of AIG, it was the crisis at Financial Products that caused such a run, which exacerbated a
securities lending problem that state regulators were otherwise on the way to resolving. Furthermore,
even with the collateral damage caused by thc Financial Products crisis, it must be noted that the
securities lending problems at AIG have been defined, contained and fixed, meaning that securities

lending is not any part of the ongoing challenges at AIG.

AIG securities lending was consolidated by the holding company at a special unit it set up and
controlled, totaling about $76 billion in the U.S. life insurer portion of the pool at its height. This
special unit was not a licensed insurance company, but directed the securities lending program for a

variety of AIG affiliates, including the twelve U.S. life insurers.

Traditionally securities lending pools operated by insurers primarily invest in conservative, highly
liquid investments, such as treasuries and short-term paper, and include cash set aside to offset some
liquidity risk with these transactions. The AIG securities lending program initially operated in this
more traditional manner; however, as with some other holding company activities, the special unit
changed course and became more aggressive in its management and collateral investment practices to

generate additional revenue for AIG.

This change in philosophy was not disclosed by AIG and only came to light in 2006 under
questioning by state insurance regulators. By then, many of the collateral investments were already
facing some liquidity and market value stress. State insurance regulators immediately began working

with the companies to deal with those issues. While most of the AIG securities lending collateral
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investments were top-rated assets, about 60% of these assets were mortgage-backed securities,
including almost 29% in subprime. Today, with the perfect clarity of hindsight, we all know that

those ratings were not aligned with the market value of many mortgage-backed securities.

State insurance regulators were making steady progress in reducing the securities lending program,
but were thwarted by the Financial Products crisis in September 2008. From its peak of about $76
billion, the securities lending pool had declined by $18 billion, or about 24 percent, to about $58
billion by September 12, 2008. At that point, the crisis caused by Financial Products eaused a run on
the AIG securities lending program. Bormrowers that had reliably rotled over their positions from
period to period for months began returning the borrowed securities and demanding their cash
collateral. From September 12 to September 30, bosrowers demanded the return of about $24 billion

in cash.

To avoid massive losses from sudden forced sales, the federal government, as part of its rescue,
provided liquidity to the securities lending program. In the early weeks of the rescue, the holding
company used federal rescue funds to meet the collateral needs of the program. In November 2008,
the Federal Reserve Bank of New York created Maiden Lane Il, a special purpose vehicle that used
about $20 billion in federal funds to purchase the remaining securities lending collateral at market
value. The federal government still holds that collateral, which has held its market value in the $20

billion range since November.

State insurance regulators have closely monitored the securities lending programs operated within
other insurance entities, most of which have not posed problems. AIG’s property and casualty
companies had securities lending programs, but they were phased out without problems by August
2008. State insurance regulators have also acted to increase disclosure requirements for these

programs through the NAIC Statutory Accounting Principles Working Group.

Going forward, state insurance regulators are considering changes to regulations involving holding
company groups, as well as investments held by insurers. The issues that impacted the U.S. life
insurers due to the securitics lending program operated by the AIG holding company will be key

considerations in these discussions.

Financial Regulation can be Improved With a Coordinated Approach to Systemic Risk
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State insurance regulators recognize that action is needed at the federal level to identify and manage
systemic risk within the pation’s financial marketplace. That shared objective calls for a
collaborative approach to the regulation of financial enterprises that create true systemic risk, such as

AIG Financial Products.

We caution, however, that collaboration does not mean federal preemption. Under our supervision,
AIG and other insurance companies have weathered the current economic crisis relatively well, and
our conservative solvency standards have been validated. State insurance regulation should be

integrated into the framework for managing systemic risk.

In addition to consideration of financial stability or systemic risk regulation, Congress should also
consider imposing greater transparency in the capital markets so that financial products or
interactions that cause systemic risk can be more readily identified. The magnitude of the credit

default swaps market illustrates the nced for this reform.

State insurance regulators have been analyzing the potential for systemic risk within the insurance
industry, particularly regarding the oversight of financial holding companics, and we look forward to

contributing to the solutions being sought by Congress and the Administration.

Dr. Terri Vaughan, the new CEO of the NAIC, recently testified on behalf of state insurance
commissioners before this Subcommittee on the topic of systemic risk. She outlined the nature of
systemic risk within the insurance industry and proposed three principles supported by the state
insurance commissioners for achieving greater collaboration among financial service regulators

while securing and maintaining existing expertise through the principle of functional regulation:

e Primary role for states in insurance regulation. The framework should preserve the current
flexibility to address state needs at the state level and ensure eonsumer access to state-
based regulatory officials. The framework should include information sharing and
confidentiality protocols that give state insurance regulators access to the information they

need to fulfill their consumer protection responsibilities.
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s Formalization of regulatory cooperation and communication. Formal structures should be
enhanced to provide a forum for all financial service regulators to consult about emerging
trends and issues and develop best practices for systemic risk management.

o Group supervision of holding companies. The concept of “supervisory colleges” should be
used to involvc all financial regulators in understanding the risks within holding
companies deemed to pose systemic risk. This form of collaboration should operate in a
transparent and accountable manner that defers to the functional regulator and does not
compromise one company within the holding company structure simply for the benefit of
another company. Preemption of state insurance regulation should take place, if at all,
only under the very limited circumstances where necessary to address a material risk to the
financial system and only to the extent that obligations to policyholders and claimants are

met and state regulatory authority has been exhausted.

We look forward to continuing to work with Congress and the Administration on fleshing out these
principles and developing an effective approach to systemic risk that preserves the proven strength of

state-based insurance regulation.

Consumer Protection Must Remain Job One for Insurance Regulators

The primary goal of state insurance regulators throughout the AIG ordeal has been to protect
insurance company policyholders and stabilize the insurance marketplace. I believe we share this
goal with the federal government and with AIG officials, if only because all parties recognize that the
insurance companies are AIG’s most valuable assets and the key to preserving that value is the
continued confidence of policyholders. As efforts to resolve the ongoing problems at AIG Financial
Products continue, it is imperative that whatever actions are taken are guided by doing what is best
for policyholders. I can assure you that state insurance regulators will continue to evaluate any

transactions involving AlG insurance companies on that basis.

Thank you and I would be happy to answer your questions.
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Mr. Chairman, Mr. Ranking Member, Members of the Subcommittee, good moming.
My namc is Rodney Clark. I serve as a managing director in Standard & Poor's Ratings Services
business, and from 2005 until very recently, I served as S&P’s lead ratings analyst covering
American Intemnational Group (“AIG”™). I am pleased to appear before you today, and intend to
cover three broad topics: (i) the history of S&P’s ratings on AIG; (i) our reasoning in arriving at
those rating opinions, particularly those that we published over the last six months; and (iii) our
views with respect to the effect of AIG’s troubles on the creditworthiness of its subsidiaries.

At the outset, I would like to take a moment to speak generally about our ratings process
and to explain what ratings are and are not intended to convey.

S&P’s Credit Ratings

S&P’s credit ratings are our current opinions on the future credit risk of an entity or a
debt obligation. They express our opinion about the capacity and willingness of an entity to
meet all of its contractual and financial obligations as they come due. S&P’s ratings do not
speak to the market value of a security or the volatility of its price and they are not
recommendations to buy, sell or hold a security; they simply provide a tool for investors to use as
they assess risk and differentiate credit quality of obligors and the debt they issue.

S&P forms its rating opinions through quantitative and qualitative analysis performed by
rating analysts. These analysts gather information about a particular obligor or debt issue,
analyze the information according to our published criteria, form opinions about the information
and then present their findings to a committee of analysts that votes on what ratings to assign.

After a rating opinion is formed, S&P publishes the opinion in real-time and for free on its Web
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site, www.standardandpoors.com. We also generally publish a narrative along with our ratings
that provides additional detailed information about our opinion.

This is the process by which S&P arrived at its ratings on AIG, which I will now address
in some detail.
S&P’s AIG Rating History

Attached to my written submission is a table listing our global ratings history on AIG
since 1990. As the table shows, as of June 1990 S&P’s rating on AIG was ‘AAA." This is our
highest rating, and it reflected our view that AIG’s capacity to meet its financial commitments
was extremely strong. Our view took into consideration AIG’s internationally diversified
business mix, historically superior earnings performance, conscrvative balance sheet
management, and exceptional liquidity characteristics. Our opinion began to change, however,
starting in March 2005. Since then, S&P has lowered its rating of the company four times.
Recent Ratings Actions on AIG

S&P downgraded AIG on March 30, 2005, when it lowered AIG’s rating from ‘AAA’ to
‘AA+’. Our opinion of AIG had changed in large part due to the company’s involvement in a
number of questionable financial transactions, and reflected our revised assessment of AIG’s
management, internal controls, corporate governance and culture. In publishing this rating
change, we expressed the view that AIG’s globally diversified financial services group was still
expected to generate very strong earnings and profits. We also reported that the company had
told us that its new management had initiated a rigorous review of internal controls.

In June 2005, we again lowered our rating on AIG — this time to ‘AA’ — reflecting our

revised credit assessment based on significant accounting adjustments that had just been
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announced by the company. Despite strong overall eamnings, we believed that AIG’s adjusted
financial statements indicated greater volatility and lower profitability than had been previously
reported. At this time, AIG’s capitalization — that is, its ability to absorb losses — was
considered good.

In February 2008, S&P placed a negative outlook on the company based on concerns
about the way AIG was determining the fair value of credit default swaps — or “CDS” — it had
entered into. As has recently been widely reported, CDS are essentially guarantees of credit risk
on securities or entities. AIG’s CDS guaranteed an array of structured finance securities,
including securities backed by subprime residential mortgages.

Three months later, in May 2008, we lowered our rating on AIG further to ‘AA-’. This
rating action was based in large part on our reaction to the company’s announcement of an after-
tax loss of $7.8 billion, including $5.9 billion in losses related to its CDS portfolio. S&P
maintained a negative outlook on AIG throughout the summer of 2008.

In August, following a deal-by-deal credit analysis of AIG’s investment and CDS
portfolios, S&P reached its view — and stated publicly — that AIG’s actual credit-related losses
in these areas would likely amount to around $8 billion with significantly higher mark-to-market
losses.

As has been well publicized, AIG’s financial condition deteriorated sharply in September
2008 following substantial market disruptions, including government takeovers of Freddie Mac
and Fannie Mae, the bankruptcy of Lehman Brothers, and the sale of Merrill Lynch, among other
things. These events led to a sudden drop in the market value of AIG’s investments and, more

importantly, the investments of third parties that had purchased CDS guarantees from AIG.
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In light of these events, on September 12, 2008, S&P placed its ratings of AIG and ail
AIG subsidiarics on CreditWatch with negative implications. Three days later, on September 15,
2008, as AIG’s condition continued to deteriorate, S&P lowered its rating further to ‘A-". As
stated in our published reports at the time, our decision to downgrade AIG was based primarily
on a combination of AIG’s reduced flexibility in meeting collateral needs and its increasing
CDS-related losses.

Two days later, on September 17, 2008, the Federal Reserve Bank of New York extended
an $85 billion borrowing facility to AIG. Were it not for this government assistance, we believe
that A1G’s creditworthiness would have continued to deteriorate. Indeed, our current rating on
AIG, which remains at ‘A-’, includes a six-notch “uplift” to account for federal government
support. Thus, without government support, our rating on AIG today would be ‘BB-".

S&P’s Current Outlook For AIG

Two weeks ago, on March 2, 2009, S&P affirmed its ‘A-’ rating on AIG. This rating, as
noted, is adjusted to account for continuing federal government support. We expect that, as the
federal government’s recapitalization improves AIG’s access to equity capital, the pressurc on
debt holders will likely be reduced.

In our view, the government’s continuing actions with respect to AIG have significantly
reduced the risk of further rapid deterioration in the company’s creditworthiness. However, we
maintain our negative outlook on the company going forward. This is based in part on
intermediate-term concerns about the company’s ability to retain key staff and to engage in
profitable new business, as well as its ability to carry out plans to raise capital by selling off

some of its subsidiaries, particularly in light of the current lack of liquidity in the capital markets.
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Our ongoing negative outlook for AIG also reflects our expectation that there will be
increased pressure on the company’s insurance businesses, as well as an overall susceptibility to
broader market trends in light of AIG’s weakened position. Although at this point we have not
seen clear evidence of long-term damage to AIG's insurance franchise, there have been
widespread reports that competitors are actively pursuing AIG's accounts and key underwriting
personnel. If in our view these factors become a significant threat to future business prospects,
we could lower AIG’s rating again. On the other hand, if AIG's business were to stabilize and
government support continues, we would consider revising the outlook to stable.

The Relationship Between AIG and its Subsidiaries

With respect to the effect of AIG’s troubles on the creditworthiness of its subsidiaries, we
believe those subsidiaries are to some extent insulated. For example, if AIG had been forced into
bankruptcy, the bankruptcy would have likely included a relatively small number of AIG's
subsidiaries -— such as AIG Financial Products Corp. — with only a marginal impact on AIG’s
insurance subsidiaries. That is because the insurance subsidiaries’ capital is generally insulated
by state insurance laws and regulations.

Nevertheless, when S&P lowered its credit rating on AIG to ‘A-’ on September 15, we
also lowered the ratings on most of AIG's insurance subsidiaries to ‘A+' from 'AA+', where they
remain today. While AIG’s financial problems have no direct effect on the solvency of its

‘insurance subsidiaries, we believe the creditworthiness of those subsidiaries is nevertheless
indirectly affected in two primary respects. First, financial problems at AIG generally make it
less likely that AIG will provide additional capital to its subsidiaries in the event the subsidiaries

suffer investment losses of their own or otherwise require recapitalization. This concern is
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somewhat muted by AIG’s receipt of government support — indeed, the parent company just
recently recapitalized certain of its U.S. and Asian life insurance subsidiaries. Nevertheless,
there is, in our view, still some risk that recapitalizations of subsidiaries will be less likely to
continue while the parent company seeks to stabilize itsclf.

The second issue we see affecting the creditworthiness of AIG’s insurance subsidiaries
relates more generally to overall reputational risk resulting from the parent company’s financial
problems. For example, it may be morc difficult for the subsidiaries to retain and attract new
customers where there is uncertainty surrounding the parent company — particularly in light of
the widely-held expectation that some of the subsidiaries will be sold off by AIG as part of the
ongoing effort to strengthen its balance sheet.

As a general matter, S&P believes that AIG’s insurance subsidiaries are currently well
capitalized to meet their policy obligations. The strength of the subsidiaries is a positive factor
in our view of AIG’s overall creditworthiness. Our ratings on any particular subsidiary could
change in the cvent of a sale of the subsidiary by AIG. The nature of the change would likely
depend on the buyer and the impact of the sale on the subsidiary’s competitive position, capital
structure, and eamnings. It is quite possible that the ratings on some subsidiaries could move in a
different direction than others.

The Effect of S&P’s Ratings on the Decline of AIG

Another subject the Subcommittee asked me to address is whether S&P’s ratings may
have contributed to the decline of AIG. While some have argued that S&P was too slow to
downgrade AIG, others have said that we acted too aggressively and that our downgrades

contributed to AIG’s decline. We believe that AIG’s difficulties resulted from the convergence
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of many factors, including the unprecedented and substantial deterioration in the market value of
AIG’s assets and CDS portfolio. Our rating changes were driven by, and reflected our view of,
these developments. In any event, we do not believe it would have been appropriate or
consistent with our independent role in the markets for S&P to have refrained from taking any
rating action we otherwise believed was warranted based on changing credit risks simply out of
deference to a particular issuer. Our ratings are not driven by market sentiment. Rather, our role
is to act as independent observers offering our views of creditworthiness.
Lack of Involvement in Government Aid Packages

Finally, in my invitation to testify, the Subcommittee’ asked me to describe any
involvement S&P may have had in connection with the structuring or restructuring of the
government’s support packages to AIG. Although S&P has been informed by government
officials about the actions that have been taken, we have had no participation in the structuring or
restructuring of these packages; nor has S&P provided, or been asked to provide, any advice or
consultation to the government in coanection with its support of AIG.
Conclusion

I thank you for the opportunity to participate in this hearing, and I would be happy to

answer any questions you may have.
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Table of S&P ratings history for American International Group Inc. since June 1990

Date Rating/Outlook
26-Jun-1990 AAA/Stable
29-Oct-2004 AAA/Negative
15-Mar-2005 AAA/Watch Neg
30-Mar-2005 AA+/Watch Neg
03-Jun-2005 AA/Negative
10-Nov-2006 AA/Stable
12-Feb-2008 AA/Negative
08-May-2008 AA-/Watch Neg
21-May-2008 AA-/Negative
12-Sep-2008 AA-/Watch Neg
15-Sep-2008 A-/Watch Neg
17-Sep-2008 A-/Watch Dev
03-Oct-2008 A-/Watch Neg
02-Mar-2009 A-/Negative
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TESTIMONY BY
MR. EDWARD M. LIDDY,
CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER,
AMERICAN INTERNATIONAL GROUP

BEFORE THE HOUSE FINANCIAL SERVICES
SUBCOMMITTEE ON CAPITAL MARKETS, INSURANCE

AND GOVERNMENT-SPONSORED ENTERPRISES

WEDNESDAY, MARCH 18, 2009

THANK YOU CHAIRMAN KANJORSKI, RANKING MEMBER GARRETT, HONORABLE
MEMBERS OF THE SUBCOMMITTEE. I APPRECIATE THE OPPORTUNITY TO APPEAR

BEFORE YOU TODAY.

MY NAME IS EDWARD LIDDY. SIX MONTHS AGO, | CAME OUT OF RETIREMENT TO
HELP MY COUNTRY. 1 HAVE HAD THE DUTY, HONOR, AND EXTRAORDINARY
CHALLENGE OF SERVING AS CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER OF
AMERICAN INTERNATIONAL GROUP - AIG. 1 SPEAK TO YOU TODAY ON BEHALF
OF 116,000 AIG EMPLOYEES AROUND THE WORLD WHO ARE UNITED AROUND

THREE SIMPLE BELIEFS:
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» FIRST, WHEN YOU OWE SOMEONE MONEY, YOU PAY THAT MONEY BACK.

» SECOND, WHEN YOU HAVE SHAREHOLDERS — AND TODAY THE AMERICAN
TAXPAYER, THROUGH THE U.S. GOVERNMENT, IS OUR BIGGEST
SHAREHOLDER - YOU ARE ACCOUNTABLE TO THEM FOR HOW YOUR
BUSINESS IS RUN.

> THIRD, WHEN A FINANCIAL CALAMITY OF THE KIND THAT HIT AIG
STRIKES, THE ONLY POSSIBLE RESPONSE IS TO ROLL UP YOUR SLEEVES,
ACKNOWLEDGE THE MISTAKES OF THE PAST, CORRECT THOSE MISTAKES
AND MOVE FORWARD ~ EXACTLY WHAT AIG’S EMPLOYEES HAVE BEEN

DOING.

WE ARE MEETING TODAY AT A HIGH POINT OF PUBLIC ANGER. AMERICANS
WANT TO KNOW HOW THE COUNTRY GOT INTO THE FINANCIAL MESS WE ARE
IN, HOW WE ARE GOING TO GET OUT OF IT, AND HOW QUICKLY WE CAN GET
BACK TO THE ECONOMIC GROWTH AND PROSPERITY WE ENJOYED FOR SO

MANY YEARS.

I SHARE THAT ANGER. AS A BUSINESSMAN OF SOME 37 YEARS,  HAVE SEEN THE
GOOD SIDE OF CAPITALISM. OVER THE LAST FEW MONTHS, IN REVIEWING HOW
AIG HAD BEEN RUN IN PRIOR YEARS, | HAVE ALSO SEEN EVIDENCE OF ITS BAD

SIDE.



159

MISTAKES WERE MADE AT AIG ON A SCALE FEW COULD HAVE EVER IMAGINED
POSSIBLE. THE MOST CRITICAL OF THOSE MISTAKES WAS THAT THE COMPANY
STRAYED FROM ITS CORE COMPETENCIES IN THE INSURANCE BUSINESS. THIS
WAS TYPIFIED BY THE CREATION OF WHAT GREW TO BECOME AN INTERNAL
HEDGE FUND, WHICH THEN BECAME SUBSTANTIALLY OVEREXPOSED TO

MARKET RISK.

THOSE MISSTEPS HAVE EXACTED A VERY HIGH PRICE, NOT ONLY FOR AIG BUT
FOR AMERICA’S TAXPAYERS, THE FEDERAL GOVERNMENT’S FINANCES AND THE

ECONOMY AS A WHOLE,

OUR NEW MANAGEMENT TEAM CONCLUDED VERY QUICKLY THAT THE
COMPANY’S OVERALL STRUCTURE IS TOO COMPLEX, TOO UNWIELDY, AND TOO
OPAQUE FOR ITS COMPONENT BUSINESSES TO BE WELL-MANAGED AS ONE
COMPANY. WE IMMEDIATELY TOOK STEPS TO RESTRUCTURE AIG, ALTHOUGH
THE CONTINUED DETERIORATION OF WORLD MARKETS AND THE INABILITY OF
BUYERS TO ACCESS CAPITAL HAVE IMPEDED OUR ABILITY TO SECURE

SUFFICIENT VALUE FOR AIG ASSETS AT THIS TIME,
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WE HAVE ALSO CONCLUDED ~ AS MANY IN THE CONGRESS HAVE AS WELL -
THAT THERE MUST BE SAFEGUARDS IN PLACE AGAINST THE SYSTEMIC
CONSEQUENCES OF FAILURES OF LARGE, INTER-CONNECTED FINANCIAL

INSTITUTIONS.

LET ME BRIEFLY DISCUSS THE PROGRESS WE HAVE MADE OVER THE PAST SIX
MONTHS WORKING WITH OUR PARTNERS FROM THE FEDERAL RESERVE AND
U.S. TREASURY. | AGREED TO TAKE THE REINS AT AIG LAST SEPTEMBER, AT THE
REQUEST OF THE U.S. GOVERNMENT AND AFTER THE COMPANY HAD TURNED

TO THE U.S. GOVERNMENT FOR FINANCIAL SUPPORT.

THE COMPANY’S REQUEST FOR SUPPORT POSED TO THE FEDERAL RESERVE AND
U.S. TREASURY A DIFFICULT DILEMMA: SHOULD THEY LET THE COMPANY FAIL,
OR SHOULD THEY PROVIDE INTERIM SUPPORT GIVEN AIG'S DEEPLY EMBEDDED
ROLE IN THE GLOBAL FINANCIAL SYSTEM? AS WE ALL KNOW, THE U.S.
GOVERNMENT DETERMINED THAT A COLLAPSE OF AIG AND THE CONSEQUENT
BLOWS TO OUR COUNTERPARTIES AND CUSTOMERS AROUND THE WORLD
POSED TOO GREAT A RISK TO THE GLOBAL ECONOMY, PARTICULARLY IN THE
CONTEXT OF THE NEAR OR ACTUAL FAILURE OF OTHER FINANCIAL

INSTITUTIONS.
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ON BEHALF OF MY COLLEAGUES, I WANT TO THANK THE FEDERAL RESERVE
AND THE U.S. TREASURY FOR MAKING THAT EXTRAORDINARILY TOUGH CALL.
IT HAS MEANT THAT TOGETHER WE HAVE BEEN ABLE TO PRESERVE JOBS AND
BUSINESSES, AND PROTECT POLICYHOLDERS WHO RELY ON THE PROMISE OF

INSURANCE TO SECURE THEIR WELL-BEING.

WE HAVE ADDRESSED OUR LIQUIDITY CRISIS AND STABILIZED THE COMPANY"'S

CASH POSITION,

WE ARE EXECUTING A METHODICAL, ORDERLY WIND-DOWN OF AIG FINANCIAL
PRODUCTS, THE BUSINESS THAT CAUSED MANY OF THE COMPANY’S FINANCIAL
PROBLEMS; WE HAVE REDUCED THE NOTIONAL VALUE OF AIG FINANCIAL

PRODUCTS’ DERIVATIVES BUSINESS FROM $2.7 TRILLION TO $1.6 TRILLION.

AND ALTHOUGH THE PACE OF OUR MOST IMPORTANT ASSET SALES HAS
SLOWED BECAUSE OF POOR MARKET CONDITIONS, WE HAVE EXECUTED

SEVERAL SALE TRANSACTIONS AND EXPECT MORE IN THE FUTURE.
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THOSE ARE SIGNIFICANT STEPS. MOREOVER, WE HAVE ACHIEVED THIS
PROGRESS AGAINST STIFF HEADWINDS, INSURANCE COMPANY STOCKS IN THE
LAST FIVE WEEKS HAVE GONE DOWN 35 PERCENT; SINCE THE BEGINNING OF
THE YEAR, 50 PERCENT; AND IN THE LAST FIVE MONTHS, 65 PERCENT. THE SAME
MACRO-ECONOMIC FORCES THAT MAKE FOR ROUGH SAILING FOR AIG ARE
BUFFETING OTHERS IN THE FINANCIAL SERVICES SECTOR AS WELL. AND THIS

CREATES PROBLEMS FOR POTENTIAL BUYERS OF AIG ASSETS.

WE UNDERSTOOD THAT SINCE OUR RELATIONSHIP WITH THE GOVERNMENT
AND TAXPAYERS HAD CHANGED, OUR BEHAVIOR AS A COMPANY NEEDED TO
CHANGE. SO, ON OUR OWN INITIATIVE, WE ADOPTED A SERIES OF RESTRICTIONS
ON EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION, ELIMINATED OUR FEDERAL LOBBYING
ACTIVITIES, HALTED CORPORATE POLITICAL CONTRIBUTIONS, AND KEPT

CONTROLS ON OUR EXPENSES.

WE ARE ALSO MOVING URGENTLY ON A BUSINESS PLAN DESIGNED TO
MAXIMIZE THE VALUE OF OUR CORE BUSINESSES, SO THAT IN TURN WE CAN

MAXIMIZE THE AMOUNT THAT WE REPAY TO AMERICAN TAXPAYERS.
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ON MARCH 2", WE ANNOUNCED ROBUST NEW ARRANGMENTS WITH THE
FEDERAL RESERVE AND U.S. TREASURY THAT GIVE US ADDED FLEXIBILITY TO
EXECUTE THAT BUSINESS PLAN. WITH THESE CHANGES, WE WILL TAKE TWO OF
AIG’S INSURANCE COMPANIES ~ AIA AND ALICO ~ AND PLACE THEM IN A TRUST
FOR THE BENEFIT OF THE FEDERAL RESERVE. WHEN WE DO THAT, WE WILL
SUBSTANTIALLY REDUCE THE $40 BILLION IN Al1G’S OUTSTANDING DEBT ON THE

$60 BILLION FEDERAL RESERVE CREDIT FACILITY.

WE WILL ALSO IMPLEMENT A SECURITIZATION PROCESS THROUGH WHICH AIG
WILL REALIZE TODAY THE CASH VALUE OF SOME OF OUR INSURANCE
BUSINESSES. WITH THOSE TWO STEPS, PLUS CASH FROM THE SALE OF
BUSINESSES, WE SHOULD BE ABLE TO EXTINGUISH OUR DEBT TO THE FEDERAL

RESERVE.

WE WILL ALSO COMBINE THE COMPANY’S COMMERICIAL INSURANCE AND
FOREIGN GENERAL INSURANCE UNITS, CREATING A STRONGER ENTITY THAT
WE BELIEVE COULD ATTRACT SUBSTANTIAL INTEREST IN A MINORITY

INVESTMENT.
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IT ISOUR INTENT TO BE AS TRANSPARENT AND FORTHCOMING AS POSSIBLE. IT
IS IN THAT SPIRIT THAT WE TOOK STEPS EARLIER THIS MONTH TO POST TO OUR
WEB SITE AN “AlIG SYSTEMIC RISK ANALYSIS”. AFTER CLOSE CONSULTATION
WITH THE FEDERAL RESERVE, AIG HAS ALSO DISCLOSED INFORMATION ‘
IDENTIFYING CERTAIN CREDIT DEFAULT SWAP COUNTERPARTIES, MUNICIPAL
COUNTERPARTIES AND SECURITIES LENDING COUNTERPARTIES. AS WE MOVE
FORWARD, WE WILL BE VIGILANT ABOUT OUR RESPONSIBILITIES TO BE

ACCOUNTABLE TO, AND TRANSPARENT WITH, THE AMERICAN PEOPLE.

LET ME CLOSE WITH THESE FINAL THOUGHTS:

NO ONE KNOWS BETTER THAN I THAT AIG HAS BEEN THE RECIPIENT OF
GENEROUS AMOUNTS OF GOVERNMENT FINANCIAL AID. WE HAVE BEEN THE
BENEFICIARY OF THE AMERICAN PEOPLE’S FORBEARANCE AND PATIENCE. AND
WE ARE ACUTELY AWARE NOT ONLY THAT WE MUST BE GOOD STEWARDS OF
THE PUBLIC FUNDS WE HAVE RECEIVED, BUT THAT THE PATIENCE OF

AMERICA’S TAXPAYERS IS WEARING THIN.
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WHERE THAT PATIENCE IS ESPECIALLY THIN IS ON THE QUESTION OF
COMPENSATION. | AM PERSONALLY MINDFUL BOTH OF THE ENVIRONMENT IN
WHICH WE ARE OPERATING AND THE PRESIDENT’S CALL FOR A MORE
RESTRAINED COMPENSATION SYSTEM. AT THE SAME TIME, WE ARE
ESSENTIALLY OPERATING AIG ON BEHALF OF THE AMERICAN TAXPAYER SO
THAT WE CAN MAXIMIZE THE AMOUNT OF MONEY WE PAY BACK TO THE

GOVERNMENT.

IN ORDER TO DO THAT, WE HAVE TO CONTINUE MANAGING OUR BUSINESS AS A
BUSINESS —~ TAKING ACCOUNT OF THE COLD REALITIES OF COMPETITION FOR
CUSTOMERS, FOR REVENUES AND FOR EMPLOYEES. BECAUSE OF THIS, AND
BECAUSE OF CERTAIN LEGAL OBLIGATIONS, AIG HAS RECENTLY MADE A SET OF

COMPENSATION PAYMENTS, SOME OF WHICH I FIND DISTASTEFUL.

WE AT AIG WANT TO BELIEVE THAT WE ARE ALL IN THIS TOGETHER. WE HAVE
BEEN WORKING SHOULDER-TO-SHOULDER WITH THE NEW YORK FEDERAL
RESERVE AND U.S. TREASURY. I WANT TO ASSURE YOU THAT THE PEOPLE AT
AIG TODAY ARE WORKING AS HARD AS WE CAN TO EXECUTE THE
RESTRUCTURING PLAN THAT, WE BELIEVE, OFFERS AMERICA’S TAXPAYERS THE

BEST POSSIBLE OUTCOME:
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¢ REPAYMENT OF AIG’S DEBT TO THE GOVERNMENT TO THE MAXIMUM

EXTENT POSSIBLE,;

e CONTINUATION OF AIG’S MAIN INSURANCE UNITS AS STRONG, THRIVING

BUSINESSES;

¢ AND THE CONTINUED PROTECTION OF POLICYHOLDERS THAT HAS

ALWAYS BEEN AT THE CORE OF THE COMPANY’S MISSION.

WITH THAT, MR. CHAIRMAN, I WOULD REQUEST THAT MY REMARKS AND
SEVERAL ADDITIONAL DOCUMENTS BE INCLUDED IN THE HEARING RECORD,

AND I AM HAPPY TO RESPOND TO YOUR QUESTIONS. THANK YOU.

10
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ADDENDUM TO TESTIMONY BY MR. EDWARD M. LIDDY,

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER, AMERICAN INTERNATIONAL GROUP
BEFORE THE HOUSE FINANCIAL SERVICES SUBCOMMITTEE ON CAPITAL MARKETS,
INSURANCE AND GOVERNMENT-SPONSORED ENTERPRISES

WEDNESDAY, MARCH 18, 2009

AlG]

The AIG Financial Crisis: A Summary

AIG traces its roots back 90 years when an American entrepreneur named C.V. Starr founded AIG’s
earliest predecessor company in Shanghai. What began as a small insurance business grew to
become one of the world’s largest companies. By early 2007 AIG had assets of $1 trillion, $110
billion in revenues, 74 million customers and 116,000 employees in 130 countries and jurisdictions.
Yet just 18 months later, AIG found itself on the brink of failure and in need of emergency
government assistance.

What Happened?

Building upon its premier global life franchise and general insurance, AIG expanded into a range of
financial services businesses. One of these, created in 1987, was AIG Financial Products (AIGFP),
a company that provides clients with risk management solutions. Among other activities, AIGFP
sold credit default swaps to other financial institutions to protect against the defauit of certain
securities. Many of these securities at the time were given a bond rating of AAA and higher.
However, in late 2007, as the U.S. residential mortgage market began to deteriorate, these securities
were severely impacted. As a result, AIG recorded severe unrealized valuation losses on AIGFP’s
credit default swap portfolio.

At the same time, AIG incurred heavy losses in the value of its securities lending operation, which
invested in high-grade residential mortgage-backed securities. Through this program, AIG made
short-term loans of certain securities it owned to generate revenues. At the same time, other AIG
real estate-refated investments also suffered sharp value losses.

It is important to note that throughout the crisis, AIG's insurance businesses were — and continue to
be — healthy. The losses that occurred as a result of AIGFP’s action had no impact on AIG
policyholders. AIG’s insurance companies are closely regulated by New York and other states and
regions worldwide. Their reserves are protected through regulations that prevent the removal of
capital so that each AIG member insurance company has adequate assets to back each policy and
meet all policyholder obligations.

Even though AJG had incurred virtually no actual credit losses, the severe write-downs led to
downgrades in its credit ratings. In addition, AIG was forced to post billions of dollars in collateral
to cover potential losses to holders of AIG credit default swaps. Meanwhile, the world capital and
credit markets deteriorated rapidly, making it virtually impossible to access other sources of capital
to fund these collateral requirements or meet other cash needs.
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Deteriorating conditions in globa! financial markets only made matters worse for AIG. The
collapse of respected financial institutions such as Bear Stearns and Lehman Brothers sent
shockwaves through the world economy. The faiture of the U.S.-sponsored mortgage companies
Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac added to the financial disruption. During this time, AIG was seeking
private capital solutions to its liquidity problem, exploring possible solutions with state insurance
regulators in New York and Pennsylvania. However, as the market deteriorated further, A1G’s
share price dropped. In mid-September 2008, AIG’s credit ratings were downgraded once again,
triggering additional collateral calls and cash-flow issues in excess of $20 billion. Suddenly, AIG,
although solvent, faced an acute liquidity crisis.

Because of its size and substantial interconnection with financial markets and institutions around the
world, the federal government and financial industry immediately recognized that an uncontrolled
failure of AIG would have had severe ramifications. In addition to being the world’s largest
insurer, AIG was providing more than $400 billion of credit protection to banks and other clients
around the world through its credit default swap business. AIG also provides credit support to
municipal transit systems and is a major participant in foreign exchange and interest rate markets.

Initial Investment From the U.S. Government

To stabilize AIG and prevent the potential ripple effects should it fail, the United States government
extended a two-year emergency loan of $85 billion on September 16, 2008. The facility carried a
rate of LIBOR (the London Interbank Offered Rate ~ a widely used benchmark used to set short-
term interest rates) plus 8.5%, a commitment fee of 2% on the loan principal and a fee on the
undrawn portion of 8.5%. Additionally, the government would be entitled to 79.9% ownership of
the company and also, at the government’s request, AIG agreed to elect a new Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer. After consultation with the U.S. Treasury and Federal Reserve Bank of New
York, AIG’s Board of Directors elected Edward M. Liddy Chairman and Chief Executive Officer.

With the loan in place, Mr. Liddy devised a restructuring plan to enable AlG to sell many of its
leading businesses around the world and pay back the government loan with interest. However,
ALlG still had to address the two principal sources of its liquidity losses: the multi-sector credit
default swap portfolio and the securities lending operation.

As the financial industry continued to falter in October and November, it became apparent that the
terms of AIG’s original government loan would not provide the flexibility necessary for AlG to
resolve its financial chatlenges. A revised plan was needed to better address the company’s liquidity
losses and give the company more time and greater flexibility to sell assets and pay back the
government. On November 10, 2008, the original government loan was restructured to inciude a
$40 billion investment by the U.S. Treasury through the Troubled Asset Relief Program (TARP)
and a five-year Federal Reserve Bank of New York credit facility with a borrowing limit of up to
$60 billion. In addition, two financing entities, Maiden Lane I1 and Maiden Lane I1I, were created
to acquire AIG’s multi-sector credit default swap assets and AIG’s securities lending assets
respectively. The entities were funded primarily by the Federal Reserve Bank of New York with a
smaller capital contribution by AIG. Under the terms of the agreement, the majority of any
appreciation in the securities held by the entities would go to the government.
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Economic and Market Conditions Worsen

The assistance provided by the U.S. government in November succeeded in addressing AIG’s
liquidity issues. However, economic and capital market conditions continued to deteriorate, which
created significant mark to market losses for AIG in the fourth quarter of 2008. At the same time,
potential buyers of AIG’s businesses were facing significant financial challenges of their own,
which diminished their ability to raise capital to purchase AIG assets.

As economic and capital market conditions worsened, AIG worked with the U.S. government on
developing a new set of tools to help AIG achieve a comprehensive restructuring over the next
several years, On March 2, 2009, AIG announced these new tools, which include exchanging the
U.S. Treasury’s cumulative preferred shares in AIG for preferred shares that more closely resemble
common equity; a new five-year standby equity capital facility, which will alfow AIG to raise up to
$30 biltion of capital by issuing non-cumulative preferred stock to the U.S. Treasury from time to
time as needed; debt-for-equity swaps that allow AIG to tap the value of its insurance companies to
repay a portion of the government credit facility; elimination of the LIBOR floor on the credit
facility, which will Jower AIG’s interest cost; and continued access to the credit facility, although
with reduced borrowing capacity.

AlIG’s Plans Going Forward

A comprehensive and orderly restructuring of AIG is essential to pay back support it has received
from the U.S. government, The company’s overall structure is too complex, too unwieldy and too
opaque for its component businesses to be well managed as one entity. So AIG is now executing a
strategy, in close cooperation with the Federal Reserve and U.S. Treasury, to protect the value of its
component businesses, capture part of that value to pay back monies owed to the government, and
position its businesses for the future as more independently run, transparent companies.

The corporate leadership team now in place has made progress executing its restructuring plan by:
reducing the excessive risk from exposure to certain financial products, derivatives trading
activities, and securities lending; rationalizing AIG’s cost structure; selling easily separable assets;
and stabilizing the company’s liquidity.

The new set of tools announced on March 2, 2009 will allow AIG to redirect is restructuring plan
away from relying solely on immediate sales for cash to a process that allows AIG to maximize the
value of its individual business for the benefit of all stakeholders, including U.S. taxpayers. AIG
expects to achieve a complete and orderly restructuring over the next several years through a
process that protects policyholders, continues to reduce risk, and produces strong, focused
franchises that can operate as independent entities. In the meantime, the leaders of AIG’s insurance
companies remain focused on running well-capitalized and competitive enterprises.

AIG is dedicated to maintaining its well-known underwriting discipline and providing value to
policyholders, agents and the other business partners who are central to its success. AIG’s
employees, the vast majority of whom have had nothing to do with the problems that have
devastated AIG and wiped out some or all of their life savings, are at the heart of this effort. They
have reduced costs and sharpened their focus on AIG’s customers despite very difficult conditions.
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AIG also recognizes the importance of its relationship with the U.S. government. AJG has taken
several steps in this regard, including restrictions on executive compensation, suspension of federal
lobbying and cessation of corporate political contributions. In addition, AIG is engaged in
improving transparency by working with regulators on capital adequacy, appropriate accounting
treatment during times of market disruption, and risk management metrics.

Resolving the economic problems facing the U.S. and world markets will require a cooperative
effort by the public and private sectors. AIG is committed to playing a constructive role in this
process to ensure that it can serve shareholders and pay back taxpayers as it contributes to the U.S.
and world economies.

HitH



171

6002 ‘81 HOYVIN ‘AVASINGIM

SIASIUdYILNT AIAOSNOCS-LNIWNHYIAOD ANV
JONVUNSNI ‘SLINUVIN TVLIdVO NO
J3LLINNODGNS S3DIAYUTS TVIONVNI4 I3SNOH 3FHL Fd0438

dNOYO TVYNOILVNYILNI NVOIRIINV
‘4301440 JAILNDIAXT 43IHD ANV NVINNIVHO
‘AQQIT ‘W QdVMQa3 ¥ A9 ANOWILSIL OL WNAN3AAV

DIV



172

£Ssauisng sjonpoud |eloueuld s,9|y JO Snje)s ay} Si JeYymy ‘X
élauenb Yy ay ul ssoj abuej e yons podas o1y pip Aypm x|
EOA|OAD 9] J0j Joddns JUSWUIBA0Y S () 3Y} PIP MOH “lIIA
éuoddns Juawuwianog *s n ay) Aedas 9|y |im MOH “lIA

&SIV Ul Juawysaaul
siokedxe) g n sy} Buikpapun anjea jo saoinos ayj aJe Jeypy IA

¢ 06 Aauow ay) pip ataymy ‘A
éNsU Je si Asuow yonw MoH “Aj
épandsal oly sem Aymy |
cBuoamiuamieym il

4Op OlV saop jeym |

epuaby E




173

Twhox\cmamﬁ — a7 ubaiog _ — Jajiog Weals piojueH w
SJINPOLd jeIdueULY DY _ ajeisg jeay eqoio ‘ _ 021y ~ 9y ubiaio4 w _mmc: {euossad o:meoD_
[ N _ SJUBWISIAU| BAlBLIBHY _ “ (v1y) Bisy ~ aji] ubiaioq _ _ Auesene) sbebpop _
_ | |
ﬁ Aunb3 jeqofo w _ "SAG JuaLlaley wog “ # {eJauas) ubio4 _
_ _ |
il M aLJ0oU} paxld [BQoj9 ‘ _ a7 onsewoq _ ﬁ 22UEBINSUY [BIDJAWOY _
| | | |
BAAISG JRIDU 4 _ _ jusawabeuey Jossy _ m "SAS JUBWBAINSY § 3] H * IueINSU] jRIBUID) *

o

“|e303 ayj o} ssauisng pajeinbas Apybij Jo uoodoad ayy

pasealou; pue abesaas] Bunesado s)i paseasou; Ajealb HYsu Jo swioy mau o0} Dy pasodxa syl
‘sassauisng sjaxJew jepden pue SaARALISP S} ‘Jejnoiied ul ‘SasSaulIsnq SaJIAIAG jeloueUlY
aoueinsui-uou s) Maib Ajaaissasbbe Auedwos ayy ‘s,066 L-23e] 2y} ul Buipels “uonesado
ajueInsul 9AJRAIaSUOD pue pajejnbal ‘pajaadsal-|jom e Sem DIV ‘S,066 L-33e} au} Iun

¢op ol seop 1eum [9R AN




174

2oUE}S|SSE
10} ANGHS

ay) 0) pauim Oy
‘101988 ayeAud
ay) woly jendes
asies 0} sidwa)ie

spaau Aupinby
feuonippe
Bupesauab
‘suopisod nayy
Buyios paddois
sajrediaunod
Buipuan
SaNIBS =
sjuawasnbal
Bupsod {eiae)j0

8002
Aepy ut lendes jo
uq gz$ ostel 0} iy
padio) pue ¥su je
uoiisod Aypinby pue
leudes sOind =
80/91/6 uBnoil
ugq pzzé - d49iy
j0 saediajunod
0} fel93R}02
juesyubis 1sod
0} Oy painbay a
80/6-20/6
woyy ‘Ajpandadsal
‘%GR pue
%7Z UMOp d1am
$9011d SalUNIAS
paxoeq abefuow
|enuapisal
pajel-gag
pue apeifi-ybiHy

olvjo

apeifumop jipaIa pue
$3anuNaas pasjuesend
Ui sauap

ao1d Joj sien
{es2je1j03 [enuajod

paje; 1Yy paseasu} Buunseaw ;sa31pu} = 0} Oy pasodx3y
800Z/9L/6 8002/S1/6 S002 - L00Z
sajousby Buisnoy jepuapisas
sBuney 0} papn sanunNoss
S924N0S3. edroutsd uo sdemg
Aipinby sy Aq papesBumop £00Z Jo e w 3nejaQ }paID
sjsneyxa 9jy oIV SHY Younid 31palsn 30IM d4 DIV

N

Xapuy |-90XaY {1 'SSloN

¢ Buoim Juam Jeym O H<




175

193.4)S {|EM INOUE SBM )i SE }3a1)S UIRl INOGE YINw SBe SEM andasal s,9|V

-0lydoJiseled aq pinom awodNe ay}

“g°'M 2y} ui sapljod anjea aoey Jo oKl 514 @4l 0} peaids uoibejuoo
siyy pinoys ‘jedids anjea jasse Buuioap ayy Buolouial pue

s80ud Jamoj je sajes Jasse alow Buidloy ‘siapjoy Aoyod Buipoddns
jendeo ayj Jiedwi pjnoo MUeg-ay}-uo-und, B 10 AJAlIOE Jopualins
pasesalou] "auocie gOoZ Ut swiejd ui uoliq z1L$ Jano pied Auedwod
8YL "UOIlji)} 6°L$ JO ON[eA S0B) B UM ‘OpIMPLIOM S[ENPIAPUL

0} sa101jod oUBINSUI 9] UOIIIW | § UBY} 2I0W USJUM SBY Oy

S18pIOH AD1Od 1083044

soold Jasse Ui [elids pIEMUMOP 8y} O}

WINUSWOLW pappe pue sjexew jendes aiyy ut suondnisip Juesiyubis
pajealn pey ‘OB SIppal4 PUE e dlule jO uoiieziieuoijeu

3y}l yim padnos ‘s1aylolg UBWYaT pUe sules)s Jead jo ainjie) ay |

AupBe.d 1oxie

sjpuey 0} Wa)sks ay) 1o} Jealb 0o} sem ainje}
Oy Ue Jo UoiBejuod sy} Woyy sWwalsAs Jefoueuy (eqolb pue "gn $SIY 21WBISAS
ay) 0} st 8y} jey} paziubooal Ainseal] "S'M 8y} Pue ANEYMH 3YL

‘plaOM By} punoJe
suonnIsul Jayjo ybnoayy pue sjaxsew ejideds uo Buipel; pue ‘Ajjeqo)b sjuai|o
jiejaa pue jeuolyniisul Buiaias uonnysul jeloueuly Joiwaid s pluom syl Sem 9|y

épanasal oy sem Aym UH<




176

ug 9'€$ 4O §O/LE/ZL YBnosys se3) pue 1saseiur Butpunoduwion paniaoe sapniaxa {z sjuawaalbe jejuoys epun sjuswied sepnou; 962§ (1 'SION

satuedwo) suopeadQ
soueInsu) pue sossy (1) (sAdS
sjessy [ e ay feroueuy AN
aseyond 1s0d azjenden BUIo jo Buipuny 4440 (2) ANSYS duvL e 1w
e s = e e e e . 0 U YOO PR S SO OO . - /
W NE bebs
Y :ANGNA £q
saseyaing
jassy
il ]
- e e e o+ o 4 P -
NS 8'9/¢
v ai
jo Woddng
8.0
SR S I e e,
te14 NaZ9ZL$
N3 E'IpLs
¢ 0D Asuouw ayj pip ailsymm NS § ¢SH 1B S Asuow YydSnuw MOoH

80/L€/T1-80/91/6 WOl4 |BJOL

¢0D 31 pIp a1aym pue j}su je st Asuow Yyanw MmoH OH<




177

009 JUBWHWWOD ANSYH 18101 ' 8'9.% O\v Joy Joddng j081Q [€101
1474 umeJ( 0N ANEY [€X2] sjuswAedsy 'ss9]
8'9.% O}V 10} poddng 3o8.11g 18301 v'18% jejol qng
S ume.q ANSNS V6 psjeey IV BU0
o'ovs divl 0'25% pajeey d4 Ol
(suoljjq g)
$ (suoiiiq g)
Buipund jo sa2unog
LZVE
‘sapiediduniy
Aq pieH
{s.V1D) siuawsaiby
6'02$ 's0D jusW;saAL}
9oUBINSU B)I O} pasjueiens
uoninguuog feyden
L1s
‘90UBUL4 JaWINSUOD $Z18 U0
o1 fended v'2es 1000 BuunE
‘sBulisod [eisieiion
8°9$ 'sueoT oA 05$ ‘it aue
g uswheday 1980 uspiey ut Aynbg
uq $°6Z$ :pajelay 9Iv 18yl0 uq 0zs$ ‘poIe|oy d4 oIV

80/L€/Z1-80/91/6 Wol} O]y 03 poddnsg 109.Q
¢, 0B Aauouwi ayy pip aiaym UH%\




178

‘uooesues il TN 8y 0 Suua) ay) 0} Juensind Uiejes 0} Paua alam salPEdIaIUNGD Jey) [esa)eljo jo jJunowe ajebaibbe ay) sjoeyas
11 TN 0} Bunesas podas D33 $.O1Y PUE ‘alep Sy 03 Joud Oy WOl [eialeHeD |EUOIIPPE PAAI0SS Saiedaiuncd By} "eouelsiSse juawaAob Buialaoas uebaq oy
Uoiym uo 3iep auy; ‘g00z 'gl Jequaidag seye pajeoiput satuediajunod sy} o) Oy AQ pepiosd spuny Juasaidas v 9inpayog Ul pajoajal siunowe jeialefjod ayt (§ 910N

P8Is0g Junoliy

8

vees sBupsod jessiefjon je3o)
[34 Pyo
1% fejol sao oz doy
zZ0 PUBJJO9S jO Yueq jeAoy
FA1] |ealluopy Jo Jueg
20 BoUAWY JO jueg
20 Kajuelg uebiop
[4Y jueg J4dSH
20 dJ0) @dUBUIY UOHONIISUODaY
[41] ajysueq
£0 Japuejues ooueg
yo vebiopdr
50 M
50 Nueqogey
Lo BIAOUIBAA
L0 sjueg za
80 san
60 skejoieg
L uokien
8’ YoUuAT sy
8¢ SUOBS UBLIP|DD)
9¢ jueg ayosinag
Lrd a[eIauan) 9131908
((CE)]

Nﬂ&m..@ucsoo

[Arat:4
'satiediounpy
Aq pieH S.vID

6T 1Yo

pzes % 1980 Buumew

' 'sButisod jese)00

0°6$ it due7
uapiejy uy Ainbg

uq 0°ZS$ ‘pPaledY dd DIV

80/1€/Z1-80/91/6 Wwoi} Oy 03 yoddng j03.1Q

() sauediajunoo o3 suogebijqo [enjoenuos Jaaly - ;o Asuow ayj pIp alsypp O H%\




179

04218
0v's
00°2$
[N}
zL0
yL0
510
510
20
810
120
120
9z'0
LZ0
620
X
5€0
ac0
(340}
80
Lo
iy
Z0'L%
Uq §) JUNoWy

sjuswaaiby
PUETINT- YT
paajuelens jejo)

FETe)
fejo) oz doy
Sexa)
BUOZLY
puejs| apoyy
epuol4
EjueAiAsuuad
UO)BUIYSEAA
1ddissisSIN
Aasiap maN
SIOA MBN
alemelaq
uoBaio
Ajonjuay
spasnyoessely
sfoutiyy
opeiojon
eifi089
oo
iemeH
eluiBIA
EluiOliie]
aNe}s

0'q$ ‘i aue]
§'ZLE B0 uspey w Aunb3

193 Buunien

v'Zes
AT ‘sBunsod {eeeleD
‘saijediouny
Aq preH
{S.V19) siuawaaiby
juswiisanu|

paajuelens

<

Uq 0°Z5$ -PalEdY dd OIV

80/1€/Z1-80/91/6 wodj o]y 0} Woddng 303110

sapijedidiunw 09 19A0 Hoddng —; 0B Aauow ay} pip asoyp o H<




180

al

6'023 |e101
'y BYIO
Z291% Butpua sayunoag
Junowy $350) 199410
6023 1ejo)
7t sa|uedwon 8y ubielo4
SODIAIBS JUBWBINSY

[AVA% pue sy oysawog
juncuy sannug

2'1% ‘9oueuy
Jewnsuog o} endes

8'9¢ 'sueoy ooe)
» WwawAeday 1qeq
6'02¢ 's0D
t aoueInsu; 3y 0}
uolinguucy ended

uq $'6Z$ -paledy o1V J8yio

80/1€/21-80/91/6 WoJ} D]y 0} Joddng 30911Q

s1opjoy Aaijod 811 199014 — ¢ 06 Aouow ayy pip alaym E




181

0192 0} SPUNOJ JUNOWY ,

S'Z% bizs g0l
Juawaalby

SZ$ IfeRIoys Japun d49iy o} siuswhed Jaylo
80 [ealJUO JO Hueg

g0 ) shejpueg

G'¢ sdan

70 9Y ueg Jaupsalg

0l HUBGSYEYISUSSSOUSD)-[eNUaZ ayosinag

«00 VSnueg DgSH

G0 puepoos Jo yueg jefoy ayL

0] e0LIBWY JO yueg

L'e Youhy sy

6'9 3jelguaY) 91910035

96 S{oeS UBWPOD

£0 jueqoqey

zl uohren

80 BIAOYOBAN

10 Biaquisiusnpn-uspeg yuegsapuen

2Z% suegq ayosinaq

d491v
0) ape sludwied

sasedisiunod
03 apeyy siudwifed
1} dueT UspIeY

(do41p Aew Arediajunos) uonnisiy

i) suey uapie

(suonig )

lIt @ue] uapiey — ¢ ob Asuow ayj pip asaym 0H<




182

SiUN SSAUISNG [238U99 UBIBIO4 PUE BOURINSLY [BIIBUILIOD SAPNOU; (Z 53850] / suieb (elides pazyeas sapROXa (| SBjoN

[43

plIom

ay; ui s;abeuew Jasse jeuonnyysur 1sabiel g do]
juato jsabuie; s,Buisog

pue Jossaf Yeioie Aue Jo anjea jaay jsaybiH
‘S’ 3U} Ui Spuoq a)e:odiod uy {Sjusulisasut
S,91V J0 e Buipniout) soysanut 1sable

BISY }SEaYINOS Ui Jaunsu) oy} 1sabieT

eulyD) puejuiew pue uedep

Ui asiyoues) aouBINsSL| J9d paumo-ufiisiog 1sabie
SoUBINSUL jeLjSNpUL

PUE [BI2J3WILLOD JO J3}AIBpUN "S' 1saBie
S1aINsu; fie Joj ueder uj ysea

juesyiubis yim 'ueder v 1asnsu; ap ubiaiod L#
uoyeaInpa Alepucdas

pue Asewyd 0} Jopiaoid SAIARS JUBLIBINSY |#
8j11 AJRUIPIQ PUB B LIS ] J4SBWoQ Ul |3

.

.

.

.

.

W og {'S™N) siswoisny
W L (Ayeqo) s1swoisng
68 SOAG JUBWBMPY pue 3y ubisiog
518 SOAG JUSWSMSY pUB )i J1SaWOg
12% (z) SU} jeRWWOY |BqolD

1'56% 3UIOOU} JUBWISBAUY
J9N PUE SWnjwald 8oUBINsu}

'09R% sj@ssy [B10]
8002 (suoiig )

BN|EA $.5[V JO $901N0%

£'6Z$ 22114 ISEYIIN [0 ]
[ (oly) Anb3
EvT (ANSY4) SION Jowsg

ed %Ly 20114 aseyand Bay
%00} Buiwopad %

0das

anjea Jed uqg |'29%

{OdD} lli sueT uspie

5'0Z$ 231d aseyoind {ejo
or (o1v) Aunb3
S'6L {ANGY3) 8l0N Joiuag
18d %08 22114 aseyaind bay
%001 Bujwiopad %

S8NY

anjen 1ed uqg ¢'6¢$

SHINY) 1} sueT uapieiy

ZOIY Ui juaunsoaul siakedxe) 'gn ay) Buikzapun anjeA Jo $a21nos ay) aie Jeym U H<




183

el

suopenjea aaljoeIie aow ajelauab o) A} =
JIX© BjBLUIN O} SIEDA |RIDASS 9YE) PiN0D LORNJAXT =

S9553UISNg
paniea Ajybiy *anbiun ‘Jable| Jo uonezgauow O} Yjed SANBUISHE SANORINY »

ancidw siaxIBW UBUM B|qelaxieLl pue pajel aqg jjim Sa1INJ9s asay ]| =
saljod ButApiapun Woly SMoY) Ysed Ag payoeq Sajou JOIUSS SBAIB281 ANGYS »

sojes passalnsip Buipioae ajym saiuedwos
S2URINSUL BYj DNSBLUOP S} JO anjeA pappaqua ay) aJnded O} DY SMOjlY =

SUCNIIEZHLINT

sQd| Jo sajes ybnoiy) paziisuoL ag Jim SaSSaUISNG 9say} Ajgjewiin =
ANSY- 0} pamo 1gap Bugonpal Joy abueyoxs uj sessauisng

9S8} UMO {|iM JBU] SAJS Ul S]SaIajul pallajaid aA10al [jiIm ANSY
anjea saziuixew pue saalasaid — Auedwoed Buipjoy auyy Japun

woly Ino sassautsng ayl ubisioy paniea-Ajubiy ‘abiej 8A0OW 0} Oy SMOlY =

sdemg Auinb3 Joj 1g3q

$9SSBUISNG SASUSI-eldeD $S3) '90UBRUY O) JoISeT sanunoag pue
sjiun oy Jajews Joy Alediputid

YSBY) JOJ SISSAUISNY JO SIES

*siy} Buiysydwodsoe Joj swsiueys9w
rediound noj ase alay] "siahkedxe) Aedas 03 anjea }o0jun pue Auedwon
ayy dn yeauq AjaAoaye [Im eyl Buunjoniysal aAIssew e uayeuapun sey oy

cHoddns Jusawiulanog g 'n ay) Aedad o1y |IIm MOH mu H<




184

¥l

suopen|ea Jasse ut
S8U0ap 0} pasodxs SUBWa Sy
abelanaj

[e1ouBUY S8INpPas pue jelded
[euonippe 0} ssadoe Buipiaosd

Aq 198ys adueieq S,OiY PaZYIGEIS

SUDHENJEA JASSE U} S3U0ap
o0} pasodxa paujewsal Oy
sysu Buipus

S3IUND3g PUE SiSP OO0
lojpas-Hinw d491y pasebuw

saugoap
anjeA JaSSe WoJj uoisoJa
1endes Jayunj Juaaaxd jou pig
swiayqosd BuipuaT sepuUNass
10 31y A0S J0U Pig

juswuyeas) [ended JORaq aAsIyoR
0} paL1zjald dYY L POIPOW
Aupoe) ANBY Jo sua] parosduwy

HITW PUE [[TW uo 3pisdn
10 €/ pue g/g dn sanib Dy

oV jo diyssaumo
%6 L. panRdas linseal) s

SULI L 80

Aioedes dyv L Agpuels jo uqoes
SUOHEZIINNDSS
sdemg Alinb3 104199

11 TN PUB 1 TN

SJBSA G O WIS} JO UOISURXD
pue aulj ANGH 4 ut uolonpay
uonoafus

lended paudyeid duv1 uaoys

way teak z -

Ryjroey
Buipus; painaag 0lUSS UGSES

FERVECTY]
Passalistp & OJui S8SS3UISNG
Ayienb Buias ssaoons Jo ¥oe
{ejideo

Buypola augoap anjea jasse

AQ uaALp sSO| JaueND i abie

oyojuod SQ0 SIENPoLd [BIDUBULY
Oly woy Buipaag panuguod

iqep
ANEYA Wouy abeiana) anssa0x3

azyn 0}

aiqe aJom syueq 1ey) swesboid
Buipuny ayi o1 ssa00e arey

J0U pip pue siayew ieydes
8y} dej o) 3lgeun Sem Oy
apeJibumop sbupey -

saoud 1osse Buied -

Ag uo

1yBnousg sisuo Aypinby alanes

6007 ' Yoien

800C '0} J8quisroN

8002 ‘91 Jaquisides

)

ayeq

¢ anosay

< aNosay

| anosay

*600Z YoJew ul uiebe pue gooz JOqWDAON Ul SuOiEdIPOW {eloAds Buuinbal ‘ssasnsip
s,9|V 10 sesnea Buikjzapun ayy xij o) paubisop jou aitom sjoo} pue sajoljod Aiojejnboas Buysixa
‘Yons sy "eouUe)SISSE {BI9pa4 24inbal 0} UOKN}ISUI {BIDUBUY POSE(-92UBINSUI JSIY) BY} SEM Oy

L OAJOAD DY J0j HoddNs JUBWIUIBAO0Y) "G ) &Y} PIP MOH UH<




185

St

abeJaAe uo 9,6 umop ale saleys sajuedwos asayl §o/}/L 22Ul -
oljood JuaLWISSAUI JISY) Ul SISSO] PASNED JeY] SOUI9p dnjeA Jasse o) djqeinquine Ajabaey
‘1eak ayy Bunnp sdeo jex)dew pauiquos 119y} Jo uq g1 1$ 1504 siainsut )1 "s'n Jolew ‘gooz Buung -

E

sanjea jasse Aq
pasuanjui jje ase
Bupunosse abpay
pue jasse xe)
pasiajap jsutebe
antesal ‘(IMpooD

swey Juesyubis Apoed ANSYES
Bupnjaxe
sd0 Wasp ooy

~———> JUIRAY]

Bupunasay

oijoguod
JuswsaAul JO

%5 Ajayeunxocadde
0} sojenba 5507

|

seusdeq
sniep 19s5Y 0
Bunejey tassaT

s507 pepodey §00P

0L8)

(098)

{0gg)

{ovs}

(oes)

{ozs}

{01%)

.>=mm.m slapjoyaleys

uj UOHIDNPaJ }D21IP B 1O JUILWB)E}S SWOIU} 9y} UO SSO| B SB 1ay}Ia pa)oa|jal ag 0) SJUSLW)SIAUY
JO Sanjea ja)Jel uj saujjoap adinbaa sajna Bupunoosoe Jaxyiew o) yIey oljoplod Jususaau;
uoHlig 2£9¢$ SH Ul SaNjeA }J3SSE Uj Saui|o3p 0} anp Sem SSOj| S,91V JO YONA "PIOM 3Y) u}

jsabuej ay3 Jo auo pue g ay) ui Auedwos asueinsul ysabief ayy - Auedwoo abiej Auan e st Oy

¢dauenb Yy ayjy ui ssoj abiej e yons podal oy pip Aym OM<




186

“Aujiyejoa feunoufio) up aseanus

al %1 € 0} anp anje Ui aBueyd ay; sajouap e6aA (uondo X4 pue Apowwoy ‘KNN3 *'a'1) SBAIBALSP 1310 Jo4 AYHEIOA (ELLIOU U 95820U; %40 B Of anp enjen ut abueyo
a1} sajouap ebiaa uondo ajes jsaloi By ysu jey; GuiBipay 1S jou 'pajeuiusia Guiag s1 ¥SU AUIIEIDA 2y} f{am Moy Jojuow diay im asnseaw eBap ssoio) ay) 'siseq ebap jau

£ uo pabpay Kjajejdwon 1SaLe B $300q S.d4 UBNoYlY ‘Pabpay jou st uomsod Yoea i SB SEBaA AINOSGE S,U0INSOd JBIPIAPUS BU) B jO WNS 21} SE patenoien si BEBA ssoun sl .

6002 ui Buoy BuoH pue 0A¥0) ‘suoljedo| oM} 8SO M d4 =

5e€ “ e bzr

saakojdwio Jo JaqUINN

sayey/ebueyox] ubieio JiOXa 'SIUBWIISAAU} INIONNSEILY 'XaPY] " " —
sapipowwo?) Bupniout ‘umop punom Ajaye|dwod Jsowe SH00q G » _ s w \z e

240G umop — abueyoxj ubeio4  « " -
U E 2
906G UMOP — SBRIPOLUIWIOY B 08°06. “ iRt
%GE UMOP — Ainb3  » -
9,0€ UMOP ~ S312Y JSasalu|  «

1eak jsed ayy 19A0

pajes Jo pajeuwa) A@aidaye euoyoN ferden Aoeinbay jo %or - M U b1s e .
11l BUET UADIBIY BIA %G AQ PIONPaI [BUOHON 0D J010a5-HINW = e e

600z Ut Bulniew Ajienieu %Gl 1euonippY
ZL 0} 7 Woy paonpa: {S1eak 0G<) sapel; pajep-6uo; jo JaquinN  «
8007 pus-ieak aouis %0 AQ S9PEI) JUSHD padnpay =

000'6Z 00

suomisod apes) o 1agunyN

juenny 1980 0f We%
'$SaUISN( S)}ONPoid |eidueul4 sH Yo Buluuna pue Bunysi-ap AjaAljoe usaq sey 9|y

£ SSauisng s)onpoldd jeioueuld s, o[y JO snjels ayy st Jeym U H<




187

Ll

xipuaddy




188

gl
L'evs Buipus seluNoag o} pajelay (ejo )
[ papung oy
Tl Aupoe g painoag Joues ANAHA
G61% il sue uaple

Buipung jo seoinog

I Lev$
4]
[A]
¥'0
90
60
0l
Sl
L'l
6L
[44
|4
[
Sy
g8y
6t
¥'9
0/4$

BuipuaT sapunosag 'gNn

Aq sensediaqunod o3 sjuawfed

Burpunol o) anp te)0) Jou Aew sjunowry ,

=ol

{apeud

SaNLINDag EWojed
assing Jpaln

"2U} |eUOHBWBIU] O
9[EI2UID) B}3I00S
Asjue)g uefiop
ONI

san

YDUAT fIsn
HOMULB[Y Jaupsalq
dnoJbpin

JdSH

edlIaly JO yueqg
syoes uewpjosy
sequed dNg

jueg ayosynag
shepieg

uonnsuj

(suoing §)

80/C1IZ1-80/81L16

BuipuaT senunNoag — ¢ saiediajunod s,9)y 9J9m OYp

DIV



189

SPRGE UDRE WL
wsng sy o) bunes:
1BSAIY Yeup SiUy

£2aUR;210LWUGT 10 ASEINIZE 53 0} SB AjUBLEM 10 UOHRIUSSSINSN! OU SA4EW DIy HNTINIDE $1 UANEIUISIIH 5
3l $AAANAG Sl UENOUIY  UONNQUISIY Sit BUIMDIO) LONFILASH . S} F1Epdn O] PUBIN 10U SI0P DIV 53
LONBULOIN WEH2 0) 1adsal yim { Opy.) HUp dnesc [eunieuinu] veduauy Ag pasedasd Usad e L

$O1WRISAg Ysiy ay} s| 91V

6002 ‘9 ydiey - 14vyda




190

‘'sueaw Aeulpioelixe Aq jdaoxe paddols aq jouues yoiym
sainjie} Jayuny jo jas Buipeoseo e 1abby 0} jenuajod auy sey oy 0} suaddey jeym
‘SNy} "PHOM 8y} punole swiy JUSLWISaAU] pUB aouUeBINsSUl 3)1] [|e SIOHLE YSI OIWS)SAS

"PHOM 23U} punoJe siawo)snd pue siojejnbal Agq Alpinby 1aybiy 1oj puewsp JUBJWOOUOD
ay) pue Ajaioe Buipuads Jawnsuoo pue ssauisng Buimols ‘Jeyiewt sainba jeqo|b suy
‘1eMlew aje)sa jeal jeqolb ay} ‘1exiew saljunoas payoeg-abebuow [eloiswwos ay} ul

ssauyeam Aq pauadasp uaag mou sey — sojjojHod juswysaAul sy Ul (SEINY) sennoas

payoeg-abebliow [euapisal ‘S’ UO adueljal-1aAo ue — wajqoud jeutbuo s Oy
‘salnjie} J0joas-jjnwW asay} Aq pauayesm u3aq sey ssauisng

}SEA S OV ‘salnjie} 10}0as-i}jnw paouauadxas sey Awouosa [eqoib ay) sy "Iayjoue
2UO0 YlM pajejallod ale Jey) sysi Juaiayui Auew sey — ssauisng Buipely syonpoud
jeioueUly Jejjop uokjl} z$ e doisyoeq 0} pasn SeM }ipald Yy 9SOUM ‘sassauisng
S20IAJaS [eloUBUY PUB 82UBINSUL JO UOIjU} | $ JO jMeidS B — [apow ssauisng S,9|v
"Juawaje Jaylo A1aas ypm pajoauuoa st Juspuadapul

paseadde aouo jey} Juswsja Alaas alaym , *"auoq ybiyj sy} 0} pejosauuod si auoq
aauy, jenpuassajuinb ay) si ) "sjgqiedwosu; Aj9A08[|00 alB SHSI Pajoalas Ssalppe 0)
Ajlenpiaipul padojaasp ale ey} suejd Aouabuijuod uaym sind20 ysil jeloueul oiwa)sAs
"a2U0 JB SIN220 Salnjie} JO 12)sNio B Jo ‘pajeurwja st Jakejd auo

J1 19)Jew Jo wajsAs aljus auy umop Bulg 10 ydnijueq Ajjenusjod pinoo yoiym ‘jexew o

wajsAs e Ul saiouapuadapiajul pue sabeyul-4opul AqQ pasodull 3si 8y} Si XS JIWs)sAS

ST d1Wv)SAS si Jeym OH<




191

"PIIOM 3Y) PUNOJE S0UPYUOI SSAUISNG PUE JBWNSUOD OSje
Ing ‘ssaoco.d sajes s,9}y AjUo Jou suajealy} Aunseal) ayy Jo Juawpedaq sy} pue aAiasay
|elapad 8y} WoJy 32UB)SISSE |EUONIPPE 21n0as Ajsjeipawwli 0} O Jo Ajjiqeul ayj.

‘'saouanbasuod uaasalojun diydoliseled Ajjejusiod pue sidijnw aaey
pue ‘sjayiew jeqo}f pue AWOUO23 SN 8y} Ul jJowin} SSNED PiNoM S| JO aInjiey ay]

‘JuawuIanob ‘g M ay) Ag o)y 01 uaalb poddns ay} uo Ajablej paseq
sjasse Buizias Jo Bunepinbij wouy pautelal Jey snyj aney sjuawuianob pue ‘siojenbal
‘SJBWOISND SSOYM ‘pLIOM 3} PUNOIE SBUIUNO0D (g | Uey} aiow ui sajesado o))y »

"pPaIanodal aqg jJou Aew JUSLLISSAUI JBY) ‘JUSW)SaAUI S Juawulanob ‘g n

ay) Jsuiebe Ajunoas jualund ajenbape apdsa ‘suoliebigo sy Aedal 0} ajge aq Jou {jIM Oy
‘uoiens 91y ayj Ui pakojdap Buiaq sjoo} jelapa) [euonippe INOYNIAA “Sepelbumop lipald
pUE S3SS0j JUSW)SAAUI SAISSEW S308} |IIS OV INg '1a)/ew SNy 84} Ul Uolejuasuod
-13A0 S,9]V puk spaau A)ipinbij wisj-poys passalppe uonnjos papiroid Ajsnoiraid ayj.

JUSWILIONAUS JIpaId pue Y9N Jnaigip AjBuisealoul ay) ajdsap ‘sassauisng
l|2S 0} $$800.d 2IN})SOAIP SAISSELW B PUB SS3UISN( S}oNP0o.d [BIOUBUI 4 S} JO UMOP-PUIM
e pajnjisul sey o)y ‘Wiij 3y} 0} ysu [eloueuy jo aaibap ayj sonpal pue jqap ay} Aedal 0] «

'OV ol jeyides Ajinba pue Aupinby Buijosluy Aq weiboud
poddns e apinoid pinoys Asyj Jeyl Jealb os sem )y JO aInjie} B JO 3sH oiwa}sAs oy
12y} pauiwia)ap Aunseal| ayj jo Juswyeda( pue aalasay [elapad auyl ‘@00z 0 el 8y} uj «

Arewwing Juawissassy YSIy mu H<




192

‘aydosisejed e ag pjnom oy 91| saiuedwod asuelnsul Jo alnjiey

ay} "§’N ayj uey} sajel sbuiaes 1aybiy ypm ppom sy} punole sauunod uj 'sn
8y} ut Awouosa ay) ssosoe syoedw Buidasms aAey pjnom ssauIsNg Juswainal
pue ajij 8y} ur Mueq ayj uo uni, ¥ "sjsanbai Japualuns jeaw 0} yseos ajenbape
asiel 0} 9iB66nss pjnom Aiysnpui sy} ‘Alpinbi Jo ssoj pealdsapim Jo asneoag
'snoJjsesip aq pjnod — sajuedwod aoueINSUl Jo aiNjie) [Bal Jo palownl Jo asnedaq
10 YSBD 10} Spaau siawnsuod Aq paldsul — sajel 1apualins uf asi juedyiubis v

"$82IN0S JAYJ0 sSnolawnu wouy
Aupinbij ulelqo pinoo siawnsuod se (4 00Z Ag Jussiad xis 0}) Ajgexewss psuyosp
saiojjod [enpiAipul Uo 3jeJ uoljeUIWIa)} AUBIUN|OA By} ‘Bpedsp ised sy} JSAQ
"sajoijod uoljjiw /€ pUe SN 8y} Ut 8210} Ui saidljod B,

an|jeA a20e} JO UOYjU} 61§ Jan0 ale a1ay| ‘sapljod dnolb pue [enplaipul }jas oym
'g'n @Yy ul a|doad uoyiw ¢z Ajgjewixoidde shojdwa Ayshpul sdueinsui ajif oy |
‘sjuawsaAul BuiAgapun ayj jo anjea jJo ssoj 0} Joalgns aue

Jey) suoiebijqo pue sjuawisasaul Jo Ajaliea }sajealb ayj sey jey) Jojoasqgns siy) sl
}l @sneoaq ssauisng ,8oUeBINsUl 8)if, 8y Ui pasajuad Ajjediounud st ¥su olweishs ay |
"Saljinuue Se Yons ‘SajoiyaA UOoIBINWNIO. Yljeam Jo AJSLeA

e pue ‘sajoljod jJuawsaipal pue uoisuad ‘sbei1saod yjjesy pue jusplode jng ‘seiljod
aoueInsu; )i} Iauaq yieap pue fjjenses pue Apadoid jeuoiipel; ay isnf jou
92IAJ9S PUE {j2s Ualyjaiq Asnpul S} pue 9y 'pash si 8oueinsul, Wia} sy} SjiUM

¢ 9oURINSU| Ul YSiy o1waysAg ayy si Big moH QH.{N




193

‘sapijus buinssi
pajejal pue jusululanoh "g n ay) Joj s1s00 Buimolsog ui asealoul Juanbasuoo e pue
$8131IN28s JusWUIaA0b ‘g M JO sSaUaAnORIIE BY) Ul 9SE3103pP E 0) A|joalip pes| pinod Siyl

"saleipisqns aouelnsul ubiaio) .9}y JO aInjie} 8y} jo }nsal e Se $asso|
Jueoyiubis Jayns Aew sUBZ|IO 9SOYM pUB $31J1INJ3S pue Sajuedwlod 'S M) Ul SJUSWISIAUL
abie| aAey Jey) saLUNod Ui ajnode Apeinoiied aq o} Aj@i} S| 90USPHUOD JO SSOf SIY |

‘swelboid poddns juawulanob Jo asneosaq a|gelA paujewal Je) SNy} aAey
Jeyj asoy} Aliejnoiled ‘suonnyisu; jeloueuly abiej 1a4jo 18A0 peoige pue aiay aauapyuod
JO sisuo e 0} pesj pjnod 9y uoddns 0} ssaubuljimun s juswuianob auj ‘uollippe uj

‘saluedwod adueInsul ‘S
1810 yym spun jsabie} s o)y jo ,abeluew pabuelse, ue 1o} Ajjige ou si a1ay) ‘seiuedwod
aoueInsul "M 1830 0} paledwod azis aAlje|al Saluedwod aoueINSUl S.OJY USAID

"AJ}snpul @oueINSUl 8y} Uo suny Jajealb

uans 0} Buipes) ‘pajedissip Apjoinb aq pjnom spunj asjueienb soueinsul 8je}S S9SSO|
Hpai1o Aq pausxeam Apeasje s1ainsui 8yl ‘SN Jo Jaquuinu e uo joedw Buipesses e aaey 0}
Aayi st 3t ‘Woddns Juaswulanob jepuelsqns snoiaaid sy Buipueisypmiou jie) 0} alam oy J|

Awouo23 azijiqe)s 0} SHOoY] S JUSWUIAAO0L) "S N o Joedw) MVH<




194

'OV SB Yons uonn}ijsui pajusiio-Iawnsuod aJow pue jeqojb asow ‘1abie] yonw

e Jo asde}joo ay} wioly ynojfe; sy} Buipoipaid jo sjgeded ssaj uane ag pinom JuswulaAnoh
ay) ‘Anpsnpui j1@yJew Asuow sy} Jo yonw Ag pamojjo} ‘pung salasay ayj jo asdejjod

3y} 0} peaj pjnom uewyaT Jo aIinjie} auj Jey} 1oipald 0} sjqeun sem juswuuianob sy se isnp

‘U89S3104 3 JOUUEBD UOHINIISU}
jeroueuy lofew e jo ainjie} ay} Jo SaoUBNbasUOD asIaAPE 3y} Jey) si )l ‘UewyaT Jo

ainjie} sy} woly umelp Ajqeuonsanbun aq ued Jey; UOISN[OUOD BUO SI 818y} I ‘DAle|noads
‘Jusxa ue o} ‘pue jeyuswBpnl Ajuaiayul ase sasuanbasuod |ejuajod asay) Jo Swos SjIYA

‘uoiodoid

SNOLUIOUD JO UOiIOBaI Uleyd B 3)eald pinod Oy Jo ainjiej ¥ ‘sailediajunod 0} Jawnsuod
pue suoljelodios ‘sapuabe jejuawuianob woly Buibuel aqob ay) ssoioe siawolsnd
sossedwoous pue Bujyoeal-le si sSaUISN] S,9]Y JO SSBUPS}O3UUODIBJUI PUB JUSIXS 8y

"gonpoid pjnom oY Jo alnjie} e jey} WajsAs ay} 0} Yo0ys Jsyjoue

2jeJajo} pjnoo ALUGUODa By} Jayjaym ajqeuosanb st ji pue Jipeu & Je S| suonjisul
[elouBUY Ut 92USpUOD dKgNd JuswulaAob ‘g ey} jo poddns auyj Jo MaIA Ui Aje1oadse
‘Jaquus)dag ul uey} Aepo} SNOLISS S0 UBAS aq pjnom ie} 0} O}y Buijiuiiad ‘Janoalopy

Awouoo3 azijiqe}s 0} SHOHT S JUdWUIAA0L) "S ) U0 Joeduw) mUH<




195

‘SN /Y ui
uoneziueblo Jajeap-1ex0.q juapuadapu; 3sabien

pHOM 3y}

ut sisbeuew Jasse feuonnyysut sabue; say doj
QM 9y} Ul spuoq a1 Jodiod U} (SJusw)ssAul
s,9V 10 jie Buipnjout) Joysaaul jsabie| puosag

'S’ Ul Jomjau youelq sdueul JALINSUOD jsabiet puz
Josse| yelalie Aue jo anjeA a3y} 1saybiH

juswabeuey] Jossy

_ w S99IAJ0G [R19URUl]

uedef ul Jainsui aj ubiaio) | #

BuiyD pue

‘sauiddijiud ay3 ‘eisAejey ‘alodebuis ‘puepiey |
‘Buoy] Buon ui Jainsui ay ubiaioy Buipes
uojjezjueblio

aouelnsu 3yl psyisianp Ajesiydelbosh 1sop

adon3 ui Jainsui feauab paseq "S M jsableq
puejiey| pue eaio)

‘Buoy Buoy ‘euiy) puejuiews ‘ueder Uy asiyauel)
aouelnsul Ajjensea-Auadoid paumo ublaioy jssbie

}Jomiau
Ajenses-Auadold jeuoijeulajul SAISUSIXS JSO

sadiAlag JuawaInay B 3311 ublaiog

_ M jesauas ubrasog

seljinuue paxy jo 1anss }sabien

QaueInsul Panss} [ejo] pue ay| uuS) ui L#

uoyedNpa

Jaybiy c# ‘sdnoib aseayieay ¢ ‘uoneonps Alepuadas
pue Asewid o] Japinold s@olAlaSs JUSWBINSL L

$aul} JaYjo AUBW pUB UOHEIAY ‘[EJUSLUIUCIAUT
‘'sau snjding ‘dwon siaxiopA ‘Aujigel
|euolssajolid ‘ANjigel seonoeld wawioldwg
‘SJOOJO @ SJOYRIIQ JO JaJIMIBPUN SN L#
aoueInsut {elysnpuy

puUE jersawwos jo Jajumiapun “g N 3sabien

S82IAIaS JUaWRINSY B AT Jlsawog _ _

jelauas) ansawoqg

joedw) jeqol9 s,91V UH




196

wa)sAs Bupjueq sy yoddns 0} "S'n 3yl jo Ajige 8y} Jnoge Ssjgnoq .
s}s09 Buimolloq Ainseal] ul aseasouj .
Jejjop ay; jo anjea abueyoxe ubiaio} ayj ui je4 -
:puodsau o0} pasedaud aq
0} paau phom Ainseal] ayj YdIUym J0j SaLL0IIN0 3|qISSOd “JNOj|e} Uewuya] ayj Jemp
PINOM ainjie} O|Y UE WOL} 9PIMPIOM S]SNJELL }Ipald 0} abewep ajeipawiu; ayj

S9SSaUISNg Sa0IAISS [eloUeUl
puUe ‘S9OIAISS JUBWAINSI pue doueINsSU| 8l ‘soueinsul [esauab s)i ul s1aWo)sno
'QN Uoljjiw O Buipnioul ‘SpIMPHOM SIBLIOISND UOHIW $/ S,9]Y UO Joedwl 8SISAPY

(uoiliq G'¢$ Buljejo) sauefes
'S M Jenuue Bupeisuab) BIquINiO) jO JoUISIQ @Y puE S31E)S (6 [fe ui saakojdwsa 000 0S
Buipnjout ‘saakoldws 000‘gL L 9y jo uoitod abiej e 1o} Juawhojdwasun [ElUB}OH -
:apnjoul ew s30aya d1LLOUOD3 BY L
‘Awouoos jeqo|b pue 'g'n 9y} uo joedwi GuijelseAap e aAel pjnom oy jo ainjie} y

Awouos3 uo Joeduwy jesauan UH<




197

Koyjod jeuibuo jo aseyoind aouls suonenyis yljeay asiaape
JO JINS3l B Se 10 S3jes 3JeINSUSWWOD e ajqelnsul aq Jabuoj ou Aew siapjoyhdijod ajlj swog ~
(seninuue paxy "b-a)
sjonpold ajqejieAe ul auioap Jueoyiubis 1o/pue sisoo Adjjod ul sasealdul dljewelp jejuajod ~
sajuedwod asueInsuy
19430 woJj abelanod asueinsul urejqo o} ajqeun aq pjnod siapjoyholjod opy Buysixy =
Sjemelpyiim 1aA02 0} pasinbal aq pjnom sjesse Jo sajes padlo4 —
2ouapyuod Jawnsuos Buibewep ‘spuewap uoidwapal
Jawosno U ayids ajqeabeuewun ue aoe} pjnom sjonpoid O}y Jo siajjes Aued-payl -
swiejo Japjoyhoyod
jle Aed oy waoiynsul aq 14Biw ‘spuny aajuelend ajels ypm Buoje ‘jepdes se siapjoykoijod
juaIno Jiedw: pjnoo sajel jeUenioe jelwlou-aAoge je saioyjod aouensuy jo Japuaung —
siapjoyAaijod Aed
0} pajepinbi] ale sjasse se sja)iews A}inba pue puoq Sk |[am se ‘Wd)SAs aaueInsul ayj uo
uresis snowous Bujoeid ‘saidijod ,ui Yysed,, o} yass o} Aj9y1} ale siapjoyhoiiod ‘sjiej OV J| =

uolfliq Z}$ uey) 10w :gpOZ Ui pled swie;y —
uoi 6°14 onjea aoe4 ~
SPIMPJIOM S[ENpIAIpUl 0} sa1dljod aoueINSUl 91| UOIJIW g LBy} IO USILIM SBY DY =

Jueg ayj uo uny,, :siapjoykoljod asueinsuj aj1 —UH<




198

818

. SaJe)g pajun ey} ui Joxiew

sbBujaes juawaiyal ayeaud sy} u) 8ouapyuod ayy Buruiwispun Jo ysu e st a1y} ‘Buiobaiof ay) usaln —
slaad Aq dn payoid aq jou Aew Ajoedes ‘ssauisng

Ajinuue paxy ay) 0 ainjeu anIsuBU; jejided su) JO 8SNeIaq PUB SUOHIPUOD J8XJBW JUBLIND JBpUf) -
S)axIewW SWODdUL paxy uo ainssald premumop Jaupny uy Bupnsa.

‘sjasse j|os 0) siekeld Aysnpul pajoaye pesj| pinoo jJexiew yeam Apeslje ue uj S)juswssasse yong —
seiuedwod soueInsu; Jay)o Jsuiebe sjuaswssasse ui Bupinsal ‘papunjun

ale yoiym ‘spuny aajuelrent aje)s uo joedwl; asisape ue aaey pjnom siojeinfial sjels Aq ainzieg —

syoayd Ayinuue ApapenbyAjyuow
J0 JuawAed pue sjUNOIOE JUSLUBIPAI Si8Wolsno Ui dn-yo0j jepuajod e Buisnes ‘suonelado
1200} JO SINZIaS a)e)S 0) Pea} AjaX]| PINOM UDIym ‘yueq ay) uo uni, ajeipaww Ue sanpoid pjnom ainjieqd —

‘SN 2yl ul }1exiew sBuiaes Juswalnal ajeaud auy)
Ui 90USpPIUOD JO ssOf e Buisned pue ysu je Auesyiubis sbuiaes Juswsainal aygesydde Buind ‘aoueinsul
ajif Jo Aoysiy auy ut sainpe) ysablej ayy Jo auo aq pjnom saluedwod asueInsul 3 SOIY 0 ainjiejy —

ainjied jo ssouanbosuo) =

(s1eOUy)ERY
Ul € pUB UOoNEINPa Jaybiy ul £ ‘S18UOEa) Z|-Y Ul |#) SI10)09S })J0Id-UoU SSOIOB paxuel €4 10 |# D TYA ~

suopnisul jeroueuy yBnoly) seninuue paxy Jo Jajjas pavuel |# :Anuuy Oy

sjunoooe abelsy0lq pue safinuue ajqeleA ‘(Ainuuy Oly) sajinuue

poxiy pauajep (DA (9)0b SB Yyons ‘sjunodsoe Juswiallial uohnguiuod pauysp apnjoul s)onpoid
awooul JuawaJyal Jo aoinos Aewid s Aeioijsuag sy usyo si sueid (q)co SOl WOl SWody| .
Jesk B 000'09-000°0G$ Punose Bulules suBdLBWY SSE[D-3|Ppil aJe siapjoyAoljod Auepy -
uolljiq €1 $ Alslewixoidde enjea Junodoe jejo] .

suessWy pasal Auew Buipnjoul — s1ewo)snd uoljiw §°g

SOOIAJOG JUBWBINAY O|Y =

sBulAeg Juawalyay uo joedwy UH<




199

sajelado )1 YdIYM Ul S81JJUNOD UIBHAD Ul MsU
21WB)SAS 0} pes] Aew ©4090))Y 10 DY JO ainjie} 8y} woyy Bunynsal sunl yueg —

ssLunoo ueadoing
pUE UEISY SNOLEBA Ul MUEq 8y} uo sunJ, Juesyiubis aiam aiay) ‘Jaquisjdeg uj —

Bisy pue adoing
‘esnlawy uge] ui sejelado (H40991Yy) "ouj ‘dnols) asueUlq JBWNSUOY) OfY ‘OS|Y =

slojsaAu; ueadoing pue ‘g Agq pRY 1g98p
49V j0 uoljjiq £2¢ uey) aiow uo (uonebnj pajelal pue) ynejep e 1966l «
syueq Ag papiroid jou si jey) sieah ¢
}xau a8y} Jano Buipus| JaWNSU0D "G Ul UoK|iq GL$ 0} Uoljiq Z1$ sjeuiwl3 -
‘PIN0 4OV jo ainjie} ¥ —
s)uegebaw ‘g Aq
paAIasiapun ale Jey} SaI)0 Pazis WNipaul / |[ELUS Ul Sa))IUNWWOD SBAISG
a|doad 000'g Ajojewixoidde shojdwy .
sjueysiauw jie}al 000‘0g uewy) alow syoddng .
S8)ejs O Ul Sad10 +00¥'L ybnouyy sueoj jo
uonjig $2$ UEU) 810w Y)im Saljilie) UBDLIALWY UOHjILW Z UBY) aiow Buiaies si »
sieak GQ uey} alow
10} $8SS8UISN] |JEWS PUB SISWNSU0D UedUswWYy padiay Ajuspnid seH .
4oV -
Japuaj Joailg uiepy, 1sablej puodas s,estlawly
(49V) aouUBUi4 |BJBUSK) UBDLIBWY JO 3in|ie} Y} 0) PE3] PINOD alnjie) Oy Uy s

joedLu] 8oueUI4 JBWINSUO) UH<




200

[43

UOIjliq Z$ JO SWnIWaId [ENUUE LYIM “M'N — 00G SSWIL [BIOUBULY 8U} JO %/ [
uoljjiq 94 jo swnwaid jenuue yum ‘adoing — 0OG SWL| [eIoUBUI4 3U) JO %06 —
uoljliq 14 Apieau Jo swniwaid [ENUUE YIIM ‘0002 SOQI04 B} JO %18

uoljliq Z'0L$ J9A0 JO SWNWaId [enuUE YiM ‘000 | SUNKOS B4} JO % .6

uoljjiq 6$ Aeau jo swniwaid jenuue yiim ‘00g aunpo- aul Jo % /6

UoI|iiq G'01$ JaA0 JO stuniwaid [eNUUE UM ‘[EQOJS ~ 00S SUNKOS 83U} JO %6
110} @2URINSUI SB)JLIM D]V ‘BPIMPHOA =

800Z Ul swiep "g'N ut uoliiq ¢°gL$ Ajejewixoidde pied —

slapjoy-a)ediian g siapjoyAdljod j[enpiAipul pue [eloJawwod uoljiiw Qg s}9sjold —
asueInsuj jeinlawwon oy ybnoly) aberanod asueinsut Aq pajosiold

st jeuys Apjus ue Aq palojdwa ale sajels pajiun auy) ul ajdoad jje Jjo ¢/| AesN —
‘SN @y} ul ajdoad

uoljjiw go} Jeno Buikojdwa sanpus pp0‘08L Ajerewixoidde sainsuj pue sjo9)0ld ~

S3LSNPUI £8 SSOIOB $a2IAI8S pue sjonpold adueInsut OGy uey) alow sajumiapun -

sa)els payun ay; ul uonelado asueinsui Ajjenses Auadoid jsebie] ~

H(1D91V) @2ueINSU| [BI2JBWWOD DY =

uondnisiqg ssauisng aAISua)x3 MVH<




201

€l

sjuawpedap aiy pue adjjod pue
suonessiuiwpe juawdojaaap Ajunwwos ‘sjuswpedap buisnoy ‘saijuoyine

Hodite ‘sajuoyine Jajem ‘sjuawiulanob jeooj Buipnioul sapius aagnd 0§ —
saijuedLios Bupjoniy pue sajuedwod ges ixe} ‘sjajoy ‘sdiys obieo

‘sulel} ‘'sasng ‘saulyte Buipnjoul ‘sulaouod [aAel} pue uoijenodsuel) 008‘'e —
sauwloy ajigow pue sbuipjing pejal

pue JernlawLlos ‘saouabe ajeysa jeal Buipnjoul sassauisng aje)sa [eal 000‘'L —
‘sawoy Buisinu pue

‘sjejdsoy ‘sanijoey) jeoipawl ‘siojoop Buipnjoul ‘siapirold aieoyyeay 000‘LZ —
Sal}ijiin S1309}e pue SUIBOUOD
ABlaua aAneula)e ‘sassauisng uopelojdxa seb pue 1o ‘sajs punpadns

‘saiyn Jamod Buipnjoul ‘suoeziueblo jejuswiuoliaua pue ABisus pOg‘z —~

suofjeziueblo aoialas {e1oos pue jjoid-uou 0QO‘€T ~
salejjeb pe pue swnasnw (saueIgl} :sapijioel

uoneonpa Jaybiy pue Aiepuooas ‘Aiejuswad ‘spieoq [ooyos sjooyss goo‘s —
yosloud ainjonssenu; ‘s N

Jolew Aiaaa ysowje Buipnjoul ‘S10}oBIUOD [BUSPISS) PUE {BIOISWIWICD 000'0E —

sassaujsnq [einynoube pue suuey 00o‘syE -

:Buipnjaul
‘suonyeziuebiio yoid-uou pue ssauisng Jo abues apim e SIBA0D [DOIY =

(-juo9) uondnusig ssauisng aAIsud)x3g OH<




202

143

(passasse ag pinom OYM) SJaINSUI JOLI0 PUE S8)els UOo Uiel)s fenueuy Jayuny ul Buninsal
'$S3UISNG M3U Ul SBsBaIoUl JueoyIubis 8as pinom (JOSal ISe] JO S19INSUI) SaRijiO.) Jo)JeW |enpisay —

spaau asueinsu; xajdwos pue juesyubis
113y} 193w 0} sio}jadwod paumo-ublalo) 0} uin) aJojaIaY} PINOM SBSSBUISNG 9S8Y) ‘Sjeuoijeun
Joj saioijod [eqoyb aaisuayaidwod Buiayo Jsinsui pajelodioou; ‘g N Aewud ay) st DOV —

SYSU 8WOs 10} Bunnsul-j|as, S8sSaUISN] JB|jBLLS O) Pea} PiNod Sasealou! adild

wslola) pue Auadoid se yons ‘ssauisng
1O sSBUl| JAPJSU Ul puB ‘BAlOWOoINE puUE SSIIAISS jeidueuy Buipnioul ‘sau)snpui Japisu uj jejue)sans
Ajjeioadsa aq pinom sasiel wnjwald ‘sassauisng Japsu Bupnsut Jo) aouels|o} 18Ybiy S jDOIY USAID
aoueInsul fjenseos-Apadold Buunoas Jo 3500 ay) dn
aaup Apueosyiufis pjnom aoejdiaxylew auy ut Ayoeded S|V JO SSO| BY) ‘SISLIED JBYI0 0} UIN) SJUSID SY -

(spuogq fedioiunw us 10)saAUl ‘g N 1s8bBle] puooas au) si |DD)Y) sBulpjoy spuog jedidunw
sy Buipnjoul ‘sanuN2as Juswsaaul sy Buiepinbi Liels pinom [DO1Y ‘Mol Ysed aanebau Jo Jusas ayj uf -~

Moy} yses uo Joeduw jeue)sqns e Buisnes ‘sapoijod
Buisixe N8y} [9ouUBRD pINOM Sassauisng AUBLW pUE SSBuishd SSaf S)lm AjajeIpaluw] pinom [DOlY —

:apn|oul |99V JO ainjie) e Jo seocuanbasuon

(‘j3u092) uondnisiq ssauisng aAISUd}X] UH<




203

Sl

Alfeqoib sjuabe ppo Q. 190 pue seakojdwa QOO‘0Z 190 sey NIY  —
uejsiueybjy pue beij ui ainjonsseljul ayy
Jo Buipjingal ay) jo roddns ui s10)oB1UOD 0} abeionod sapiroid weiboid oy aseg asusjeq s.Niy -
sJaplog Jnoypm s10300Q pue
obieo aupew ‘Bupiony) ‘sbu jio ‘feue) eweued ay) buipnjous ‘apmpliom suotjeziueblo Jayjo pue
jerJawwos Juepodwi pue ‘sajssequia ubiaio} pue ‘g N NN BY) ‘ABljiw ‘SN AUy saInsul OIY  —
Syueq
1eqojb oG doj auy 03 pliom ayj uy Japiaold Ayoeded jsebie; ay) st Ny 'SS39XT 18D YIM pauiquio) —
(ssaox3 jen) abelanoo
ss20xa oiydonseles 'gn u Aloeded jueoyiubis sapinoid a)edIpuis J0osy S, pAoIT NIV @Yl —
19)1ew uopuo-] ay) ui sainsodxs ‘g N Jo} Ajoedes Jueoyiubis Buipircld -
Ajieqoib suonelodioo abiej Joj aoueinsu; (OgQ) SI9210 puUB SI0Jo8JIp JO Jajumiapun Puipes -
syueq jeuoijeusajul 0g doj ay} jo %0/ Buuano) .
:(74) souyj |eoueuy uj Jopes| e si Ny -
SPIMpPJIOM SPjoyasnoy Uolljiw g€ sainsul Ny ‘(Td) seulj jeuosiad uj  —
pliom au} Jano e sajuedwod ubiaio} pue ‘g N o) abelarco jeuoijeu
-pinw apiaoid 03 Ajpge enbiun ay) sey pue ‘saljunod Gg Aejewixoidde uj aoussaid e sey Ny —
:apimpiom
asuelInsu} je1osewwos Buipiaoid u) Jepes) e S| (N]Vy) Siellumiapu jeuoneulajuj uedsaWY  »

(-3u092) uondnusig ssauisng aAISUdIX] UH<




204

9l

‘(eulyn Ul obelanod
Anigel yonpoud podxa jo Japirold | Jaquinu ay) st Ny “6°8) siapodxa o) sbelanod Ajigel jonpold sapmoid Ny - -

'spoob asoy] ajpuey pue aAi8d3l
1ey) spod ay} pue spoob podsuel) Jey) sjassan ay} ‘obied ueaso Joj abelaaos Jo sialiddns ¢ doj ay) Jo auo s Ny -

‘apeJ} jeuonewal jdnisip Aew Ny jo ainjiey y  —
'SOUIUNOD [EQ0] Ul pasodxa s1awo)sng jeuoieulinw Auels BuiAes| ‘SSUUNOD Gg Ui SIBLIOISND [BUOHBUIINLL
10} mwo_.*oa Lw>tmbc: 0% anss! 01 NiY SMOjie 1ey] JIoMau jeuoijeulalul s Niv wumo:Qw._ O} JnoiYip aq pinom J§
-Buroiid ssealou; Ajjeonysiunpuoddo pjnom suaINsUs 3DUIS 9|qISS0J. S§3) 8Q PINOM 1a%eW OR(] [BISWWoI 8Y)

‘asiyadxa pue Ayoedeo s iy soejdal 0}
‘poud Aue e ‘sjgqeun aq pjnom syueq [eqo|b 1sabie| ay) jo Auepy -eseasou; wniwald abiej Buiynsal e pue suoRpuos
pue suua} Jo Buiuayby e asneo pjnom Yoiym ‘Aioedes Ul jelioys B 8g pinom a1au) 4 ui Ajoeded Sy INOUIA -

‘gees Aleewixoldde sie sauj
leuosiad pue O 14 PUB B0SH$ 29 0) pajewnsa st O9(] [BI0JaWWo) "gooss 0) 2sop si ainsodxs B0} SNy »

1020 14 Pue 0% [evlawwod ui Ajoeded jo ssof jueoyiubls —
‘(eutyp pue ea.io)y ‘ueder Buipnjou;) sajwoucod Jofew Ul Japes| JB)IBW B S| Ny 2J9Uym
oI0ed eIsy Ut Auenoiued 'apimplom sjesew soueInsul (H9Y) Yieay pue juspiooe ui uoidnisip solepy  ~

"SaNYNoWIP Jiay) o) ppe
PINOM SIY) PUB SSa)S [RIDUBUI 919A8S JapUN Apealje a1k Saullly "sajel asealou; Apidel o) siaes Bujuiewal Aq

BACLU 9)RIPSLULE UB 90 PINOM D18U) ‘1O3JBW BU) SYX3 N}V §| 18X4EW UONEIAR jeqgolb By} JO %0Z SRINSU; AUaLIND NIy «

‘|9ABJ} ssauisng pue jeuosiad azijigels pue Awouoos
al prysal o} padiay siyl "Ayoedeo mau Buidoeasp Aq | /6 Jaye Jie ay) ul xoeq sauejd Bumnd uj Jopes) e sem Ny -

:9ouBINSUl UohEIAR U3 uoKisod diysiepea) S, MY JO MJA Ul SBUIIE UO SSaNS |eIOUBUY PRSERIDU| -~
:apnjoul Niv JO ainjie} € Jo sasusnbasuoy

(‘3u09) uondnisiq ssauisng aAISuUaX3z UH<




205

Ly JoyJew puoq

[edioiunw g ' 8y} ssaxns Ajuesyiubis pjnom oijogiod JuswisaAul s |09V JO 8]es peoio)

V "spuoq [edidiunul "S'N Ut 9%g/ 'S}J9SSe pajsaAul Jo uoljjiq 02¢$ Uey) alow sey ssauisng
(10D1v) souelinsul |e1218WIWOD S,y :spuoq jedidiunw "§°n jo Japjoy jsabie] puz -

Jo)dep edidiuniy "s'n ybipods »

SJoBNUOD pajeloosse pue Buikuspun ay} o} Juensind sjjes sy
pue jo suopeu;iwls) woiy Bupinsal sjasse Buikjispun Jo sanjeA uo ainssaid piemumo(

Auediajunos yoes oy Jybil
uoneuiusl e Buipiaocld ‘) nejap Jo JusAs, ue se Aojdnijueq spnjou; S}OBJUOD 4Oy
€ Jinejap jo JuaAa, ue se apelbumop sBuijel e spnjou; sjoBIJUOD 4Oy UIBLSD)

sapesbumop sbuine jo joedw pealdsapipy =

pajoaye aq p|nom SIO}saAui
jeuonniisul pue ‘sjuswiuianch ‘suonelodioo Jofew ppg'L UBY) SIOW 9SE] JUSHD |BIO] -
spun
abpay pue siabeuew Asuow ‘spuny yjeam ubialanos ‘syueq doj apnjoul mm_tmn:m;cm._ooh .
"SY00Q SSAIBALISP 3} JO UMOP-PUIM B Ul PSAJOAUI saijediajunod jo saquinu abiejayy ~
sasseo Josse pajeloosse Jo afuel apim B ssoIoe suoljenjeA uo ainssaid
pPJEMUMOP SNOLLIOUS 3sNed Aja)i] pinom alnjie) ©jy ue ui ojjojod ayj jo Buipuimun .

salnsodxa SeAlJBALIap Jeuonou Ui uoijjl) 9°1$ Ajejewixoidde
sey (d491v) "dion s1onpold [eioueuld O}y :S}00( S8ARALISP 118y} Jo azis abiejay] —

:apnjoul sanuejwig “Asjdnnjueq uewyas ayj} JO Jey} Se sjadJew
Jeioueuyy jeqo}b ay) uo sasuanbasuod asIOM 1o JejiWS ABY PINOD aJNnjie} DY Uy =

syoxte [eyded |eqolo uo joedwy UH<




206

81

si9view puoq jedounw ayy o} uopdrusip Jayun pue
'SapeJBUMOp O} PE| PiNOM S3SEaT / SDID) Ul UoHiiq 7§ 9Zije)aielioo o) ainjes

siofeag ~ sj2A3] JuaLnd woly xgg-0Z Aq dwnl pinoo solopiod u.um.u.wc_._: {ENPIADUT UL Y8 ~
aE 491V i suosod isof oejdas oy dwane Ay
‘Qyal ‘Ddipueg ppopy ‘B8 . se saipediajunoo yueq / Jajeap o} sassoj abie} asned pjnoo siaxew paydrusig -~
sjeuoieu-eidng  — suomsod pabpayun
................ suonesodioy  ~ . jueoyiubis pue Suiuspm peaids JAISSEL U1 JINS3I [jIM SUCHEUIWLS] JUSIR paalod
uokjes
“uowabo ypalg Hueqogey
‘axgue(q ‘1epuriueg coueg suopdrusip
‘dNg ‘uaDo0g 'sgy Ba . 1osuewW drydosisereo ut Suiinsas sapeibumop ajdiinw ui ynsay pinoa -~ Aprdes
syueg ueadoing sofey  ~ fendeo Aunba ut uoljiq 01 $~ [EUOIHPPE aste! 0} pasu PINod syueq ueedoiny
SUMOpP-3Lim Jayuny
SeWeIp O} Pes| PINCo 13xLEW 01D Pue 0D Ut Aupinbijy pue speaids Buluapip -
SJ0}SSAU| fRUOHNIASU} -~ Awounoa ssosoe sjsoo Bupuny asiel fjim saieiodios sofew Joj spealds SQ0
siamauiog seiodioy -~ J12yBiy jusnbasuco ~ sY00q UoNe(aLIoS Lo sabipay asoj pinom siueq "S'n Jofew  ~
syueqlofeyy — paieunwye aq Aew SO0 7 SOQY Ui uolliq £98~ o uonoajoid Jpary -
TTrTUTonrroonTronir e TTonrToTrrrr S0 SI0SBAUN [BAPIAIPUT BYBLL’ G) $108U6dS dUIGd uinf O A8y~ ="~
sueld (3} L0y Ul aouapyuoD sbewep
soxajdwog puny eniniy afueq - pUB Spuny 8NjeA 3{qE}S UO JNO00 ABW S|EMBIDUIM 10]SBAU) |IBJAI BAISSBIN  ~—
spung uotsuag  ~ ong ey Bupiealq, Ayenuajod suonisod j@xew A3UOW UO ANJEA JSO JO SUOIIW

<U0JSOAU| feley  ~ Ul §NSai PiNad Spury 8njeA Sjess jO Uokiig gE$ Lo deim e apiaoid oy aunye -
{

poddns juawuianod yw saiuy - %S 1 poddns Juawularob Yim SaNUS JYI0 J0 JGaP |BY) s)oyiew 0} leubls -
SJOISAAUY BIDY - saouenss| Jaded fesawwon Bupnput
SJOISBAU] jeuonnitsy] - ‘SE0UBNSS) J4O)V JO UoNq 084 J0 uoibod jueoyubis e Aedas o) Aupqeu)  ~
pajdajje saied ainjled d4 J0 396l

euniie} 4401V 40 yoedui oanpuy pue oeiia FRRT




207

61

(uoiing
114 jo uieb sjgexe; fenuajod Jualind) saoud ajes passalisip 0} anp awIodu| ajgexe) $sa —

( +uojlig 0g$ Apusund) 1gep DA} Jo Siepjoy jJeuonnsul 'S’N pUe syUeq ‘g'M 0) sassoT ~
Ansnpu; yelolre yeam Apealje ayy Buoedu;

Kjp1enas ‘saoud passaisip je ojjojuod Yelole aueld-0oQ‘ L si ayepinby o) pasio} aq Aewl D47 —~
aolopyiom Buouis goo‘cgl s.Buiecg ui uoponpal ut )nsai Aew

yoIym *3oogq Japlo piemioy jo uoljiq Gzl $ Buipniour 1awoysno isabie; sy jo buieog Aq sso ~

:0) pesj Aew D47ijo ainjie} v s

sauijlte ubjaio} 0} sasesj wid}y

Buoj eia ‘'syuswAed jo souejeq ‘g n buidiey ‘podxa Joj Ajreunid ale saueid Buisog mau s 0471 —
puofaq pue OOz Ut salaniap Joj ‘uoliiiq

G'ZL$ JO anjea e Yyym ‘o0z Jequiasa(] jo se Buisog woyy 1apio uo siaf mau Zol sey D41 —

Helolle snquy mau Joj sjuauodulod pue sauibus apew ‘g N jo 18Ang isable) ayi st D41y —

{ndvrsauibua) seibojouyoa ) pejun pue (sojuoiae) |u
l1BM00Y ‘[femAsucy ‘(ssuibua) aujos|3 felsuac) jo Jawolsno [e1olawwloo jsablej ayy st D4 —

Aueduwios Buiseaj 10 aujiie Jayio
Aue uey) (syun 79 AlRlewixoidde) yesone Buisog mau alow paseyoind sey D47j ‘g/61 22uUlS ~—

‘Awouoo] 'g'N Ul o1 s,041] =

yelolie 0g6 uey)
210U UM ‘PHIOM BY) Ul 1053} Yelolie 1sabie) ayy si (D47)) uoneiodion aoueul asea jeuoneuIa]

9471 Jo ainjied 4o Joedw) DIV




208

(074

sajeyg pausjald s,AINseal] 'S N 8y} JO anjeA Jo sSoT -
19op 2ljand s, 9|V jo asdejjo) —
aAIBsSaYy |elapa4 sy} Aedal 0) S}aSSE JO SSOT =

10} pes} pjnoo sjasse ublalo} Jo ainziag =

sainzias o) peaj Ajlay| |Iim yoiym suonejjaoued Aoljod jueoyiubis ag
M 213Y) ‘sassauisng aoueINsU} 8y} JO 8INZISS a)elpaliill UB JoU S| 813y} Jl UBAT —
suoibal ulepad uypm Alysnpul souelnsul
aiue ay) ‘sjdduo Jou Ji ‘sredw Ajueoyiubis pjnom ainzias e Jo asuanbhasuod ay)
'suoibal asay) ui souasald asueINsul S,9]Y JO Juld)00), |eRURISANS BY) UBAIS) —
‘S'nsyio
yoeal ay} Jo Jno aq pinom Asy) pazijeuoijeu AjaAljo0ae alam S}asSe asay} 30U —
uoibal ay) ssouoe suoiaipsuni ajdinw u
$95S8UISNY SoUBINSU} JO 8INZI9S 8Y} 0} PES} PUE JO8YS OUILLOP B aABY AjulBpaD
1sowe pjnom (eisy "B9) uoibai uaaib e uy Jojeinbal auo Aq ainzies sy -

*s10}e|nbal ubialo) pue slsawop Aq DY JO SISSaUISN( aoueINSUl
UlelIaD JO 9INZIOS IeIPIWILI 3Y] Ul JNS3I A1 PINOM 3injie} oy Uy =

sjasse ublaio} Jo ainzjag E




209

(¥4

‘uofoalip Aoljod B yons yum
Jusisisuod aq pjnom Aulsep .5y ul 8jos Buinupuod s JuswuiaAob [erspay ay) pue
‘Aysnpui 8y} jo wioyal Aioyeinbai Joy ajeuopes Aoyjod oygnd syewniba) e st aiay] «

Jueoyjubis pue bBuibue

-opim ale Ansnput ay) bundnusip jo sjoaye ay) — uojejnWNooe Y)eam pue sbulaes
jusuiainel 1o} 9jo1yaA e 0} sjyauaq Ayjigesip pue yjesp jo uoisiroid diseq e jsnf woyy
— S9PEI3P OM] JSE| B} JaAo Jajoeleyd Ul Ajjeaib pabueyds sey asueinsul a8l adulg «

"'9ouapyuod
Jawinsuod bupiubies jo abusjjeys ay) ajeqraoexs jjIm AJjIeISU] JILLIOU0DD
pue {ejoueul [eqoj6 Jofews Jo s} e e Jainsu; jsabie| s,plOM 8y} JO ainjie} oy | -

"paulIapun ale wsijeydes Jo sjejusiuEpun) 8y} ‘sal)iSISADPE s8] jsulebe uonossjoud
Jo asjwoid ay} Inoyupn "wa)sAs asudisjus aayy ay) jo usbAxo ay) si aoueInsu| «

uoISnjou0) @H/\




210

Embargoed until
March 18, 2009, at 10:00 a.m.

Statement of

Scott M. Polakoff
Acting Director, Office of Thrift Supervision

regarding

American International Group’s Impact on the Global Economy: Before, During, and
After Federal Intervention

before the

Subcommittee on Capital Markets, Insurance, and Government Sponsored Enterprises
Committee on Financial Services
United States House of Representatives

March 18, 2009

Office of Thrift Supervision
Department of the Treasury
1700 G Street, N.W.
Washington, DC 20552
202-906-6288

Statement required by 12 U.S.C. 250: The views expressed herein are those of the
Office of Thrift Supervision and do not necessarily represent those of the President.



211

Testimony on American International Group’s Impact on the Global Economy:
Before, During, and After Federal Intervention
Before the Subcommittee on Capital Markets, Insurance, and Government
Sponsored Enterprises
Committee on Financial Services

Scott M. Polakoff, Acting Director
Office of Thrift Supervision

March 18, 2009

I. Introduction

Good morning, Chairman Kanjorski, Ranking Member Garrett and members of
the Subcommittee. Thank you for inviting me to testify regarding the Office of Thrift
Supervision’s (OTS) examination and supervisory program and its oversight of American
International Group, Inc. (AIG). [ appreciate the opportunity to familiarize the
Subcommittee with the complex, international operations of AIG as well as the steps the

OTS took to oversee the company.

At the Subcommittee’s request, in my testimony today, I will discuss the
complicated set of circumstances that led to the government intervention in AIG. I will
provide details on our role as the consolidated supervisor of AIG, the nature and extent of
AlG’s operations, the risk exposure that it accepted, and the excessive concentration by
one of its companies in particularly intricate, new, and unregulated financial instruments.

1 will also outline the Agency’s supervisory and enforcement activities.

1 will describe some lessons learned from the rise and fall of AIG, and offer my
opinion, in hindsight, on what we might have done differently. Finally, I will outline

some needed changes that could prevent similar financial companies from repeating
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AIG’s errors in managing its risk, as well as actions Congress might consider in the realm

of regulatory reform.
I1. History of AIG

AlG is a huge international conglomerate that operates in 130 countries
worldwide. As of year-end 2007, the combined assets of the AIG group were $1 trillion.
The AIG group’s primary business is insurance. AIG’s core business segments fall under
four general categories (e.g., General Insurance, Life Insurance and Retirement Services,
Financial Services, and Asset Management). AIG’s core business of insurance is
functionally regulated by various U.S. state regulators, with the lead role assumed by the
New York and Pennsylvania Departments of Insurance, and by foreign regulators

throughout the 130 countries in which AIG operates.

My testimony will focus primarily on AIG, the holding company, and AIG
Financial Products (AIGFP). Many of the initial problems in the AIG group were
centered in AIGFP and AlG’s Securities Lending Business. :

It is critically important to note that AIG’s crisis was caused by liquidity
problems, not capital inadequacy. AIG’s liquidity was impaired as a result of two of
AlG’s business lines: (1) AIGFP’s “super senior” credit default swaps (CDS) associated
with collateralized debt obligations (CDQ), backed primarily by U.S. subprime mortgage
securities and (2) AIG’s securities lending commitments. While much of AIG’s liquidity
problems were the result of the collateral call requirements on the CDS transactions, the
cash requirements of the company’s securities lending program also were a significant

factor.

(9% )
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AlG’s securities lending activities began prior to 2000. Its securities lending
portfolio is owned pro-rata by its participating, regulated insurance companies. At its
highest point, the portfolio’s $90 billion in assets comprised approximately nine percent
of the group’s total assets. AIG Securities Lending Corp., a registered broker-dealer in
the U.S., managed the much larger, domestic piece of the securities lending program as
agent for the insurance companies in accordance with investment agreements approved

by the insurance companies and their functional regulators.

The securities lending program was designed to provide the opportunity to earn an
incremental yield on the securities housed in the investment portfolios of AIG’s
insurance entities. These entities loaned their securities to various third parties, in return
for cash collateral, most of which AIG was obligated to repay or roll over every two
weeks, on average. While a typical securities lending program reinvests its cash in short
duration investments, such as treasuries and commercial paper, AIG’s insurance entities
invested much of their cash collateral in AAA-rated residential mortgage-backed

securities with longer durations.

Similar to the declines in market value of AIGFP’s credit default swaps, AIG’s
residential mortgage investments declined sharply with the turmoil in the housing and
mortgage markets. Eventually, this created a tremendous shortfall in the program’s assets
relative to its liabilities. Requirements by the securities lending program’s counterparties
to meet margin requirements and return the cash AIG had received as collateral then

placed tremendous stress on AIG's liquidity.

AIGFP had been in operation since the early 1990’s and operated independently

from AlIG’s regulated insurance entities and insured depository institution. AIGFP’s
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$100 billion in assets comprises approximately 10 percent of the AIG group’s total assets
of $1 trillion.

AIGFP’s CDS portfolio was largely originated in the 2003 to 2005 period and
was facilitated by AlG’s full and unconditional guarantee (extended to all AIGFP
transactions since its creation), which enabled AIGFP to assume the AAA rating for

market transactions and counterparty negotiations,

AIGFP’s CDS provide credit protection to counterparties on designated portfolios
of loans or debt securities. AIGFP provided such credit protection on a *‘second loss’’
basis, under which it repeatedly reported and disclosed that its payment obligations
would arise only after credit losses in the designated portfolio exceeded a specified
threshold amount or level of **first losses.” Also known as “super senior,” AIGFP
provided protection on the layer of credit risk senjor to the AAA risk layer. The AIGFP
CDS were on the safest portion of the security from a credit perspective. In fact, even

today, there have not been credit losses on the AAA risk layer.

AIGFP made an internal decision to stop origination of these derivatives in
December 2005 based on their general observation that underwriting standards for
mortgages backing securities were declining. At this time, however, AIGFP already had
$80 billion of CDS commitments. The housing market began to unravel starting with
subprime defaults in 2007, triggering a chain of events that eventually led to government

intervention in AIG.
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II1. OTS’s Supervisory Role and Actions

Supervisory Responsibilities

Mr. Chairman, [ would like next to provide an overview of OTS’ responsibilities
in supervising a savings and loan holding company (SLHC). In doing so, I will describe
many of the criticisms and corrective actions OTS directed to AIG management and its
board of directors, especially afier the most recent examinations conducted in 2005, 2006

and 2007.

As you will see, our actions reveal a progressive level of severity in our
supervisory criticism of AIG’s corporate governance. OTS criticisms addressed AIG’s
risk management, corporate oversight, and financial reporting, culminating in the
Supervisory Letter issued by OTS in March 2008, which downgraded AIG’s examination

rating.

You will also see that where OTS fell short, as did others, was in the failure to
recognize in time the extent of the liquidity risk to AIG of the “super senior” credit
default swaps in AIGFP’s portfolio. In hindsight, we focused too narrowly on the
perceived creditworthiness of the underlying securities and did not sufficiently assess the
susceptibility of highly illiquid, complex instruments (both CDS and CDOs) to
downgrades in the ratings of the company or the underlying securities, and to declines in
the market value of the securities. No one predicted, including OTS, the amount of funds
that would be required to meet collateral calls and cash demands on the credit default
swap transactions. In retrospect, if we had identified the absolute magnitude of AIGFP’s
CDS exposures as a liquidity risk, we could have requested that AIGFP reduce its

exposure to this concentration.
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OTS’ interaction with AIG began in 1999 when the conglomerate applied to form
a federal savings bank (FSB). AIG received approval in 2000, and the AIG FSB
commenced operations on May 13, 2000. OTS is the consolidated supervisor of AIG,
which is a savings and loan holding company by virtue of its ownership of AIG Federal

Savings Bank.

OTS supervises savings associations and their holding companies to maintain
their safety, soundness, and compliance with consumer laws, and to encourage a
competitive industry that meets America’s financial services needs. As the primary
federal regulator of savings and loan holding companies, OTS has the authority to
supervise and examine each holding company enterprise, but relies on the specific
functional regulators for information and findings regarding the specific entity for which

the functional regulator is responsible.

Once created, a holding company is subject to ongoing monitoring and
examination. Managerial resources, financial resources and future prospects continue to
be evaluated through the CORE holding company examination components (i.e., Capital,
Organizational Structure, Risk Management and Earnings). The OTS holding company
examination assesses capital and earnings in relation to the unique organizational
structure and risk profile of each holding company. During OTS’s review of capital
adequacy, OTS considers the risk inherent in an enterprise’s activities and the ability of
the enterprise’s capital to absorb unanticipated losses, support the level and composition

of the parent company’s and subsidiaries’ debt, and support business plans and strategies.

The focus of this authority is the consolidated health and stability of the holding
company enterprise and its effect on the subsidiary savings association. OTS oversees
the enterprise to identify systemic issues or weaknesses, as well as ensure compliance

with regulations that govern permissible activities and transactions. The examination
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goal is consistent across all types of holding company enterprises; however, the level of
review and amount of resources needed to assess a complex structure such as AIG’s is
vastly deeper and more resource-intensive than what would be required for a less

complex holding company.

OTS Supervisory Actions

OTS’s approach to holding company supervision has continually evolved to
address new developments in the financial services industry and supervisory best
practices. At the time AIG became a savings and loan holding company in 2000, OTS
focused primarily on the impact of the holding company enterprise on the subsidiary
savings association. With the passage of Gramm-Leach Bliley, not long before AIG
became a savings and loan holding company, OTS recognized that large corporate
enterprises, made up of a number of different companies or legal entities, were changing
the way such enterprises operated and would need to be supervised. These companies,
commonly called conglomerates, began operating differently from traditionat holding
companies and in a more integrated fashion, requiring a more enterprise-wide review of
their operations. In short, these companies shifted from managing along legal entity lines

to managing along functional lines.

Consistent with changing business practices and how conglomerates then were
managed, in late 2003 OTS embraced a more enterprise-wide approach to supervising
conglomerates. This shift aligned well with core supervisory principles adopted by the
Basel Committee and with requirements adopted by European Union (EU) regulators that
took effect in 2005, which required supplemental regulatory supervision at the
conglomerate level. OTS was recognized as an equivalent regulator for the purposes of
AIG consolidated supervision within the EU, a process that was finalized with a

determination of equivalence by the French regulator, Commission Bancaire.
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Under OTS’s approach of classitying holding companies by complexity, as weli
as the EU’s definition of a financial conglomerate, AIG was supervised, and assessed, as
a conglomerate. OTS exercises its supervisory responsibilities with vrespect to complex
holding companies by communicating with other functional regulators and supervisors
who share jurisdiction over portions of these entities and through our own set of
specialized procedures. With respect to communication, OTS is committed to the
framework of functional supervision Congress established in Gramm-Leach Bliley.
Under Gramm-Leach Bliley, the consolidated supervisors are required to consult on an
ongoing basis with other functional regulators to ensure those findings and competencies
are appropriately integrated into our own assessment of the consolidated enterprise and,

by extension, the insured depository institution we regulate.

Consistent with this commitment and as part of its comprehensive, consolidated
supervisory program for AIG, OTS began in 2005 to convene annual supervisory college
meetings. Key foreign supervisory agencies, as well as U.S. state insurance regulators,
participated in these conferenées. During the part of the meetings devoted to
presentations from the company, supervisors have an opportunity to question the
company about any supervisory or risk issues. Approximately 85 percent of AIG, as
measured by allocated capital, is contained within entities regulated or licensed by other
supervisors. Another part of the meeting includes a "supervisors-only"” session, which
provides a venue for participants to ask questions of each other and to discuss issues of
common concern regarding AIG. OTS also uses the occasion of the college meetings to
arrange one-on-one side meetings with foreign regulators to discuss in more depth

significant risk in their home jurisdictions.

As OTS began its early supervision of AIG as a conglomerate, our first step was
to better understand its organizational structure and to identify the interested regulators

throughout the world. In this regard, AIG had a muititude of regulators in over 100
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countries involved in supervising pieces of the AIG corporate family. OTS established
relationships with these regulators, executed information sharing agreements where
appropriate, and obtained these regulators’ assessments and concerns for the segment of

the organization regulated.

As OTS gained experience supervising AIG and other conglomerates, we
recognized that a dedicated examination team and continuous onsite presence was
essential to overseeing the dynamic and often fast paced changes that occur in these
complex structures. In 2006, OTS formally adopted a risk-focused continuous
supervision program for the oversight of large and complex holding companies. This
program combines on- and off-site planning, monitoring, communication, and analysis
into an ongoing examination process. OTS’s continuous supervision and examination
program comprises development and maintenance of a comprehensive risk assessment,
which consists of: an annual supervisory plan; risk-focused targeted reviews;
coordination with other domestic and foreign regulators; an annual examination process
and reporting framework; routine management meetings; and an annual board of

directors meeting,.

OTS conducted continuous consolidated supervision of the AIG group, including
an on-site examination team at AIG headquarters in New York. Through frequent, on-
going dialogue with company management, OTS maintained a contemporaneous
understanding of all material parts of the AIG group, including their domestic and cross-

border operations.

OTS’s primary point of contact with the holding company was through AIG
departments that dealt with corporate contro! functions, such as Enterprise Risk
Management (ERM), Internal Audit, Legal/Compliance, Comptroller, and Treasury.

OTS held monthly meetings with AIG’s Regulatory and Compliance Group, Internal

10
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Audit Director and external auditors. In addition, OTS held quarterly meetings with the
Chief Risk Officer, the Treasury Group and senior management, and annually with the
board of directors. OTS reviewed and monitored risk concentrations, intra-group
transactions, and consolidated capital at AIG, and also directed corrective actions against
AIG’s Enterprise Risk Management. OTS also met regularly with Price Waterhouse

Coopers (PwC), the company’s independent auditor.

Key to the continuous supervision process is the risk assessment, resulting
supervisory plan, and targeted areas of review for each year. OTS focused on the
corporate governance, risk management, and intermal control centers within the company
and completed targeted reviews of non-functionally regulated affiliates within the holding

company structure.

In 2005, OTS conducted severai targeted, risk-focused reviews of various lines of
business, including AIGFP, and made numerous recommendations to AIG senior
management and the board with respect to risk management oversight, financial reporting
transparency and corporate governance: The findings, recommendations and corrective
action points of the 2005 examination were communicated in a report to the AIG Board
in March 2006.

With respect to AIGFP, OTS identified and reported to AIG’s board weaknesses
in AIGFP’s documentation of complex structures transactions, in policies and procedures
regarding accounting, in stress testing, in communication of risk tolerances, and in the

company’s outline of lines of authority, credit risk management and measurement.

Qur report of examination also identified weaknesses related to American General
Finance (AGF), another non-functionally regulated subsidiary in the AIG family that is a

major provider of consumer finance products in the U.S. These weakness included
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deficiencies regarding accounting for repurchased loans, evaluation of the allowance for
loan losses, Credit Strategy Policy Committee reporting, information system data fields,
and failure to forward copies of state examination reports and management response to

the Internal Audit Division.

The examination report also noted weaknesses in AIG’s management and internal
relationships, especially with the Corporate Legal Compliance Group and the Internal

Audit Division, as well as its anti-money laundering program

In 2006 OTS noted nominal progress on implementing corrective measures on the
weaknesses noted in the prior examination; however, the Agency identified additional
weaknesses requiring the board of directors to take corrective action. Most notably, OTS
required the board to establish timely and accurate accounting and reconciliation
processes, enhance and validate business line capital models, address compliance-related
matters, adopt mortgage loan industry best practices, and assess the adequacy of its fraud

detection and remediation processes.

During 2007, when there were signs of deterioration in the U.S. mortgage finance
markets, OTS increased surveillance of AGF and AIGFP. OTS selected AGF for review
because of its significant size and scope of consumer operations, and to foliow-up on the

problems noted in prior examinations.

OTS also has supervisory responsibility for AIG Federal Savings Bank. OTS
took action against AIG FSB in June, 2007, in the form of a Supervisory Agreement for
its failure to manage and control in a safe and sound manner the loan origination services
outsourced to its affiliate, Wilmington Finance, Inc. (WFI). The Agreement addressed
loan origination activities and required AIG FSB to identify and provide timely assistance

to borrowers who were at risk of losing their homes because of the thrift’s loan
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origination and lending practices. OTS also required a $128 million reserve io be

established to cover costs associated with providing affordable loans to borrowers.

Later, in light of AIG’s growing liquidity reeds to support its collateral
obligations, OTS took action in September 2008 at the FSB level to ensure that
depositors and the insurance fund were not placed at risk. OTS actions precluded the
bank from engaging in transactions with affiliates without OTS knowledge and lack of
objection; restricted capital distributions; required maintenance of minimum liquidity and
borrowing capacity sensitive to the unfolding situation; and required retention of counsel
to advise the board in matters involving corporate reorganization and attendant risks
related thereto. AIG FSB continues to be well cap‘italized and maintains adequate levels

of hiquidity.

After a 2007 targeted review of AIGFP, OTS instructed the company to revisit its
modeling assumptions in light of deteriorating sub-prime market conditions. In the
summer of 2007, after continued market deterioration, OTS questioned AIG about the
valuation of CDS backed by subprime mortgages. In the last quarter of 2007, OTS
increased the frequency of meetings with AIG’s risk managers and PwC. Due to the
Agency’s progressive concern with corporate oversight and risk management, in October

2007 we required AIG’s Board to:

e Monitor remediation efforts with respect to certain material control weaknesses
and deficiencies;

¢ Ensure implementation of a long-term approach to-solving organizational
weaknesses and increasing resources dedicated to solving identified deficiencies;

s Monitor the continued improvement of corporate contro! group ability to identify

and monitor risk;

13
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¢ Complete the holding company level risk assessment, risk metrics, and reporting
initiatives and fully develop risk reporting;

s Increase involvement in the oversight of the firm’s overall risk appetite and
profile and be fully informed as to AIG Catastrophic Risk exposures, on a full-
spectrum (credit, market, insurance, and operational) basis; and

¢ Ensure the prompt, thorough, and accountable development of the Global
Compliance program, a critical risk control function where organizational

structure impediments have delayed program enhancements.

OTS further emphasized to AIG management and the board that it should give the
highest priority to the financial reporting process remediation and the related long-term
solution to financial reporting weaknesses. In connection with the 2007 annual
examination, the Organizational Structure component of the CORE rating was

downgraded to reflect identified weakness in the company’s control environment.

Shortly after OTS issued the 2007 report, AIG disclosed its third quarter 2007
financial results, which indicated for the first time a material problem in the Multi Sector
CDS portfolio evidenced by a $352 million valuation charge to earnings and the
disclosure that collateral was being posted with various counterparties to address further

market value erosion in the CDS portfolio.

As PwC was about to issue the accounting opinions on the 2007 financial
statements, the independent auditor concluded that a material control weakness existed in
AIGFP’s valuation processes and that a significant control deficiency existed with
Enterprise Risk Management’s access to AIGFP’s valuation models and assumptions.
Due to intense pressure from PwC, in February 2008, AIG filed an SEC Form 8K
announcing the presence of the material weakness. AIG pledged to implement complete

remediation efforts immediately.

14



224

OTS’s subsequent supervisory review and discussions with PwC revealed that
AIGFP was allowed to limit access of key risk control groups while material questions
relating to the valuation of super senior CDS portfolio were mounting. As a result of this
gap, corporate management did not obtain sufficient information to completely assess the
valuation methodology. In response to these matters, AIG's Audit Committee
commissioned an internal investigation headed by Special Counsel to the Audit
Committee to review the facts and circumstances leading to the events disclosed in the
SEC Form 8K. The Special Counsel worked with OTS to evaluate the breakdown in
internal controls and financial reporting. Regulatory entities such as the Securities

Exchange Commission and Department of Justice then also commenced inquiries.

The OTS met with AfG senior management on March 3, 2008, and communicated
significant supervisory problems over the disclosures in the SEC Form 8K and the
unsatisfactory handling of the Enterprise Risk Management relationship with AIGFP.
OTS downgraded AIG’s CORE ratings and communicated the OTS’s view of the
company’s risk management failure in a letter to AIG’s General Counsel on March 10,

2008.

As part of this remediation process and to bolster corporate liquidity and
oversight, AIG successfully accessed the capital markets in May of 2008 and raised
roughly $20 billion in a combination of common equity and equity hybrid securities.
This action coupled with existing liquidity at the AIG parent, provided management with
reasonable comfort that it could fund the forecasted collateral needs of AIGFP. AIG also
added a Liquidity Manager to its corporate Enterprise Risk Management unit to provide
senior management with more timely stress scenario reporting and formed a liquidity
monitoring committee composed of risk managers, corporate treasury personnel and

business unit members to provide oversight.
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On July 28, 2008, AIG submitted a final comprehensive remediation plan, which
OTS reviewed and ultimately accepted on August 28, 2008. The AIG audit committee
approved the company’s remediation plan, which also was used by PwC to assess AIG’s
progress in resolving the material control weakness covering the valuation of the CDS
portfolio and the significant control deficiency attributable to AIG’s corporate risk
oversight of AIGFP, AGF and International Lease Finance Corporation (ILFC). OTS
continues to monitor these remediation efforts to this day, notwithstanding AIG’s

September 2008 liquidity crisis.

As AlG’s liquidity position became more precarious, OTS initiated heightened
communications with domestic and international financial regulators. Through constant
communication, OTS monitored breaking events in geographic areas where AIG
operates, kept regulators in those jurisdictions informed of events in the U.S. and clarified
the nature of AIG’s stresses. OTS’s identification of AIGFP as the focal point of AIG’s
problems added perspective that allowed foreign regulators to more accurately assess the

impact on their regulated entities and to make informed supervisory decisions.

In September 2008 the Federal Reserve Bank of New York (FRB-NY) extended
an $85 billion loan to AIG and the government took an 80 percent stake in AIG. On the
closure of this transaction, Federal statute no longer defined AIG as a savings and loan
holding company subject to regulation as such. This result would be true whether AIG
had been a savings and loan holding or bank holding company subject to regulation by
the Federal Reserve Board. Nonetheless, OTS has continued in the role of equivalent
regulator for EU and international purposes. FRB-NY’s intervention had no impact on

OTS’s continued regulation and supervision of AIG FSB.
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Although OTS has scaled back some regulatory activities with regard to AIG, the
Agency continues fo meet regularly with key corporate control units and receive weekly
reports on various exposures and committee activities. OTS closely monitors the
activities at AIGFP to reduce risk, as well as the divesture efforts of the holding
company. OTS will continue to focus on Residential Mortgage Backed Securities
exposures and the ultimate performance of underlying mortgage assets. OTS is tracking
AIG’s remediation efforts. Finally, OTS continues to work with global functional
regulators 1o keep them apprised of conditions at the holding company, as well as to learn

of emerging issues in local jurisdictions.

IV. Lessons Learned

Despite OTS’s efforts to point out AIGFP’s weaknesses to the company and to its
Board of Directors, OTS did not foresee the extent of the risk concentration and the
profound systemic impact CDS products caused within AIG. By the time AIGFP stopped
originating these derivatives in December 2005, the); already had $65 billion on their

books. These toxic products posed significant liquidity risk to the holding company.

Companies that are successful have greater opportunities for growth. AIG was
successful in many regards for many years, but it had issues and challenges. OTS
indentified many of these issues and attempted to initiate corrective actions, but these

actions were not sufficient to avoid the September market collapse.

It is worth noting that AIGFP’s role was not underwriting, securitizing or

investing in subprime mortgages. Instead, AIGFP simply provided insurance-like

17
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protection against declines in the values of underlying securities. Nevertheless, in
hindsight, OTS should have directed the company to stop originating CDS products
before December 2005. OTS should also have directed AIG to try to divest a portion of
this portfolio. The pace of change and deterioration of the housing market outpaced our
supervisory remediation measures for the company. By the time the extent of the CDS
liquidity exposure was recognized, there was no orderly way to reduce or unwind these
positions and the exposure was magnified due to the concentration level. The CDS
market needs more consistent terms and conditions and greater depth in market

participants to avoid future concentration risks similar to AIG.

1 believe it is important for the Subcommittee to understand the confluence of
market factors that exposed the true risk of the CDS in AIGFP’s portfolio. OTS saw
breakdowns in market discipline, which was an important element of our supervisory
assessment. Areas that we now know were flawed included: over reliance on financial
models, rating agency influence on structured products, lack of due diligence in the
packaging of asset-backed securities, underwriting weaknesses in originate-to-distribute
models, and lack of controls over third party (brokers, conduits, wholesalers) loan

originators,

Shortcomings in modeling CDS products camouflaged some of the risk. AIGFP
underwrote its super senior CDS using proprietary modeling similar to that used by rating
agencies for rating structured securities. AIGFP’s procedures required modeling based
on simulated periods of extended recessionary environments (i.e. ratings downgrade,
default, loss, recovery). Up until June 2007, the results of the AIGFP models indicated
that the risk of loss was a remote possibility, even under worst-case scenarios. The
mode! used mainstream assumptions that were generally acceptable to the rating

agencies, PwC, and AIG.
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Following a targeted review of AIGFP in early 2007, OTS recommended that the
company revisit its modeling assumptions in light of deteriorating sub-prime market
conditions. In hindsight, the banking industry, the rating agencies and prudential
supervisors, including OTS, relied too heavily on stress parameters that were based on
historical data. This led to an underestimation of the unprecedented economic shock and

misjudgment of stress test parameters.

Approximately six months after OTS’s March 2008 downgrade of AIG’s
examination rating, the credit rating agencies also downgraded AIG on September 15,
2008. That precipitated calls that required AIGFP to post huge amounts of collateral for
which it had insufficient funds. The holding company capital was frozen and AIGFP

could not meet the calls.

V. Recommendations

From the lessons learned during our involvement with supervising AIG, we would

like you to consider two suggestions in your future exploration of regulatory reform.

Systemic Risk Regulator

First, OTS endorses the establishment of a systemic risk regulator with broad
authority, including regular monitoring, over companies that if, due to the size or
interconnected nature of their activities, their actions, or their failure would pose a risk to
the financial stability of the country, Such a regulator should be able to access funds,
which would present options to resolve problems at these institutions. The systemic risk

regulator should have the ability and the responsibility for monitoring all data about
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markets and companies, including but not limited to companies involved in banking,

securities, and insurance.
Regulation of Credit Default Swaps - Consistency and Transparency

CDS are financial products that are not regulated by any authority and impose serious
challenges to the ability to supervise this risk proactively without any prudential
derivatives regulator or standard market regulation. In November 2008, The President’s
Working Group announced a series of initiatives to strengthen oversight and the
infrastructure of the Over The Counter {(OTC) derivatives market. We are aware of and
support the recent efforts by the Federal Reserve Bank of New York to develop a
common global framework for cooperation. There is a need to fill the regulatory gaps the
CDS market has exposed by strengthening cooperation among regulatory authorities and

through legislation, where necessary.

We have also learned there is a need for consistency and transparency in CDS
contracts. The complexity of CDS contracts masked risks and weaknesses in the program
that led to one type of CDS performing extremely poorly. The current regulatory means
-of measuring off-balance sheet risks do not fully capture the inherent risks of CDS. OTS
believes standardization of CDS would provide more transparency to market participants

and regulators.

In the case of AIG, there was heavy reliance on rating agencies and in-house
models to assess the risks associated with these extremely complicated and unregulated
products. I believe that Congress should consider legislation to bring CDS under
regulatory oversight, considering the disruption these instruments caused in the
marketplace. Prudential supervision is needed to promote a better understanding of the

risks and best practices to manage these risks, enhance transparency, and standardization

20
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of contracts and settlements. More and better regulatory tools are needed to bring all
potential instruments that could cause a recurrence of our present problems under

appropriate oversight and legal authority.

A multiplicity of events led to the downfall of AIG. An understanding of the
contro} weaknesses and events that transpired at AIG provides an opportunity to leamn to
identify weaknesses and strengthen regulatory oversight of complex financial products
and companies. OTS has absorbed these lessons and hés issued risk-focused guidance

and policies to promote a more updated and responsive supervisory program.

VI. Closing

Thank you, Chairman Kanjorski, Ranking Member Garrett and Members of the
Subcommittee, for the opportunity to testify on behalf of the OTS on the collapse of AIG.

We look forward to working with the Subcommittee to ensure that, in these
challenging times, thrifts and consolidated holding companies operate in a safe and sound

manner.
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FEDERAL FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE

Preliminary Observations on Assistance Provided to
AIG

What GAO Found

Federal financial assistance to AIG, both from the Federal Reserve and
Federal Reserve Bank of New York through their authority to lend funds to
critical nonbank institutions and from Treasury’s Troubled Asset Relief
Program (TARP), has focused on preventing systemic risk that could result
from a rating downgrade or failure of AIG. The goal of the assistance and
subsequent restructurings was to prevent systemic risk from the failure of AIG
by allowing AIG to sell assets and restructure its operations in an orderly
manner. The Federal Reserve has been monitoring AIG's operations since
September, and Treasury has begun to more actively monitor AlG's operations
as well. Although the ongoing federal assistance has prevented further
downgrades in AIG’s credit rating, AIG has had mixed success in fulfilling its
other restructuring plans, such as terminating its securities lending program,
selling assets, and unwinding its AIG Financial Products portfolio. For
example, AIG has made efforts at selling certain business units and has begun
an overall restructuring, but market and other conditions have prevented
significant asset sales, and most restructuring efforts are still under way. AlG
faces ongoing challenges from the continued overall economic deterioration
and tight credit markets. AIG’s ability to repay its obligations to the federal
government has also been impaired by its deteriorating operations, inability to
sell its assets and further declines in its assets. All of these issues will
continue to adversely impact AIG’s ability to repay its government assistance.

As part of GAO's ongoing work related to the federal assistance provided to
AIG, GAQ is reviewing the potential impact of the assistance on the
commercial property/casualty insurance market. Specifically, GAQ is
reviewing potential effects of the assistance on AIG’s pricing practices.
According to some of AIG’s competitors, federal assistance to AIG has
allowed AIG's commercial property/casualty insurance companies to offer
coverage at prices that are inadequate for the risk involved. Conversely, state
insurance regulators, insurance brokers, and insurance buyers said that while
AIG may be pricing somewhat more aggressively than in the past in order to
retain business in light of damage to the parent company’s reputation, they did
not see indications that this pricing was inadequate or out of line with
previous AIG pricing practices, Moreover, some have noted that AIG has lost
business because of the problems encountered by its parent company. As
GAQ evaluates these issues, it faces a number of challenges associated with
determining the adequacy of commercial property/casualty premium rates,
especially in the short term. These challenges include the unique, negotiated
nature of many commercial insurance policies, the subjective assumptions
involved in determining premiums, and the fact that for some lines of
commercial insurance it can take several years to determine if premiums
charged were adequate for the related losses.

United States ility OHice
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Mr. Chairman and Members of the Subcommittee:

1 appreciate the opportunity to participate in today’s hearing to provide
preliminary observations on the federal government's assistance to the
American International Group (AlG)—a large financial conglomerate with
an estimated 70 U.S. insurance companies—and the potential impact of
this assistance on U.S. insurance markets, especially the commercial
property/casualty insurance market.' As you know, the Board of
Governors of the Federal Reserve System (Federal Reserve) and the
Federal Reserve Bank of New York (FRBNY) provided assistance to AIG
in September 2008 following its rating downgrade, which had prompted
collateral calls by its counterparties and raised concerns that a rapid
failure of the company would further destabilize financial markets.
However, AIG’s condition continued to decline, and in November 2008 the
Federal Reserve and the Department of the Treasury (Treasury) under the
newly created Troubled Asset Relief Program (TARP) announced plans to
restructure AlG’s federal assistance to further strengthen its financial
condition and, once again, prevent the failure of the company. On March 2,
2009, the Federal Reserve and Treasury provided additional assistance and
further restructured the terms, which raised questions about the ongoing
viability of the company and the likelihood that the federal assistance
could be repaid.

The assistance provided to AIG has also raised questions among AlG's
competitors about whether the assistance provided to AIG's parent
company is being used to benefit its insurance companies. AIG's
competitors have argued that the assistance has allowed AlG’s insurance
companies to price coverage aggressively compared to the premiums
being charged by the rest of the market, thereby providing AIG with a
competitive advantage, particularly in commercial property/casualty
insurance markets.

My statement today focuses on the preliminary results of our ongoing
review of the federal financial assistance to AlG and its impact on the U.S.
property/casualty insurance market, initiated at the request of Ranking
Member Bachus (full committee) and Chairman Kanjorski
(subcommittee). Specifically, I will discuss (1) the goals and monitoring of
the federal government’s assistance to AlG, the associated setbacks, and

*AIG comprises at least 223 companies and it has operations in 130 countries and
Jjurisdictions warldwide.
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challenges to AIG's repayment of this assistance and (2) the potential
effects of this federal assistance to AIG on the U.S. insurance market,
especially the commercial property/casualty market.

To achieve these objectives, we analyzed publicly available reports,
congressional testimonies, and other documentation issued by the Federal
Reserve, FRBNY, Treasury, Securities and Exchange Commission,
Congressional Research Service, and rating agencies. We also conducted
numerous interviews with officials and staff from the Federal Reserve,
FRBNY, Treasury, three state insurance regulators with major roles in
regulating AIG’s insurance companies, the National Association of
Insurance Commissioners (NAIC), five insurance brokers, four large
commercial property/casualty insurers that compete with AIG, two
reinsurers, three rating agencies, two industry observers, and an
association representing purchasers of commercial property/casualty
insurance. Finally, we consulted with a group of actuaries to discuss our
methodology, bolster our understanding of insurance markets, and
evaluate what we heard from others.

We conducted our work from January 2009 to March 2009, in accordance
with all sections of GAQO’s Quality Assurance Framework that are relevant
to our objectives. The framework requires that we plan and perform the
engagement to obtain sufficient and appropriate evidence to meet our
stated objectives and discuss any limitations in our work. We believe that
the information and data obtained, and the analysis conducted, provide a
reasonable basis for our preliminary findings and conclusions.

Summary

Federal financial assistance to AIG, both from the Federal Reserve and
FRBNY through their authority to lend funds to critical non-bank entities
in certain circumstances and from Treasury’s TARP, has focused on
preventing the systeruic risk that could resuit from a failure or further
rating downgrade at AIG. The goal of the initial assistance and subsequent
restructurings was to prevent systemic risk from the failure of AIG by
allowing AIG to sell assets and restructure its operations in an orderly
manner. The Federal Reserve has been monitoring AIG’s operations since
September, and Treasury will more actively monitor AIG’s operations as
well. Although the ongoing federal assistance has prevented further
downgrades in AIG’s credit rating, AIG has had mixed success in fulfilling
its other restructuring plans, such as terminating its securities lending
program, selling assets, and unwinding its AIG Financial Products (AIGFP)
portfolio. For example, AIG has made efforts at selling certain business
units and has begun an overall restructuring, but market and other
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conditions have prevented significant asset sales, and most restructuring
efforts are still under way. AIG faces ongoing challenges from the
continued overall economic deterioration and tight credit markets. AlG's
ability to repay its obligations to the federal government has also been
impaired by its deteriorating operations, inability to sell its assets and
further declines in its assets. All of these issues will continue to adversely
impact AIG’s ability to repay its government assistance. Table 1 provides
an overview of the total federal investment in AIG of $182.5 billion as of

March 2, 2009.
Table 1: Amounts of AlG Federal Assi Used and Authorized as of March 2, 2009
Amount Total Amount

Date Program Announced Borrowed/Used Authorized

Program Title {doltars in millions) (doltars in millions) Transaction Details

Federat Reserve Bank of New York {(FRBNY)

Seplember 2008 $41,969% $60,000* Revolving loan for the general corporate

Revolving Credit Facility purposes of AlG and its subsidiaries,
and to pay obligations as they come
due. In September this comment was
$85 biffion but was reduced to $60
billion. By the end of the March 2009
the amount will be reduced to no less
than $25 billion.

November 2008 19,500 22,500 FRBNY extended credit to Maiden Lane

Maiden Lane 1f LLC Il to purchase residential mortgage-
backed securities from the U.S,
securities lending portfolio of AIG
subsidiaries.

November 2008 24,300 30,000 FRBNY extended credit to Maiden Lane

Maiden Lane J#f LLC 111 to purchase muiti-sector

den collateralized debt obligations on which

AIG Financial Products had written
credit default swaps.

March 2009 [} (8,500 FRBNY {oan to special purpose v_ehicles

Securitization of domestic fife insurance cash (SPVs) established by domestic fife

flows insurance subsidiaries of AlG. The

SPVs would repay the loans from the
net cash flows they receive from
designated blocks of existing life
insurance policies held by the parent
insurance companies.

March 2009 (26,000 Preferred interests in two SPVs created

Preterred stock in foreign fife companies to hoid all of the outstanding common
stock of two life insurance hoiding

company subsidiaries of AlG.
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Date Program Announced
Program Title

Amount Total Amount
Borrowed/Used Authorized
{doliars in millions) (doflars in millions) Transaction Details

U.S. Treasury Department”

November 2008
Series D Preferred Stock

40,000° 40,000 AlG issued Series D preferred stock to
Treasury and proceeds of $40 billion
were used {o pay down AlG’s Revolving
Credit Facility balance.

March 2009
Equity Capital Facifity®

30, 000 This facility will be avaitable for AIG to
draw down cash as needed over time in
exchange for non-cumulative preferred
stock to the U.S. Treasury.

Credit Facility Trust

September 2008
Series C Preferred Stock

05 Shares of conventible preferred stock
representing an approximately 77.9
percent equity interest in AIG.

Total

$125,770" $182,500

Source: Fedoral Reserve, Troasury, and AIG data.
Notes:

"The debt outstanding in the Revalving Credit Facility includes accrued interest and has been reduced
by the $40 bitlion AlG received from issuing preferred stock to Treasury.

“The Revolving Credit Facility was initially authorized for up to $85 biltion but was reduced to $60
billion in conjunction with the $40 billion paydown of the outstanding debt. The amount of this facility
wifl be reduced to no fess than $25 billion by the end of March 2009 based on the terms of the March
2 restructuring {see notes ¢ and d},

“Tha proceeds from the new foans to SPVs established by ic fife idiaries of AlG
will be used to pay down an equivalent amount of outstanding debt under the Revolving Credit
Facitity up to an aggregate of about $8.5 bilfion. Therefore, this amount does not affect total
authorized amount outstanding.

“The revalving credit facility is to be reduced by up to about $26 billion in exchange for preferred
interest in two SPVs created to hold alf of the outstanding common stock of twa {ife insurance holding
company subsidiaries of AlG. Therefore, this amount does not affect total authorized amount
outstanding.

*Treasury provided the assistance under the Troubled Assat Relief Program’s {TARP) Systemicalty
Significant Failing Institutions {SSFi} Program.

"The $40 biilion was used to reduce the outstanding amount of the Revolving Credit Facility. The
outstanding amount of $42 billion reflects that reduction. As announced in the March 2, 2009
restructuring pian, the Treasury will exchange its existing $40 bitlion cumulative perpetual preferred
shares {or new preferred shares with revised terms that more closaly resemble common equity.

*As of March 16, 2009, Treasury was stifl in the process of finalizing the terms of this facifity.

"This excludes the $14 biflion obtained from the Commercial Paper Lending Facility.

As part of our ongoing work on AIG, we are reviewing the potential impact
of AIG’s federal assistance on the commercial property/casualty insurance
market. Specifically, we are reviewing potential effects on AIG’s pricing
practices. According to some of AIG’s competitors, federal assistance to
AIG has allowed AIG's commercial property/casualty insurance companies
to offer coverage at prices that are inadequate for the risk involved.
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Conversely, state insurance regulators, insurance brokers, and insurance
buyers said that while AIG may be pricing somewhat more aggressively
than in the past in order to retain business in light of damage to the parent
company’s reputation, they did not see indications that this pricing was
inadequate or out of line with previous AIG pricing practices. Moreover,
some have noted that AIG has lost business because of the problems
encountered by the parent company. As we evaluate these issues, we face
a number of challenges associated with determining the adequacy of
commercial property/casualty prerium rates. For exampie, the terms of
the policy are often negotiated, and pricing adequacy is ultimately
determined by future losses.

Background

AIG is a holding company that, through its subsidiaries, is engaged in a
broad range of insurance and insurance-related activities in the United
States and abroad, including general insurance, life insurance and
retirement services, financial services, and asset management. The AIG
organization includes the largest domestic life insurer and the second
largest domestic property/casualty insurer, and it has a large foreign
general insurance business. It also has a financial products division, which
has been a key source of AIG’s financial difficulties, particularty AIGFP,
which engaged in a wide variety of financial transactions, including
standard and customized financial products.

AlG’s Financial Problems
Mounted Quickly

From July 2008 to August 2008, ongoing concerns about AIG’s securities
lending program and continuing declines in the value of super senior
collateralized debt obligations (CDO) protected by AIGFP’s super senior
credit default swap (CDS) portfolio, along with ratings downgrades of the
CDOs, resulted in AIGFP having to post additional cash coliateral, which
raised liquidity issues.” By early September, collateral postings and
securities lending requirements were placing increased pressure on the
AIG parent company’s liquidity. AIG attempted to raise additional capital

“The securities lending program allowed insurance companies, primarily the life insurance
companies, to lend securities in return for cash collateral that was invested in residential
mortgage-backed securities (RMBS). When the value of these securities declined in 2007,
AlG incurred significant losses when it had to return the cash collateral when its borrowed
securities were returued. Collateralized debt obligations are securities backed by a pool of
bonds, loans, or other assets. Credit default swaps are bilateral contracts that are sold over
the counter and transfer credit risks from one party to another. The seller, who is offering
credit protection, agrees, in return for a periodic fee, to compensate the buyer, who is
purchasing it, if a specified credit event, such as defauit, occurs.
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in September but was unsuccessful. It was also unable to secure a bridge
loan through a syndicated secured lending facility. On September 15, 2008,
the rating agencies downgraded AIG’s debt rating three notches, resulting
in the need for an additional $20 billion to fund its additional collateral
demands and transaction termination payments, As AIG’s share price
continued to fall following the credit rating downgrade, counterparties
withheld payments and refused to transact with ATG. Also around this
time, the insurance regulators no longer allowed AIG’s insurance
subsidiaries to lend funds to the parent under a revolving credit facility
that AIG maintained and demanded that any outstanding loans be repaid
and that the facility be terminated.

Overview of Federal
Assistance Provided

Ongoing instability in global credit markets and other issues have resulted
in over $182 billion in federal assistance being made available to AIG.
First, in September 2008, the Federal Reserve created the Revolving Credit
Facility, which was intended to stabilize AIG by providing it with sufficient
liquidity and enabling AIG to dispose of certain assets in an orderly
manner while avoiding undue disruption to the economy and financial
markets (see table 2). The original amount available under the facility was
up to $85 billion. While the amount borrowed reached $82 billion, the debt
was reduced by the proceeds from AIG’s sale of preferred shares to
Treasury as well as repayments frown the Fed Securities Lending
Agreement and the Commercial Paper Facility. As of February 18, 2009,
AIG had $38.8 billion in debt outstanding under this facility.

Table 2: Use of Federal Funds and Borrowings Outstanding from the Federal
Reserve Bank of New York Revolving Credit Facility as of February 18, 2009

Tota!
Borrowings: {millions)
Loans for AIGFP to post for coliateral required by its counterpariies on $47,547
credit default swaps and postings, guaranteed investment agreements
{GlA) and payment of other maturing debts
Capital contributions to insurance companies® 20,850
Repayments of obligations to fife companies in securities lending program 3,160
Repayments of short-term inter-company [oans by annuity and life 1.528
companies to parent company
Contributions to AIGCFG subsidiaries® 1,686
Repayments of AIG non-federal debt of AIG parent company 2,319
Funding for AIG's Equity interest in Maiden Lane 1II° 5,000
Subtotal $82,080
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Total
Borrowings: {miltions}
Repayment of Fed facility from proceeds of issuance of Series D {40,000)
Preferred Stock
Repayments of Fed facility from other sources’ {6,890)
Net borrowings $35,200
Accrued compounding interest and feas 3,631
Total balances outstanding $38,831°
Sources: AiG Form 10-Q for Sept. 30, 2008, Form 10-K for Dec. 31, 2008,
Notes:
*During 2008 and thraugh February 27, 2009, AIG contributed capitat of $22.7 billion {including $18.0
billion borrowed under the Fed Fagcility} to its Domestic Life and Domestic Reti

Services subsidiaries. AlG aiso contributed $4.4 billion to the Foreign Life insurance companies
during 2008 including $4.0 billion from borrowings under the Fed Facility).

®AlG purchased its equity stake in Maiden Lane [ with money borrowed from the Federal Reserve
Bank of New York's facifity.

“Includes repayments from funds received from the Fed Securities Lending Agreement and the
Commerciat Papar Funding Facility.

“According to the Federal Reserve, the Revolving Credit Facility balance was $42 biflion as of March
2, 2009, but AlG's 10-K provided details as of February 18, 2009.

Second, in November 2008, the Federal Reserve and Treasury announced
additional assistance to AIG and restructured its original assistance. On
November 9, 2008, the Treasury announced plans to use its Systemically
Significant Failing Institutions (SSFI) Program, under TARP, to purchase
$40 billion in AIG preferred shares. This purchase allowed AIG to reduce
its debt outstanding to the Federal Reserve and enabled the Federal
Reserve to reduce the amount available under the Revolving Credit
Facility from $85 billion to $60 billion. On November 10, 2008, the FRBNY
announced plans to lend up to $22.5 billion to Maiden Lane II LLC, a
facility formed to purchase residential mortgage-backed securities (RMBS)
from the U.S. securities lending investment portfolio of AlG subsidiaries.
‘When this facility was established, it replaced an interim securities lending
agreement with the Federal Reserve: Also on November 10, FRENY
announced plans to lend up to $30 billion to Maiden Lane I LLC, a
FRBNY facility formed to purchase multi-sector CDOs on which AIGFP
had written CDS protection. In connection with the purchase of the CDOs,
AlIG's CDS counterparties agreed to terminate the CDS contracts.

Most recently, on March 2, 2009, the U.S. Treasury and FRBNY announced
plans to further restructure the terms of the assistance. Consistent with
earlier assistance, this was also designed to enhance the company’s capital
and liquidity in order to facilitate orderly restructuring of the company.
The restructuring of the assistance would, among other things, provide the
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government with interests in two AIG foreign life insurance companies, as
well as certain cash flows from certain domestic insurance companies,
each in exchange for reducing AIG's Revolving Credit Facility balance. The
assistance also would include a new Treasury eguity capital facility that
would allow AIG to draw down up to $30 billion as needed over time in
exchange for newly issued non-cumulative preferred stock to the U.S.
Treasury. Treasury and FRBNY would also exchange the previously issued
Series D preferred stock for Series E preferred stock that would more
closely resemble common stock and provide for non-cumulative

dividends. To date, AIG has not drawn against this facility.

As noted above, some federal assistance was designated for specific
purposes, such as reducing the loan outstanding to the Federal Reserve or
for purchasing specific assets, such as CDOs and RMBS. Other assistance,
such as that available through the Federal Reserve Revolving Credit
Facility, is available to meet the general financial needs of the parent
company and its subsidiaries. Some of the assistance also places
restrictions on actions that AIG can take while it has loans outstanding to
the federal government or as long as the federal government has an
ownership interest in AIG assets, as well as restrictions on executive
compensation. Executive compensation restrictions for TARP recipients
were also included in the American Recovery and Reinvestment Act of
2009, which was enacted on February 17, 2009. In general, the restrictions
prohibit

bonus and incentive compensation payments to certain empioyees,
depending on the amount of TARP assistance received;

golden parachutes; and

compensation pians that encourage risk-taking.

See appendix 1 for a detailed chronology of events.

Page 8 GAO-09-490T



241

Federal assistance to AIG has been focused on preventing systemic risk
Federal Efforts Have from a potential AIG failure and monitoring its progress, but AIG faces
Focused on challenges in repaying the assistance. Federal Reserve and Treasury
M ini officials have said that a failure of AIG, potentially triggered by further
Malntalnmg a'nd, credit downgrades or additional collateral calls, would result in liquidity
Monltonng AlG's concerns for other financial market participants. A disorderly Failure of
AIG would not only create difficulties for AIG’s counterparties as
SOIVQI'ICY, but AIG described, but could further erode confidence in and uncertainty about the
Faces Challenges m viability of other financial institutions. This, in turn, would further
3 constrict the flow of credit to households and businesses, potentially
Rep, aymeg Federal deepening and lengthening the current recession. If the ultimate goal is
Assistance avoiding the failure of AIG, the Federal Reserve and Treasury have
achieved that goal in the short-termn. However, maintaining solvency has
required federal assistance beyond that provided in September and
November 2008, and rating companies have stated that their current
ratings are contingent on continued federal support for AIG. AIG and
federal regulators acknowledge that there may be a need for further
assistance given the significant challenges AIG continues to face.
Therefore, more time is required to determine if the goal will be fully
achieved in the long-term.
Federal and State We asked Treasury and the Federal Reserve how they were monitoring
Monitoring Efforts Are AIG’s progress toward reaching the goals of the federal financial

Focused on AIG Solvency

assistance and AIG’s compliance with the restrictions placed upon it as a
condition of receiving the assistance. According to Treasury and Federal
Reserve officials, the agencies are working together to monitor AIG’s
solvency by reviewing the reports required by the terms of the financial
assistance, and the Federal Reserve is in contact daily with AIG officials
regarding AIG’s liquidity needs and their efforts to sell the company’s
assets. AIG regularly files several reports with FRBNY, including daily
cash flow reports, reports identifying risk areas within the company, and
daily liquidity requests/cash flow forecasts, allowing the Federal Reserve
to monitor AIG's liquidity. Also, AIG has a divestiture team that meets at
least weekly with the Federal Reserve to discuss potential sales deals,
including bids from potential buyers, financing, and other terms of sales
agreements, so that the Federal Reserve can monitor AIG’s efforts to sell
its assets.

The Federal Reserve and Treasury said that they are monitoring the
various federal agreements with AIG, and these agreements place
restrictions on AIG’s use of the funds. For exanple, the Federal Reserve
monitors restrictions on the Revolving Credit Facility, including whether
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AIG has inappropriately paid dividends or financed extraordinary
corporate actions like acquisitions. According to Treasury officials, it is in
the process of finalizing new executive compensation requirements based
on the American Recovery and Reinvestment Act of 2008, and will begin
monitoring AIG's compliance with those regulations once they are in
place. This is an area we will continue to monitor as part of our broader
TARP oversight.

State insurance regulators are responsible for monitoring the solvency of
insurance companies generally, as well as for approving transactions
regarding those companies, such as changes in control or significant
transactions with the parent company or other subsidiaries. For example,
reguiators told us that AIG's insurance companies, like all insurance
companies, file quarterly reports with them. Since AIG began receiving
federal assistance in September 2008, regulators also said that AIG's
insurance companies have been submitting additional reports on their
liquidity, investment income, and statistics on surrender and renewal of
policies, sometimes on a daily or weekly basis. The various regulators also
coordinate their monitoring of the companies’ insurance lines. State
regulators also evaluate potential sales of AIG's domestic insurance
companies. NAIC formed a working group designed to expedite any
regulatory approvals required for asset sales, with a goal of completing the
approvals within 45 days of filing for a sale.

AIG Faces a Nurnber of
Challenges to Its Ability to
Repay Its Federal Funds

AIG's restructuring has hinged on efforts in three areas: (1) terminating its
CDS portfolio, (2) terminating its securities lending program, and (3)
selling assets. Federal assistance was targeted to the first two areas that
posed a significant risk to AIG’s solvency—AIGFP’s CDS portfolio and the
securities lending program—and the risks from both activities appear to
have been reduced, but some risks remain. One arrangement, Maiden Lane
11I—the FRBNY facility created to purchase CDOs—has purchased
approxinately $24.3 billion in multi-sector CDOs (with a par value of
approximately $62 billion), which were the assets underlying the CDS
protection that AIG sold. Concurrent with the purchase of the underlying
CDQOs, AIGFP counterparties agreed to cancel the CDS written on the
CDOs, thus unwinding significant portions of AIGFP’s CDS portfolio.
According to AIG, some arrangements did not qualify for sale to the
facility, generally either because the counterparties did not own the
instruments on which CDS were written or because they were in
denominations other than U.S. dollars. As of February 18, 2009,
approximately $12.2 billion in notional amounts of CDS remained with
AIG. According to AlG, these remaining CDS continue to present a risk to
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AIG, as further losses from these assets could require additional funding. A
second FRBNY facility—Maiden Lane Il—purchased approximately $19.5
billion in RMBS and other assets related to the securities lending program.
Both the Maiden Lane II and Maiden Lane III facilities alow AIG to
participate in the residual proceeds after the FRBNY loan has been repaid.
However, AIG faces other potential losses from other investments.

The federal assistance has allowed AIG to undertake restructuring efforts,
which continue. As of September 2008, AIG was to wind down the
operations of AIGFP and sell certain businesses. In October 2008, the
company announced plans to sell some of its life insurance operations and
other businesses. AIG is continuing to wind down AIGFP but expects the
process to take at least several years in order to avoid further losses given
the current inarket conditions. AIG has been unable to sell its insurance
assets for prices it deems acceptable given the general state of the global
economy. As a result, the plan has been modified, and the federal
government will now assume an ownership interest in some of AIG’s life
insurance companies. The federal government'’s ownership stake will be a
percentage of the fair market value of these companies based on
valuations acceptable to the Federal Reserve. In addition, AIG plans to
consolidate its commercial property/casualty insurance operations in a
free-standing entity and potentially offer an equity interest in part of this
new entity to public investors.

Asset sales have been difficuit, not only because tight credit markets are
limiting buyers’ ability to obtain the capital needed to purchase the
companies, but also because of chalienges faced by AIG in retaining key
employees, who contribute to the value of the company. In addition, the
timely sale of CDOs and RMBS held by the Federal Reserve facilities will
be challenging, not only because it may be difficult to value those assets,
but because many are tied to home values, which have been in decline.

AlG’s ongoing financial probiems have resulted in additional assistance
and restructuring of the terms of the original assistance, and AIG faces
numerous, significant challenges to its ability to repay federal assistance in
the future. AIG's ability to repay the federal government hinges on it
remaining solvent and effectively restructuring the organization, including
the sale of subsidiaries. The federal government recouping its assistance
also depends in part on FRBNY being able to obtain a satisfactory return
on the sale of the CDO- and RMBS-related assets purchased by Maiden
Lane I and IIL
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AIG’s ability to pay interest and dividend payments has been and may
continue to be a challenge because its ability to make payments is
dependent on the profitability of AIG operations, which face a number of
hurdles. As of December 31, 2008, AIG insurance subsidiaries had
statutory capital levels that exceeded the minimum requirements.
However, damage to AIG’s reputation has made it difficult for its insurance
companies to maintain current business and write new business. In
addition, profitability is also dependent on the overall state of the
economy-—many of AIG’s insurance premium sources are tied to
econoruic activity, such as payroll—and its insurers, especially its life
insurers, depend on strong investment returns. To the extent the overall
economy is experiencing difficulty, it will present challenges to the
profitable operations of AIG's insurance companies. While recent federal
assistance has been restructured to reduce AIG’s interest and dividend
payment requirements, it is too soon to tell whether further assistance or
further restructuring will be needed in the future,

Some of AIG’s
Competitors Claim
that AIG’s
Commercial
Insurance Pricing Is
Out of Line With Its
Risks but Other
Insurance Industry
Participants and
Observers Disagree

We are examining the potential effect of federal assistance to AIG on the
insurance wnarket, particularly AIG’s pricing practices within the
commercial property/casualty market. Market participants (actuaries,
regulators, brokers, customers, and insurance coinpanies) we talked with
indicated that, foremost, insurance premium rates follow an insurance
underwriting cycle that is generally characterized by a long period of “soft
market” conditions, where premium rates are relatively low and
underwriting standards are less stringent, followed by a much shorter
period of “hard market” conditions, where premium rates flatten or
increase and underwriting standards are mnore stringent. They explained
that starting with the September 11, 2001, terrorist attacks and continuing
until late 2003 or early 2004, the commercial property/casualty market was
in a hard market, but since this time the markets have softened and
premium rates have been declining. For example, according to the Council
of Independent Agents and Brokers (CIAB) surveys, quarterly changes in
commercial property/casualty premium rates have been negative (falling)
for all commercial line accounts since the second quarter of 2004 (except
for catastrophe-exposed property lines in early 2006), and while the
magnitude of the changes leveled off in the last quarter of 2008, the
average quarterly premiun rate change was still negative in that period.

Industry participants also said that premiums charged by commercial
property/casualty insurers for a given coverage are influenced by several
factors that could allow one insurer to price lower than another on a given
risk and that AIG Commercial Insurance historically had been able to take
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advantage of several of these factors. Such factors include a long history
of experience with complex risks, a lower operating expense ratio relative
to competitors, global operations that allow offsetting risks, and the ability
to leverage the size and the financial strength of the parent company to
write larger coverage amounts than competitors, in some cases without
the need to purchase reinsurance. It is not yet clear to what extent the
current financial difficulties the AIG parent company may have diminished
these advantages for AIG Commercial Insurance.

Some insurers we spoke with said that they had observed instances, in
some cases humerous instances, where AIG had sold commercial
property/casualty coverage for a price that these insurers believed was
inadequate for the risk involved. They cited examples where AIG
Commercial Insurance’s prices had decreased significantly from the prior
year's price, when circumstances appeared to indicate that higher prices
were warranted. Some insurers said that they had brought several of these
instances to the attention of the relevant state insurance regulator.
Insurers expressed concern that while current market conditions would
dictate increased prices in most commercial property/casualty lines of
insurance, they believe that AIG Commercial Insurance has decreased its
prices. They added that when such pricing activity is combined with AIG
Commercial Insurance’s market power, AIG Commercial Insurance can
prevent prices from increasing and thus hurt other insurers’ ability to price
insurance at a cost adequate to cover the risk involved. The insurers said
they believed that AIG Commercial Insurance’s recent pricing behavior is
the result of its desire to retain existing business in the face of concerns
over the financial health of its parent company, and some suggested that
the federal financial assistance is providing thern the means to do this. For
example, some suggested that AIG Commercial Insurance officials know
that the federal government will not et them fail, so they can charge very
low prices without fear of the consequences when the premiums collected
turn out to be less than the losses those premiums were meant to cover.
Some also suggested that buyers in the market are choosing to stay with
AIG Commercial Insurance because they also believe that the insurance
company is now backed by the federal government and that their losses
will ultimately be covered.

AIG told us that AIG Commercial Insurance has the biggest policyholder
surplus in the industry and that they are solvent and financially sound.
They maintained that they are charging prices adequate for the risk being
covered and that their commercial insurance rates have been mirroring
the overall trends in the current soft market. That is, they indicated that
their rates have been declining at an increasingly slower pace since the
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fourth quarter of 2008, and in some cases have increased. They also cited
other factors that they said would indicate that they were not pricing
inadequately or taking market share from other companies. First, AIG
Commercial Insurance told us that they have actually been losing market
share because the financial situation of the parent company had impacted
the reputation of the AIG commercial insurance companies. In addition,
they cited instances where competitors were using the AIG parent
company's financial problems as a way to discourage customers from
buying AIG commercial insurance coverage. Finally, AIG Commercial
Insurance provided us with examples of recent contracts that they have
lost to competitor bids that were below their own. However, AIG
Commercial Insurance acknowledges that these examples reflect the
nature of the business, not necessarily inappropriate pricing by the
competitors.

State insurance regulators, insurance brokers, and insurance buyers that
we have spoken to said that they have seen no indications that AIG’s
commercial property/casualty insurers are selling coverage at prices
inadequate to cover the risk involved:

State insurance regulators we spoke to said that they generally do not
closely watch commercial insurance rates because they may have been
largely deregulated by the states, as well as because of the highly
negotiated nature and complexity of many commercial lines of insurance.
However, they said that they investigate complaints about pricing
activities and monitor insurer solvency rmeasures that would indicate
inadequate pricing—although in some lines the consequences of such
pricing may not show up in these measures for several years. State
regulators indicated that complaints of pricing inadequate for the risk
involved would need to be numerous enough to indicate a potential
systemic problem or would need to prove an intentional predatory
strategy from the part of a particular company. Based on what they have
reviewed, the regulators we spoke with said they have seen no indications
of inadequate pricing by AIG’s commercial property/casualty surers.

Insurance brokers we spoke with said that when helping a customer
obtain coverage, they see all of the prices and conditions offered by each
insurer placing a bid on that coverage. They also indicated that
commercial property/casualty insurance is competitive, and that in several
lines of commercial insurance, especially where large coverage amounts
are involved, prices offered by insurers can deviate significantly on the
same risk. For exaniple, one broker said that insurers’ bids on large
policies regnlarly vary by as much as 20 percent below and above the
median bid. Several brokers told us that AIG Commercial Insurance has
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historically priced aggressively in some lines, and that while in some
instances in the past several months AIG Commercial Insurance may have
priced mnore aggressively in order to retain certain customers, it did not
appear to be a widespread practice and was viewed as an expected
response given the reputational hit the company has taken. They also cited
instances where AIG Commercial Insurance has lost business because
other insurers’ prices were lower than theirs.

Insurance buyers, who also see all of the prices and conditions offered by
each insurer bidding on their coverage, said that AIG Commercial
Insurance is known to be competitive in some lines and that they have not
seen any indications of a widespread change in pricing by AIG’s
commercial insurers. They also said that they would recognize, and be
concerned about, an insurer charging suspiciously low rates for the
coverage because it would create a risk that the insurer would be unable
to pay the policyholder’s claim.

However, according to insurance regulators and other industry
participants, for many lines of commercial insurance, determining whether
prices charged by a cominercial property/casualty insurer are adequate for
the risk involved pose a number of challenges:

In many lines of coinmercial insurance, in the case of very large risks as
opposed to routine policies, the termus of coverage, in addition to the price,
are often negotiated, resulting in unique policies. For example, the amount
of a claim the policyholder would be responsible for, and the collateral the
policyholder would be required to post to guarantee payment of this
amount, would be negotiated. Without knowing all the terms of an
individual policy, it could be difficult to determine the extent to which that
policy was priced adequately for the risk involved.

Insurers price policies based on predictions of future losses, which
contain a number of subjective assumptions about risk, interest rates,
litigation costs, and other costs. Underwriters may price a given risk
differently and still be able to defend the reasoning behind their
calculations.

The most concrete indication of systematic inadequate pricing comes
several years later, depending on how far into the future the losses
associated with the policies in question are realized. However, a company
may ultimately end up with higher-than-expected losses even if it charged
actuarially determined premiums using reasonable assumptions at the
time the policies were written.

Page 15 GAO-09-450T
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In closing, the extent to which the assistance provided by the government
will achieve its goal of preventing systemic risk continues to unfold and
will be largely influenced by AIG’s success in meeting its ongoing
challenges in trying to restructure its operations. Likewise, it is too soon to
tell whether AIG will be able to repay its outstanding debt to the federal
government, which in large part depends on the stability of the overall
financial system. While we have found no evidence that federal assistance
has been provided directly to AIG's property/casualty insurers, as has been
the case for AIG life insurers, AIG’s insurance companies have likely
received some indirect benefit to the extent that the property/casualty
insurers would have been adversely affected by a credit downgrade or
faiture of the AIG parent. While we are continuing to complete our work in
the area, some of AIG’s competitors claim that AIG's commercial
insurance pricing is out of line with its risks but other insurance industry
participants and observers disagree. At this time, we have not drawn any
final conclusions about how the assistance has impacted the overall
competitiveness of the commercial property/casualty market.

Mr. Chairman, this completes my prepared statement. I would be pleased
to answer any questions that you or Members of the Subcommittee may
have.
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Appendix I — Timeline of AIG Financial
Difficulties Leading Up to Federal Assistance

» July 2008 to August 31, 2008:

« The super senior collateralized debt obligation (CDO) securities
protected by American International Group Financial Products’
(AIGFP) super senior credit default swap (CDS) portfolio continued to
decline and ratings of CDO securities were downgraded, resulting in
AIGFP posting additional $5.9 billion collateral.

+ AIG was doing a strategic review of AIG’s businesses and reviewing
measures to address the liquidity concerns in AIG’s securities lending
portfolio and to address the ongoing collateral calls regarding AIGFP’s
super senjor multi-sector CDS portfolio, which as of July 31, 2008,
totaled $16.1 billion.

« Early September 2008: These collateral postings and securities lending
requirements were placing increasing stress on the AIG parent company’s
liquidity.

« September 8 to September 12, 2008: AIG’s common stock price declined
from $22.76 to $12.14, making it unlikely that AIG would be able to raise
the large amounts of capital that would be necessary if AIG’s long-term
debt ratings were downgraded.

+ September 11 or 12, 2008: AIG approached the Federal Reserve with two

COncerns:

« AIG had significant losses in the first two quarters of calendar year
2008, primarily attributable to AIGFP and decreasing values in their
securities, leading AIG to request to place large amounts of cash
collateral.

« AIG’s investments in mortgage-backed securities (MBS) were very
illiquid. Consequently, AIG would not be able to liquidate its assets to
meet the demands of counterparties. Since AIG is not regulated by the
Federal Reserve, the agency was not aware of the company’s financial
problems.

Also, because AIG was facing a downgrade in its credit rating the next
week, it needed immediate liquidity help. Over the weekend, the Federal
Reserve was examining AIG to determine if it was systemically important,
reaning that its failure would have a broader effect on the economy. This
was the same weekend that Lehman Brothers went into bankruptcy.

« September 12, 2008:

+ Standard & Poor’s (S&P), placed AIG on CreditWatch with negative
implications and noted that upon completion of its review, the agency
could affirm the AIG parent company’s current rating of AA- or lower
the rating by one to three notches.

Page 17 GAO-09-480T
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« AIG’s subsidiaries, International Lease Finance Corporation (ILFC) and
American General Finance, Inc. (AGF), were unable to replace all of
their maturing cormmercial paper with new issuances of commercial
paper. As a result, AIG advanced loans to these subsidiaries to meet
their commercial paper obligations.

September 13 and 14, 2008: AIG accelerated the process of attempting to
raise additional capital and discussed potential capital injections and other
liquidity measures with private equity firms, sovereign wealth funds and
other potential investors. AIG also met with Blackstone Advisory Services
LP to discuss possible options.

September 15, 2008:

» AJG was again unable to access the commercial paper market for its
primary commercial paper programs, AIG Funding, ILFC and AGF. AIG
advanced loans to ILFC and AGF to meet their funding obligations.

« AIG met with representatives of Goldman, Sachs & Co., J.P. Morgan,
and the Federal Reserve Bank of New York (FRBNY) to discuss the
creation of a $75 billion secured Iending facility.

« S&P, Moody’s, and Fitch Ratings (Fitch) downgraded AIG’s long-term
debt rating. As a result, AIGFP estimated that it needed in excess of $20
billion to fund additional collateral demands and transaction
termination payments in a short period of time.

Septerber 15, 2008: AIG's common stock price fell to $4.76 per share.

September 16, 2008:

« AIG's strategy to obtain private financing failed. Goldman, Sachs & Co.
and J.P. Morgan were unable to syndicate a lending facility.
Consequently, counterparties were withholding payments from AIG,
and AIG was unable to borrow in the short-term lending markets.

» To provide liquidity, both ILFC and AGF drew down on their existing
revolving credit facilities, resnlting in borrowings of approximately $6.5
billion and $4.6 billion, respectively.

« AIG was notified by its insurance regulators that it would no longer be
permitted to borrow funds from its insurance company subsidiaries
under a revolving credit facility that AIG maintained with certain of its
insurance subsidiaries acting as lenders. Subsequently, the insurance
regulators required AIG to repay any outstanding loans under that
facility and to terminate it.

« The Federal Reserve extended the facility to AIG to prevent systemic
failure. AIG had no viable private sector solution to its liquidity issues.
It received the terms of a secured lending agreement that FRBNY was
prepared to provide, AIG estimated that it had an immediate need for
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cash in excess of its available liquid resources. That night, AIG’s Board
of Directors approved borrowing from FRBNY based on a term sheet
that set forth the terms of the secured credit agreement and related
equity participation.

« September 22, 2008:
« The inter-company facility was terminated effective September 22,
2008,
« AlG entered into the Fed Credit Agreement in the form of a two-year
secured loan.
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DEPARTMENT OF THE TREASURY
WASHINGTON, D.C,
SECRETARY OF THE TREASURY

March 17, 2009

The Honorable Paul E. Kanjorski

Chairman

Subcommittee on Capital Markets, Insurance and Government Sponsored Enterprises
Committee on Financial Services

U.S. House of Representatives

Washington, DC 20510

Dear Chairman Kanjorski:

I know that there is considerable outrage in the House of Representatives, as there is throughout
the country, about the bonuses awarded to employees of AIG Financial Products division at a
time when the company is reliant on significant taxpayer dollars. The President shares that
outrage, and so do L

I am writing to outline the steps taken by the Department of the Treasury to date, to update you
on the actions we are taking to recoup the retention payments just made, and to deal with future
payments of executive compensation by AIG.

I registered my strong objections to Mr. Edward Liddy, the CEO of AlG, last week when I was
first informed by my staff about the pending payment obligations.

Mr. Liddy told me that a tranche of $165 million in retention bonuses were contractually
committed and payable by March 15 to employees within the financial products division ~ the
very division most culpable for the rapid deterioration of AIG. Mr. Liddy, who took the reins of
the firm after the bonuses were negotiated in April of 2008, said AIG’s lawyers had concluded
that the contracts were legally binding. I asked for a written explanation and legal analysis to
support that claim, including the legal liabilities that would arise if the contracts were breached,
and turned it over to Treasury’s own lawyers to review.

Our lawyers agreed, in consultation with outside counsel, that it would be legally difficult to
prevent these contractually—ma.nda\ed payments. Even the new executive compensation
restrictions recently passed in the American Recovery and Reinvestment Act (ARRA) allow for
the payment of contracts signed before the act went into effect.

I demanded of Mr. Liddy that he scrap or cut hundreds of millions of dollars in additional
payments due this year and beyond. He has committed to do this on terms that are consistent
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with the executive compensation provisions of ARRA, the administration’s executive
compensation guidelines, and the interests of the American taxpayers.

As you know, the President has asked me to fully review all additional measures at my disposal
to recoup these bonuses and to recover funds on behalf of taxpayers.

We are presently working with the Department of Justice to determine what avenues are
available by which we can recoup the retention awards that have been paid. The executive
compensation provisions of the ARRA provide that the Secretary of the Treasury “shall review
compensation paid to the senior executive officers and the next 20 mostly highly-compensated
employees of each entity receiving TARP assistance before the date of enactment of the ARRA,
to determine whether any such payments were inconsistent with the purposes of this section or
the TARP or were otherwise contrary to the public interest.” If such a determination is made, the
Secretary “shall seek to negotiate with the TARP recipient and the subject employee[s] for
appropriate reimbursements to the Federal Government.” Our review will determine whether we
can recoup these bonuses under the authority granted by ARRA or by other means.

We also want to insure that taxpayers are compensated for any monies we cannot recover.

Therefore, as part of our provision of recently announced taxpayer funds, we will impose on AIG
a contractual commitment to pay the Treasury from the operations of the company the amount of
the retention awards just paid. In addition, we will deduct from the $30 billion in assistance an
amount equal to the amount of those payments.

Going forward, future AIG bonuses will be subject to the strict executive compensation
provisions enacted by Congress in the ARRA. We are currently developing the regulations to
implement those provisions, which will apply broadly to AIG and other companies receiving
assistance from Treasury. These actions, consistent with the ARRA and other executive
compensation guidelines under consideration by the Administration, are being taken to protect
taxpayer funds and align long-term compensation with the interests of taxpayers.

But in working to resolve the AIG bonus problem, we should not lose focus on the larger issue it
raises.

This situation dramatically underscores the need to adopt, as a critical part of financial regulatory
reform, an expanded “resolution authority” for the government to better deal with situations like
this. Such a resolution authority should include a comprehensive and broad set of regulatory
tools that would enable the government to deal with financial institutions, like AIG, whose
failure would pose substantial risks to our financial system, but to do it in a way that will protect
the interests of taxpayers and innocent counterparties. Without this expanded authority, the
government has been forced to take extreme measures to prevent the catastrophic collapse of
AJG and allow the time necessary for its orderly wind down.

We will continue our aggressive efforts to resolve the future status of AIG in a manner that will
reduce the systemic risks to our financial system while minimizing the loss to taxpayers. And
we will explore any and all responsible ways to accelerate this wind down process.
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1 know that much of the public ire has fallen on Mr. Liddy, which is understandable, since it is
his name on the door. But it also is unjustified. Mr. Liddy was put in place as the CEO of AIG
last year at the request of the U.S. government to help rehabilitate the company and repay
taxpayer funds. He inherited a difficult situation, including these AIGFP retention contracts,
which were entered prior to his or the government’s involvement in AIG. As long as he is there,
we will work with him on measures to wind down AIG in an orderly way and protect the
American taxpayer.

Most important for the long-termn health of the credit markets that are a key to the economy, 1
look forward to working with Congress to modemize our financial regulatory system in way that
protects the American taxpayer, meets the challenges of a dynamic global market and reduces
the chance that we will face a financial crisis of this magnitude in the future,

Sincerely,

[Identical letters sent to Speaker Pelosi, Senate Majority Leader Reid, House Minority Leader
Boehner, and Senate Minority Leader McConnell.]
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derivatives. You know, we've actually gone back and tried to drill down into the models on which some of these de-
rivatives are actually based. And in some cases they probably stretch from myself to Mr. Hensarling down there.

And I'm just wondering, is there anything in your proposed reforms that might get at this issue? Imean, some of
these derivatives, I have to admit, it's just very, very tough to value them or marking them to book, as some of my
friends in the industry have described it, these credit default swaps that are a huge, huge part of the market out there,
these collateral debt obligations, the failure of these risk and recovery models to really predict or to ascertain the value
of these things.

I honestly “- they are so complex, I honestly believe if we adopted a simpler rule that said an investor had to under-
stand these things before they bought them, that this whole market would come to a screeching halt. Thonestly believe
that. And I'm only half-joking.

But is there anything that you propose that would get at that opaqueness and, I guess, lack of transparency and
complexity, something that would allow investors to have more confidence? I mean, in some of these cases we can't
in these synthetic CDOs, we don't even know who the actual ownership -- you know, where the ownership Lies, So it's
just very, very tough for an investor, especially in difficuit times, to have confidence in their mvestment when they can't
really deterrnine that on their own.

SEC. PAULSON: 1 think, Congressman, both the chairman and I spoke about how important it was to make en-
hancements in the infrastructure and the transparency around credit defauit swaps and other over-the-counter deriva-
tives. And I think you heard him say that the New York Fed is driving an effort where we need to have a clearinghouse.
‘We need more transparency. We need better protocols, 1 think more standardization. So there's a lot of work being
done.

Now, ] want to also say to you that there's -- these contracts have done a lot to make the markets more efficient.
And we've gone through periods of time where we've had some major failures, you know, at the time of Enron and so
on. And the markets were able to weather it because of the efficiency of these markets. But they clearly need more
discipline and stronger infrastructure.

Now, there are other things that have been suggested and are being pursued quite aggressively to deal with this,
One is -~ you made the point investors need to do their work to make sure they understand. And if they don't, then they
shouldn't be investing, And there's a lot of work being done on the part of the writing agencies. And Chairman Cox has
spoken to that, and he's done a lot of good work there in terms of reforming those practices.

The President's Working Group has suggested that when the rating agencies make their ratings, that they make a
differentiation between a rating that goes to a standard corporation or a municipality and one that's a structured, hlghly
structured financial product; they maybe should get a different designation.

So there have been a number of suggestions that have been made, and they're ail being pursued. Now, it's going to
take some time to work through this, but progress is being made here.

REP. LYNCH(?): Mr. Chairman?
REP. FRANK: Quickly, Mr. Chairman.

MR. BERNANKE: I would just say that the Federal Reserve is very much involved in this process to make the
post-trade clearing and settlement pmcess -~ the management of the risk associated with this, the transparency, the stan-
dardization, these are all things we're working on. And I elaborated a bit on that in my speech I gave earlier this week,
and this is a very high priority for us.

REP. LYNCH(?): Il look atit. Thank you.

Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

REP. FRANK: The gentieman from New Jersey.

REP. SCOTT GARRETT (R-NJ): Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

And thank you, Mr. Chairman, Mr. Secretary, for your service to the country.
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REP. FRANK: The gentleman from North Carolina.

REP. : Thank you. 1have served on this committee for almost six years, and I remember the testimony pretty )
well on mortgage lending. But I've recently gone back and reviewed some of it to see what the lending industry was
saying at the time about the kind of mortgage practices that have led to the problem.

And what they always said was that the provisions of the morigages -- that they seem to be a problem; they seem
unfavorable to consumers — actually were risk-based. They were responding to a greater risk by certain borrowers, and
that without those provisions they would not be able to lend to those borrowers and those borrowers would be denied
credit. They would be unable to buy homes, would be unabie to borrow against their homes to provide for life's rainy
days.

Looking back on the practices that actually led to the problem, the subprime mortgages made in 2005-2006, it's
pretty clear that those provisions had nothing to do with risk and nothing to do with benefiting consumers and making
credit available to them that would otherwise not have been available.

It was a fundamenta} change in consumer lending from making an honest living off the spread to trying to trap con-
sumers - homeowners — into a cycle of having to borrow repeatedly and paying penalties and fees when they did. And
that the loans were intended to become unpayable for the borrowers, so the borrower would have to borrow again.

Insurance regulation at the state level generally requires that policy forms - provisions and policies and premiums -
- be approved in advance by the state regulator and that the insurer has to justify those provisions. So the kinds of ar-
guments that we heard in this committee that we were not really in a position to judge on a provision-by-provision ba-
sis, a reasonably competent regulator could judge and determine whether that really was related to the nsk, whether it
really was to the advantage of the consumer and whether it also presented a policy for an insurer.

Secretary Paulson, the proposed regulator to protect consumers -~ will that regulator have the authority, should it
have the authority, to review consumer lending products in advance to see if the practices can be _;usnﬁed both for what
it might do to the solvency of the institution, and also what it does for the consumer?
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SEC. PAULSON: I would say this: Whether it reviews in ddvance or not, 1 believe that if we had a regulator that
was focused solely, completely on consumer protection and investor protection, it's difficult to imagine we would have
had some of the abuses that we've had today.

And in terms of we did not intend when we set out this blueprint to get involved in exactly what this regulator
would do and how they would do it, but if there was -~ that was the pure focus, there's no doubt that it would be in-
volved there. And I think in the meantime, because that is a long-term vision, in the meantime, I think the things that
we're seeing done at the Fed right now in terms of their -- (inaudible) -- in terms of looking at, you know, unfair lending
practices «- is very, very essential.

And again, in the meantime, 1 do hope, because I think it's uniikely that anytime soon you are going to supplant the
state regulation of mortgage origination, I do encourage you -- even if it's in the next Cougress - to pick up the idea of
this mortgage origination commission, which will be able to work with states and evaluate the state programs and do it
in a very transparent way. And I think that may help.

REP. : Chairman Bemanke, do you think there should be some way to review in advance, before they go into
widespread use, consumer financial products to make sure that they are not rapacious to the consumer?

MR. BERNANKE: Well, to some extent that's happening in the following sense that first, as Secretary Paulson
mentioned, the Federal Reserve is releasing on Monday a new set of rules which will limit the parameters,- essentially,
of how the mortgage can be constructed and will eliminate certain kinds of confusing and other practices from the pos-
sible contracts.

Secondly, we are continuing -- as we have recently done in credit cards -~ we are continuing a very extensive set of
disclosure reviews so that the lender will be required to explain and write essential information to the borrower. So I
think we're going to go a long way towards reducing both the predatory aspects of the lending that you were referring
to, and also I would just call the bad lending, which ended up being Iosses for the lenders themselves, because they had
insufficient oversight and care when they paid for the loans.

In terms of creating a standardized product in advance 1 think is an interesting idea. It would simplify things in
some ways, but on the other hand, there are some benefits to having flexibility and innovation in the mortgage market to
have different types of mortgages available, like share appreciation mortgages or variable maturity mortgages and so on.
So 1 wouldn't want to take government action to eliminate the possibility of inanovation in that market.

REP. FRANK: The gentleman from California.
REP. : Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

There seems to be general agreement, with which I concur, that we need regulatory restructuring, regulatory reform
and that we want to do it right rather than quickly. However, markets don't wait. If we go on - if we're waiting till next
year — which is, I think, the implication here —~ and the next Congress, next president, three quarters are going to pass at
least before we have something in place.

So my question to both of you js: If there were a financial institution that -- to you use your terms, Secretary Paul-
son -- that is either too big or too connected that were approaching some failure or some difficulty, do you currently
have the transparency to know in time, and the tools to deal with that? And/or if not, is there — and/or is there anything
we can give you quickly to help with that?

SEC. PAULSON: Well, let me say: What history shows us it is very difficult to predict in advance. And Idon't
think you're going to be able to reasonably give us any tool right now. So I'm going to just tell you that there is an ur-
gent need. We're not saying, take your time, wait. There is an urgent need to get more tools.

But I also will tell you that I believe that the focus on market stability and the actions that the Fed has taken -~ niot
just in the Bear Stearns episode, but in the follow up in the apening the PDCF to the - opening the discount window to
investment banks, has sent a very strong signal. And the world that the Fed and the SEC has done with these good insti-
tutions as they strengthened their liquidity management is, I think, very important.

So neither of us are predicting another incident. And we are looking the progress that's been made. We both would
like additional tools, We're not saying “take forever", but we recognize that the fact that the regulatory structure hasn't
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The Real AIG Outrage

President Obama joined yesterday in the clamor of outrage at A1G for paying some $165 million in contractually
obligated employee bonuses. He and the rest of the political class thus neatly deflected attention from the larger
outrage, which is the five-month Beltway cover-up over who benefited most from the AIG bailout.

Taxpayers have already put up $173 billion, or more than a thousand times the amount of those bonuses, to fund the
government's AIG "rescue.” This federal takeover, never approved by AIG shareholders, uses the firm as a conduit to
bail out other institutions. After months of government stonewalling, on Sunday night AIG officially acknowledged
where most of the taxpayer funds have been going.

Since September 16, AIG has sent $120 billion in cash, collateral and other payouts to banks, municipal governments
and other derivative counterparties around the world. This includes at least $=0 billion to European banks. The list
also includes American charity cases like Goldman Sachs, which received at least $13 billion. This comes after months
of claims by Goldman that all of its AIG bets were adequately hedged and that it needed no "bailout.” Why take $13
billion then? This needless cover-up is one reason Americans are getting angrier as they wonder if Washington is lying
to them about these bailouts.

LR

Given that the government has never defined "systemic risk,” we're also starting to wonder exactly which system
American taxpayers are paying to protect. It's not capitalism, in which risk-takers suffer the consequences of bad
decisions. And in some cases it's not even American. The U.S. government is now in the business of distributing
foreign aid to offshore financiers, laundered through a once-great American company.

The politicians also prefer to talk about AIG's Jatest bonus payments because they deflect attention from Washington's
failure to supervise AIG. The Beltway crowd has been selling the story that AIG failed because it operated in a shadowy
unregulated world and cleverly exploited gaps among Washington overseers. Said President Obama yesterday, "This is
a corporation that finds itself in financial distress due to recklessness and greed.” That's true, but Washington doesn't
want you to know that various arms of government approved, enabled and encouraged AIG's disastrous bet on the U.S.
housing market.

Scott Polakoff, acting director of the Office of Thrift Supervision, told the Senate Banking Committee this month that,
contrary to media myth, AIG's infamous Financial Products unit did not slip through the regulatory cracks. Mr.
Polakoff said that the whole of AIG, including this unit, was regulated by his agency and by a "college” of global
bureaucrats.

http://online. wsj.com/article/SB123725551430050865. html 3/23/2009
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But what about that supposedly rogue AIG operation in London? Wasn't that outside the reach of federal regulators?
Mr. Polakoff called it "a false statement” to say that his agency couldn't regulate the London office.

And his agency wasn't the only federal regulator. AIG's Financial Products unit has been overseen for years by an SEC-
approved monitor. And AIG didn't just make disastrous bets on housing using those infamous credit default swaps.
AIG made the same stupid bets on housing using money in its securities lending program, which was heavily regulated
at the state level. State, foreign and various U.S. federal regulators were all looking over AIG's shoulder and approving
the bad housing bets. Americans always pay their mortgages, right? Mr. Polakoff said his agency "should have taken an
entirely different approach” in regulating the contracts written by AIG's Financial Products unit.

That's for sure, especially after March of 2005. The housing trouble began - as most of AIG's troubles did - when the
company's board buckled under pressure from then New York Attorney General Eliot Spitzer when it fired longtime
CEO Hank Greenberg. Almost immediately, Fitch took away the company's triple-A credit rating, which allowed it to
borrow at cheaper rates. AIG subsequently announced an earnings rest t. The rest addressed alleged
accounting sins that Mr. Spitzer trumpeted initially but later dropped from his civil complaint.

Other elements of the restatement were later reversed by AIG itself. But the damage had been done. The restatement
triggered more credit ratings downgrades. Mr. Greenberg's successors seemed to understand that the game had
changed, warning in a 2005 SEC filing that a lower credit rating meant the firm would likely have to post more
collateral to trading counterparties. But rather than managing risks even more carefully, they went in the opposite
direction. Tragically, they did what Mr. Greenberg's AIG never did -- bet big on housing.

Current AIG CEO Ed Liddy was picked by the government in 2008 and didn't create the mess, and he shouldn't be
blamed for honoring the firm's lawful bonus contracts. However, it is on Mr. Liddy's watch that AIG has lately been
conducting a campaign to stoke fears of "systemic risk." To mute Congressional objections to taxpayer cash infusions,
AIG's lobbying materials suggest that taxpayers need to continue subsidizing the insurance giant to avoid economic
ruin.

Among the more dubious claims is that AIG policyholders won't be able to purchase the coverage they need. The
sweeteners AIG has been offering to retain customers tell a different story. Moreover, getting back to those infamous
bonuses, AIG can argue that it needs to pay top dollar to survive in an ultra-competitive business, or it can argue that it
offers services not otherwise available in the market, but not both.

* %

The Washington crowd wants to focus on bonuses because it aims public anger on private actors, not the political
class. But our politicians and regulators should direct some of their anger back on themselves - for kicking off AIG's
demise by ousting Mr. Greenberg, for failing to supervise its bets, and then for blowing a mountain of taxpayer cash on
their AIG nationalization.

Whether or not these funds ever come back to the Treasury, regulators should now focus on getting AIG back into
private hands as soon as possible. And if Treasury and the Fed want to continue bailing out foreign banks, let them
make that case, honestly and directly, to American taxpayers.

Please add your comments to the Opinion Journal forum.

Copyright 2008 Dow .Jones & Company, Inc. All Rights Reserved
This copy is for your personat, non-commercial use only. Distribulion and use of this material are g by ou and by copyright
faw. For non-personal uss or to order muitiple copies, please contact Dow Jones Reprints at 1-800-843—0008 or visit
www.djreprints.com
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Responses to Congressional Questions

1. ‘Who and under what authority, committed AIG/AIG FP to the AIG FP 2008 Employee
Retention Plan (“ERP”)? When was this plan initially contemplated? When was the
commitment made? Please provide a specific time line of actions and persons involved
in the making the decision.

The ERP was first discussed in February 2008 when Joseph Cassano announced
his departure as head of AIGFP. It was believed that Cassano’s departure, combined with
unrealized mark-to-market losses experienced by AIGFP in its multi-sector CDS portfolio and
potential limits on compensation in future years, created a significant risk that AIGFP employees
would leave the company in a manner that could substantially destabilize its operations and
potentially lead to significant additional losses and the loss of additional future revenues. The ERP
was put in place to retain these employees.

Senior management of both AIG and AIGFP approved an outline of the plan that was
presented to AIGFP employees in a global call in mid-March 2008. The plan was also discussed in
executive session by the Compensation and Management Resources Committee of the AIG Board
on March 11, 2008 and by the AIGFP Board on March 12, 2008. A term sheet describing the plan
was sent to all AIGFP employees on March 31, 2008. The final plan document, including the
execution page for participants was distributed on April 23, 2008. All participants returned signed
confirmations agreeing to the terms of the plan shortly thereafter.

The ERP was publicly disclosed by AIG in its Form 10-Q for the first, second and third
quarter of 2008.

2. Who or which group proposed and designed the ERP? Was outside counsel consulted in
drafting the ERP?

The ERP was designed and approved by senior management of AIGFP and AIG.
Outside counsel prepared the plan documents,

3. Was this program used in other parts of AIG?
No.
4. Are similar ERPs used by other participants in the financial services industry?

We believe, but have not confirmed, that other financial services institutions
adopted retention plans around this time.

5. What indices or best practices did AIG FP use to establish its ERP?

Payments under the ERP were based on 2007 compensation levels, including
deferred bonuses that were paid to employees that have since been wiped out due to AIGFP’s
losses. AIGFP and AIG consulted with a compensation consultant with extensive experience in
the financial services industry concerning the compensation paid to AIGFP employees in 2007

Page 1 4/28/09



264

compared to market benchmarks. The consultant advised that for the positions of professionals
in the Derivatives & Structured Markets Group, AIGFP paid “at approximately 80-85th
percentile of relevant comparators, but below a number of significantly larger investment
banking and independent groups.”

6. Was the ERP discussed and/or considered by the AIG & AIG FP boards of directors?
Providc all minutes of the relevant boards’ meetings where this issue was discussed
and/or considered.

See response to Question | above.
7. What was the chain of command for approving ERP?
- See response to Question 1 above.

8. Which AIG FP employees were eligible to participate in the ERP and who determined
such eligibility? Which other AIG employees or contractors were eligible to participate?
How was continued eligibility determined? Does AIG believe that a person who has
committed malfeasance remains entitled 10 a payment?

The ERP was designed to retain the AIGFP employee group as a whole, so most
AIGFP employees are covered by the plan. Employees were generally considered eligible to
participate in the plan if they were employed by AIGFP on March 31, 2008 and had received a
bonus for 2007. One employee in this group, who played a major role in marketing and
structuring the multi-sector CDSs in question, was excluded from the plan. Two other
employees who did not receive a bonus for 2007 because they were on warning for poor
performance likewise did not participate in the plan. Three consultants were included in the plan
because of the belief that their continued services were important to the company’s future
business plans. Employees who resign prior to the payment date forfeit eligibility for subsequent
retention payments.

The plan does not cover other AIG employees or contractors.

The plan provides that employees terminated for cause (defined as “intentional
wrongdoing, fraud, dishonesty, gross negligence, material breach of the AIG Code of Conduct or
other policies of AIGFP or AIG, or conviction of or entry of plea of guilty or no contest to a
criminal offense”) forfeit any ERP payment that has not yet been made. If an employee is guilty
of malfeasance which would support a for cause termination, the company would terminate that
employee and forfeit the ERP payment. To date, neither AIG nor AIGFP is aware of any fraud or
malfeasance in connection with the underwriting and creation of the multi-sector CDS portfolio,
as opposed to what with hindsight turmed out to be bad business decisions. AIG and AIGFP are,
however, aware of ongoing investigations by the Department of Justice and the SEC with respect
to the subsequent valuation of the multi-sector CDS portfolio under fair value accounting rules
and disclosures relating thereto. We have cooperated fully with these investigations and will
continue to do so.
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9. Did AIG conduct performance reviews to determine eligibility to participate in the ERP?
Was performance or merit even considered a factor when these bonus plans were agreed
to? Was this intended to retain employees regardless of performance?

Payments under the plan were tied to 2007 compensation levels for employees,
including deferred bonus awards (that have since been wiped out by AIGFP’s losses) which were
related to performance. For senior management the plan provides that 2008 and 2009
compensation will be 75% of 2007 compensation levels (including deferred bonuses). Other
participants’ payments were set at the full 2007 level. As noted in the response to Question 8,
certain individuals did not participate in the ERP because of performance issues.

10.  What were the eligibility requirements for the ERP? Were the criteria based on
performance? Why or why not? What are the criteria for payment? Is no minimum
performance standard required?

Sec the response to Questions 8 and 9. The plan does not provide for payment to
employees terminated ““for cause,” or, for the second payment due in March 2010, for
terminations for failure to meet performance standards prior to December 31, 2008.

1l.  How many people receiving bonuses worked in the derivatives trading group? Did
anyone check to see whether any of these employees engaged in malfeasance? Why or
why not? Did these employees receive regular performance reviews and were they above
average? Were they outstanding?

Only a handful of the approximately 400 individuals receiving payments under
the ERP were involved in decisions to approve the multi-sector CDS transactions responsible for
the company’s financial distress. See also the response to Question 8.

12, What role did management play in approving these bonus plans?
See response to Question 1.
13.  In 2009, what other companies are providing 100% bonuses? How many of these
companies are in the financial sector? How many of these are receiving government

bailout funds?

We do not know how many other companies have plans in place that
contractually obligate them to pay bonuses equal to last year’s expected compensation.

14.  What would happen if you didn’t pay these bonuses?

As detailed in the White Paper provided to Secretary Geithner, the failure to pay
the bonuses would have resulted in lawsuits against AIGFP and AIG which would have exposed
the companies to double damages and attorneys fees. A failure to pay would also have allowed
participants to resign, claim constructive discharge and seek immediate payment of both the
2009 and 2010 awards under the ERP.
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Moreover, a failure to pay the bonuses could have constituted a cross default
under various derivative and other transactions to which AIGFP is party and that are guaranteed
by AIG, which would have allowed counterparties to terminate the transactions and replace
AIGFP. Under current market conditions, it is not possibie to reliably estimate the replacement
cost of these transactions that AIGFP and AIG would have to bear, but the portfolio with these
types of provisions is in the several hundreds of billions of doliars and a cross-default in this
portfolio could trigger other cross-defaults over the entire $1.6 trillion AIGFP portfolio.

In addition, it was believed that a failure to pay the bonuses would have
precipitated a mass departure of employees who are critical to managing the wind-up of AIGFP.
The consequences of such departures are detailed in the White Paper.

15. How many hundreds of billions has AIG received in government assistance to date? How
much of the taxpayers’ money have you used to pay out bonuses?

The details concerning the assistance received from the government to date are
summarized in the attached presentation to investors dated March 2, 2009. Funds received from
the government are not earmarked for specific purposes, but the amount received from the
government is obviously far in excess of what has been paid in bonuses.

16.  Was individual or group performance a factor in determining eligibility to participate in
the ERP?

See the response to Questions 8 and 9 above.

17.  Is continued individual or group performance a factor in determining eligibility to
participate in the ERP?

The only criteria for payment under the ERP is that a participant may not quit
without good reason, be terminated for cause or be terminated for failure to meet performance
standards (as to the second ERP payment only.)

18.  Was any factor other than retention used to determine eligibility to participate in the
ERP?

See responses to Questions 8, 9 and 17.

19.  Was the 2007 management of AIG FP’s derivatives trading group eligible to participate
in the ERP? If so, how many managers from AIG FP’s 2007 derivatives trading group
are currently employed at AIG FP or remain eligible to receive payments under the ERP?
How many of the recipients of these bonuses are those who made the decisions to enter
into these transactions that now they are unwinding? Or are these bonus recipients the
ones who merely implemented the orders of those fund managers?

As noted in the response to Question 11, only a handful of the approximately 400
individuals receiving payments under the ERP were involved in decisions to approve the multi-
sector CDS transactions responsible for AIG’s financial distress. A few of these individuals are
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currently involved in unwinding AIGFP’s business, remain employed by AIGFP, and participate
in the ERP.

20. Do employees terminated for cause remain eligible to receive payments under the ERP?
No.

21. Do former employees not terminated for cause remain eligible to receive payments under
the ERP?

Yes.

22.  Tunderstand these are retention bonuses. Why does AIG FP provide retention pay to
individuals who have left the company? How many bonuses were paid to persons who
are no longer with the company? How could that possibly serve any purpose related to
retention if the bonus is to be paid to former employees? Under what circumstances
would you benefit by paying a retention bonus to “retain” the services of someone who
no longer works for AIG? Was this not another major oversight in your contract?

The ERP was designed to provide a guaranteed minimum compensation level and
job security to employees of AIGFP to ensure their continued service. A common provision in
retention contracts provides that employees will be paid the amounts specified if they are
terminated without cause (but not if they voluntarily leave). The absence of such a provision
would provide little security, since an employer could always avoid its contractual obligations by
terminating the employee before payment came due. At the time the ERP was put in place, AIG
did not anticipate layoffs, but when layoffs became necessary, the provision requiring payment
in the event of a termination without cause was triggered. Approximately 53 former employees
who have been recently laid off received ERP payments.

23. What law, federal and state, governs the terms of the ERP? What international laws
cover the ERP?

The ERP is governed by Connecticut law. Employees working in foreign
jurisdictions (UK, France, Japan and Hong Kong) may have rights under local law as well.

24.  What steps has AIG taken to evaluate the enforceability of both the ERP and the
corresponding “cross default™ clauses on which AIG relies in asserting its obligation to
perform under the ERP?

Outside counsel has expressed the view that the ERP is enforceable based on a
detailed analysis that has been shared with Congress. Both inside and outside counsel have
reviewed the cross default provisions in selected derivative and other transactions and concluded
that a failure to make the ERP payments would constitute a cross default with respect to those
transactions.

25.  Has AIG requested advisory legal opinions on any of the above questions? Have any

such advisory opinions been made available to the Federal Reserve Bank of New York or
the Treasury?
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Yes. Outside counsel's views on the enforceability of the ERP have been shared
with the Federal Reserve Bank of New York and Treasury.

26.  Did the Federal Reserve Bank of New York or Treasury make any recommendations
regarding this matter? If so, what were they and how did AIG respond to them?

The Federal Reserve Bank and Treasury were advised of the company’s decision
to make these payments in advance of the payments. AIG would not have proceeded with the
payments without discussing the matter with them.

27.  How many AIG FP employees received more than $100,000, $250,000, $500,000, and
$1,000,000 in payments from the ERP for 20087 What about employees in other parts
of AIG?

See the attached chart for the distribution of payments. The ERP does not apply
to employees in other parts of AIG which have separate retention plans.

28.  Has AIG or AIG FP management considered requesting employees voluntarily re-
negotiate the terms of the ERP in light of current conditions?

The companies are vigorously pursuing requests to voluntarily return some or ail of the
ERP payments for individuals who received payments of more than $100,000.
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No performance bonuses at FP, zero. It’s a different issue
than the retention bonuses, where we basically said to
people, ‘‘You have a job, that job’s going to go away, after
you wind down the book of business that you manage. If
you’ll stay--

Mr. FRANK. So are you talking about the only bonuses
that were paid recently were the retention bonuses?

Mr. LIDDY. Yes.

Mr. FRANK. There were no other bonuses paid?

Mr. LIDDY. ﬁot at AIG FP. No, I don’t believe so.

Mr. FRANK. All right. And the retention bonuses, some
people we‘re told who got retention bonuses have since left.
Is that correct?

Mr. LIDDY. Yes, sir. The arrangement--

Mr. FRANK. Did they give back their retention bonuses?

Mr. LIDDY. No. The arrangement is if you stay, wind
down your particular business, do a good job of it, and were
comfortable with the job you’ve done, you’ll get that
retention bonus. So--

Mr. FRANK. So--the people who got a retention bonus and
then they left, what would be the average period of time
after which people got a retention bonus that they left? I
don’'t expect you to know that off the top of your head, I’'d
ask you to submit to us.

Mr. LIDDY. Okay.
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Rep. Barney Frank (MA)

Issue: Average period of time in which an AIG Financial Products (AIGFP} employee remains
with the company after receiving a retention payment. (Page 151, Line 3523)

The AIGFP employee retention plan {ERP} was established in the first quarter of
2008 to retain necessary employees for the years 2008 and 2009 as AIGFP
managed more than 52 trillion in complex trades. The ERP was negotiated six
months before AIG received or contemplated assistance from the Federal
Reserve Bank of New York and, at the time, AIGFP was considered an important
component of AlG’s business. The ERP only applies to compensation years 2008
and 2008 and is paid retroactively for services; payments made in 2009 are for
work provided by employees in 2008, for example. The last payment under the
ERP will be made on or about March 15, 2010.

Employees must be employed on a scheduled payment date to be eligible for a
retention payment unless previously subjected to a reduction in force (RIF).
Since AIG decided to place AIGFP into a run-off mode in late 2008, a number of
employees have been subject to a RIF since the ERP was established. As Mr.
Liddy noted in response to questioning before the Subcommittee: “The
arrangement is if you stay, wind down your particular business, do a good job of
it, and were [sic] comfortabie with the job you've done, you get the retention
bonus.”

Consistent with the ERP, AIGFP made payments on March 15, 2009 to 392
employees for the 2008 compensation year. Of these 392 employees, 52 were
previously subject to a RIF after their required work was successfully completed.
The 52 employees, pursuant to the ERP, were paid for completing their work.
After March 15, 2009, 19 employees voluntarily resigned (as of April 6, 2009} and
three employees left the company through a further RIF after their required
work was successfully completed. The 19 employees who resigned are not
eligible to receive any future retention payments.
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3529 Mr. FRANK. One other issue before I get to--well, two
3530} others. You are optimistic in here about paying down the
3531| Federal Reserve debt. You don’t mention the debt to the
3532| Treasury. Is that next after the Federal Reserve debt?

3533 Mr. LIDDY. Yes. It'’s really importamnt for us, sir, to
3534} pay the debt down first so the rating agencies remain--

3535 Mr. FRANK. As opposed to the. TARP, which is considered a
3536| different category? Is that the--

3537 Mr. LIDDY. Yes. Although, could I clarify? I think
3538| there’s some confusion. Right now the Federal‘Government has
3539| invested two major tranches of money in us. One is $40

3540] billion of TARP and the other is just under $38 billion of a
3541} loan from the Pederal Reserve. That's it. 1It’s $78 billion.
3542 There’s another $30 billion of TARP; which is available
3543f to us if we have to draw-- '

3544 Mr. FRANK. Which are--and you’re talking about paying
3545| off the Federal Reserve debt, the $38 billion?

3546 Mr. LIDDY. The order in which we would do things is

3547) first the Federal Reserve debt, and then the TARP dollars.
3548 Mr. FRANK. Next question before I ask you my final one.
3549 I'm running of time. I would be interested in your

3550{ submitting in writing, given your experience, whether we

3551| should be dealing with this question of an orderly resolution
3552] procedure. You were put in place where there wasn’‘t any.
3553 The Secretary of the Treasury previously and currently
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3554] has said: We need an orderly way to wind down a troubled
3555 non-bank.

3556 But let me ask you this now, and you’ve said some people
3557} are giving the bonuses back. I’'m now asking you to send us
3558| the names of those who received bonuses, who have not given
3559| them back. Can you do that?

3560 Mr. LIDDY. Sir, I will if I can be absolutely assured
3561} that they will reﬁain confidential.

3562 Mr. FRANK. Well, I won't give you that assurance, sir.
3563f And so if that’s the condition, it would be my intention to
3564| ask this committee to subpoena them. And this is a situation
3565} where there’'s a lot of public activity.

3566 I ask you to submit the names of the people who've

3567| received the bonuses, noting that they paid them back, or
3568| not, and I would accept them under a confidentiality

3569 personally. In fact, you've submittéd some confidential

3570} information, and I frankly threw it away after reading it,
3571| because I was afraid I would inadvertently breach the

3572| confidentiality.

3573 But I do ask that you submit those names with

3574 restriction, and if you feel unable to do that, then I will
3575] ask the Committee to subpoena them.

3576 Mr. LIDDY. Congressman, if you’ll let me explain. I very
3577| much want to comply with your request. I would hope it

3578| doesn‘t take a subpoena. If it does, then we will obviously
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Rep. Barney Frank (MA)

Issue: List of names of AIGFP employees receiving retention payments. (Page 153, Line 3556)

AIG continues to be concerned about the safety of ail its employees, including
those at AIG Financial Products {AIGFP) who received retention payments. AIG
believes that threats to employees’ physical safety make it necessary to continue
to maintain confidentiality for individuals who received retention payments.
Since March 15, 2009, the company has received tens of thousands of email and
voicemail messages regarding the AIGFP employee retention program. AIG's
security team evaluated these messages and subsequently referred those
determined to be a threat to employee safety to the FBI Threat Squad. AIG
continues to work with the FBf and the Connecticut State Police to facilitate their
investigations of these threats. Names of employees have been provided to the
office of the Attorney General of the State of New York, which has agreed to
keep the names confidential, pending completion of a risk assessment by the
Attorney General’s office. :
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*HBA077.160 . PAGE 170
3979 Mr. CASTLE. I request, Mr. Chairman, as I close
3980] here--and would it be possible to ask if Mr. Liddy or those
3981] working with him could submit a list and the chronology of
3982} the meetings that occurred at which the Fed was available
3983} there and who was there and the basic outline of what was
3984 discussed at that meeting?
3985 Mr. ACKERMAN. Would you submit that in writing?
3986 Mr. CASTLE. Could you submit that in writing? I'm not
3987{ asking you to do it now.
3988 Mr. LIDDY. We don’t have it available to us right now.
3989} I--
3990 Mr. CASTLE. No, would you suﬁmit it in writing? Could
3991} you go back and after several days be able to submit -
3992} something of that natufe, looking at your minutes or
3993 whatever?
3994 Mr. LIDDY. Yes.
3995 Mr. ACKERMAN. Thank you.
3996 Mr. CASTLE. Yeah, from your board minutes or whatever
3997 other writing you might have. Thank you.
3998 Mr. ACKERMAN. The answer was yes.
3999 Before moving to Mr. Sherman, if the Committee would
4000| indulge a quick clarification? If you could give us a yes or
4001} no? During the exchange with Chairman Frank, requesting a
4002} list of those people who have accepted the bonuses oxr to whom
4003| bonuses were given, you also referenced the fact that you
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Rep. Mike Castle (DE)

Issue: Chronology of communication between AIG and the Federal Reserve Bank on the AIGFP
Employee Retention Plan. (Page 170, Line 3979)

See attachment Chronology of Contacts with U.S. Government officials regarding
AIGFP Employee Retention Plan Payments, which list contacts with Federal
Reserve Bank officials.
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" HBA077.160 PAGE 173
4054 But I don’t want to go home and tell my conatituenfa
4055| ‘‘We may have some chance of getting some of the money
4056 back.'' The American people are skeptical.

'4057 And so as a tax attorney, I can assure my constituents
4058 that if we pasé the tax bill, we're sure to get virtually all
4059| the excess compensatibn back for the American taxpayers.

4060 Now if the Federal Reserve Board knew about the

4061| particulars of these bonuses and didn‘t tell us, then they
4062} should be called to account. Because that calls into

4063} question not only their competence, but their dedication to
4064| democracy. Because they may have deliberately prevented the
4065] Bmerican people from weighing in on the decision as to

4066{ whether AIG should have been put into receivership.

4067 Mr. Liddy, can I count on you to provide the members of
4068| this committee with ever& document that you give the Fed,
4069| excluding those documents that have the names or other

4070} identifying information of your employées?

4071 Mr. LIDDY. 1I'd like the opportunity to talk to my

4072] general counsel about that and make sure that that in fact is
4073| the right thing to do.

4074 Mr. SHERMAN. Well, if you’re going to keep your

4075| shareholders informed, you’ve got to keep the members of this
4076| Committee informed, and not just give it to a Fed that seems
4077} to have let us down.

4078 I would ask you provide for the record a chart, focused
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4079

4080

4081

4082

4083

4084

4085

4086

4087

4088

4089

4090

4091

4092

4093

4094

4095

4096

4097

4098

4099

4100

4101

4102

4103

on future bonuses and future high compensation, which we
could stop if we pushed you into receivership. At least we
can stop future payments.

And in that chart, show us how many employees are
getting more than $100,000 a month in salary and how many
stand under current compensation plans to get over half a
million, a million, or two million during 2009 in bonuses?

Can you furnish that for the record?

Mr. LIDDY. I believe we can.

Mr. SHERMAN. Thank you.

Now are the employees of the company able to consult at
AIG expense criminal defense lawyers, especially the
high-paid $500-an-hour or $1,000-an-hour criminal defense
attorneys? Is that allowed under your policies?

Mr. LIDDY. Only if there‘s an assertion of criminal
wrongdoing.

Mr. SHERMAN. I think anybody listening to this Committee
would say that there is an assertion of criminal wrongdoing,
at least being made by the America people.

You have an obligation to keep your shareholders
informed. The shareholders are the 300 million American
people. You can’t just tell one or two shareholders. You
got to tell all the sharesholders.

You knew a month ago that if we put this company into

receivership, we not only would save the $30 billion that was
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Rep. Brad Sherman (CA)

Issue: Information on how many employees earn more than $100,000 a month in salary,
and how many (under current compensation plans) are due to receive over $500,000, $1
miliion, or $2 million during 2009 in bonuses. {Page 173, Line 4078)

There are only three out of more than 116,000 AlIG employees who currently earn
more than $100,000 per month in salary. Compensation plans for 2009, including
those related to salary, variable performance pay, retention programs and other
compensation, will be designed and implemented throughout the year.



293

HBAO077.160 PAGE 175

4104
4105
4106
4107
4108
4109
4110
4111
4112
4113
4114
4115
1116
4117
4118
4119
4120
4121
4122
4123
4124
4125
4126
4127

4128

provided to the company, or the risk that was taken by the
federal taxpayer, in providing an additional $30 billion
credit line, but that we would invalidate these bonus
contracts.

You seem to have informed one or two people of that. You
did not inform all of the shareholders.

The other issue is the contracts themselves s d to

have been entered into in contemplation of huge losses; and
whether there was a criminal conspiracy to conceal these
losses from the shareholders that AIG had about a year ago,
and enter into these contracts, both of issues raise issues
of whether there’s criminal liability.

Under those circumstances, will AIG spend the money to
provide criminal defense counsel to its employees and
officers?

Mr. LIDDY. I really need to look at the facts, sir. And
in much more detail than what you just indicated.

Mr. SHERMAN. I would ask that you would provide for the
record what your policies are, because as of, you know--the
Miranda rights don‘t entitle you to a $1,000-an-hour criminal
defengse attorneys, they entitle you only to what is called,
the rights that Miranda was given.

I believe my time is expired.

Mr. ACKERMAN. The gentleman from illinois, Mr. Manzullo.

Mr. MANZULLO. Thank you Mr. Chairman.




294

Rep. Brad Sherman (CA)

Issue: AlG policy regarding the provision of defense attorneys for employees. (Page 175,
Line 4121)

Like all public companies, AlG’s policies with regard to circumstances under
which it can or should provide counsel for employees or others is dictated by the
corporation’s bylaws {or those of the relevant subsidiary) and the {aw of the
state in which they are incorporated. AIG is incorporated in Delaware.
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5079 Mr. ROYCE. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
5080 Mr. Liddy, I had a conversation for you or a
5081| conversation I wanted to have with you and it has to do with
5082| the issue of any discussions which AIG might have had with
5083} members of the Senate over the provision that was put in the
5084| Senate Bill in order to guarantee the payment of the bonuses.
5085 - The explicit provision that went in in conferehce said:
5086 '‘The prohibition required under this clause shall not be
5087| construed to prohibit any bonus payment required to be paid
5088} pursuant to a written employment contract executed on or
5089 before February 11, 2009.‘'' But the wider diséussion I was
5090} interested in was whether AIG had contacted any members of
5091} the United States Senate about this particular problem of the
5092] bonuses. BAnd, so, I just like your response to that.
5093 Mr. LIDDY. I believe the answer is no, at least not to
5094 my knowledge. We have a strict prohibition against lobbying.
.509% We will respond if called,‘but we do not make outbound
5096{ calls, if you will. So as far as I know that’s not anything
5097| we had any engagement in whatsoever.
5098 Mr. ROYCE. Let me ask this, then. Could you check and
5099 see if there are any e-mails or any written communication
5100 around this issue that would have attempted to bring this to
5101{ the attention of members of the United States Senate, or the
5102] House for that matter. But I understand the provision went

on in the Senate.
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5104 Mr. LIDDY. I‘ll answer. At your reqguest we will check.
5105} I feel quite certain the answer is no.

5106 Mr. ROYCE. And then let me ask you about discussions
5107| that you may have had with members of the administration and
5108| get into a little more detail in terms of who had those

5109) discussions and the basic thrust of them.

5110 Mr. LIDDY. The only discussion I would have had with
5111| members of the administration would have been with Secretary
5112 Geithner. ‘The first of those conversations would have been
5113{ about a week ago. I'm sorry to be.not more precise. I don’t
5114 |- have the exact date. And there probably would have been two
5115| of those: one on a Tuesday and one on a Friday; or one on a
5£16 Wednesday and one on a Friday, something like that. And the
5117{ purpose of the discussions was for Secretary Geithner to hear
5118| from me--my view of the bonuses and what we were going to do.
5119 As I indicated earliex, he indicated to me that he had
5120 become aware of those only maybe a week or ten days

5121} beforehand, and we shared a healthy exchange on this is going
5122| to be rough for the American public. He understood the risk
5123] issues, I believe, understood the legal issues, asked for me
5124| to make some changes to them, which we did. I sent him a
5125} note, which was vetted with his étaff beforehand, and that’'s
5126| pretty much been the extent of it.

5127 Mr. ROYCE. I understand.

5128 Mr. LIDDY. When you said administration I didn’t include
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Rep. Ed Royce (CA)

Issue: Whether AIG lobbied on the American Recovery and Reinvestment Act of 2009. (Page
214, Line 5089)

Effective November 1, 2008, AIG adopted a company-wide policy prohibiting any
federal iobbying activity on the part of company personnel or its consultants. A
copy of that policy statement is attached. Consistent with this lobbying policy,
AIG did not lobby on the American Recovery and Reinvestment Act of 2009.
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Effective Date: 11/01/2008

AIG Policy on Lobbying, Government Ethics, and Political Activity

Introduction

AlG regularly interacts with the U.S. government and government entities, and our business is
impacted by government policies and regulation. As a result, AIG and third parties working on
its behalf have regular communication with government officials, regulators, and government
agencies to express opinions on existing or pending laws, regulations, and policies and to discuss
potential business opportunities. This policy supplements the AIG Code of Conduct and
establishes guidelines to ensure that AIG employees involved in lobbying activities strictly
comply with all lobbying laws and regulations wherever AIG does business. Many of the
jurisdictions in which AIG conducts business have specific limitations or requirements related to
lobbying activities, and the other topics of this Policy — AIG employees must comply with these
laws and, where AIG’s policy is more stringent than local law, AIG employees will follow the
stricter limitations and requirements as set forth in the AIG Policy on Lobbying, Government
Ethics, and Political Activity.

This policy applies to all relevant employees of AIG and joint ventures, private equity
investments, foundations, and other subsidiaries of AIG who interact with government officials or
agencies. Where relevant, it also applies to third parties acting on behalf of AIG or these related
entities. Each subsidiary and business and operating unit is responsible for ensuring that this
Policy is distributed to all applicable AIG employees and other relevant personnel.

Temporary Moratorium

AlG’s Policy on Lobbying, Government Ethics, and Political Activity is temporarily qualified by
the following, pending a comprehensive review of the relevant activities by senior management:

All federal lobbying activities by AIG or its representatives related to advocacy on legislation, as
well as political contributions on behalf of AIG, and including the operation of AIG's political
action committee, are suspended. AIG may, however, still respond to Federal Register
solicitations for comment on specific agency proposals, and may also provide information to
members of Congress, state legislatures, Executive branch and regulatory officials at the state and
federal level, or their staffs to inform on AIG issues, to respond to requests made either to AIG, to
government officials, or related to AIG, or to correct misinformation about AIG activities. AIG
will also maintain its membership in trade associations that, in turn, may conduct lobbying
activity for their members. AIG will not specifically request that these organizations advocate on
our behalf while the AIG lobbying moratorium is in place.

In the event that pending legisiation threatens to materially impact AIG’s ability to continue its
operations — or its ability to repay the company’s loan to the Federal Reserve — AIG will be
permitted to proactively advocate the company’s position. Such activity would only be permitted
with the express approval of both of the following individuals: AIG’s General Counsel and AIG’s
Chief Regulatory & Compliance Officer, and then only for the specific matter at hand.

The State Relations Department is permitted to track, support, or oppose state bills that will have
a direct impact on AIG’s state-regulated entities. Monies to fund this activity will come from
these state-regulated operations.
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AIG will abide by and comply with all applicable laws, as passed by Congress, as it relates to
firms that have received federal assistance.

Lobbying Activities

All lobbying activities must comply with applicable laws and AIG’s Code of Conduct.
Employees who engage in lobbying activities are expected to obtain and follow guidance from
the Corporate Affairs Group in Washington, D.C. and the State Relations Group in New York,
who will coordinate with their appropriate regional representatives. All of those who serve as
advocates for the Company are expected to maintain the highest standards of professional
integrity and conduct.

It is important to the success of AIG that advocacy on behalf of AIG be consistent, coordinated,
and focused on the fong-term interests of AIG and its employees, customers, and shareholders.
Therefore, employees are prohibited from engaging in lobbying activities on their own or without
the express approval of the relevant Corporate Affairs or State Relations Groups. The approval of
the Corporate Affairs or State Relations Groups is not required for contacts by employees with
regulators for everyday business, including submissions, proposed filings, examinations,
complaints, consultations, regulatory inquiries or similar contacts with government officials by or
through trade organizations of which AIG is a member. Instead, employees must confer with their
Business Unit Chief Compliance Officer (CCO) or the Chief Regulatory and Compliance Officer
in consultation, as necessary with the respective Business Unit General Counsel.

In addition, lobbying is strictly regulated by federal, state and local laws. When the lobbying
activities of AIG employees require registration in a jurisdiction as a lobbyist or a lobbyist
employer, both AIG and its employees will follow all relevant registration, reporting, and
disclosure requirements. Regulated lobbying activities may include direct communication with
government officials and employees as well as efforts in support of such contacts. In addition,
lobbying is often defined more broadly than contacts with respect to legislation; federal lobbying
laws and the laws in many states and focal jurisdictions cover contacts with respect to executive
action, administrative matters, the execution of government programs, and regulatory
proceedings.

Federal, state, and local registration and reporting statutes vary by jurisdiction and piace different
requirements on companies that retain or employ lobbyists, on firms that engage in lobbying on
behalf of clients, and on individual lobbyists. The Global Regulatory and Compliance Group is
responsible for maintaining an auditable record of lobbying activities as may be necessary under a
jurisdiction’s disclosure requirements, including but not limited to time spent by A1G employees
on lobbying activities, the identity of those who serve as lobbyists, the issues on which lobbying
occurs, an accounting of the governmental officials and bodies before which lobbying occurs, and
information on expenditures by AIG reiated to lobbying activities.

Offering or-Providing Anything of Value to Government Officials

When lobbying and other activities of AIG bring employees into contact with government
officials and employees, AIG and its employees must be sensitive to compliance with applicable
laws and must adhere to all restrictions on the provision of gifts, including the restrictions
contained in AIG’s Global Anti-Corruption Policy. Gifts are defined broadly in federal, state,
and local rules to include not only tangible items but also a gratuity, favor, discount,
entertainment, hospitality, loan, service, meal, transportation, lodging, and anything else having
monetary value. Such gifts may not be frequent and under no circumstances may a gift or
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anything of value be offered to a government official to secure any improper advantage or to
influence or reward the official with respect to his or her official actions or duties. This includes
gifts intended to obtain or retain business or for assistance in obtaining a government license or
regulatory approval, or settling a dispute with a local government agency or department.

In addition, depending upon the jurisdiction, providing gifts to government officials and
employees may be prohibited by law, create reporting obligations, or create potential conflicts of
interest. While many gift restrictions are contained in government ethics rules applicable to
government officials and employees, a growing number of laws apply these restrictions
specifically to those who make or offer a gift, particularly if offered or given by a lobbyist or a
company that employs or retains lobbyists. Exceptions to the various federal, state, and local
rules may allow the provision of some kinds of gifts but only in particular circumstances and
under certain conditions.

The hiring of a government official or a member of his/her family must be treated with care, as it
can be perceived as the provision of a thing of value to the government official. The Human

_ Resources representative supporting the Business Unit seeking such a hire must obtain the
approval of the Business Unit CEO or CCO, in consultation with the Business Unit General
Counsel, to determine appropriate terms of the hire.

Employees who interact with government officials are expected to obtain and follow guidance
from the Corporate Affairs or State Relations Groups prior to considering the offering or
provision of gifts to governmental officiais. In addition, those employees who are registered
lobbyists may be asked to certify, in intemal documents or in filings with governmental entities,
their compliance with such rules. All employees must accurately record ail expenses and
payments made in connection with items provided to government officials. Employees must
notify their supervisors and Business Unit CCOs of any circumstances suggesting the provision
of improper gifts or anything of value or of any request from a government official to provide
anything of value to retain government business.

Doing Business with the Government and Government Officials

Doing business with government bodies presents different risks from doing business in the
commercial sector. Laws related to contracting with international, federal or state entities are
more stringent and complex. All employees should consult with their Business Unit CCO prior
to making a decision about doing business with government entities.

Moreover, note that conducting lobbying activities in connection with procurement matters may
impact AIG’s ability to obtain or retain government business. For example, when a company
responds to a Request for Proposal (“RFP”) issued by a government agency, lobbying activities
outside the standard RFP process could subject the company to certain requirements and
prohibitions, including disqualification.

Additionally, when AlG does business with government officials in their personal capacity
(providing life insurance, property or casualty coverage, etc.), employees must treat such clients
as they would any other client. Government officials may not receive special benefits or services
as a result of their government status.
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Political Activities

AIG respects the rights of its employees to support candidates and issues and to seek elected and
appointed office. Company employees are encouraged to participate in political activities on their
own time and in accordance with their individual desires and political preferences. Employees
considering becoming a candidate for an elected public office shall advise the appropriate
Business Unit CEO or CCO, who, in consultation with the Business Unit General Counsel, will
ensure that no conflict of interest results and that all applicable laws that impact AIG are followed
in the course of the employee’s candidacy. :

Employees who engage in personal political activities must be clear at all times that such
participation is as an individual and not as a representative of AIG. In the course of voluntary
political activity, no employee shall use A1G’s name in any way to ensure that there can be no
interpretation of sponsorship or endorsement by the company. In addition, no employee shall use
corporate facilities or resources for personal political activity except as permitted by law. Any
use of facilities or resources for such purposes that results in increased overhead or operating
costs to AIG is prohibited.

Like other political activities, political contributions by individual employees are entirely
personal and voluntary. No corporate resources may be utilized to make or facilitate personal
political contributions, and AIG will not recognize, reimburse, or in any way compensate an
employee for his or her personal political contributions. Moreover, employees may not use their
position within AIG to coerce or pressure other employees, or appear to coerce or pressure other
employees, to make political contributions or to support or oppose political candidates or
elections.

AIG sponsors a federal political action committee (PAC), which receives voluntary contributions
from employees and makes contributions to candidates for public office and political committees.
In addition, AIG may, where permissible under relevant law, make corporate contributions to
political candidates and committees. Only authorized AIG representatives may commit PAC or
corporate funds for such purposes. All PAC and corporate contributions must be made in strict
compliance with governing law and AIG policy.

Because laws and regulations governing corporate political activities and contributions are
complex, the Corporate Affairs or State Relations Groups must be consulted regarding such
contributions and activities to ensure that they are permissible and fit within AIG’s overall
business strategy for the region.

Record Keeping

AIG must maintain books and records that accurately reflect AIG’s business transactions and
establish and maintain internal controls. All lobbying expenses, gifts, entertainment and travel,
and other expenditures made to or for the benefit of government officials must be recorded
accurately in AIG’s books and records in reasonable detail.

Any failure to accurately record these business transactions must be reported no less than
quarterly to the Business Unit CCO. The Business Unit CCO will compile ail information for the
Global Regulatory and Compliance Group and, as necessary, the General Counsel and Chief
Financial Officer.
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Effective Date: 11/01/2008

Business Unit Role & Penalties for Non-Compliance

Each subsidiary and business and operating unit is responsible for ensuring that monitoring
processes designed to detect and prevent violations of this policy are implemented. Actual or
perceived violations could also cause serious damage to A1G’s reputation.

AIG will take appropriate action against any employee whose actions are found to violate this
policy. Disciplinary action also may be taken against responsible employees who unreasonably
fail to detect or report such violations, as well as those who retaliate. In addition, penalties may
include criminal, civil and regulatory penalties for AIG and its employees individually, including
imprisonment and fines.

Exceptions

Employees may request, in writing, exceptions or modifications to this policy by contacting their
respective Business Unit CCO, who will refer the request to the Global Regulatory and
Compliance Group.

Questions Regarding the Policy
General: Globa! Regulatory and Compliance Group

Karen Nelson, Deputy Chief Compliance Officer — Programs/Training
Phone: 646-857-1812
Email: karen.nelson2(@aig.com

Katherine Segersten, Senior Regulatory Officer
Phone: 202-861-8656
Email: katherine.segersten@aig.com

State: State Relations Group
Cecilia Norat, Director of State Relations and Associate General Counsel

Phone: 212-770-5235
Email: cecilia.norat@aig.com

#i#
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4429 Mr. LIDDY. You know, I have met with the trustees on a
4430{ number of occasions. They were just appointed approximately
4431] the middle of February or so. I don‘t remember the exact
4432| date.

4433 Again, we’ve reviewed thése with the Federal Reserve and
4434| the Federal Reserve is. the repositcry gatekeeper, if you
4435]| will, of the relationship with AIG.

4436 Mrs. BIGGERT. So they were appointed after the

4437 decision--well no, the decision was in March.

4438 Mr. LIDDY. No. Before.

4439 Mrs. BIGGERT. So did they nofify anybody? Or did you
4440{ talk to them about the bonuses?

4441 Mr. LIDDY. I do not know ifvthey were reviewed or not.
4442 Mrs. BIGGERT. Okay. Who are the trustees?

4443 Mr. LIDDY. There are three trustees. To be honest with
4444) you--Doug Fuge. I can get you that list, if you yill-—

4445 Mrs. BIGGERT. I‘d appreciate it. A

4446 Mr. LIDDY. Bill Considine. I can get you that list.
4447 Mrs. BIGGERT. All right.

4448 ‘So did you or your staff make the Treasury aware of the
4449] bonuses, other than talking to the trustees, or--

4450 Mr. LIDDY. I'm sorry, did we make the Treasury?

4451 Mrs. BIGGERT. Yes. Treasury aware?

4452 Mr. LIDDY. No, as I said earlier, we began discussing
4453] this at our board meeting starting in the middle of November,
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Rep. Judy Biggert (iL)

Issue: Trustees selected to oversee U.S. government’s equity interest in AlG. {Page 188,
Line 4442) '

See attached press release issued by the Federal Reserve Bank of New York on
January 16, 2009. The press release includes the names and biographies of the
three independent trustees selected to oversee the U.S. government’s equity
interest in AIG.
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BANKING MANAL S AT N N NEACH ASDUT T=L FED

Home > News and Events > News
NEWS AND EVENTS

PRESS RELEASE

= News
Events Statement Regarding Establishment of the
Speeches AIG Credit Facility Trust
1" View News and January 16, 2009

Events Contacts
The Federal Reserve Bank of New York announced today, with the
full support of the Treasury Department, the formation of the AIG
Credit Facility Trust. The Trust is being established for the sole
benefit of the United States Treasury to hold the 77.9 percent equity
interest in American Internationai Group, Inc. {AIG) that will be
issued in connection with the previousty announced credit facility
extended to AIG.

Three independent trustees have been selected by the New York
Fed, in close consuitation with the Treasury Department, to oversee
this equity interest in the best interests of the U.S. Treasury. They
are Jitf M. Considine, former chairman of the Depository Trust &
Clearing Corporation; Chester B. Feldberg, former chairman of
Barclays Americas; and Douglas L. Foshee, president and chief
executive officer of Ef Paso Corporation.

Pursuant to the terms of the Trust Agreement, the trustees wifi have
absolute discretion and control over the AIG stock, subject only to
the terms of the Trust Agreement, and will exercise afl rights,
powers and privileges of a shareholder of AIG. The trustees will not
sit on the board of directors of AIG. Day-to-day management of AIG
will remain with the persons charged with such management.

To avoid possibie conflicts with the New York Fed's supervisory and
monetary policy functions, the Trust has been structured so that the
New York Fed cannot exercise any discretion or controif over the
voting and consent rights associated with the equity interest in AIG.
The New York Fed will, however, continue to monitor closety the
financial operations of AIG in connection with its role as lender.

Trustees' CVs A PDF

AIG Credit Facility Trust Agreement A pDF
Posted January 22, 2009

Contact:

Calvin A, Mitchelf {1

{212) 720-6136

{646) 720-6136
calvin.mitchelf@ny.frb.org

Home :: Federal Reserve System Contact Us ©: Terms of Use : RSS Feed

http://www.newyorkfed.org/newsevents/news/markets/2009/an0901 16.htm} 4/13/2009
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Jill M. Considine

Jill Considine served as senior advisor of The Depository Trust & Clearing Corporation
(DTCC) and its subsidiaries (securities depository and clearing house) from August 2007
to May 2008, having served as chairman since August 2006, and as both chairman and
chief executive officer from January 1999 to August 2006.

Prior to joining DTCC, Ms. Considine served as the president of the New York Clearing
House Association, L.L.C. from 1993 to 1998. Ms. Considine served as a managing
director, chief administrative officer and as a member of the Board of Directors of
American Express Bank Ltd., from 1991 to 1993. Prior to that, Ms. Considine served as
the New York State Superintendent of Banks from 1985 to 1991. Ms. Considine also
serves as a director of the Atlantic Mutual Insurance Companies, The Interpublic Group
of Companies, Inc., Ambac Financial Group, Inc. and is chairman of Butterfield Fulcrum
Group, Limited.

Ms. Considine recently completed a six-year term as a member of the Board of the
Federal Reserve Bank of New York where she served as chairman of the Audit and
Operational Risk Committee.

Ms. Considine is a member of the Council on Foreign Relations and the Economics Club
of New York. She served on the Group of Thirty Steering Committee on global
clearance and settlement and as a member and speaker at the World Economic Forum in
Davos. Ms. Considine was a Presidential appointee to the Advisory Committee for Trade
Policy and Negotiations from 2003-2004. She was named Six Sigma CEO of the Year
Award in 2006 and one of Crain’s New York Business 100 Most Influential Women in
Business. .

Ms. Considine eamed a Bachelor of Science degree, with honors, from St. John’s
University and a Master of Business Administration degree, with honors, from Columbia
University. She also attended Bryn Mawr College.
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Chester B. (Chet) Feldberg

Chester B. Feldberg served as Chairman of Barclays Americas from 2000 until his
retirement in 2008. Prior to joining Barclays Americas, Mr. Feldberg had been executive
vice president in charge of the Bank Supervision Group at the Federal Reserve Bank of
New York from 1991 through 2000. In total, Mr. Feldberg was an employee of the New
York Fed for 36 years, starting as a lawyer in the Bank’s Legal Department before
moving to the Credit and Capital Markets Group and then the Bank Supervision Group.
He was also a member of the Basle Committee on Banking Supervision from 1993
through 2000.

Mr. Feldberg serves on the Board of Directors and Audit Committee of Mizuho
Securities USA, a subsidiary of the Mizuho Financial Group.

Mr. Feldberg earned a Bachelor of Laws degree in 1963 from the Harvard Law School
and a Bachelor of Arts degree in economics in 1960 from Union College. He also
attended the advanced management program at the Harvard Business School in 1974.
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Douglas L. Foshee

Douglas L. Foshee is president, chief executive officer and a director of El Paso
Corporation, which owns North America’s largest natural gas pipeline system and one of
North America’s largest natural gas producers.

Prior to joining El Paso in 2003, Mr. Foshee served as executive vice president and chief
operating officer for Halliburton. He joined Halliburton in 2001 as executive vice
president and chief financia! officer. Prior to that, Mr. Foshee was president, chief
executive officer and chairman of the board at Nuevo Energy Company. From 1993 to
1997, Mr. Foshee served Torch Energy Advisors Inc. in various capacities, including
chief operating officer and. chief executive officer. He held various positions in finance
and new business ventures with ARCO International Oil and Gas Company and spent
seven years in commercial banking, primarily as an energy lender.

Mr. Foshee eammed a Master of Business Administration degree from the Jesse H. Jones
School at Rice University in 1992 and a Bachelor of Business Administration degree
from Southwest Texas State University in 1982. He is also a graduate of the
Southwestern Graduate School of Banking and Southern Methodist University.

M:r. Foshee serves on the boards of Cameron International Corporation, Children’s Museum
of Houston, Texas Business Hall of Fame Foundation and Greater Houston Partnership. He
also chairs the board of directors of the Federal Reserve Bank of Dallas, Houston Branch,
and Central Houston, Inc. He is a member of the Independent Petroleum Association of
America, Houston Producers’ Forum, 25 Year Club of the Petroleum Industry, National
Petroleum Council, the Council of Overseers for the Jesse H. Jones Graduate School of
Management at Rice University, Rice University’s board of trustees and KIPP’s board of
trustees. Mr. Foshee is a recipient of the 2007 Ellis Island Medal of Honor for his
commitment to helping children succeed and his leadership role in the business community.
In 2008, Mr. Foshee was named Distinguished Alumni at Texas State University.
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5904 the question why didn’t the Committee know. And I believe
5905] that your response was that AIG had met with staff from the
5906! Committee. Was that true?

5907 Mr. LIDDY. Yes, it was. I'm told that we have provided
5908| a great deal of information to the Committee and to various
5909| members on the Committee. I can’t sit here and tell you’
5910! exactly what it was or whether we previewed these bonuses or
5911} not, but we have tried to be very responsive to the

5912} inundation of requests that we have had.

5913 Ms. BACHMANN. And when was that? Was that beginning in
5914| mid November or when was that?

5915 Mr. LIDDY. Oh, it would have--that would have--you mean
5916 | specifically on the bonuses?

5917 Ms. BACHMANN. Yes.

5918 Mr. LIDDY. I'm hazarding a guess. I don‘t have the
5919| command of those facts at my fingertips. I would guess that
5920} would have been starting in December.

5921 Ms. BACHMANN. Starting in December. 1Is it possible to
5922| get a list of which Members of Congress staff knew about this
5923 and when?

5924 Mr. LIDDY. We will provide you information of what we
5925} provided to whom and when we provided it.

5926 Ms. BACHMANN. Ckay. Thank you. How about anyone in the
5927} administration? I believe you had been asked that question
5928 as well. Any members of the administration that knew about
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5929
5930
5931
5932
5933
5934
5935
5936
5937
5938
5939
5940
5941
5942
5943
5944
5945
5946
5947
5948
5949
5950
5951
5952

5953

the bonuses and conversations about the bonuses?

Mr. LIDDY. As I mentioned earlier, the conversation I
had was with Secretary Geithner approximately a week ago, two
conversations on a Tuesday and Friday or Wednesday and
Friday, and he called to my attention that the first time he
had heard anything about it was approximately a week before
those conversations.

Ms. BACHMANN. And so no conversations with the
transition team or with anyone else in the administration
other than Secretary Geithner.

Mr. LIDDY. Not to my recollection. It is possible that
there were communications between staff, but I just don't
know that.

Ms. BACHMANN. To your knowledge, did any Members of
Congress know anything about these bonuses?

Mr. LIDDY. The obiigation to pay the bonuses, I think
probably aseveral people did. They have been in our various
financial documents, our 10-K’s and our 8-K's and our 10-Q‘s.

And to the extent that we have provided that information to
Congressional staff, I would presume the answer is yes.

Ms. BACHMANN. Could you be responsive about which
Members of Congress knew about these bonuses?

Mr. LIDDY. We will provide you the information. I can’t
ag I sit here, no. I just don’t know.

Ms. BACHMANN. But you will be able to do that--
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Rep. Michele Bachmann (MN)

issue: Members of Congress and staff informed about the AIGFP retention payments and

when. {Page 247, Lines 5921, 5949}

See below for contacts prior to March 18, 2009.

Congressional Contacts*

Dates

House Financial Services Committee and
Subcommittee on Capital Markets,
Majority staff

January, February, March 2009

Senate Banking Committee Majority and
Minority staff

February, March 2009

Senate Finance Committee, Majority and
Minority staff

March 2009

Rep. Spencer Bachus and staff, including
Minority House Financial Services
Committee staff

March 2009

Rep. Michael Castle and staff

March 2009

Staff, Rep. Joe Crowley

January, February, March 2009

Rep. Bill Foster and staff

March 2009

Rep. Elijah E. Cummings and staff December, January 2008
Rep. Scott Garrett and staff March 2009

Rep. Jim Himes and staff March 2009

Rep. Paul E. Kanjorski and staff January 2009

Staff, Rep. Carolyn Maloney March 2009

Rep. Henry A. Waxman December 2008

Staff, Senator John E. Ensign March 2009

*This table is based on the collective recoliection of American International Group, inc.’s employees,
agents, and representatives. Listed dates reflect contact between Members of the House and the Senate
and their staffs that took place in respanse to requests from those offices. Members and staff may have
known about the AIGFP Retention Plan before contacts took place. it is conceivabie that other contacts
with U.S. Government officials may have occurred and additional participants may have been present

during some meetings and telephone calls.
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6179] gone. We have--I know people aren’t interested in hearing
6180} success stories--

6181 Ms. SPEIER. No. We are, please.

6182 Mr. LIDDY.bThe original arrangement that the Fed and
6183| Treasury put in place for AIG worked. We did not go bankrupt
6184 and we walled off the securities lending and the credit

6185| default swap issues. They are gone. So what is left in

6186 AIGFP is really just - I am going to use the word traditional
6187] book of derivatives contracts, although it is hard to use
6188] traditional and derivatives in the same sentence.

6189 Ms. SPEIER. So what is left are derivative contracts.
6190| Are they going to be more difficult to unwind because they
6191{ are still there?

6192 Mr. LIDDY. Yes. And some of them, as I said earlier,
6193 are very long so it is you and I entering into a contract;
6194] you want to hedge against an interest rate increase, so I
6195 offer you a derivative that does that. Well, you may not
6196] want to give up on that hedge, and if that is a 20-year hedge
6197] you may not want to give up on that, so it is an interesting
6198} dynmamic of give and take to try to resolve these hedges. If
6199] we get that book of business small enough it is entirely

6200} possible that we can sell it or we can have somebody else run
6201] it off, run the balance of it off for us.

6202|" Ma. SPEIER. In 2008, were there any performance bonuses

6203| offered to employees in the insurance silos within AIG?
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6204 Mr. LIDDY. Performance bonuses, yes, there were.
6205 Ms. SPEIER. And how much were they?
6206 Mr. LIDDY. I just don’'t have that number.
6207 Ms. SPEIER. Okay. Would you make that available to the
6208 committee? How much, how many people, what amounts. And let
6209| me give you some more unsolicited advice. Right now AIG is
6210 owned by the taxpayers of this country. Until the $70
6211} billion is returned nobody, in my view, should be getting
6212| retention bonuses or performance bonuses until that money is
6213| paid back. I yield back.
6214 Chairman KANJORKSI. The gentleman from Ohio, Mr. Wilson.
6215 Mr. WILSON. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. Mr. Liddy, thank
6216} you for coming today. I don’‘t envy your position but thank
6217{ you for serving in the capacity that you are. I, like all my
6218] friends, are outraged about what is happened with AIG. Back
6219 in Ohio where 1 represent, that is a magic word or acronym,
6220 if you will, AIG; and everybody just--it is sad. I just
6221| can’t understand how people can be so arrogant and
6222| impractical about thinking that they can dole out bonuses to
6223 people who have literally run the company in the ground and
6224} then also éontributed to the country being run into the
6225} ground.
6226 Aand, please, when I hear about contracte that were in
6227| place and the people needed to have their contracts, I
6228] represent an area in Ohio where General Motors have had to
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Rep. Jackie Speier (CA)
Issue: 2008 performance payments to AIG employees in insurance units. {Page 259, Line 6207)

AIG has approximately 374 plans that pay variable amounts based on some
measure of performance, across the company.* The variabie performance pay
plans for the insurance businesses are outlined below.

In the Domestic Life and Foreign Life Operations, AlG maintained 140 plans with
23,851 participants in 2008. These plans paid an average award of $5,050 per
employee for work performed in 2008.

Within the Property Casualty Group, AiG had 56 plans that covered 3,943
employees with an average payment of $5,403 for work performed in 2008.

The Foreign General Insurance Operations maintained 115 plans, covering 8,669
employees with an average award of 55,074 for work performed in 2008.

AIG also maintained a corporate-wide variable plan that covered 6,410
employees with an average payout of $18,954 for 2008 performance. This plan
includes senior executives and managers from the insurance businesses.

* This does not include approximately 236 plans across A!G pursuant to which employees earn
varying amounts based on sales and commissions on those sales or the nine pians governing
payments required by local governments of the various countries within which AIG operates. Nor
do these numbers reflect plans that pay amounts based on ownership interests on investments
in certain products or real estate investments,
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6640] question, you need to get the people who ran FP, Mr. Cassano,
6641| and the people who ran AIG before my arrival, and ask them
6642 that question.

6643 Mr. PETERS. Yes. Well, it is a big question.

6644 Mr. LIDDY. It is an excellent question. We should ask
6645] the right people that question.

6646 Mr. PETERS. Good. I appreciate it, sir. Thank you.
6647| Yield my time.

6648 Mr. MOORE OF KANSAS. [Presiding] Thank you.

6649 Next, Ms. Kilroy of Ohio. You have five minutes, ma’am.
6650 Ms. KILROY. Thank you, Mr. Chair. Appreciate it.

6651 You know, I like my colleagues am just absolutely

6652] astounded by the situation of paying $165 million in bonuses
6653| with a company that is being propped up with the help of the
6654| Federal Reserve and with the TARP money, still seeing $62
6655] billion of loss in the last quarter.

6656 And, you know, the question that the average American
6657| would ask is, you know, how can you pay bonuses when you
6658| don’t really have the money to pay them, when it is somebody
6653| else’'s money that is being put to work here to pay down these
6660 bonuses, which is, just recently commented, bonuses paid to
6661| people who have caused cataclysmic losses and damage to both
6662} AIG, to its shareholders, and to their economic system?

6663 ‘And yet we are told, and I think you said this earlier,
6664| that if something happens to AIG, that can have dire
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6665
6666
6667
6668
6669
6670
6671
6672
6673
6674
6675
6676
6677
6678
6679
6680
6681
6682
6683
6684
6685
6686
6687
6688

6689

consequences for the rest of the country. And you kind of
get the feeling that there is a bit of coercion here being
put to the American taxpayer by saying, you have to--this is
another version of we are too big to fail &and I think the
American public is really wanting to see something different
here.

And, you know, this afternoon we voted on the American
Gives Act, people who are giving service, people who are
working hard to make their community better for amall
stipends. And, you know, we have seen people around the
country--we have heard earlier about the teachers who are
taking cutbacks in their pay, and the auto industry, which is
modifying their contracts, and the pensioners who are taking
cutbacks.

And, you know, you see this willingness to come forward
and to help out. And you are among those as well, serving at
the request of President Bush and the former Treasury
Secretary for $1 a year.

You know, I am reminded that one of our great
presidents, John Kennedy, Said, ‘'Ask not what our country
can do for you--ask what you can do for your country.‘’ BAnd
yet my feeling is some of these traders and othérs are just
asking our country to just keep giving them more, and not
owning up to the responsibilities that they have.

And one of my concerns is a responsibility that has been
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6690

6691

6692

6693

6694

6695

6696

6697

6698

6699

6700

6701

6702

6703

6704

6705

6706

6707

6708

6709

6710

6711

6712

6713

6714

brought to light, brought to my attention, from the state of
Ohio, a case brought by the Ohio Public Employees Retirement
System, the State Teachers Retirement System, the OChio Police
and Fire Pension Fund, against AIG, making some very serious
allegations about misrepresentations and nondisclosures of
material fact made by AIG that has hurt these pension funds
with respect to paying contingent commissions and other
practices alleged to be direct market manipulation.

And I understand that the suit--cther parties to the
suit have settled; other parties to the suit have paid out a
gignificant amount of money in terms of settlement, but that
the meter is still running with respect to AIG‘s obligations
and the attorney fees, which I have been told are somewhere
in thé vicinity of $3 million a month for AIG to defend
against this suit.

I am wondering--and I understand that there have been
some attempts at settlement, and that those attempts at
settlement have kind of come to an end. But in terms of this
orderly wind-down that you talk about, is that orderly
wind-down going to include considering the millions that
could be owed to the pensioners of Chio, of New York, or
Texas, of Florida, of New Mexico, of Virginia, of California,
of Michigan, all of whom have had substantial losses in AIG
during the class period, duriné the period involved in this

case?
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6715 Mr. LIDDY. I have to confess I just don’t have any
6716 | specific knowledge of that particular case. I will look into
6717] it. My general counsel is sitting behind me, and we will
6718{ look into it, and we will do everything we can to make sure
6719%] that it gets resolved. I assume this is the loss of the
6720| equity value of AIG. I just don’t have any perspective on it
6721 whatsoever.
6722 Ms. KILROY. I appreciate you taking a look at it. And I
6723] just worry about what happens. And that is one of the
6724 | reasons, you know, I think why Congress is taking a look.
6725 Mr. MOORE OF KANSAS. We are out of time. Thank you.
6726 Mr. Foster of Illinois, please. Five minutes, sir.
6727 Mr. FOSTER. Certainly. Let’s see. I was wondering if
€728] you could walk me through some of the details on the
6729| mechanisms.
6730 When people talk about your asseta blowing up or the
6731 bother things you worry about, bad things that would happen,
6732| if someone--if the people who are currently managing the
6733 wind-down of the book were replaced by people who are equally
€734 expert but not familiar with them, what are the sort of
6735| mistakes that would get made if the people currently managing
6736 the books were replaced by equally competent people brought
6737 off the street? And what are examples of the way in which
6738} taxpayer funds would be at risk in that repl?cement?
6739 Mr. LIDDY. Sure. First, each contract is unique unto
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Rep. Mary Jo Kilroy (OH)

Issue: Status of Securities Action. (Page 279, Line 6705)

See “Securities Action ~ Southern District of New York” on page 285 (attached)
of the AIG 2008 Form 10-K, filed on March 2, 2009.
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American International Group, Inc., and Subsidiarics
Notes to Consofidated Financial Statements — (Continued)

relationship with Allied World Assurance Company and includes an additional settlement payment of
$500,000 related thereto.

AIG entered into'an agreement effective March 13, 2008 with the Pennsyivania Insurance
Department relating to the Department’s investigation into the affairs of AIG and certain of its
Pennsylvania-domiciled insurance company subsidiaries. The settlement calls for total payments of
approximately $13.5 million, of which approximately $4.4 million was paid under previous settiement
agreements. During the term of the settlement agreement, AIG will provide annual reinsurance reports,
as well as maintain certain producer compensation disclosure and ongoing compliance initiatives.

NAIC Examination of Workers ' Compensation Premium Reporting. During 2006, the Settlement
Review Working Group of the National Association of Insurance Commissioners (NAIC), under the
direction of the states of Indiana, Minnesota and Rhode Island, began an investigation into AIG’s
reporting of workers' compensation premiums. In late 2007, the Settlement Review Working Group
recommended that a muiti-state targeted market conduct examination focusing on workers’
compensation insurance be commenced under the direction of the NAIC's Market Analysis Working
Group. AIG was informed of the muliti-state targeted market conduct examination in January 2008.
The lead states in the multi-state examination are Delaware, Florida, Indiana, Massachusetts,
Minnesota, New York, Pennsylvania, and Rhode Island. All other states (and the District of Columbia)
have agreed to participate in the multi-state examination. To date, the examination has focused on
legacy issues related to AIG’s writing and reporting of workers’ compensation insurance between
1985 and 1996. AIG has also been advised that the examination will focus on current compliance with
legal requirements applicable to such business. AIG has been advised by the lead states that to date no
determinations have been made with respect to these issues, and AIG cannot predict either the
outcome of the investigation or provide any assurance regarding regulatory action that may result from
the investigation.

Securities Action — Southern District of New York Beginning in October 2004, a number of
putative securities fraud class action suits were filed in the Southern District of New York against AIG
and consolidated as In re American International Group, Inc. Securities Litigation. Subsequently, a
separate, though similar, securities fraud action was also brought against AIG by certain Florida
pension funds. The lead plaintiff in the class action is a group of public retirement systems and
pension funds benefiting Ohio state employees, suing on behalf of themselves and all purchasers of
AIG’s publicly traded securities between October 28, 1999 and April I, 2005. The named defendants
are AIG and a number of present and former AIG officers and directors, as well as Starr, SICO,
General Reinsurance Corporation (General Re), and PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP (PwC), among
others. The lead plaintiff alleges, among other things, that AIG: (1) concealed that it engaged in anti-
competitive conduct through alleged payment of contingent commissions to brokers and participation
in iflegal bid-rigging; (2) concealed that it used “income smoothing” products and other techniques to
inflate its eamings; (3) concealed that it marketed and sold “income smoothing” insurance products to
other companies; and (4) misled investors about the scope of government investigations. In addition,
the lead plaintiff alleges that AIG’s former Chief Executive Officer, Maurice R. Greenberg,
manipulated AIG's stock price. The lead plaintiff asserts claims for violations of Sections 11 and 15 of
the Securities Act of 1933, Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act and Rule [0b-5 promulgated
thereunder, Section 20{(a) of the Exchange Act, and Section 20A of the Exchange Act. In April 2006,
the court denied the defendants’ motions to dismiss the second amended class action complaint and
the Florida complaint. In December 2006, a third amended class action complaint was filed, which
does not differ substantially from the prior complaint. Fact discovery is currently ongoing. On
February 20, 2008, the lead plaintiff filed a motion for class certification. The motion remains
pending.

ERISA Action — Southern District of New York Between November 30, 2004 and July 1, 2005,
several ERISA actions were filed in the Southern District of New York on behalf of purported class
participants and beneficiaries of three pension plans sponsored by AIG or its subsidiaries. A
consolidated complaint filed on September 26, 2005 alleges a class period between September 30,
2000 and May 31, 2005 and names as defendants AIG, the members of AIG’s Retirement Board and
the Administrative Boards of the plans at issue, and present or former members of AIG's Board of
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Directors. The factual allegations in the complaint are essentially identical to those in the
securities actions described above under Securities Actions — Southern District of New York. The

AIG 2008 Form 10-K 285
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5404

5405
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5423

5424

5425

5426

5427

5428

of business to wind it down, get it to go away, and get it
within certain parameters. If you can do that by the end of
October, that’s fine. We will pay you the retention bonus.
If it takes you until March to do it, we will pay you the
retention bonus then.

Those people achieve the objective. That’s how we got
the book from $2.7 billion down to 1.6--$2.7 trillion down to
1.6.

Mr. POSEY. Thank you.

Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman KANJORSKI. Thank you very much.

Next we’ll have Mrs. Maloney of New York.

Mrs. MALONEY. Thank you, Mr. Liddy, for your public
service. I understand you are a retired CEO of one of
America’s great companies and you were asked to come back and
serve. And we appreciate it. Thank you.

I have so many questions I am going to have to submit
them to you in writing'and trust that you will respond to the
committee because we have very limited time.

On the question of bonuses, you mentioned that a number
of people said that they woula give back their bonuses. Well,
I have'been told by Chairman Rangel that on the floor
tomorrow will be a version of my bill that will tax the
bonuses at 90 percent, so the money will be coming back to

the Treasury.
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5429 How many people have said they will give money back to
5430f{ the Treagury? And, after thig bill passes, maybe more will
5431 give back. Wouldn’'t you agree?

5432 How many people tell you they would give back the money?
5433 Mr. LIDDY. I don’t have the information, Congresswoman.
5434} I have just made that request this morning and I have been in
5435{ this hearing.

5436 Mrs. MALONEY. If you could get back to us we’d really
5437 appreciate it. Also, I requested from Treasury and the

5438| Federal Reserve for many, many months now to get information
5439| on who is receiving the money. The taxpayers own AIG now, 80
5440] percent, yet they were saying it is proprietary. We owned
5441} it. We should see the books.

5442 Just on Sunday night they released this information, and
5443| why were you fighting giviﬁg ug this information when it

5444| belongs to the American taxpayer?

5445 Mr. LIDDY. I wasn’'t fighting anything. The Federal

5445] Reserve has a policy against disclosure of counter-parties;
5447{ and, when we saw the testimony of Chairman Bernanke and Vice
5448 Chairman Kohn, I had a conversation I had a conversation with
5449 the people at the Federal Reserve and said we should figure
5450] out a way to disclose this.

5451 We made the various telephone calls to make sure that
5452| the counter-parties would be okay with that, and so we

5453} disclosed on the credit default swaps, and the RMBSes, the
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Rep. Carolyn Maloney (NY)

Issue: Information on AIGFP employees who have agreed to give back their retention
payments. {Page 228, Line 5432)

AIGFP continues to receive responses from its employees and cannot provide a
final number pending the resolution of certain tax implications and
administrative details posed by the return of the retention payments. Although
published reports have purported to establish the amount of the retention
payments committed to be returned, the final figure, in fact, has not been
established. AIG is committed to providing Members of Congress with this
information as soon as is practicable. While AIG is disappointed at the level of
resignations from AIGFP, the company is gratified by the response of many to its
request to return at least a portion of the retention payments.
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7364

Mr. MOORE OF KANSAS. Thank you, Mr. Crowley. The
chair--and thank you, Mr. Liddy.

Are there additional questions? Do you want to submit
those in writing or take a couple of minutes here? We do
want to wind up this hearing, sir.

Mr. GRAYSON. For a couple minutes. Thank you.

Mr. MOORE OF KANSAS. All right. Mr. Grayson is
recognized for a couple of minutes.

Mr. GRAYSON. Thank you.  Mr. Liddy, you said before that.
there was 20 or 25 people who were involved in the credit
default businéss.

What are their names, please?

Mr. LIDDY. I don’t have their names at my disposal, sir.

Mr. GRAYSON. Well, I am sure you remember a few of the
names. I mean, they did cause your company to crash.

Mr. LIDDY. You know, I have been at the company, as you
know, for six months. I dom’t know all the people that were
in AIGFP, and wmany of them are gone.

Mr. GRAYSON. Well, there or gone, it doesn’t really
matter. I want to know who they are. Names, please.

Mr. LIDDY. Yes. If you're asking for the names of the
people who got the bonuses at fp, is that--

Mr, GRAYSON. Nope. I am asking for the names of the
people who ran the credit default business, the 20 to 25 that

you referred to earlier that caused your company to lose $100
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7365] billion.
7366 Mr. LIDDY. If it is possible to provide you the names,
7367| we want. If we are--we will cooperate with you.
7368 Mr. GRAYSON. Well, that is good. But I want to know the
7369 names you know right now.
7370 Mr. LIDDY. I don’t know them, sir.
7371 Mr. GRAYSON. Not a single one? You are talking about a
7372 group, a small group of people who caused your company to
7373} lose $100 billion, and as you sit here today, you can’'t give:
7374 me one single naﬁe?
7375/ Mr. LIDDY. The single name I would g;ve you is Joseph
7376} Cassano, who ran--
7377 Mr. GRAYSON. That is a good start. You already gave
7378} that name. Give me another name.
7379 Mr. LIDDY. I just don't know them. I do not know those
7380 names. I don‘t have them all at my command.
7381 Mr. GRAYSON. Well, how can you propoge to solve the
7382 problems of the company that you're now running if you don’t
7383} know the names of the people who caused thét problem?

7384 Mr. LIDDY. Because there are great people ruﬁnihg AIGFP
7385| now who do know each and every one of those individuals.
7386 Mr. GRAYSON. That is a great thing to say. But the fact
7387 remains that I would expect you to at least know more than
7388| one name. How about two names?

7389 Mr. L;pDY. Yes, sir. I am just not going to do that,
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7390] sir, because that will provide--that will be the--that could
7391{ be a list of people that we could--individuals who want to do
7392} damage to them could do that. It is just not--

7393 Mr. GRAYSON. Well, listen. These same people could now
7394{ be working, right now, today, at Citibank. Is it more

7395] important Eo protect them, the ones who caused the $100

7396] billion loss, or protect us? Which is wmore important to you
7397} right now?

7398 Mr. LIDDY. The important thing is to protect both--I
7399] will--if that is the information you want, we will do

7400] everything we can to cooperate with you. I am just not going
7401} to .sit here and give it to you until I understand what the
7402| implications are.

7403 Mr. GRAYSON. Can I count on you to give us that list?
7404 Yes or no?

7405 Hr. LIDDY. I will--I do not know. I will consult with
7406 our general counsel and decide what the appropriate course of
7407| action is. ‘

7408 Mr. GRAYSON. Not the answer I was hoping for, but my
7409| time is up. ‘

7410 Mr. MOORE OF KANSAS. Thank you, sir.

7411 At this time, the chair notes that some members.may have
7412| additional questions for this panel, which they may to submit
7413} in writing. Without objection, the hearing record will

7414| remain open for 30 days for members to submit written
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Rep. Alan Grayson (FL)

Issue: Names of the AIGFP executives that ran the CDS business. {Page 305, Line 7351)

Given the severity of public hostility directed at employees of AIGFP, AIG
does not believe it is appropriate to give the names of these employees,
including those who no longer work at AIGFP. However, AlG can confirm
that those who were responsible for establishing the CDS business, Maurice
Greenberg, Joseph Cassano, and Alan Frost, all who have been named in
published reports, are no longer with the company.
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7140| They would have had other counter parties beyond that that
7141 only they are privy to.

7142 Ms. KAPTUR. Could you provide this information to the
7143} record if you don’t know it here today? I am not only asking
7144! about Deutsche Bank. I am asking about other hedge funds.
7145 Mr. LIDDY. We don’t have it. They are not our

7146| customers. Our customers are the companies or the names that
7147 were listed on the release of the counter party names. What
7148| you are asking is what did they do? What were the

7149! relationships that they had? I don‘t have any access to that
7150; information. »

7151 Ms. KAPTUR. All right. Then let me ask this next

7152} question. In terms of the face value of the financial

7153} products derivatives that you stated in your testimony are
7154} now worth about $1.6 trillion--I read. that correctly.

7155] Correct? Okay. What is your best estimate of the trading
7156| value of those securities underlying your financial products
7157] derivatives, aa opposed to just the face value? What is the
7158} trading value?

7159 Mr. LIDDY. I just don’t know. I will get the

7160| information for you. We will provide it for you. I just
7161] don’t know as I sit here today.

7162 Ms. KAPTUR. All right. You don’t know that. What is
7163} the possible remaining taxpayer exposure?

7164 Mr. LIDDY. Well, as I said, winding down that book of
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Rep. Marcy Kaptur (OH)

Issue: Information on the fair value of the AIGFP derivatives portfolio. (Page 297, Line 7151)

See page 262 (attached) of the AIG 2008 Form 10-K, filed on March 2, 2009.
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American International Group, Inc., and Subsidiaries
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements — (Continued)

The fair values of derivative assets and liabilities on the consolidated balances sheet were as
follows:
At December 31,
Derivative
Derivative Assety Liabilities
2008 2007 2008 2007
) {Tn millioas)

AIGFP derivatives $12,111 $12319 S$4344 $14,817
Non-AIGFP derivatives 1,662 1,785 1,894 3,214
Total $13,773 $14,104 $6238 $18,031

AIGFP Derivatives

AIGFP enters into derivative transactions to mitigate risk in its exposures (interest rates,
currencies, commodities, credit and equities) arising from its transactions. In most cases, AIGFP did
not hedge its exposures related to the credit default swaps it had written. As a dealer, AIGFP
structured and entered into derivative transactions to meet the needs of counterparties who may be
- seeking to hedge certain aspects of such counterparties’ operations or obtain a desired financial
exposure.

AIGFP’s derivative transactions involving interest rate swap transactions generally involve the
exchange of fixed and floating rate interest payment obligations without the exchange of the
underlying notional amounts. AIGFP typically became a principal in the exchange of interest
payments between the parties and, therefore, is exposed to counterparty credit risk and may be
exposed to loss, if counterparties default. Currency, commodity, and equity swaps are similar to
interest rate swaps, but involve the exchange of specific currencies or cashflows based on the
underlying commodity, equity securities or indices. Also, they may involve the exchange of notional
amounts at the beginning and end of the transaction. Swaptions are options where the hoider has the
right but not the obligation to enter into a swap transaction or cancel an existing swap transaction.

AIGFP foilows a policy of minimizing interest rate, currency, commodity, and equity risks
associated with securities available for sale by entering into internal offsetting positions, on a security
by security basis within its derivatives portfolio, thereby offsetting a significant portion of the
unrealized appreciation and depreciation. In addition, to reduce its credit risk, AIGFP has entered into
credit derivative transactions with respect to $635 million of securities to economically hedge its credit
risk. As previously discussed, these economic offsets did not meet the hedge accounting requirements
of FAS 133 and, therefore, are recorded in Other income in the Consolidated Statement of Income.

Notional amount represents a standard of measurement of the volume of swaps business of
AIGFP. Notional amount is not a quantification of market risk or credit risk and is not recorded on the
consolidated balance sheet. Notional amounts generally represent those amounts used to calculate
contractual cash flows to be exchanged and are not paid or received, except for certain contracts such
as currency swaps.,

The timing and the amount of cash flows relating to AIGFP’s foreign exchange forwards and
exchange traded futures and options contracts are determined by each of the respective contractual
agreements.

262 AIG 2008 Form 10-K
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7290 Mr. CROWLEY. Right.
7291 Mr. LIDDY.--many of these good assets that we have. We
7292| want the good players, the really critical players in those
7293} businesses, to please stay with us and not go someplace else.
7294| So there are retention payments for those folks, much
7295 simpler, much smaller in value than what we have been talking
7296 about with AIGFP, that would be paid over the next 12 to 18
7297 to 24 months.
7298 Mr. CROWLEY. Thank you. Let me just go back a moment to
7299| something that Mr. Cummings also mentioned, and that was the
7300] retirement--the retention programs that were entered into.
7301 Prior to coming there, when was the last one entered
7302] into, the agreement, retention agreement?
7303 Mr. LIDDY. Prior to my coming there?
7304 Mr. CROWLEY. Uh-huh.
7305 Mr. LIDDY. March 2008.
7306 Mr. CROWLEY. Do you think the people that put those
7307{ agreements together had any indication back then that their
7308 company was in deep trouble? ‘
<7309 Mr. LIDDY. I really don‘t think so, Mr. Crowley. Those
7310} agreements would have been started, the discussioﬁ and
7311 megotiation process would have been started--it takes a while
7312 to get these done--probably in mid 2007. So I don“t think it
7313} was done in anticipation of anything. That is speculation on
7314| my part.




333

HBA077.160 PAGE 304

7315
7316
7317
7318
7319
7320
7321
7322
7323
7324

7325

7326

7327
7328
7329
7330
7331
7332
7333
7334
7335
7BZé
7337
7338

7339

Mr. CROWLEY. Can we find--is it possible for this
committee ér the House to know who those individuals were who
entered--who made those agreements?

Mr. LIDDY. Who authored them? Who signed--

Mr. CROWLEY. Who authored those agreements?

Mr. LIDDY. I am sure that information exists. We will
try get it for you.

Mr. CROWLEY. Were any of those individuals beneficiaries
of those agreements?

Mr. LIDDY. I just dcn'é know. I’'11-~-

Mr. CROWLEY. Waa’fhere a conflict of interest? In other
words, would they have benefitted by the agreementf

Mr. LIDDY. Well, no. For AIG financial products, it
would have been negotiated by an individual to whom that
business works. He would not have been covered by those
retention agreements.

Mr. CROWLEY. Well, if we could--if it is poseible to get
to us that information, I would appreciate that as well.

As many of the people who work under you within AIG
know, I have been very interested in this issue for some
time. And unfortunately, it has gdtten to a point I had hoped
we could have avoided, but unfortunately, that didn’t happen,
because I think--not because of the people Qho work for you,
but others within your company who put the company and their

country last and themselves first. And I yield back.
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Rep. Joseph Crowley (NY)

Issue: AIG executives who authored the AIGFP Employee Retention Plan. {Page 304, Line
7315)

The Employee Retention Plan was designed and approved by senior
management of AIGFP and AlG. Outside counsel and compensation consultants
assisted in the preparation of the Plan. Related documents are attached.
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AIG FINANCIAL PRODUCTS CORP.
2008 EMPLOYEE RETENTION PLAN

Effective December 1, 2007

INTRODUCTION

This document sets forth the terms of the AIG Financial Products Corp. 2008
Employee Retention Plan, effective December 1, 2007 (the "Plan™). The Plan sets out the
2008 and 2009 Guaranteed Retention Awards to be provided hereunder to certain employees
and consultants of AIG-FP (which term includes subsidiaries).

The objectives of the Plan are:

{. To provide incentives for AIG-FP’s employees and consultants to continue
developing, promoting and exccuting AIG-FP’s business;

2. To recognize the uncertainty that the unrealized market valuation losses in AlG-
FP's super senior credit derivative and originally-rated AAA cash CDO portfolios
have created for AIG-FP's employees and consultants;

3. To ensure that AIG-FP's and its employees’ and consultants’ interests continue to
be aligned with those of AIG and AlG’s shareholders;

4, To continue to build and maintain the formation of capital in A1G-FP; and

5. To show the support by AIG of the on-going business of AIG-FP by
implementing a meaningful employee retention plan.

SECTION 1
DEFINITIONS

For purposes of this AIG Financial Products Corp. 2008 Employee Retention Plan:

1.01. “Additional Return Payment” shall have the meaning ascribed thereto under
the Deferred Compensation Plan.

1.02. “AJG"” shall mean American Intemational Group, Inc.

-1-
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1.03. “AlG-FP” shall mean AIG Financial Products Corp., including all subsidiaries
thereof.

1.04. “AlG Genera| Guarantee Agreement” shall mean the General Guarantee
Agreement of AIG, dated December 4, 1995, in favor of each holder of a monetary

obligation or liability of AIG Financial Products Corp.

1.05. "Beneficiary” shall mean such person or trustee as may be designated by a
Covered Person in his or her Confirmation and Acknowledgement.

1.06. “"Board" shall mean the Board of Directors of AIG Financial Products Corp.

1.07. “Bonus Pool” shall have the meaning ascribed thereto in Section 3.02(a) of
the Plan.
1.08. “Buy-Out Amount” shall mean the portion of any Previous Guarantee payable

to a Covered Person that was intended to offset compensation from a previous employer that
the Covered Person forfeited upon joining AIG-FP.

1.09. “Capped Realized Losses” shall have the meaning ascribed thereto in Section
3.07(a) of the Plan.

1.10. “CDOQ Portfolic” shall mean the existing multi-sector collateralized debt
obligation (“CDQ™ portfolio of AIG-FP, including both super senior derivatives and
originally-rated AAA cash CDO bonds.

.11, “"Committee" shall mean a committes consisting of the Chief Executive
Officer of AIG Financial Products Corp., the Chief Administrative Officer of AIG Financial
Products Corp., the Chief Financial Officer of AIG Financial Products Corp., and the
Secretary of AIG Financial Products Corp.

1.12. “Compensation Year" shall mean the [2-month period beginning on
December 1% of each calendar year and ending on November 30® of the following calendar
year. The first Compensation Year under this Plan shall be the Compensation Year beginning
on December 1, 2007 and ending on November 30, 2008 (the “2008 Compensation Year”);
and the second Compensation Year under this Plan shall be the Compensation Year
beginning on December 1, 2008 and cnding on November 30, 2009 (the 2009
Com| tion Ye

1.13. “Confirmation and Acknowledgement”. The written confirmation and
acknowledgement described in Section 3.0{(e) of the Plan that is executed by each Covered
Person.

1.14. “Covered Persons” shall mean ali employees and certain designated
consultants of AIG-FP as of March 31, 2008 (excluding any employees or consulitants who
have notified AIG-FP of their intent to resign on or prior to such date) who reccived

-2-
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discretionary incentive compensation, or had a Previous Guarantee, in respect of the 2007
Compensation Year or who have a Previous Guarantee in respect of the 2008 Compensation
Year. Covered Persons shall receive a Confirmation and Acknowledgement from AIG
Financial Products Corp., as described in Section 3.01(e).

1.15. “Deferred Compensation Plan™ shall mean, collectively, the AIG Financial
Products Corp. Deferred Compensation Plan, as amended and restated effective March 18,
2005, and the AIG Financial Products Corp. Deferred Compensation Plan - Certain Banque
AIG, Tokyo Branch Employees/Secondees, dated as of November 25, 2005, as amended, as
each may be amended in the future.

1.16. “Distributable Income” shall have the meaning ascribed thereto under the
Deferred Compensation Plan,

1.17. “Excess Deferral Amount” shall mean, in respect of any Covered Person for
any Compensation Year, the amount of the Total Award deferred pursuant to the terms of the

Deferred Compensation Plan that is in excess of $650,000 (as determined pursuant to
Schedule A to the Deferred Compensation Plan).

1.18. “QGuaranteed Retention Awards” shall mean the amounts guaranteed to be
awarded to Covered Persons pursuant to Scction 3.01 of the Plan for the 2008 Compensation
Year and the 2009 Compensation Year.

1.19. “Japanese Plan” shall mecan any retirement plan in which members of AIG-
FP's Tokyo office participate in lieu of participating in the Deferred Compensation Plan.

1.20 “Notional Bonus Amount” shafl have the meaning ascribed thereto under the
Deferred Compensation Plan,

1.21. “Plan” shall mean the AIG Financial Products Corp. 2008 Employee
Retention Plan, as set forth herein and as hereinafter amended from time to time.

1.22. “Previous Guarantee” shall mean, in respect of any Covered Person, any right
of the Covered Person to receive guaranteed compensation (which, for the avoidance of
doubt, does not include salary paid periodically during the term of employment) pursuant to
a written letter or agreement with AIG-FP executed on or prior to March 31, 2008.

1.23. “Realized [.osses” shall have the meaning ascribed thereto in the attached
Schedule 2.

1.24. “Senior Management Tcam” shall mean the fourteen (14) Covered Persons

whose status as a member of the Senior Management Team is so indicated on each such
individual’s Confirmation and Acknowledgement.

1.25. “Share Amount” shall mean the number of shares of AIG common stock into
which a Stock-Indexed Deferral is translated pursuant to Section 3.05(c)(i) of the Plan, as

-3-
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adjusted by the Committee to the extent necessary, in its reasonable good faith discretion, to
take into account stock splits, stock dividends, spin-offs, reorganizations, recapitalizations,
share combinations, mergers, consolidations, or other corporate actions with respect to AIG
common stock.

1.26. “SIP” shall mean the AIG Financial Products Corp. 2007 Special Incentive
Plan, dated January 20, 2008, as it may be amended in the future.

1.27. “Stock-Indexed Deferrals” shall mean the deferred amounts of 2008 Total
Awards or 2009 Total Awards that are indexed to shares of AIG stock, as described in
Section 3.05(b) of the Plan,

1.28. “Total Award” shall mean, for any Covered Person for either the 2008
Compensation Year or the 2009 Compensation Year, the Guarantced Retention Award for
such Covered Person for such Compensation Year plus any discretionary incentive
compensation award in excess thereof for such Compensation Year,

1.29. “2007 Total Economic Award” shall mean for each Covered Person, the sum
of (a) and (b), where (a) is the amount of the discretionary incentive compensation or
Previous Guarantee awarded to such Covered Person in respect of the 2007 Compensation
Year, before taking into account any deferrals of such compensation under, or contributions
of amounts to, the Deferred Compensation Plan or any Japanese Plan, or payments of
amounts under the Deferred Compensation Plan or any Japanese Plan in respect of previous
Compensation Years, and (b) is the amount, if any, of the SIP Credit credited to such
Covered Person under Section 3.01(a) of the SIP, excluding the amount of such SIP Credit, if
any, received in licu of an Additional Retum Payment under the Deferred Compensation
Pian (or as the equivalent for Covered Persons who participate in a Japanese Plan in lieu of
participating in the Deferred Compensation Plan).

SECTION 2
PARTICIPATION

2.01. Participation.

(a) Participation by Covered Persons. Each Covered Person shall be entitled to
participate under this Plan, subject to (i) AIG Financial Products Corp. determining that the

Covered Person meets the requirements to be a Covered Person and delivering to such person
the Confirmation and Acknowledgement referenced in Section 3.01(e), and (ii) such person
executing such document and returning it to AJG Financial Products Corp.



340

(b)  Deferrals. Each Covered Person who participates in the Deferred
Compensation Plan and whose 2008 Total Award or 2009 Total Award is in excess of the
level referred to in Schedule A of the Deferred Compensation Plan shatl be required to defer,
under the Deferred Compensation Plan, the portions of such Total Award that are required to
be deferred pursuant to such Schedule A, subject, for the avoidance of doubt, to the
provisions of Section 3.05 below in respect of Stock-Indexed Deferrals; provided, for the
avoidance of doubt, that any payment of a Guaranteed Retention Award to a Covered Person
or a Beneficiary shall not be subject to deferral under the Deferred Compensation Plan if
such Covered Person or Beneficiary has received a distribution under Section 3.05(a) of the
Deferred Compensation Plan. Additional voluntary deferral of any portion of such Total
Award shall be permitted only in respect of the portion of such Total Award, if any, that
exceeds the respective Guaranteed Retention Award, and shall be subject to the terms and
conditions related thereto under the Deferred Compensation Plan, subject, for the avoidance
of doubt, to the provisions of Section 3.05 below in respect of Stock-Indexed Deferrals.

(¢)  Beneficiary. Each Covered Person may designate on his or her Confirmation
and Acknowledgement a Beneficiary or Beneficiaries under the Plan in the event he or she
should die prior to receipt of all Guarantced Retention Awards to which he or she is entitled
under the Plan; provided that if none is designated, such Beneficiary shall be the Covered
Person's estate or as otherwise provided under applicable law. Any payment to a Bencficiary
or Beneficiaries shall be made when the respective Covered Person would have received
such payment.

SECTION 3
2008 AND 2009 GUARANTEED RETENTION AWARDS
DETERMINATION OF AIG-FP BONUS POOL
3.0f. 2008 and . d j wi

(a) i B, I
Subject to Sections 3 Ol(c) and 3. Ol(d), for the 2008 Compcnsanon Ymr nnd the 2009
Compensation Year, each Covered Person (other than members of the Senior Management
Team) shall be awarded a Guaranteed Retention Award for each of those Compensation
Years equal to one hundred percent (100%) of such Covered Person’s 2007 Total Economic
Award.

(b) Covered Pe Wh Management
Subject to Sections 3.01(c) and 3.01(d), for the 2008 Compensation Year and the 2009
Compensation Ycar, cach Covered Person who is a member of the Senior Management Team
shall be awarded a Guaranteed Retention Award for each of those Compensation Years equal
10 seventy-five percent (75%) of such Covered Person’s 2007 Total Economic Award,

.5.
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[ f Previou j Wi

The Guaranteed Retention Award for a Compensation Ycar for any Covered Person who has
a Previous Guarantee for such Compensation Year will be reduced by the amount of such
Previous Guarantee for such Compensation Year. Previous Guarantees will not be affected
by this Plan. If (i) a Covered Person has a Previous Guarantee with respect to the 2008
Compensation Year, and (ii) such 2008 Previous Guarantee exceeds such Covered Person’s
2007 Total Economic Award, then the Guaranteed Retention Award for such Covered Person
for the 2008 Compensation Year shall be zero (by reason of the second preceding sentence),
and for the 2009 Compensation Year shall equal thc emount of such 2008 Previous
Guarantee (reduced by the amount of the Covered Person’s Previous Guarantee for the 2009
Compensation Year, if any).

@ B } i 3
(i) the Guaranteed Retentlon Awnrd for a Covered Person is bascd in whole or in pan ona
Previous Guarantee for the 2007 Compensation Year or the 2008 Compensation Year, and
(ii) a portion of such Previous Guarantee represents a Buy-Out Amount, then the Buy-Out
Amount shall be excluded for purposes of calculating the Covered Person’s Guaranteed
Retention Awards and 2007 Total Economic Award.

© 5 P
M_mbg;_qf_nggr_Mgmmx_Im Each Covered Person mdiwdually wall recenve a
written confirmation (“Confirmation and Acknowledgement”), in the form of Schedule 1,
from AIG Financial Products Corp. of his or her Guaranteed Retention Awards for the 2008

Compensation Year and the 2009 Compensation Year under this Plan. Each Covered Person
who has been designated as a member of the Senior Management Team for purposes of
determining the Covered Person’s Guaraniced Retention Awards has already been informed
of such designation, which designation shall also be indicated on the Confirmation and
Acknowledgement for such Covered Person.

Currency. All 2008 and 2009 Guaranteed Retention Awards shall be
denominated in US dollars.

3.02. Effect of Guaranteed Retention Awards on the Bonus Pool.
(a)  General Rule for Bonus Pool Determination. Under the existing arrangement

between AlG, AIG-FP, and its employees, Distributable Income of AIG-FP is payable each
year on the basis of 70% to AIG and 30% to AIG-FP employees (and consultants) as bonuses
(such 30% referred to hereunder as the “Bonus Pool”). The Bonus Pool will continue to
equal 30% of Distributable Income of AIG-FP subject to calculation consistent with past
practices and the provisions of Sections 3.02(b) and 3.02(c).

(®)  Aggregat ) ! « a
Equals or [5 Less than the Bonus Pool for Such Compensation Year. lf the ngsrtsm amount
of the Guaranteed Retention Awards for the 2008 Compensation Year or the 2009
Compensation Year is equal to or less than the calculated Bonus Pool for such Compensation
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Year, the total amount of the Guaranteed Retention Awards for such Compensation Ycar
will, in the first instance, be paid from the calculated Bonus Pool for such Compensation
Year, with any excess remaining in the calculated Bonus Pool for such Compensation Year
paid out to AIG-FP employees (and, in the discretion of AIG-FP, consultants) as
discretionary incentive compensation with respect to such Compensation Year.

(c) regate Amount of ion Aw r tion Y
Exceeds the Bonus Pool for a Compensation Year. If the aggregate amount of the

Guaranteed Retention Awards for the 2008 Compensation Year or the 2009 Compensation
Year exceeds the calculated Bonus Pool for such Compensation Year, AIG will cover the
shortfall so that Covered Persons are paid their full Guaranteed Retention Awards (subject,
for the avoidance of doubt, to defcrral pursuant to Section 3.05(a)). Any such Bonus Pool
shortfall shall, for purposes of Section 3.07 related to the carry-forward of Capped Realized
Losses, be deemed to give rise to a Capped Realized Loss equal to the amount of such
shortfall.

3.03. Guarantee A
Ajgg_ggg_j_m_mgm The obhgmon to pay the Guaranteed Retentlon Awards
described under Section 3.01 is guaranteed by AIG pursuant to the AIG General Guarantee
Agreement; provided that amounts deferred under the Deferred Compensation Plan
(including Stock-Indexed Deferrals) will net, in accordance with the terms of the Deferred
Compensation Plan, benefit from the AIG General Guarantce Agreement.

3.04. i o 8 2 d_Retention A
Temi . If the employment (or, as applicable,

consultancy) of a Covered Person terminates prior to payment of a Guaranteed Retention
Award, the Covered Person will forfeit the right to such Guaranteed Retention Award in the
following circumstances:

(a)  the Covered Person resigns without good reason (“good reason” means a
material reduction in base salary, a material reduction in title, duties or
responsibilities, or transfer to a geographic location that is more than 50 miles
from the Covered Person's current location); or

(b) the Covered Person’s employment (or, as applicable, consultancy) is
terminated by AIG-FP for cause (“cause™ means conduct involving intentionai
wrongdoing, fraud, dishonesty, gross negligence, material breach of the AIG
Code of Conduct or other policies of AIG-FP or AIG, or conviction of or
entry of a plea of guilty or no contest to a criminal offense); or

(©) the Covered Person's employment (or, as applicable, consultancy) is
terminated by AIG-FP during calendar year 2008 due to the Covered Person’s
failure to meet performance standards; provided, however, that in the case of a
termination of employment (or, as applicable, consultancy) described in this
Section 3.04(c), only the Guaranteed Retention Award attributable to the
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Covered Person’s 2009 Compensation Year will be forfeited, and the
Guaranteed Retention Award for the Cavered Person’s 2008 Compensation
Year will remain payable at the same time that Guarantced Retention Awards
are paid to Covered Persons whose cmployment (or, as applicable,
consultancy) is not terminated (subject to deferral pursuant to Section
3.05(a)).

Any Covered Person whose employment (or, as applicable, consultancy) terminates for a
reason other than those described in Sections 3.04(a), 3.04(b), and 3.04(c) will reccive any
subsequent Guaranteed Retention Award at the same time that Guaranteed Retention Awards
are paid to continuing Covered Persons (subject to deferral pursuant to Section 3.05(a));
provided that any such Guaranteed Retention Award in respect of the 2009 Compensation
Year will be reduced by the amount of any compensation paid to the terminated employee or
consultant by another employer in respect of work performed by the terminated employee or
consultant during calendar year 2009; and further provided that prior to payment of any
Guaranteed Retention Awards to such terminated employees or consultants, the former
employee or consuitant will be required to confirm in writing whether any such
compensation has been received and, if so, the amount thereof.

3.05. Payment of 2008 and 2009 Guaranteed Retention Awards. Subject to the
terms of this Plan, Guaranteed Retention Awards will be paid to Covered Persons in respect

of each Compensation Year on or prior to the datc on which discretionary incentive
compensation for such Compensation Year is paid to employees of AIG-FP (subject to
deferral as described below); provided, however, that such payment will not be later than
March 15™ of the calendar year next following the end of such Compensation Year (whether
or not any discretionary incentive compensation is paid with respect to such Compensation
Year). All payments to a Covered Person hereunder shall be paid to such Covered Person
from the company or companies from which such payment represents compensation for
services provided by such Covered Person; provided that, where any such company is not
AlG Financial Products Corp., AIG Financial Products Corp. shall remain liable for any such
payment not paid by such company.

()  Deferral under Deferred Compensation Plan. The payment of 2008 and 2009
Total Awards to Covered Persons who participate in the Deferred Compensation Plan will be
subject to partial mandatory deferral and subsequent payment under the Deferred
Compensation Plan in accordance with its terms (in the same manner as discretionary
incentive compensation is subject to partial mandatory deferral and subsequent payment
under such plan); provided that subsequent payment of any Stock-Indexed Deferrals shall be
indexed as described in Section 3.05(c) below for purposes of making payment of such
deferrals under Section 3.05 of the Deferred Compensation Plan,

(®  Determination of Amount of Stock-Indexed Deferrals. If the Total Award for
a Covered Person who participates in the Deferred Compensation Plan exceeds $2 million for

the 2008 or 2009 Compensation Year, then, notwithstanding any term of the Deferred
Compensation Plan to the contrary, fifty percent (50%) of the Excess Deferral Amount for
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such Compensation Year will be deemed a Stock-Indexed Deferral under this Plan and, as
such, will be indexed to AIG stock and paid as provided in Section 3.05(c) of the Plan.

© ndexi tock- eferrals.

@) The Stock-Indexed Deferrals will be translated into a number of shares
of AIG common stock (“Share Amount”), based on the average daily closing price of
a share of AIG common stock during the month of November in the respective
Compensation Year.

(ii)  Notwithstanding such indexing, the original US dollar value of the
unpaid portion of any Stock-Indexed Deferral (without regard to any change in the
market price of a share of AIG common stock) will accrue interest pursuant to
Section 3.03 of the Deferred Compensation Plan, and shall be- included when
determining the aggregate amount creditéd to a Deferred Compensation Plan
Participant’s Deferred Compensation Account under the Deferred Compensation Plan
for purposes of calculating any Additional Return Payments payable to such
Participant pursuant to Section 3.04 of the Deferred Compensation Plan. No amount
shall be payable to any Covered Person in respect of dividends paid on AIG common
stock.

(iii) When a distribution of a Stock-Indexed Deferral (including any
instaliment thereof) would otherwise be payable under Section 3.05 of the Deferred
Compensation Plan, Covered Persons will receive, in lieu of receiving such
distribution, at AIG’s clection, cither:

(A) 2 number of shares of AIG common stock equal to the Share
Amount for such distribution of the Stock-Indexed Deferral, or

(B) a cash amount equal to the value of such number of shares
based on:

(1)  in the case of a distribution under Sections 3.05(a) and
3.05(c) of the Deferred Compensation Plan, the closing price of a
share of AIG common stock on the date that is five NYSE trading days
before the payment date; and

(2)  in the case of a distribution under Section 3.05(b) of the
Deferred Compensation Plan, the average daily closing price of a share
of AIG common stock during the month of November immediately
preceding the applicable payment date.

(C)  The clection made by AIG in this Section 3.05(c)(iii) shall be
made as follows:

(1)  in the case of a distribution under Section 3.05(a) of the
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Deferred Compensation Plan, not later than 15 calendar days prior to
the applicable payment date;

(2)  inthe casc of a distribution under Section 3.05(b) of the
Deferred Compensation Plan, not later than November 1 immediately
preceding the applicable payment date; and

(3) in the case of an early distribution under Section
3.05(¢c) of the Deferred Compensation Plan, not later than 15 calendar
* days following the determination to make an carly distribution.

The original US dollar value of the applicable unpaid portion of any Stock-Indexed
Deferral (without regard to any change in the market price of a share of AIG common
stock) shall be paid by AIG-FP to AIG in exchange either for AIG's delivery of stock
to AIG-FP pursuant to Section 3.05(c)iii{A) or for AIG's payment to AIG-FP of the
cash amount provided for pursuant to Section 3.05(c)(iii)(B), as applicable.

(iv)  Stock-Indexed Decferrals are not subject to the “Foreign Currency
Altemative” provided in Section 3.05(d) of the Deferred Compensation Plan,

(d)  Defenred Amounts Represent Subordinated Claims against AIG-FP. To the
extent that Guaranteed Retention Awards are deferred under the Deferred Compensation Plan
(including any Stock-Indexed Deferrals), such deferred amounts shall represent, in
accordance with the terms of the Deferred Compensation Plan, subordinated claims against
AIG-FP and shall not be guaranteed by AIG.

3.06. Effect n 1 of M M iz . AIG-FP will
continue to monitor and manage the existing CDO Portfolio.
(a)  Effect of Mark-to-Market Losses on the Bonus Pool. The Bonus Poo! for any

Compensation Year beginning with the 2008 Compensation Year will not be affected by the
incurrence of any mark-to-market losses (or gains) or impairment charges (or reversals
thercof) arising from (i) the CDO Portfolio or (ii) super senior credit derivative transactions
that are not part of the CDO Portfolio.

(b)  Effect of Realized Losses on Bonus Pool. The Bonus Pool for any
Compensation Year beginning with thc 2008 Compensation Year will be affected by the
incurrence of any Realized Losses (or gains) arising from any source, subject to the
limitations set forth in Section 3.07.

3.07. Limitations Related to Realized Losses.

(a) ion Y imit of tion to B Pool jibutable to Capped
Realized Losses. Notwithstanding any other provision of the Plan, for any Compensation
Year beginning with the 2008 Compensation Year, there shall be a $67.5 million limit per
Compensation Year on the extent to which the Bonus Pool can be reduced in the aggregate as
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a result of Realized Losses arising from the CDO Portfolio and/or deemed Realized Losses
arising as provided in Section 3.02(c) (collectively, “Capped Realized Losses™). Given the
70%/30% split of Distributable Income between AIG and the Bonus Pool described in
Section 3.02(a), the Compensation Year limit will be applicable if Capped Realized Losses
in respect of any Compensation Year (beginning with the 2008 Compensation Year) exceed
$225 million. Capped Realized Losses for any Compensation Year that are in excess of $225
million will be carriecd forward to subsequent Compensation Years for Bonus Pool
calculation purposes, subject each year to a per Compensation Year limit on Capped
Realized Losses for Bonus Pool calculation purposes of $225 million (corresponding to the
$67.5 million limit per Compensation Year on reductions to the Bonus Pool due to Capped
Realized Losses). Camry-forwards of Capped Reatized Losses to subsequent Compensation
Years will continue until the aggregate Capped Realized Losses (Capped Realized Losses
that reduce Distributable Income for Bonus Pool calculation purposes in the Compensation
Year in which realized, plus Capped Realized Losses carried forward to reduce Distributable
Income for Bonus Pool calculation purposes in future Compensation Years) are fully
absorbed through reductions to Distributable Income for Bonus Pool calculation purposes of
up to $225 million per Compensation Year (corresponding to reductions to the Bonus Pool of
up to $67.5 miltion per Compensation Year).

(b)  Effect of Realized Losses on Current and Future Balances under the Deferred
Compensation Plan, Japanese Plans and SIP. Cwrrent and future balances under the Deferred
Compensation Plan, Japanese Plans and SIP (including the deferred component of 2008 and
2009 Total Awards, including Stock-Indexed Deferrals) will remain subject to reduction as a
result of Realized Losses from the CDO Portfolio or otherwise in accordance with the terms
of the Deferred Compensation Plan, Japanese Plans and SIP (without reference to any annual
limits, which will relate solely to the determination of the Distributable Income for Bonus
Pool calculation purposes in the 2008 and subsequent Compensation Years).

SECTION 4
MISCELLANEOUS

4.01. Nonassignability. Subject to Section 2.01(c) of the Plan, no Covered Person
or Beneficiary shall have the power to subject any right to receive payments under this Plan
to assignment, pledge, sale, attachment, gamishment or any other transfer, alicnation or
encumbrance, nor shall such rights be subject to the Covered Person's or Beneficiary's debts
or to seizure for satisfaction of judgments, alimony or separate maintenance obligations.

4.02. Continuation as Employee or Consultant. Neither this Plan nor the payment

of any benefits hereunder shall be construed as giving the Covered Person any right to be
retained as an employee or consultant of AIG-FP.

4.03 Amendment and Termination. The Committee may from time to time, with
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the approval of the Board, amend these Plan terms in whole or in part; provided, however,
that any such amendment may not reduce or delay payment of any Covered Person’s benefits
and entitlements under the Plan in respect of the Covered Person’s 2008 and 2009
Guaranteed Retention Awards or increase the Compensation Year limit or the extent to
which Distributable Income for Bonus Pool calculation purposes can be reduced as a result
of Capped Realized Losses. Any such amendment shall be cffective immediately or as
otherwise specified therein and shall be communicated in writing (including e-mail) to all
Covered Persons and to AIG.

404. Goveming Law. The law of the State of Connecticut shall govern the
interpretation, application and operation of this Plan document.

4.05. Claims Procedure. Claims for benefits under the Plan shall be filed with the
Committee, on forms supplied by the Committee. Written notice of the Committee's
disposition of a claim shall be furnished to the claimant within 30 days after the application
therefor is filed. In the event the claim is denied the reasons for the denial shall be
specifically set forth in writing, pertinent provisions of the Plan shall be cited, and, where
appropriate, an explanation as to how the claimant can perfect the claims will be provided. If
a Covered Person or Beneficiary has been denied a benefit, each shall be entitled, upon
request to the Board, to appeal the denial of the claimed benefit within 90 days following the
Committee's determination described in the preceding sentence. Upon such appeal, the
Board (or a special committee designated by the Board) shall, as soon as practicable, meet
with and hear the position of the claimant. lts decision following such meeting shall be made
within 30 days and shall be communicated in writing to the claimant,

4.06. Effect of this Plan on the Deferred Compensation Plan. The terms and
operation of the Deferred Compensation Plan are not affected by this Plan; provided that to
the extent there is any inconsistency between the terms of this Plan and the terms of the
Deferred Compensation Plan with respect to the treatment of Guaranteed Retention Awards,
the determination of Distributable Income or the Bonus Pool, or the application of the terms
of that plan to Stock-Indexed Deferrals, the terms of this Plan shall govern.

4.07. Compliance with Intemnal Revenue Code Section 409A. 1t is intended that
amounts awarded under this Plan and/or deferred under the Deferred Compensation Pian will
not be taxable under Internal Revenue Code Section 409A. This Plan shall be interpreted
and administered, to the extent possible, in a manner that does not result in a “plan failure”
{within the meaning of Intemal Revenue Code section 409A(a)(1)) of this Plan or any other
plan or arrangement maintained by AIG-FP.

mws076.doc
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SCHEDULE 1
Confirmation and Acknowledgement
Name of Covered Person;
Member of Senior Management Team: Yes or No
Compensation Previous Buy-Out Guaranteed

Year Guarantee Amount Retention Award
2008
2009

) 1 acknowledge that 1 have received, read and understood the AIG Financial Products Corp.
2008 Employce Retention Plan (the “Employce Retention Plan”) and that my participation in the
Employee Retention Plan, including any payment of a Guaranteed Retention Award to me under the
Employee Retention Plan, will be subject to the terins of the Employce Retention Plan, which provide
in part that payment of Guaranteed Retention Awards (i) is subject to continued employment to the
extent provided pursuant to Section 3.04, and (i) is subject, if ! participate in the Deferred
Compensation Plan (as defined in the Employee Retention Plan), to deferral and, to the extent
deferred, shall become an unsecured subordinated liability of AIG Financial Products Corp. to me and
my Beneficiaries.

I further acknowledge that my right to receive any Guaranteed Retention Award under the
Employee Retention Plen is separate from and independent of any Notional Bonus Amount | might
receive for 2008 or 2009, as that term is defined in the Deferred Compensation Plan, and that, to the
extent the portion of any Guaranteed Retention Award or any additional Notional Bonus Amount is
subject to deferral as a Stock-Indexed Deferral, [ waive any claim that such deferred amount would be
subject to, or payable to me pursuant to, the Deferred Compensation Plan without reference to the
terms of the Employee Retention Plan.

in the cvent that I should die prior to receipt of all Guaranteed Retention Awards to which [
am entitled under the Employee Retention Plan, I hereby direct that, pursuant to Section 2.01(c) of
the Employee Retention Plan, all amounts due to me under the Employee Retention Plan be
distributed as follows:

Proportion Name of Beneficiary(ics)

Signature of Covered Person Date
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SCHEDULE 2
Realized Lossey
Realized Losses:

o Losses resulting from the termination or other unwind of a derivative
transaction or from the sale of a cash bond position.

» Realized Loss will be the termination/unwind payment for the
- derivative transaction, or the difference between par (plus accrued
interest) and the sale proceeds for the cash bond position.

o Losses resulting from a payment defauit on a cash bond position.

» Realized Loss will be determined based on an evaluation by AIG-FP
and AIG of the facts and circumstances of the underlying portfolio and
the likelihood of payment of the defauited amount, including the
quality of the underlying portfolio and rights to control its liquidation.

For example:

e Where there has been a complete liquidation of the underlying
portfolio, Realized Losses will equal the amount by which
payments received are less than par (plus accrued interest).

e  Where there has been no liquidation of the underlying portfolio
(e.g., because of stand-still provisions in the trust indenture),
and it is reasonably likely that all amounts on the cash bond
position will be paid (e.g., where the bond is still rated
investment grade), there would be no Realized Loss.

o Such a conclusion may apply even where the cash bond
has been accelerated and the principal amount declared
due and payable (but has not been paid).

o Losses resulting from a payment default on a reference obligation (or
cquivalent) underlying a credit default swap (*CDS") transaction.

»  For CDS that have physical settlement provisions:

o If the CDS is physically settled, Realized Losses will be
determined as described above for the cash bond position that
results from the physical settlement,

o Pending physical settlement of such a CDS, there is no
Realized Loss.
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*  For pay-as-you-go CDS:

Any payment under a pay-as-you-go CDS will be a Realized
Loss unless (i) AIG-FP has a right to be reimbursed by the
protection buyer if the buyer receives payment of the unpaid

.amount that gave rise to the CDS payment, and (ii) an

cvaluation by AIG-FP and AIG of the facts and circumstances
of the underlying portfolio, including the quality of the
underlying portfolio and rights to control its liquidation,
indicates such payment is reasonably likely.

» For total return swaps (TRS):

To the extent that settlement of the TRS results in AIG-FP
acquiring the reference obligation (the most likely
circumstance), Realized Losses will be determined as
described above for the cash bond position that results.

To the extent that settlement of the TRS results in AIG-FP
making payment to the protection buyer without acquiring the
reference obligation (unlikely), the Realized Loss equals the
amount of such payment.

Pending settlement of the TRS, there will be no Realized Loss.
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HBA077.160 PAGE 293
7040{ me, the 4,5007?
7041 Mr. LIDDY. Yes. I don’'t remember the exact number. I
7042 think it is about 45-, 4700.
7043 Mr. CUMMINGS. And so you approved those additional
7044| phases. 1Is that correct?
7045 Mr. LIDDY. Correct.
7046 Mr. CUMMINGS. You also noted that business units have
7047; adopted their own retention plans.
7048 ’Did you approve those also?
7049 Mr. LIDDY. I would not have. They would have been done
7050] by the business units. .
7051 Mr. CUMMINGS. So there are other retention plaﬁs within
7052} AIG, the big AIG umbrella, under the umbrella?
7053 Mr. LIDDY. Those are more--I believe they are more
7054| severance plans. What happens if somebody‘buys you and you’
.7055| lose your job?
7056 Mr. CUMMINGS. How much in non-financial product
7057| retention payments have you paid in 2008, and how much will
7058| be paid in 2009? ‘ o
7059 Mr. LIDDY. I don’t have the numbers at my fingertips.
7060) We will be delighted to get them to you.
7061 Mr. CUMMINGS. All right. Have you reduced these
7062 | payments below the levels approved on September 187
7063 Mr. LIDDY. We have either--in some cases we have reduced

them, and in some cases we have stretched them out to a
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Rep. Elijah Cummings (MD)

issue: Retention payments paid in 2008 to non-AIGFP employees and how much wili be
paid in 2009. {Page 293, Line 7056)

See “Restructuring expenses and related asset impairment and other expenses”
on pages 69, 70, 221, 222 (attached) of the AlG 2008 Form 10-K, filed on March
2, 2009. The pages include information on retention payments announced
during 2008 and paid to AlG and AIGFP employees in 2008 and scheduled to be
paid in 2009, and thereafter.
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American Interational Group, Inc., and Subsidiaries

Policy Acquisition and Other Insurance Expenses

2008 and 2007 Comparison

Policy acquisition and other insurance expenses increased in 2008 compared to 2007 primarily due to a
$3.6 billion increase in General Insurance expenses and a $3.7 billion increase in Life Insurance & Retirement
Services expenses. General Insurance expenses increased primarily due to goodwill impairment charges of
$2.0billion, including $1.2 billion from Commercial Insurance and $696 million from Personal Lines, respectively,
primarily related to goodwill arising from acquisitions. Life Insurance & Retirement Services expenses increased
primarily due to $1.2 billion of goodwill impairment charges related to Domestic Life Insurance and Domestic
Retirement Services of $402 million and $817 million, respectively. Life Insurance & Retirement Services expenses
also increased as a result of the effect of foreign exchange, growth in the business and the effect of FAS 159
implementation.

2007 and 2006 Comparison

Policy acquisition and other insurance expenses increased in 2007 compared to 2006 primarily due costs
associated with realigning certain legal entities through which Foreign General Insurance operates and the
increased significance of Foreign General consumer lines business, which have higher acquisition costs. Life
Insurance & Retirement Services expenses increased principally as a result of the effect of growth in the Foreign
Life Insurance & Retirement Services business, increased DAC amortization related to the adoption of SOP 05-1,
higher operating expenses related to remediation activities and the effect of foreign exchange.

Interest Expense
2008 and 2007 Comparison

Interest expense increased in 2008 compared to 2007 on higher levels of borrowings. Interest expense in 2008
included $1 1.4 billion of interest expense on the Fed Facility which was comprised of $9.3 billion of amortization of
the prepaid commitment fee asset associated with the Fed Facility, including accelerated amortization of the prepaid
commitment asset of $6.6 billion in connection with the restructuring of the Fed Facility and $1.9 billion of accrued
compounding interest, Interest expense in 2008 also included interest on the debt and Equity Units from the dates of
issuance in May 2008. The above amounts are reflected in the Other category in AIG's segment results.

2007 and 2006 Comparison

Interest expense increased in 2007 compared to 2006 reflecting higher levels of borrowings, including interest
on the junior subordinated debt issued in March and June 2007, borrowings used to fund the MIP and borrowings
used for general corporate purposes.

Restructuring expenses and related asset impairment and other expenses

As described in Note I to the Consolidated Financial Statements, AIG commenced an organization-wide
restructuring plan under which some of its businesses will be divested, some will be held for later divestiture, and
some husinesses will be prepared for potential subsequent offerings to the public. In connection with activities
under this plan, AIG recorded restructuring and separation expenses of $758 million in 2008, consisting of
severance expenses of $89 million, contract termination expenses of $27 million, asset write-downs of $51 million,
other exit expenses of $140 million and separation expenses of $451 million.

Other exit expenses primarily include consulting and other professional fees related to (i) asset disposition
activities, (ii) AIG’s debt and capital restructuring program with the NY Fed and the United States Department of
the Treasury and (iii} unwinding of AIGFP’s businesses and portfolios.

Severance and separation expenses described ubove include retention awards of $492 million to key
employees to maintain ongoing business operations and facilitate the successful execution of the restructuring
and asset disposition pian. This amount also includes retention awards to AIGFP’s employees under its retention
program, which was established in the first quarter of 2008 due to the declining market environment, to manage and

AlG 2008 form 10-K 69
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American Intemational Group, inc., and Subsidiaries
unwind its complex businesses. The total amount expected to be incurred related to these retention programs is
approximately $1.0 bitlion.

For the year ended December 31, 2008, $139 million, $68 million, $287 million and $69 million of the
restructuring and separation expenses have been recorded within the General Insurance, Life Insurance &
Retirement Services, Financial Services and Asset Management segments, respectively, while $195 million has
been recorded in Other operations.

Total restructuring and separation expenses could have a material affect on future results of operations and
cash flows.

Other Expenses

2008 and 2007 Comparison

Other Expenses increased in 2008 compared to 2007 primarily due to goodwill impairment charges of
$791 million in 2008 in the Financial Services segment related to the Consumer Finance and Capital Markets
businesses, which resulted from the downturn in the housing markets, the credit crisis and the intent to unwind
AIGFP’s businesses and portfolios. In addition, other expenses in 2008 increased compared to 2007 due to higher
AGF provisions for finance receivable losses of $674 million in response to the higher levels of delinquencies in
AGPF’s finance receivable portfolio.

2007 and 2006 Comparison

Other Expenses increased in 2007 compared to 2006 primarily due to increases in MIP and compensation
related expenses in Asset Management, increases in depreciation expense on flight equipment in line with the
increase in the size of the aircraft fleet and an increase in AGF's provision for finance receivable losses of
$206 miltion,

Income tax expense (bencfit)

2008 and 2007 Comparison

The effective tax rate on the pre-tax loss for 2008 was 7.7 percent. The effective tax rate was lower than the
statutory rate of 35 percent due primarily to $26.1 billion of deferred tax expense recorded during 2008, comprising
$5.5 billion of deferred tax expense attributable to the potential sale of foreign businesses and a $20.6 billion
valuation altowance to reduce its deferred tax asset to an amount that AIG believes is more likely than not to be
realized.

Realization of the deferred tax asset depends on AIG's ability 10 generate sufficient taxable income of the
appropriate character within the carryforward periods of the jurisdictions in which the net operating losses and
deductible temporary differences were incurred. AlG assessed its ability to realize its deferred tax asset of
$31.9 billion and concluded a $20.6 billion valuation allowance was required to reduce the deferred tax asset to an
amount AIG believes is more likely than not that to be realized. See Note 20 to Consolidated Financial Statements
for additional discussion regarding deferred tax asset realization,

2007 and 2006 Comparison

The effective tax rate declined from 30.1 percent in 2006 to 16.3 percent in 2007, primarily due to the
unrealized market valuation losses on AIGFP’s super senior credit defauit swap portfolio and other-than-temporary
impairment charges. These losses, which are taxed ata U.S. wx rate of 35 percent and are included in the calculation
of income tax expense, reduced AIG's overall effective tax rate. In addition, other tax benefits, including tax exempt
interest and effects of foreign operations were proportionately farger in 2007 than in 2006 due to the decline in pre-
tax income in 2007, Furthermore, tax deductions taken in 2007 for SICO compensation plans for which the expense
had been recognized in prior years also reduced the effective tax rate in 2007.

70 AlG 2008 Form 10-K
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American Intemational Group, Inc., and Subsidiaries

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements - (Continued)

are accounted for under FAS No. 133 and its related interpretations, and (c) how derivative instruments and related
hedged items affect AIG's consolidated financial condition, results of operations, and cash flows. FAS 161 is
effective for AIG beginning with financial statements issued in the first quarter of 2009. Because FAS 161 only
requires additional disclosures about derivatives, it will have no effect on AIG’s consolidated financial condition,
results of operations or cash flows.

FAS 162

In May 2008. the FASB issued FAS 162, “The Hierarchy of Generally Accepted Accounting Principles”
(FAS 162). FAS 162 identifies the sources of accounting principles and the framework for selecting the principles to
be used in the preparation of financial statements presented in conformity with GAAP but does not change current
practices. FAS 162 will become effective on the 60th day following Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC)
approval of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board amendments to remove GAAP hierarchy from the
auditing standards. FAS 162 will have no effect on AIG's consolidated financial condition, results of operations or
cash flows.

FSP FAS 140-3

In February 2008, the FASB issued FSP No. FAS 140-3, “Accounting for Transfers of Financial Assets and
Repurchase Financing Transactions™ (FSP FAS 140-3). FSP FAS 140-3 requires an initial transfer of a financial
asset and a repurchase financing that was entered into contemporaneously with or in contemplation of the initial
transfer 1o be evaluated as a linked transaction unless certain criferia are met. FSP FAS 140-3 is effective for AIG
beginning January 1, 2009 and will be applied to new transactions entered into from that date forward. Early
adoption is prohibited. AIG is currently assessing the effect that adopting FSP FAS 140-3 will have on its
consofidated financial statements but does not believe the effect wiil be material.

FSP FAS I32(R)-1

In December 2008, the FASB issued FSP FAS 132(R)-1, “Employer’s Disclosures about Postretirement
Benefit Plan Assets” (FSP FAS [32(R)-1). FSP FAS 132(R)-1 amends FAS 132(R) to require more detailed
disclosures about an employer’s plan assets, including the employer’s investment strategies, major categories of
plan assets, concentrations of risk within plan assets, and valuation techniques used to e the fair values of
plan assets. FSP FAS 132(R)-1 is effective for fiscal years ending after December 15, 2009.

EITF 07-5
In June 2008, the FASB ratified the consensus reached by the Emerging Issues Task Force (EITF) on Issue
No. 07-5, “Determining Whether an Instrument (or Embedded Feature) is Indexed to an Entity’s Own Stock”.
Following the January |, 2009 adoption date, instruments that are not indexed to the issuer’s stock would not qualify
for an exception from derivative accounting provided in FAS 133 (which requires that an instrument is both indexed
to the issuer’s own stock, and that it is classified in equity). AIG is assessing the effect that adopting EITF 07-5 will
have on its consofidated financial statements, but does not believe the effect will be material.

2. Restructuring

As described in Note 1 herein, AIG commenced an organization-wide restructuring plan under which some of
its businesses will be divested, some will be held for later divestiture, and some businesses will be prepared for
potential subsequent offerings to the public.

Successful execution of the restructuring plan involves significant separation activities. Accordingly, AIG
established retention programs for its key employees to maintain ongoing business operations and to facilitate the
successful execution of the restructuring plan. Additionally, given the market disruption in the first quarter of 2008,
AIGFP established a retention plan for its employees to manage and unwind its complex businesses. Other major
activities include the separation of shared services, infrastructure and assets among business units and corporate
functions.

AIG 2008 Form 10-K 21
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At December 31, 2008, AIG cannot determine the expected date of completion or reliably estimate the total
aggregate expenses expected to be incurred for all AIG's restructuring and separation activities. This is due to the
significant scale of the restructuring plan, the fact that restructuring costs will vary depending on the identity of the
ultimate purchasers of the divested entities, as well as the extended period over which the restructuring is expected
10 occur, For those activities that can be reasonably estimated. the total restructuring and separation expenses
expected to be incurred is $1.9 billion at December 31, 2008.

Restructuring expenses and refated asset impairment and other expenses, for the year ended Decem-
ber 31, 2008, by operating segment consisted of the following:

Total Amount

Restructuring ~ Separation Expected
Expenses Expenses Total  to be Incurred *
{In miitlons}
General Insurance. ... ......c...ooueinn., $ 38 $101 $139 $§ 312
Life Insurance & Retirement Services........ 8] 53 68 243
Financial Services. .. ............ ... 91 196 287 564
Asset Management .. ........ ... ... .0 24 45 69 94
Other . .. i e 139 _56 195 14
e $307 $451 $758 $1,937

*  Includes cumulative amounts incurred and additional future amounts to be incurred that can be reasonably
estimated at the balance sheet date.

The initial restructuring liability and the corresponding movement from inception, for the year ended
December 31, 2008, are summarized as follows:

Total
Contract ~ Asset Other Subtotal st(r:durlng
Severance Termination Write- Exit Restructuring Separation and Separation
Exp Exp Downs Exp b) Expenses E ) __Expenses
(In millions)
Liability balance, beginning of
FEAT i $ — — $— $ - s — § - $ —
Amounts charged to expense . . . . 8 27 51 140 307 451 758
Paid...........c.oah (12) — — (53) (65) (167) (232)
Non-cash .................. — — (51) — (&1)) —— (51)
Liability balance, end of year ... $ 77 527 s$— 3487 $191 $ 284 $ 4715
Total amount expected to be
incurred(d) . .............. 3! $106 $51  $585 $906 $1.031 $1,937

(a) Restructuring expenses include 344 million of retention awards and Total amount expected to be incurred
includes $57 million for retention awards for employees expected to be terminared.

(bj Primarily includes consulting and other professional fees related to (i) asset disposition activities, (ii) AIG’s
debt and capital restructiuring program with the NY Fed and the United States Department of the Treasury and
(iii) unwinding most of AIGFP’s businesses and portfolios.

(c) Restructuring expenses include 3448 million of retention awards und Total amount expected 1o be incurred

includes $1.0 billion for key emplovee retention awards ed during 2008.

(d) Includes cumulative amounts incurred and additional future amounts to be incurred that can be reasonably
estimated at the balance sheet date.

1o
]
)

AlG 2008 form 10-K
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longer period of time.

Mr. CUMMINGS. Now, you sent a letter to Secretary
Geithner. It was a very interesting letter you sent over the
weekend--well, it is dated March 14th. BAnd it says something
that I want you to help me out on because I don’t understand
it, 'and I think the committee has just sort of passed it by.

It said, ‘‘AIG’’--~and this is your letter-;it says,
*'‘AIG hereby commits to use best efforta to reduce expected
2009 retention payments by at least 30 percent.’’ Now, what I
am trying to figure out is--so we have already got some
peopie in place. We have been talking about 2008
performance. MNow, we have got some folks in place to get
bonuges for 2009 performance. Is that correct?

Mr. LIDDY. Yes. That specifically relates--that letter
specifically relates to AIGFP, and it is the second part of
the retention program which, if they.are tﬁere and they
accomplish their goals, we would paf in 2010.

And .-I don’t mean to interrupt you, but I think that
whole issue is going to be moot because‘what we will find is
those individuals will in fact return much if not all of the
retention bonus that we paid them, and it Qill be accompanied
by their letters of resignation.

Mr. CUMMINGS. Well, I am hoping--another member said
something a little bit earlier. I am hoping--President Obama

has made it clear that he is trying to reverse our economy
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7090} here and get it straightened out. And these people are very
7091]{ central people, one making as much as $6.5 million in
7092 bonuses.

7093 I would hope that they would stick around, take a

7094| regular paycheck like mogt people do, and stick around and
7095| help us get through this. They have benefitted from the
7096| greatness of this country, and I would hope that they would
7097 do that, and I hope you will appeal to them to do tﬁat.
7098 Finally, you wrote in your letter to Secretary Geithner
7099] that the Secretary had asked AIG to ‘‘rethink our 2008

7100| corporate bonus proposals.’’

7101 How much in bonuses--we keep saying bonuses and

7102} retention paymenés. How much in bonuses, not retention
7103{ payments, have you paid to AIG employees in 2008, and what
7104} was the range of the bonuses paid? ‘
7105 Mr. LIDDY. I will provide you the information. I think
7106} it was--I think it might have been in the range of $9

7107} million.

7108 Mr. CUMMINGS. Thank you very much.

7109 Mr. MOORE OF KANSAS. Thank you, Mr. Cummings.

7110 The chair next recognizes Ms. Kaptur of Ohio for up to
7111 five minutes.
" 7112 Ms. KAPTUR. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

7113 I agree, Mr. Liddy, with the statement in your formal
7114 )

testimony: ‘‘Insurance is the oxygen of the free enterprise
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Rep. Elijah Cummings (MD)

Issue: Performance payments paid to AlG employees in 2008. (Page 295, Line 7102)

AIG has approximately 374 plans that pay variable amounts based on some
measure of performance, across the company.*

In the Domestic Life and Foreign Life Operations, AIG maintained 140 plans with
23,851 participants in 2008. These plans paid an average award of $5,050 per
employee for work performed in 2008.

Within the Property Casualty Group, AlG had 56 plans that covered 3,943
employees with an average payment of $5,403 for work performed in 2008.

The Foreign General Insurance Operations maintained 115 plans, covering 8,669
employees with an average award of 55,074 for work performed in 2008.

Within the Retirement Services Operations, AlG had 7 plans that covered 1,168
employees and paid an average of 511,889 for 2008 performance.

In the Financial Services businesses, AlG has 53 plans that cover 5,357 employees
with an average payment of $4,994 for 2008 performance.

AIG’s Asset Management Group had 3 plans that covered 2,095 employees with
an average award of $51,026 for 2008 performance.

AIG also maintained a corporate-wide variable plan that covered 6,410
employees with an average payout of § 18,954 for 2008 performance.

* This does not include approximately 236 ptans across AIG pursuant to which empioyees earn
varying amounts based on sales and commissions on those sales or the nine pians governing
payments required by local governments of the various countries within which AIG operates. Nor
do these numbers reflect plans that pay amounts based on ownership interests on investments
in certain products or real estate investments.
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have a higher probability of running this book down and not
having it cost the American taxpayer.more. That is what
ghose bonuses were about.

Mr. CLAY. And that is based on the familiarity of the
people that are in place there.

Mr. LIDDY. Correct. Correct.

Mr. CLAY. I mean, even the point about honoring the
contracts, I mean, don’t we change contracts every day in
this country, and could in some those instances those
contracts be altered?

Mr. LIDDY. Well, that is why I say it was secondarily a
legal consideration and primarily a risk consideration.
Contracts can always be altered as long as the two parties,
or multiple parties to a contract, agree to it.

Mr. CLAY. Okay. Well, I appreciate your responses and I
wish you well, Mr. Liddy.

I yield back, Mr. Chair.

Mxr. MOORE OF KANSAS. Thank you, Mr. Clay. I next
recognize myself, the chair, for up to five minutes.

Mr. Liddy, there are a lot of people in our country
hurting very badly right now, and I think you know that. I
know you know that.

Have you asked any of the executives who received these
bonuses if they would voluntarily forgo these bonuses and pay

the taxpayers’ money back so we can try to get on with this




361

HBA077.160 . PAGE 288
6915} whole thing?
6916 Mr. ﬁIDDY. I have. I asked them this morning.
6917 Mr. MOORE OF KANSAS. And?
6918 Mr. LIDDY. I have been in this hearing all day. I don't
6919} know what the outcome is.
6920 Mr. MOORE OF KANSAS. You haven’t received any e-mails or
6921} phone calls?
6922 Mr. LIDDY. No. I would prefer to ask the right peoplé,
6923 and I will do that.
6924 Mr. MOORE OF KANSAS. And we would like a report back.
6925 If'you get information about that, will you be willing to
6926 p;&vide that information tolus, sir? v
6927 Mr. LIDDY. Yes. .
6928 Mr. MOORE OF KANSAS. Within a short time after you
6929| received it, if you do receive that information?
6930 Mr. LIDDY. Yes. I will be very transparent with you. I
6931] just want to;—I need to get the information. I need people
6932] to--I need to give them a chance to make a rational decision,
6933 and then provide it to everyone who has an interest in it.
6934 Mr. MOORE OF KANSAS. Sure, I don’t know that we
6935 can--our country can afford to wait until 2012 for AIG to pay
6936 i;s money back. So if AIG continues to behave like‘this,
6937| despite being supported by not only current taxpayers but
6938} also by future generations, our childrenm and grandchildren,
6939| when will you pay the money back? When will AIG pay the
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Rep. Dennis Moore {KS)

Issue: information on AIGFP employees who have agreed to give back their retention
payments. (Page 288, Line 6924}

AIGFP continues to receive responses from its employees and cannot provide a
final number pending the resolution of certain tax implications and
administrative details posed by the return of the retention payments. Aithough
published reports have purported to establish the amount of the retention
payments committed to be returned, the final figure, in fact, has not been
established. AlG is committed to providing Members of Congress with this
information as soon as is practicable. While AIG is disappointed at the level of
resignations from AIGFP, the company is gratified by the response of many to its
request to return at least a portion of the retention payments.



363

May-01-08  04:450m  From~H & H D.C. Office 13E-400 T-384  P.002/011  F-d50

House Financial Services Subcommiittee on Capital Markets, Insurance and GSEs
March 18, 2009 Bearing
Additional Questions Submitted for the Record

Representative Elijah Commings

1. Please specify the exact amount in bonnses — not retention payments or any other form
of compensation —~ paid by AIG ta employees of any division of AIG in 2008 or paid in
2009 for work performed in 2008,

AIG has approximately 374 plans that pay variable amounts based on some measure of
performance, across the company. This count does not include approximately 236 plens
across AIG pursuant to which employees earn varying amounts based on sales and
commissions on those sales or the nine plans governing payments required by local
governments of the various countzies within which AIG operates. Nor do these numbers
reflect plans that pay amounts based on ownership interests on investments in certain
products or real estate investments. .

s Inthe Domestic Life and Foreign Life Operations, AIG maintained 140 plans with
23,851 participants in 2008. These plans paid an average award of $5,050 per
employee for work performed in 2008.

* Within the Property Casualty Group, AIG had 56 plans that covered 3,943 employees
with an average payment of $5,403 for work performed in 2008,

s The Foreign General Insurance Operations maintained 115 plans, covering 8,669
employees with an average award of $5,074 for work performed in 2008.

» Within the Retirement Services Operations, AIG had 7 plans that covered 1,168
employees and paid an average of $11,889 for 2008 performance.

* Inthe Financial Services businesses, ATG had 53 plans that cover 5,357 employees
with an average payment of $4,994 for 2008 performance.

s AlIG’s Asset Management Group hiad 3 plans that covered 2,095 employees with an
average award of $51,026 for 2008 performance.

* AIG also maintained & corporate-wide variable plan that covered 6,410 employees
with an average payout of $18,954 for 2008 performance.
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2. Please provide a list of the individuals who received bonus payments and the smonnt
each individual received. Please also specify the unit within AIG where the bonus
recipient worked and whether the bonus recipieat is still a current employee of AIG as
of the date the response to this question is prepared by AIG. Finally, please specify
when each bonus was approved for award.

Because of the enormous number of employees covered under the approximately 374
plans across AIG, it is a vastly complex and expensive task to identify employees and
amounts on an individual basis. More importantly, concerns for the safety of AIG
employees and privacy igsues in various jurisdictions around the world raise serious
issues related to personal identification of employees. For the majority of these plans, an
employee must be an active employee on the date of the variable performance payment.

3. Did Edward Liddy approve the issuancc of these bonuses? If not, who approved the
issuance of these bonuses?

Variable performance plans are generally developed by the various business units based
on performance goals for the year. Historically, most plans were approved by business
units with information provided to the AIG Compensation and Management Resources
Committee (CMRC) periodically. The CMRC specifically approves the corporate-wide
variable performance plan, which is based on performance goals for the year. Actual
payments under all of these plans are based on performance.

4. What is the total amount of bonuses approved for work to be performed in 2009 aund
when will these bonuses be awarded?

Plans for 2009 are currently under development, in consultation with the Federal Reserve
and Treasury, using the same approach outlined in question 3 above. The 374 plans
across AIG have various payment schedules. Payments for the 2009 corporste-wide
variable performance plan will be made, assuming successful performance against
established goals, sometime in 2010,
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Representative Al Green (TX)

1, Is AIG planning an overhaul of 700 servers?
No, AIG is not planning an overhaul of 700 servers. However, AIG’s servers are
regularly assessed and upgraded as part of the company’s standard maintenance
procedures.

2. Will information be purged as part of this overhaul?

As noted above, AIG does not plen to overhaul 700 servers. When servers are upgréded,
new hardware is purchased and old data is migrated to the new server,

3. Dﬁes AIG have the proper backup system in place?

AIG has in place an industry-standard backup system to protect against unexpected data
loss.
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Representative Andre Carson (IN)

1.

2

b

Your report detailing AIG’s connterparty payouts from TARP funds revealed that
Goldman Sachs tepped the list at $12.9 billion. We all know that Secretary Paulson was
the former CEO of Goldman Sachs and was instramental in making sure a bailout was
arranged for AIG, in which Goldman Sachs was heavily invested, Since you previously
served on the board for Goldman Sachs and were subsequently asked by Secretary
Paulson to lead AIG, how would you respond to this charge of proferential treatment?

AIG is a large institution that engages in standard commercial activity with compenies all
over the world. These activities are handled in the normal, day-to-day course of business
and rarely, if ever, rise to the level of the CEQ. AIG was not involved in the discussions
with counterparties, including Goldman Sachs, that led to the purchase of CDOs by
Maiden Lane III and the consequent termination of related credit default swaps.
Discussions regarding these matters were handled exclusively by the Federal Reserve
Bank of New York. While the U.S. Treasury is AIG’s largest shareholder, AIG continues
to be a publicly traded company and as such adheres to all applicable rules and
governance protocols.

If you must retain them (FP employees) to ensire the company is viable moving,
forward, why couldn’t you renegotiate contracts that ensare those employees are
invested in AIG’s future profitability? »

Why couldn’t the bonuses be negotiated to be paid out in stock or other options to make
sure that those employees share in the Josses and be rewarded only 1f and when the
company is performing once more?

The following response answers guestions two and three.

On March 18, 2009, Mr. Ed Liddy asked employees who received retention payments of
$100,000 or more to return at least half of those payments. The requested return of
retention payments has necessitated careful attention to administrative details and
consideration of tax matters in the various jurisdictions in which AIG does business, The
company is in the process of finalizing paperwork to be distributed to employees who
have already indicated their intent to repay retention amounts. AIG has asked employees
who have not already indicated their intent to repay retention amounts to agree to do so.
The company intends to provide employees adequate time to review the paperwork that
will be provided and to consider its request.

F-459
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Representative Keith Ellison (MN)

1. Please provide a breakdown of the types of dexivatives left to be unwound.

2. Please also provide an assessment of AIG’s net exposure on the $1.6 trillion in
derivatives after taling {nto account bilateral netting agreements, collateral and other
risk mitigants,

In response to questions 1 and 2, please see attached presentation previously submitted
for the hearing record, “What is the status of AIG’s Financial Products business?”
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Representative Marcy Kaptur (O!

1. What is your best estimate of the trading value of the securities underlying the
outstanding derivatives held on the books of AIGFP?

2. What is the possible remaining taxpayer exposure? In a worst case scenario, could it

really be $1.6 trillion?

3. Mr. Liddy told us in the hearing that it would cost an additional several billion doHars
to unwind the contracts and that the amount was “baked in” to the rescue package. To
which specific part of the package was he referring?

4. Have the counterparties been made whole?

§, If the outstanding contracts are sfally termiunated, is it possible that the
counterparties would have to retarn any of the tens of billions of collateral to the
taxpayer? Why/not, given that the underlying securities are still good?

6. What were the terms of those payments? Apart from the cash, what else (if anything)
were fhe counterpartics paid?

. 7. Will AIG disclose what remaining coutracts AIGFP still has on its books? If not, could
they at least disclose the composition of those contracts (i.e., commereial mortgage-
backed securities)? What else?

The following response answers all of the questions listed above.

In response to the questions above, in October 2008, AIGFP began unwinding its
businesses and portfolios. AIGFP is now entering into new derivative transactions only
to maintain its current portfolio, reduce risk and hedge the currency and interest rate risks
associated with its affiliated businesses. As part of its orderly wind-down, AIGFP is also
opportunistically terminating contracts, Due to the long-term duration of AIGFP’s
derivative contracts and the complexity of AIGFP’s portfolio, AIG expects that an
orderly wind-down of AIGFP will take a substantial period of time. As noted in
testimony on March 18, 2009, AIGFP has calculated an approximate dollar amount
necessary to unwind the company’s remaining derivative contracts. This cost has been
previously accounted for, though the actual cost in the firture will depend on myriad
market and other factors, In any case, AIG does not anticipate needing additional funds
from the federal government to cover these specific costs,

In the case of most of AIGFP’s derivative positions, there is no specified underlying
security, By contrast, in the case of the overwhelming majority (based upon notional
amount) of the super senior multi-sector CDQ CDS transactions that AIGFP entered into,
there was a single security, or a pool of securities, underlying the transactions. As has
been disclosed previously, the majority of these multi-sector CDO CDS transactions were
terminated in connection with the Maiden Lane ITI transaction.
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The $1.6 trillion number covers a broad spectrum of derivative transactions, ranging from
“plain vanilla” interest rate swaps to credit default swaps, but it is not the best measure
for potential losses that may be incurred thereunder. In the case of most derivative
transactions, AIGFP is not, as a practical matter, at risk to the extent of the full notional
amount of the trades. Rather, any losses AIGFP incurs in connection with its wind-down
ultimately will depend upon prevailing market conditions at the time that AIGFP
terminates each trade and AIGFP’s ability to negotiate favorable termination pricing with
counterparties.

The terms of many of AIGFP*s derivatives transactions require AIGFP and/or its
counterparties to post collateral, Upon the termination of any given transaction, whether
related posted collateral is returned depends upon market conditions at the time of the
termination, as one party’s obligation to retum posted collateral will generally be offset
against its right to receive a termination payment. To the extent that AIGFP terminates a
transaction at a price more favorable than the price used most recently to determine the
amount of collateral posted by AIGFP, then, o a net basis, AIGFP will receive back
some portion of the collateral previously posted; by contrast, if a transaction is terminated
at a less favorable price, then AIGFP will have to make a termination payment in addition
to forgoing the retumn of posted collateral. For a detailed discussion of the collateral
posting provisions of AIGFP’s derivative contracts, we draw your attention {o the section
entitled “Collateral” beginning on page 143 of AIG’s most recent Form 10-K, filed with
the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 2, 2009 (please see attached).

T-354  P.00O/011  F-450
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American International Gronp, Inc._, and Sabsidiariex

reasonably cstimate the aggregate amaont that it would be required to pay nnder the super senior cradit default
swaps in the event of any funther downgrade.

Certain super seaior credit default swaps written for regniatory capital relief, with a net notional amount of
$161.5 billion at December 31, 2008, include triggors that require certain actions to be taken by AIG once AIG's
rating level falls to certain levels, which, if not teken, give rise to a right of the connterparties 1o terminate the CDS,
Snch actions include posting collateral, transferring the swap or providing a guarantee from & more highly rated
entty. In light of the rating actions taken in respect of AIG on September 15, 2008, AIGFP has implemented
collateral arrangements in a large majority of these transactions. In the event of a termination of the contract that is
cansed by AIG's rating downgrade, AIGFP is obligated to p the counterparty based on its “loss.” As a
result of AIGFP posting collateral, AIG climinated the connterparties’ right to terminate under this downgrade
provision, thereby avoiding the uncertainty of detormining the *Jass™ from an early termination of a regulatory

capital CDS.
Most of AIGFP's credit default swaps are subject to collateral posting provisions. These provisions differ
among counterparties and asset classes. Although AIGFP has colb I posting obligati jated with both

regulatory capital relief transactions and arbitrage wansactions, the large majority of these obligations to date have
heen associated with arbitrage fransactions in respect of multi-secter CDOs.

The collateral arrangenents in respect of the multi-sector CDO, regulatory capital and corporate arbitrage
transaetions are nearly alf documented nnder & Credit Support Annex (CSA) to an ISDA Master Agreement (Master
Agreement). The Master Agreement and CSA farms aro dardized form agr published by the ISDA,
which market participants have adopted as the primary cobtractual frnmewozk for various kinds of derivatives
wansactions, including CDS. The Mnster Amcmcnl and CSA forms are designed to be ized by
partics to ace date their p req for the antici typﬁ of swap transactions to be entered
into. Elective provisions and modificutions of the standard lerms are. B jon with the execution of
these documents. The Moster Agreement and CSA permit any provisi ined in these d to be further
varied or overridden by -the individual transaction confirmations, providing flexibility to tailor provisions to

date the req of any particular transaction. A CSA, if agreed by the parties to a Master
Agrecment, supplements and forms part of the Master Agreement and contains provisions (amoug others) for
the valuation of the covered transactions, the delivery and release of collateral, the types of acceptable colfateral, the
grant of a security interest (in the case of a CSA goverued by New York 1aw) or the outright trensfer of tide (in the
case of a CSA governed by English law} in the collateral that is posted, the calculation of the amount of colfateral
required, the valuation of the coll 1 provided, the timing of any collateral demand or rewurn, dispate mech-

4

anisms, and various other rights, remedies and duties of the partics with respect to the collatera) provided.

In general, each party has the right under a CSA to act as the "Valuation Agent” and initiate the calculation of
the exposure of one party to the other (Exposure) in respect of transactions covered by the CSA, The valuation
caleulation may be performed daily, weekly or at some other interval, nnd the frequency is one of the terms
negotiated at the time the CSA is signed. The definition of B under 2 standard CSA is the amount that would
be payable to onc party by the other pasty upon a hypothetical termination of that o ion, This amount is
determined, in most cases, by the Valuation Agent using ity estimate of mid-market quotations (i.c., the average of
hypothetical bid and ask quotations) of the amonats that would be paid for a replacoment transsction. AIGEP
determines Bxposure typically by reference to the mark-to-maarket valuation of the ion produced by
its sy and specialized models. Bxp are typicaily deteymined for all transactions nnder a Master
Agrcoment (unless the parties have specifically agreed 1o exclude certain ions, not to apply the CSA or to set
a specific transaction Exposure to zero), The agEmgme Exposu:: less the value of collateral already held by the
relevant paety (and following application of certain th 1ds) results in a net exposure amount (Delivery Amount),
If this amount is a positive number, then the other party must deliver coliateral with a value equal to the Dehvcly
Amount, Under the standard CSA, the party not acting as Valvation Agent for any partical
may dispute the Valuation Agent’s caleulation of the Delivery Amount. Jf the parties arc nnahlc to resnlve thi¢
dispute, the terms of the standard CSA provide that the Valuation Agent is required 1o P using, in
substitution for the disputed Exposure amounts, the average of actual gnotations at mid-market from four leading
dealers jo the relevant macket.
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After an Exposnre amount is determived for a transaction subject ta a CSA, it is combined with the Exposure

amounts for all other ions under the rel Master A which may be netved against one another
where the counterparties to a Master Ag are each exposed to one énother in respect of different transactions.
Actual collateral postings with r&pect to a Master Agreement may be affected by other agreed CSA terms,
inclnding threshald and indep , that may or & the of coll | posted.

Regulatory Capital Relief Transactions

As of December 31, 2008, 63.0 percent of AIGFP's regulatory capital relief transactions (measured by net
notional amounnt) were subject to a CSA. In other transactions, which represent 1.0 percent of the total net nottonal
amount of the outstanding reguiatory capital relief i AIGFP is obligated to put a CSA or alternative
coilateral armangement in place if AIG"s ratings fall below certain levels (typically, A-/A3). At December 31, 2008,
31.0 percent of the regulatory capitl relief portfolio is not subject to collateral posting provisions, In general, each
regulatory capilal relief transaction is subject to a stand-alone Master Agreement or similar agreement, under which

the aggregate E: is calenlated witd refl to only a single transaction.

The underlymg mechanism that determines the amount of collateral to be pasted varies from one counterparty
to rnother, and there is no d formula. The varied mech ited from varied negotiations with dxﬁ'a:nt
counterparties. The following is a brief description of the primary isms that are ¢ ly being employed to

determine the amonat of collateral posting for thia portfolio.

Reference 1o Market Indices — Under this mechanism, the amount of collatera! to bs posted is determined
bascd on 2 formula that references certain tranches of A market index, such as either Itraxx or CDX., This
mechanism is used for CDS ions that refe aither corp loans, or residential mortgages, While
the markct index is not a dircet proxy, it has the advantage of being readily obtainable,

Market Value of Reference Obligarion — Under this hanism the. of coll ! to be posted is
determined based on the differcnce b the net notional amount of a refe d RMBS security and the
security's market value.

Expected Loss Models — Under this mechanism, the amount of collateral to be posted is determined based on
the amount of expected credit losses, generally determined wsing a rating-egency model.

Negatm.ud Amounz — Under this mechanism, the amount of collateral 1o be posted is determined based gu
terms iated b AIGFP and the counterparty, which could be a fixed percentage of the
no!xona! amount or present value of preminms to be carned by AIGFP.

The of collaterat g5 by underlying mechanism as described sbove with respect to the
regulatory capital relief poﬂl‘oﬂo (prlor to consideration of transactions other than AIGFP’s super senior
credit defanlt swap portfolio subject to the sume Master Agreements) were as follows (there were no
collateral postings on this portiolio prior to March 31, 2008):

March 31, 2008 June 30, 2008 Scptember 30, 2008 Doeember 33, 2008 Februacy 18, 2009

{fn mitons)
Referencs to market
indices. . ... N $212 3177 3157 $ 667 3417
Market value of reforence
obligation ....... PRI — 142 286 380 299
Expected foss models. . —— — — 5 5
Negotiated amonnt, . .., ... — — — 235 213
Other......... b — — — - 18
Total......... Ceraaeaen $212 3319 $443 $1,287 $952
=" g —_— ]

Arbitrage Portfolio — Multi-Sector CDOs

In the large majority of the CD'S transactions in respect of malti-sector CDOs, the standard CSA provisions for
the calculation of Bxposare have been modified, with the Exposure amonnt determined pursnant to an agreed
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